
Board of Directors 
  Michael W. Mobley, President 
  Bruce E. Dandy, Vice President 
  Sheldon G. Berger, Secretary/Treasurer 
  Mohammed A. Hasan 
  Lynn E. Maulhardt 
  Edwin T. McFadden III 
  Daniel C. Naumann 
   
General Manager 
  Mauricio E. Guardado, Jr. 
 
Legal Counsel 
  David D. Boyer 
 
 

 

 

1701 N. Lombard Street, Ste. 200, Oxnard CA 93030     805 525 4431       www.unitedwater.org 

 

                   
  

 

AGENDA 

ENGINEERING and OPERATIONS COMMITTEE 

Thursday, October 7, 2021, at 9:00 am 

Boardroom, 1701 North Lombard Street, Oxnard CA 93030 
 

 

Call to Order – Open Session  

Committee Members roll call 

 

1. Public Comment (Proposed Time: 5 minutes) 

The public may comment on any matter not on the agenda within the jurisdiction of the 

Committee. All comments are subject to a five-minute time limit.  
 

2. Approval of Minutes (Proposed Time: 5 minutes) 

The Committee will review and consider approving the Minutes from the September 2, 2021 

Engineering and Operations Committee meeting. 

 

3. October 13, 2021 Board Meeting Motion Agenda Items 

The Committee will review and discuss the following agenda items to be considered for 

approval at the October 13, 2021 Board meeting.  The Committee will formulate a 

recommendation to the entire Board based on the discussions with staff.  The Committee will 

discuss the following items:  

 

3.1 Authorize a Contract with GEI Consultants, Inc. to Develop the 60 percent Design 

Phase of the Santa Felicia Dam Outlet Works Improvement Project (Engineering 

Department, Maryam Bral) (Proposed Time: 10 minutes) 

The committee will consider recommending approval of the motion item authorizing the 

General Manager to execute an agreement with GEI Consultants, Inc. in the amount of 

$1,715,706.00 to Develop the 60 percent Design Phase of the Santa Felicia Dam Outlet 

Works Improvement Project to the full Board. 

 

3.2 Authorize a Contract with GEI Consultants, Inc. to Develop the 30 percent Design 

Phase of the Santa Felicia Dam Spillway Improvement Project (Engineering 

Department, Maryam Bral) (Proposed Time: 10 minutes) 

The committee will consider recommending approval of the motion item authorizing the 

General Manager to execute an agreement with GEI Consultants, Inc. in the amount of 

$579,948.00 to Develop the 30 percent Design Phase of the Santa Felicia Dam Spillway 

Improvement Project to the full Board. 

 

3.3 Resolution 2021-18 Adopting the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) 

Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration (IS-MND) and approving Phase I of 

the Freeman Diversion Sediment Management Project and its Implementation 

(Environmental Services Department, Linda Purpus) (Proposed Time: 10 minutes) 

The committee will consider recommending approval of Resolution 2021-18 adopting the 

CEQA IS-MND for Phase I of the Freeman Diversion Sediment Management Project and 

approving Phase I of the Project, authorizing its implementation by the General Manager, 



    Engineering and Operations Committee Meeting Agenda 

      Thursday, October 7, 2021 

                Page 2 

 

and directing the Environmental Services Manager to file a Notice of Determination in 

accordance with CEQA for the Phase I of the Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

Project to the full Board. 

 

4. Project Highlights 

 

4.1 Engineering Department Monthly Update (Engineering Department, Maryam Bral) 

(Proposed Time: 20 minutes)  

 

4.2 Environmental Services Department Monthly Update (Environmental Services, Linda 

Purpus) (Proposed Time: 15 minutes) 

 

4.3 Operations and Maintenance Department Monthly Update (Operations and 

Maintenance Department, Brian Collins) (Proposed Time: 15 minutes) 

 

5. Future Agenda Topics 

 

ADJOURNMENT  

 

Directors:     Staff: 

Lynn Maulhardt, Chair  Mauricio E. Guardado Jr. Dr. Maryam Bral 

Edwin T. McFadden III                      Anthony Emmert  Brian Collins  

Daniel C. Naumann   John Carman   Craig Morgan   

    Michel Kadah   Robert Richardson 

    Adrian Quiroz   Linda Purpus   

Randall McInvale  Evan Lashly  

 Hannah Garcia-Wickstrum Tessa Lenz 

   
The Americans with Disabilities Act provides that no qualified individual with a disability shall be excluded from participation in, or denied the 

benefits of, the District’s services, programs or activities because of any disability. If you need special assistance to participate in this meeting, 

please contact the District Office at (805) 525-4431.  Notification of at least 48 hours prior to the meeting will enable the District to make 

appropriate arrangements.  

 

Approved:                          

        Mauricio E. Guardado, Jr., General Manager     Dr. Maryam Bral, Chief Engineer  

   

                       

        Brian Collins, Chief Operations Officer       
 

 

 

Posted: (date) September 30, 2021   (time) 4:45 p.m.   (attest) Destiny Rubio 

At: United Water Conservation District Headquarters, 1701 Lombard Street, Oxnard CA 93030 

 

 

Posted: (date) September 30, 2021   (time) 5:00 p.m.                (attest) Destiny Rubio 

At: www.unitedwater.org 



1701 North Lombard Street, Oxnard, CA 93030 Tel: (805)525-4431  Fax: (805)525-2661 www.unitedwater.org 

Board of Directors 
  Michael W. Mobley, President 
  Bruce E. Dandy, Vice President 
  Sheldon G. Berger, Secretary/Treasurer 
  Mohammed A. Hasan 
  Lynn E. Maulhardt 
  Edwin T. McFadden III 
  Daniel C. Naumann 

General Manager 
  Mauricio E. Guardado, Jr. 

Legal Counsel 
  David D. Boyer 

   MINUTES 
ENGINEERING AND OPERATIONS 

COMMITTEE MEETING 
Thursday, September 2, 2021, 9:00 A.M. 

Board Room 
UWCD, 1701 North Lombard Street, Oxnard CA 93030 

COMMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT: 
Director Edwin T. McFadden III  
Director Daniel C. Naumann 
Chair Lynn E. Maulhardt, chair (participated via Webex) 

STAFF ATTENDING 
Mauricio E. Guardado, Jr., general manager 
Dr. Maryam Bral, chief engineer 
Anthony Emmert, assistant general manager  
Brian Collins, chief operations officer (participated via Webex) 
Craig Morgan, senior engineer 
Robert Richardson, senior engineer 
Adrian Quiroz, associate engineer  
Zachary Plummer, IT administrator 
Linda Purpus, environmental services manager 
Randall McInvale, associate environmental scientist 
Tessa Lenz, associate environmental scientist 
John Carman, Operations and Maintenance program supervisor 
Erik Zvirbulis, GIS analyst 
Daryl Smith, controller 
Cherie Windsor, environmental services field technician 

PUBLIC PRESENT 
Burt Handy (participated via Webex) 

OPEN SESSION: 9:05 a.m. 
Chair Maulhardt called the Engineering and Operations Committee Meeting to order at 9:05 a.m. 

Committee Members Roll Call 
Administrative Assistant Destiny Rubio commenced Roll Call.   
Committee members: Chair Maulhardt, Director Naumann and Director McFadden were present. 

1. Public Comment
Chair Maulhardt asked if there were any public comments for the Committee.  None were
offered.

http://www.unitedwater.org/


UWCD Engineering and Operations Committee Meeting MINUTES 
September 2, 2021 
Page 2 

 

 
2.   Approval of Minutes 

Motion to approve the Minutes from the July 1, 2021 Engineering and Operations Committee 
meeting, Director McFadden; Second, Director Naumann. Roll call vote: three ayes (Naumann, 
Maulhardt, McFadden); none opposed; Motion carried, 3/0. 

 
Chief Engineer Dr. Maryam Bral provided a verbal update on the Department of Water 
Resources Proposition 1 grant. The item was not listed on the agenda but per the committee 
members request, she informed the Committee of letters of support were requested and 
received from the Fox Canyon Groundwater Management Agency (FCGMA) and the US Navy 
Base Ventura County (UCNBVC) related to the Coastal Brackish Groundwater Extraction and 
Treatment Plant Project and would be submitted with the grant application, which is due on 
September 7. Director Naumann inquired if staff asked other agencies for letters of support. 
Dr. Bral stated that United only reached out to FCGMA and the USNBVC. 
 

2. September 8, 2021 Board Meeting Motion Agenda Items 
3.1 Resolution 2021-17 Approving the CEQA Initial Study-Mitigated Negative 

Declaration and issuance of the Notice of Determination for the Freeman Diversion 
Fish Passage Facility Geotechnical Exploration Project  
Associate Environmental Scientist Randall McInvale addressed the committee and 
provided slides (see attached) regarding the request to recommend approval of the CEQA 
Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration and issuance of the Notice of Determination 
for the Freeman Diversion Fish Passage Facility Geotechnical Exploration Project.  
 
Director Naumann inquired if this project is related to the area of growth near the 
Freeman Diversion. Dr. Bral stated that this project is specifically related to the 
advancement of the design of the Freeman Fish Passage Diversion alternative. The goal 
of the borings is to gain information about the geology and the location of the bedrock 
that will support the future structure   
 
The committee members agreed to recommend approval of the motion item to the full 
Board. 
 

3.2 Geotechnical Investigation at the Freeman Diversion 
Senior Engineer Craig Morgan addressed the committee and provided a slide presentation 
(see attached) regarding the request to recommend approval of awarding a consulting 
engineering contract to GEI Consultants, Inc. in the amount of $499,724 (includes 9% 
contingency or $41,403 to be used upon the District’s written authorization only) and 
authorize the General Manager to execute the contract with GEI Consultants, Inc. for the 
Geotechnical Investigation at the Freeman Diversion. 
 
Mr. Morgan stated this was related to the motion item that was just presented by Mr. 
McInvale (Item 3.1). He added the geotechnical subsurface investigation will be 
performed to gain more information on the subsurface elements. GEI’s proposed 
schedule to perform the work is five months, which will include the field investigation, 
drilling and reporting. The slide presentation shows that 13 boreholes will be drilled 
using a track driven drill rig. The plan is to drill down to the bedrock, which is expected 



UWCD Engineering and Operations Committee Meeting MINUTES 
September 2, 2021 
Page 3 

 

to be 25-35 feet below surface, and to identify the siltstone. Staff will then use bore holes 
and test pits to correlate the geology with previous data and obtain additional data 
required to build the foundation. One other item that will be installed is an inclinometer, 
which will be used to analyze movements associated with the potential for landslides. 
 
Chair Maulhardt inquired about the yellow boundary line shown on the slide and the 
property owner. Mr. Morgan stated that that property is owned by the James Lloyd Butler 
Trust (JLBT). Chair Maulhardt asked if we have an easement with JLBT. Mr. Morgan 
stated that there is a verbal agreement in place to access the property. Chief Operations 
Officer Brian Collins added that staff has initiated discussions with Thomas (with JLBT) 
and the discussions were then moved to Peter, Maryann and Mike Sullivan. Mr. Morgan 
clarified that the pits are on United’s property. Chair Maulhardt and Director Naumann 
stated that for administrative purposes, it would be good to have something in writing 
that allows United to do this work on JLBT’s property. They directed staff to obtain 
either a letter or a Memorandum of Understanding. General Manager Mauricio E. 
Guardado, Jr. stated that staff will double check and circle back regarding this task. 
 
Director Naumann asked about the length of time the inclinometer will be in place. Mr. 
Morgan stated that it will in place in perpetuity.  
Director Naumann asked if this is connected to the court order. Mr. Morgan stated yes, it 
is related to the Court’s order and is used to inform the design. 
 
Chair Maulhardt then inquired if staff should have a line of clinometers along the toe of 
the hill. Dr. Bral stated that staff will think about this, but the inclinometer is sufficient 
for the information the District needs. The inclinometer not only records the immediate 
area next to it, but the data can also be extrapolated to other areas. Director Naumann 
asked about the timing. Mr. Morgan stated that staff has a tight deadline and would like 
to start after the nesting season ends on September 16.  
 
The committee members agreed to recommend approval of the motion item to the full 
Board. 
 

3.3 Authorize an Emergency Use Interconnection with California American Water for 
the El Rio Service Area 
Dr. Bral addressed the committee and provided a slide presentation (see attached) regarding 
the request to recommend approval of authorizing the General Manager to execute an 
agreement with California American Water to establish an emergency resiliency use 
interconnection to the Oxnard Hueneme Pipeline for providing additional system reliability 
to the El Rio service area. 
 
Director McFadden asked how the current turnouts are used. Dr. Bral stated that they are 
not used for anything at this time. Chair Maulhardt stated that he assumes all items will be 
a part of the construction process. Dr. Bral stated that United has isolation valves as well.  
He also stated that the detailed design prepared by CalAm will be reviewed and approved 
by United, and that all permitting, design and planning costs will be a part of CalAm’s 
tasks. She added that CalAm’s use will be limited to emergency events and will follow the 
OH Users Agreement that is currently in place for these events.  



UWCD Engineering and Operations Committee Meeting MINUTES 
September 2, 2021 
Page 4 

 

 
Director McFadden stated that he agrees with the concept and in the event of an emergency, 
the District would likely have to provide water anyway, so it is better to have everything 
in place. Director Naumann stated that he also agrees but there are some aspects, including 
issues with the OH and GMA allocations, that need to be addressed. 
 
The committee members agreed to recommend approval of the motion item to the full 
Board. 
 

4. Project Highlights 
4.1 Operations and Maintenance Department Monthly Update  

Mr. Collins provided updates and slides (see attached) on the Operations and Maintenance 
department’s activities for the month. Director Naumann inquired about the well that was 
put into place. Mr. Collins stated that Well No. 19 has been drilled and the pump and piping 
installation is pending.  
  
Director Naumann asked if there is a time lapse camera to capture the progress of the 
physical modeling. Mr. Collins stated that there is no timelapse camera, but staff does 
receive weekly photos, which are included in the progress report. Director Naumann 
encouraged staff to keep an album of those to share with the pumpers. Mr. Collins stated 
that staff is in the first phase of the shakedown, and will be traveling to Denver the third 
week of September.  

 
4.2 Freeman Diversion Sediment Management Project – Update 

Evan Lashly provided updates and slides (see attached) on the project progress. Mr. Lashly 
stated that it is feasible to get the work done in Fall 2021, but further delays at this point 
diminish the chance for meeting that deadline. He added work can only be done in a dry 
riverbed, and the District runs the risk of getting early season storms. United has a hard 
stop of January 1, 2021 but the CEQA reports include both a Phase 1 and Phase 2 of this 
project, and even if the District is unable to complete the project this year, the CEQA 
component will still be complete. 
 

5. Future Agenda Topics 
  No future agenda topics were offered. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 10:18 a.m. 
Chair Maulhardt adjourned the Engineering and Operations Committee meeting at 10:18 am. 
 
I certify that the above is a true and correct copy of the minutes of the Engineering and 
Operations Committee Meeting of September 2, 2021. 
 
 

 
ATTEST:_____________________________________________________ 

Lynn Maulhardt, Chair 



Engineering and Operations Committee 
Meeting Minutes ‐ Agenda Item 3.1

2021‐09‐02

1

Engineering and Operations Committee Meeting
Agenda Item 3.1 RESOLUTION 2021-17
Approving the CEQA Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration and 
Issuance of the Notice of Determination for the Freeman Diversion Fish 
Passage Facility Geotechnical Exploration Project

02 Sep 2021

Project 
Planning 
and Review

• Both in-river and upland exploration locations

• Utilizing existing access routes to the extent 
feasible

• Scheduling work to minimize resource 
interactions

2United Water Conservation District 2

1

2



Engineering and Operations Committee 
Meeting Minutes ‐ Agenda Item 3.1

2021‐09‐02

2

CEQA Findings 

3

Potentially significant impacts identified in the CEQA analysis:

• Air Quality 

• Biological Resources

• Cultural Resources

• Geology/ Soils

• Hazards and Hazardous Materials

• Hydrology/ Water Quality

All mitigated to less than 
significant impact

• The project will not have a significant impact on the environment

• The project will not make or contribute to significant cumulative 
impacts

• The project would not have a significant impact on humans

Significance findings: 

United Water Conservation District

Mitigation Measures

4

Post‐project During project Pre‐project 

United Water Conservation District 4

3

4



Engineering and Operations Committee 
Meeting Minutes ‐ Agenda Item 3.1

2021‐09‐02

3

Request to 
the 

Engineering 
and 

Operations 
Committee

Consider recommending that 
the Board adopt a Resolution 
to approve the CEQA findings 
and issue a Notice of 
Determination

United Water Conservation District 5

Questions

5



Engineering and Operations Committee 
Meeting Minutes ‐ Agenda Item 3.2

2021‐09‐02

1

Motion Item
3.2

Geotechnical Investigation for the Hardened 
Ramp Design at the Freeman Diversion 

 GEI will perform a sub-surface investigation of the area in and around the 
Freeman Diversion

 Duration of the Geotechnical Investigation will be 5 months
 Geotechnical Investigation will inform the placement of the Hardened 

Ramp features on the bedrock/siltstone.

Inclinometer

100’ Deep Bore

Scope of Sub‐Surface Investigation

Freeman Diversion

N Santa Clara River

1

2



Engineering and Operations Committee 
Meeting Minutes ‐ Agenda Item 3.2

2021‐09‐02

2

Motion Item
3.2

Geotechnical Investigation for the Hardened 
Ramp Design at the Freeman Diversion 

 Laboratory testing
 Geotechnical Data Report
 Geotechnical Evaluation Report
 Contract Amount: $499,724 + $41,403 (9% contingency) = $499,724

3



Engineering and Operations Committee 
Meeting Minutes ‐ Agenda Item 3.3

2021‐09‐02

1

Agenda Item 3.3

Authorize an Emergency Use 
Interconnection with 

California American Water 
for the El Rio Service Area 

1



Engineering and Operations Committee 
Meeting Minutes ‐ Agenda Item 4.1

2021‐09‐02

1

Santa Felicia Dam
2

1

2



Engineering and Operations Committee 
Meeting Minutes ‐ Agenda Item 4.1

2021‐09‐02

2

3
FREEMAN BORINGFREEMAN BORING

Instrumentation Highlights
4

3

4



Engineering and Operations Committee 
Meeting Minutes ‐ Agenda Item 4.1

2021‐09‐02

3

Chlorinator Annual Service 5

El Rio 6

5

6



Engineering and Operations Committee 
Meeting Minutes ‐ Agenda Item 4.1

2021‐09‐02

4

EL RIO BOOSTER PLANT-VCEHEL RIO BOOSTER PLANT-VCEH
7

AR Switch Replacement
8

7

8



Engineering and Operations Committee 
Meeting Minutes ‐ Agenda Item 4.1

2021‐09‐02

5

Pressure Relief Valve Replacements
9

PTP Reservoir Fill Valve
10

9

10



Engineering and Operations Committee 
Meeting Minutes ‐ Agenda Item 4.1

2021‐09‐02

6

PV Reservoir 42-inch Valve Replacement
11

12

11

12



Engineering and Operations Committee 
Meeting Minutes ‐ Agenda Item 4.1

2021‐09‐02

7

13

14

13

14



Engineering and Operations Committee 
Meeting Minutes ‐ Agenda Item 4.1

2021‐09‐02

8

15

16

15

16



Engineering and Operations Committee 
Meeting Minutes ‐ Agenda Item 4.2

2021‐09‐02

1

Freeman Diversion
Sediment Management Update

P R E S E N T E D  B Y :

E N V I R O N M E N T A L  S E R V I C E S  D E P A R T M E N T

E N G I N E E R I N G  A N D  O P E R AT I O N S  C O M M I T T E E  S E P T E M B E R  2 ,  2 0 2 1

A G E N D A  I T E M  4 . 2 :  P R O J E C T  H I G H L I G H T

Streamlined Approach

Project Strategy Shift – 2 Phases

Phase 1

Take advantage of current dry condition:

• Avoid water completely

• Reduce complexity of analysis

• Single event

2United Water Conservation Distr ict

1

2



Engineering and Operations Committee 
Meeting Minutes ‐ Agenda Item 4.2

2021‐09‐02

2

“Waters” Permitting

• Fish and Game Code Section 1602, Lake and Streambed Alteration

July 13, 2021 – Notification filed

August 11, 2021 – Notice of “Incomplete Notification”

August 19, 2021 – Supplemental information submitted

• Clean Water Act – Sections 404 and 401

August 11, 2021 – US Army Corps of Engineers, permit modification request

August 11, 2021 – LA Regional Water Quality Control Board, application filed

“Reasonable period of time” established to end 10, 2021

These applications supported by a Biological Resources Assessment and Jurisdictional Delineation

3United Water Conservation Distr ict

California Environmental Quality Act

• August 27, 2021 – Draft IS-MND submitted for public review

• September 26, 2021 – Public comment period ends

• October 13, 2021 – Anticipate adoption of Final IS-MND by Board of Directors

4United Water Conservation Distr ict

3

4



 

 
 

Page 1 of 2 

 
Staff Report 

          
To: Engineering and Operations Committee 
 
Through: Mauricio E. Guardado, Jr., General Manager 
  
From: Maryam Bral, Chief Engineer 
 Craig Morgan, Engineering Manager 
 Michel Kadah, Engineer 

  
Date: September 28, 2021 (October 7, 2021 Committee Meeting) 
 
Agenda Item: 3.1 Authorize a Contract with GEI Consultants, Inc. to Develop the 60 

percent Design Phase of the Santa Felicia Dam Outlet Works Improvement  
 Project  
 Motion 
 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
The committee will consider recommending approval of the motion item, authorizing the General 
Manager to execute a Professional Services Agreement with GEI Consultants, Inc. (GEI) in the 
amount of $1,715,706.00 for development of the 60 percent design of the Santa Felicia Dam (SFD) 
Outlet Works Improvement Project, to the full Board. 
 
Background:  
The existing outlet works system needs to be replaced because of concerns regarding seismic 
stability of the intake tower and water conveyance conduit through the dam and to mitigate 
ongoing accumulation of sediment in the reservoir that could potentially impact operation of the 
outlet works in the near future.  The existing outlet works will be replaced with a new outlet works 
facility.  The 30% design of the new outlet works was recently completed, and the design 
documents and the results of the 2020 Drilling Program were presented to the Board of Consultants 
(BOC) at the BOC meeting No. 5 that took place at the District’s Headquarters from Sept 21-23. 
The new outlet works consists of an intake control facility (ICF), including a sloping intake located 
in the reservoir, two water conveyance conduits in a new tunnel through the left abutment, a 
downstream control facility (DCF), and a hydropower facility consisting of a small cross-follow 
turbine located within the DCF.   
 
Discussion:   
The current 30 percent design was completed in September 2021. The outcome of the current 30 
percent design documents as well as the results of the 2020 Drilling Program were presented to 
the BOC, Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC), and California Department of Water 
Resources Division of Safety of Dams (DSOD) at the BOC meeting No. 5. The BOC approved the 
30 percent design documents and recommended the District to proceed with the next design phase.   
 



Agenda Item: 3.1 Authorizing a Contract with GEI Consultants, Inc. to Develop the 
 60 percent Design Phase of the Santa Felicia Dam (SFD) Outlet Works 
 Improvement Project  
 Motion 
 
 

 
 

Page 2 of 2 

The 60 percent design phase will include additional geotechnical, structural, hydraulic, site civil, 
and hydropower analyses and design studies required to advance the design work as well as 
preparation of technical specifications, advancing the 30% design plans, preparation of a 
geotechnical Baseline Report (GBR) for inclusion in the construction contract documents, 
performing additional analyses to estimate the effectiveness of the proposed diffuser wall located 
in the DCF to increase dissolved oxygen content of the released water from SFD, and preparation 
of the 60 percent design packet for submittal to the BOC and the agencies. The design findings 
will be presented at the BOC meeting No. 6 tentatively scheduled for August 2022. The future 
work beyond the 60% design will consist of 90 percent and 100 percent completion levels.  
 
Staff recommends that the committee recommend to the Board to authorize the General Manager 
to execute a contract with GEI for development of the 60 percent design phase of the SFD Outlet 
Works Improvement Project. 
 
A copy of the Professional Consulting Service Agreement detailing GEI’s complete proposal, 
including the scope of work and deliverables, proposed fee, and the project schedule, is included 
in Attachment A. 
 
Fiscal Impact:   
 
The 60 percent design of the SFD Outlet Works Improvement Project is included the Fiscal Years 
2021/22 and 2022/23 budget (Account No. 051-400-81080-8002-815) and sufficient funds are 
available to provide $1,715,706.00 for the contract.   
 

Attachment A – Santa Felicia Dam Outlet Works Improvement Project – 60 percent Design  
   Professional Services Agreement with GEI Consultants, Inc.  

 



1 

AGREEMENT FOR 
PROFESSIONAL CONSULTING SERVICES 

THIS AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made and entered into on 
________________, 2021, by and between the United Water Conservation District, 
Ventura County, California, (hereinafter “UNITED”), and GEI Consultants, Inc., 
(hereinafter “CONSULTANT”). 

RECITALS: 

WHEREAS, UNITED desires to obtain professional engineering consultation 
services in connection with the Development of 60 Percent Design Documents 
for the Santa Felicia Dam Outlet Works Improvement Project (“Project”); and 

WHEREAS, UNITED has selected CONSULTANT to provide such services; 
and 

WHEREAS, CONSULTANT represents that it has the skills, experience, 
license, and expertise to perform these professional services for UNITED; and  

WHEREAS, UNITED is desirous of engaging the services of CONSULTANT 
to perform these services; 

NOW, THEREFORE, based on the terms and covenants set forth herein, 
UNITED and CONSULTANT mutually agree as follows: 

1. EMPLOYMENT 

A. UNITED hereby employs CONSULTANT to perform and complete the 
professional engineering services as set forth in Exhibit “A” (“Scope of Work/Schedule 
of Charges”). CONSULTANT shall perform such professional services as set forth in 
Exhibit “A” and shall furnish or procure the use of incidental services, equipment, 
and facilities reasonably necessary for the completion of services. 

B. Any extra work over and above that included in the Scope of Work 
included in Exhibit “A” shall be in compliance with Section 3D. 

C. CONSULTANT represents that its services shall be performed, within 
the limits prescribed by UNITED, in a manner consistent with the level of care and 
skill ordinarily exercised by other engineering professionals under similar 
circumstances at the time and in the vicinity its services are performed. 

D. Thomas O. Keller shall: (a) personally perform or supervise the 
performance of services on a day-to-day basis on behalf of CONSULTANT; and (b) 



2 

maintain direct communication with UNITED’s Maryam A. Bral or designee in the 
performance of CONSULTANT’s services. 

E. CONSULTANT in the performance of services hereunder shall fully 
comply with any and all local, state and federal laws, regulations, ordinances, and 
policies applicable to its work, including any licensing laws applicable to 
CONSULTANT’s profession and anti-discrimination laws pertaining to employment 
practices. 

F. In the event of any conflict between the terms and conditions set forth 
in Exhibit A (Scope of Work/Schedule of Charges) versus those terms and conditions 
set forth in this Agreement, the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement 
shall govern and the conflicting terms and conditions in Exhibit A shall not apply. 

2. TERM OF AGREEMENT 

Unless otherwise earlier terminated as specified in Section 8, this Agreement 
shall commence on the date set forth above and shall expire on September 29, 2022. 

3. COMPENSATION 

Payment by UNITED for the consulting services shall be considered as full 
compensation for all personnel, materials, supplies, and equipment used in carrying 
out the work. 

A. Compensation and payments to the CONSULTANT shall be as 
described below: 

1. UNITED shall compensate CONSULTANT on a time and 
expenses basis not to exceed One Million, Seven Hundred and Fifteen 
Thousand, Seven Hundred and Six Dollars ($1,715,706.00) for performing all 
services authorized and required by this Agreement and specified in Exhibit “A.”  
UNITED shall compensate CONSULTANT only for actual costs incurred on a time 
and expenses basis, but in no event shall the total compensation be greater than the 
not to exceed amount above.  However, the total amount paid on a time and expenses 
basis may be lower than the not to exceed amount above based on actual costs 
incurred.  Payment shall be made in accordance with CONSULTANT’s Schedule of 
Charges submitted to UNITED, included in Exhibit “A” attached and incorporated by 
reference herein. 

2. CONSULTANT shall provide UNITED with monthly itemized 
invoices. Invoices shall include the categories and identities of CONSULTANT’s 
employees performing services, a description of the services, the number of hours 
spent performing services, the hourly rate for each employee, CONSULTANT’s actual 
costs and expenses, and the total amount of compensation requested by 
CONSULTANT for that month.  Upon UNITED’s request, CONSULTANT shall 



3 

include with its monthly invoices a detailed verification, including accounting 
records, of the work actually performed and costs and expenses incurred, along with 
any other documents or information reasonably requested by UNITED. 

B. UNITED shall pay CONSULTANT within thirty (30) days after receipt 
of CONSULTANT’s invoices, with the exception of any disputed amounts which shall 
be withheld until resolution of the dispute.  If UNITED has reasonable grounds to 
believe that CONSULTANT will be unable to materially perform the services under 
this Agreement, or there exists or may exist a claim against CONSULTANT arising 
out of CONSULTANT’s negligence or intentional acts , errors, omissions, or material 
breach of any provision of this Agreement, then UNITED may withhold payment of 
any reasonable amount due to CONSULTANT which is directly related to such 
negligence, intentional act, error, omission or material breach.  No payment made 
under this Agreement shall be conclusive evidence of CONSULTANT’s performance 
of the Agreement, either wholly or in part, and no payment shall be construed to be 
an acceptance by UNITED of CONSULTANT’s work. 

C. CONSULTANT shall notify UNITED in writing of the need for 
additional services required due to the circumstances beyond the CONSULTANT’s 
control (“Additional Services”). The CONSULTANT shall obtain written 
authorization from UNITED before rendering any Additional Services.  
Compensation for all approved Additional Services shall be negotiated and approved 
in writing by UNITED before such Additional Services are performed by 
CONSULTANT. No compensation shall be paid to the CONSULTANT for any 
Additional Services that are not previously approved by UNITED in writing.  

D. Reimbursable expenses, if applicable, are in addition to compensation 
for services outlined in the Scope of Work and Additional Services, and shall be paid 
to the CONSULTANT in accordance with the guidelines specified on Exhibit “B”.  
Reimbursable expenses are paid at the actual costs, without mark-ups, incurred by 
the CONSULTANT and the CONSULTANT’s employees in conduct of Agreement 
activities.  

4. SCHEDULE OF WORK 

CONSULTANT shall complete and deliver services and deliverables to 
UNITED in a diligent and professional manner, in accordance with the Project 
schedule set forth in Exhibit “A” attached and incorporated by reference herein. Time 
is of the essence in CONSULTANT’s performance of services hereunder. 

CONSULTANT’s Project Manager shall keep UNITED’s Maryam A. Bral or 
designee informed as to the progress of work by informal reports.  Neither party shall 
hold the other responsible for damages or delay in performance caused by acts of God, 
strikes, lockouts, accidents, or other events beyond the reasonable control of the other 
or the other’s employees and agents. 



4 

5. ASSIGNMENT OF CONTRACT 

This Agreement is a professional services contract.  CONSULTANT shall not assign 
this Agreement or any portion of the work without the prior written approval of 
UNITED.  Any such assignment without UNITED’s prior written approval shall be 
void.  UNITED may withhold such approval for any reason in its sole discretion. 

6. INDEMNIFICATION  

 To the fullest extent permitted by law, CONSULTANT agrees to indemnify 
and hold UNITED entirely harmless from all liability arising out of: 

1. Workers’ Compensation and Employer’s Liability. Any and all 
claims under Workers’ Compensation acts and other employee benefit acts with 
respect to CONSULTANT’s employees or CONSULTANT’s subconsultant’s 
employees arising out of CONSULTANT’s work under this Agreement; and 

2. General Liability. To the extent arising out of, pertaining to, or 
relating to the negligence, recklessness, or willful misconduct of the CONSULTANT, 
the CONSULTANT shall indemnify, defend and hold UNITED harmless from any 
liability for damages for (1) death or bodily injury to person; (2) injury to, loss or theft 
of property; (3) any failure or alleged failure to comply with any provision of law; or 
(4) any other loss, damage or expense arising under either (1), (2), or (3) above, 
sustained by the CONSULTANT or UNITED, or any person, firm or corporation 
employed by the CONSULTANT or UNITED upon or in connection with the Project, 
except for liability resulting from the sole or active negligence, or willful misconduct 
of UNITED, its officers, employees, agents, or independent consultants who are 
directly employed by UNITED.  The CONSULTANT, at its own expense, cost, and 
risk, shall defend any and all claims, actions, suits, or other proceedings (other than 
professional negligence covered by Section A3 below) that may be brought or 
instituted against UNITED, its officers, agents, or employees, to the extent such 
claims, actions, suits, or other proceedings arise out of, pertain to, or relate to the 
negligence, recklessness, or willful misconduct of the CONSULTANT, and shall pay 
or satisfy any judgment that may be rendered against UNITED, its officers, agents, 
or employees, in any action, suit or other proceedings as a result thereof.  Any costs 
to defend under this Section A2 shall not exceed the CONSULTANT’s proportionate 
percentage of fault; and 

3. Professional Liability. To the extent arising out of, pertaining to, 
or relating to the negligence, recklessness, or willful misconduct of the 
CONSULTANT, the CONSULTANT shall indemnify and hold UNITED harmless 
from any loss, injury to, death of persons, or damage to property caused by any act, 
neglect, default, or omission of the CONSULTANT, or any person, firm, or 
corporation employed by the CONSULTANT, either directly or by independent 
contract, including all damages due to loss or theft, sustained by any person, firm, or 



5 

corporation, including UNITED, arising out of, or in any way connected with, the 
Project, including injury or damage either on or off UNITED property; but not for any 
loss, injury, death, or damages caused by sole or active negligence, or willful 
misconduct of UNITED.  With regard to the CONSULTANT’s obligation to indemnify 
for acts of professional negligence, such obligation does not include the obligation to 
provide defense counsel or to pay for the defense of actions or proceedings brought 
against UNITED, but rather to reimburse UNITED for attorneys’ fees and costs 
incurred by UNITED in defending such actions or proceedings brought against 
UNITED, and such fees and costs shall not exceed the CONSULTANT’s 
proportionate percentage of fault. 

7. INSURANCE 

A. CONSULTANT shall procure and maintain for the duration of this 
Agreement, and for injuries which occur and claims which are made after the services 
herein are provided, insurance policies in accordance with the requirements set forth 
in Exhibit “C” attached and incorporated by reference herein.  CONSULTANT shall 
also provide UNITED with a certificate of insurance attesting to its professional 
liability (errors and omissions) coverage and all required additional insured 
endorsements. 

B. Submission of insurance certificates or endorsements or other proof of 
insurance shall not relieve CONSULTANT from liability under the indemnification 
provisions of Section 6.  CONSULTANT’s obligations in accordance with Section 6 
shall apply whether or not such insurance policies shall have been determined to 
apply to any of such claims, damage, lawsuits, losses or liabilities covered by Section 
6. 

C. By its signature hereto, CONSULTANT certifies that it is aware of the 
provisions of California Labor Code Section 3700 which requires every employer to 
be insured against liability for workers compensation’ or to undertake self-insurance 
as specified. CONSULTANT shall comply with these provisions before commencing 
work under this Agreement. 

8. TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT 

A. Termination for Cause 

1. UNITED may terminate CONSULTANT’s services for cause, 
whereupon this Agreement shall terminate immediately.  Termination may occur 
regardless of whether CONSULTANT’s services are completed.  Any termination or 
special instructions from UNITED shall be made in writing. 

2. Termination for cause may occur upon any of the following events: 
(a) CONSULTANT’s material breach of this Agreement; (b) abandonment or lack of 
diligence in performance of the work by CONSULTANT; (c) cessation, suspension, 



6 

revocation or expiration of any license needed by CONSULTANT to provide services 
hereunder; (d) failure of CONSULTANT to substantially comply with any local, state 
or federal laws, regulations, ordinances or policies applicable to its work hereunder; 
(e) filing by or against CONSULTANT of bankruptcy or any petition under any law 
for relief of debtors; or (f) conviction of CONSULTANT or its principal representative 
or personnel for any crime other than minor traffic offenses. 

3. Subject to the provisions of Section 3.B herein, CONSULTANT 
shall be paid for all approved services performed and approved expenses incurred to 
the date of termination for cause supported by documentary evidence, including 
payroll records and expense reports, up to the date of the termination.  In the event 
of termination for cause, all damages and costs associated with the termination, 
including increased consultant and replacement consultant costs, shall be deducted 
from any payments due to CONSULTANT. 

4. In the event a termination for cause is determined to have been 
made wrongfully or without cause, then the termination shall be treated as a 
termination for convenience in accordance with Section 8.B below, and 
CONSULTANT shall have no greater rights than it would have had if a termination 
for convenience had been effected in the first instance.  No other loss, cost, damage, 
expense or liability may be claimed, requested or recovered by CONSULTANT. 

B. Termination Without Cause/For Convenience.  This Agreement may be 
terminated without cause by UNITED or for UNITED’s convenience upon fourteen 
(14) days’ written notice to the CONSULTANT.  In the event of a termination without 
cause, UNITED shall pay the CONSULTANT for all approved services performed 
and all approved expenses incurred under this Agreement supported by documentary 
evidence, including payroll records and expense reports, up until the date of the notice 
of termination.  In addition, CONSULTANT will be reimbursed for reasonable 
termination costs through the payment of 3% beyond the sum due the CONSULTANT 
under this section through 50%  completion of the CONSULTANT’s portion of the 
Project and, if 50% completion is reached, payment of 3% of the unpaid balance of the 
contract to CONSULTANT as termination cost.  This 3% is agreed to compensate the 
CONSULTANT for the unpaid profit CONSULTANT would have made under the 
Project on the date of termination and is consideration for entry into this termination 
for convenience clause. 

C. In the event of termination with or without cause, CONSULTANT shall 
promptly provide to UNITED all Project Documents as defined in Section 9 below 
within five (5) calendar days from the effective date of termination.  Failure to provide 
all Project Documents as required shall be deemed a material breach of this 
Agreement. 

D. In the event of a dispute as to the performance of the work or an 
interpretation of this Agreement, or payment or nonpayment for work performed or 



7 

not performed, the parties shall attempt to resolve the dispute.  Pending resolution 
of the dispute CONSULTANT agrees to continue the work diligently to completion.  
If the dispute is not resolved, CONSULTANT agrees it will neither rescind the 
Agreement nor stop the progress of work, but CONSULTANT’s sole remedy will be 
to submit such controversy to determination by a court having competent jurisdiction 
of the dispute as required by this Agreement after the Project has been completed 
and not before.  

9. PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 

A. The CONSULTANT is employed to render a professional service(s) only 
and any payments made to it are compensation solely for such services as it may 
render and recommendations it may make in the performance of services. 

B. All plans, specifications, construction documents, data, records, files, 
communications, information, reports and/or other documents that are prepared, 
generated, reproduced, maintained and/or managed by the CONSULTANT or 
CONSULTANT’s subconsultants arising from or in any way related to the services 
provided under this Agreement (regardless of medium, format, etc.) shall be and 
remain the property of UNITED (“Project Documents”).  UNITED may provide the 
CONSULTANT with a written request for the return of the Project Documents at any 
time.  Upon CONSULTANT’s receipt of UNITED’s written request, CONSULTANT 
shall return the requested Project Documents to UNITED within five (5) calendar 
days.  CONSULTANT may make copies of the work generated.  Failure to comply 
with any such written request above shall be deemed a material breach of this 
Agreement.  Nothing in this paragraph shall be deemed a waiver of any copyright in 
the Project Documents prepared by the CONSULTANT.  Any unauthorized reuse or 
modification of such Project Documents other than for purposes intended by 
CONSULTANT or for the Project shall be at UNITED’s risk and liability. 

C. CONSULTANT agrees that all dealings of the parties under this 
Agreement shall be confidential and no Project Documents or information developed, 
prepared or assembled by CONSULTANT under this Agreement, or any information 
made available to CONSULTANT by UNITED, shall be revealed, disseminated or 
made available by CONSULTANT to any person or entity other than UNITED 
without the prior written consent of UNITED, unless otherwise required by subpoena 
or applicable law or regulatory authority. 

10. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR RELATIONSHIP 

It is expressly understood between the parties that no employee/employer 
relationship is intended, the relationship of CONSULTANT to UNITED being that of 
an independent contractor.  UNITED shall not be required to make any payroll 
deductions or provide Worker’s Compensation Insurance coverage or health benefits 
to CONSULTANT.  CONSULTANT is solely responsible for selecting the means, 



8 

methods and procedures for performing its services hereunder as assigned by the 
UNITED and for coordinating all portions of the work so the results will be 
satisfactory to UNITED.  CONSULTANT will supply all tools and instruments 
required to perform its services under this Agreement. 

11. ASSISTANCE BY UNITED 

It is understood and agreed that the UNITED shall, to the extent reasonable 
and practicable, assist and cooperate with CONSULTANT in the performance of 
CONSULTANT’s services hereunder. Such assistance does not include, in any 
manner, the exercise of professional judgment for which CONSULTANT is being 
retained herein. Such assistance and cooperation to be provided by UNITED as 
applicable includes, but shall not be limited to, providing right of access to work sites; 
providing material available from the UNITED’s files such as maps, as-built 
drawings, records and operation and maintenance information; and rendering 
assistance in determining the location of existing facilities and improvements which 
may be affected by the Project.  CONSULTANT shall otherwise be responsible for 
giving all notices and complying with all applicable laws, ordinances, rules, 
regulations and lawful orders of any public authority relating to the work. 

12. ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS 

A. Examination of Records 

CONSULTANT agrees that UNITED shall have access to and the right to 
examine at any reasonable time and on reasonable notice CONSULTANT’s 
documents, papers and records, including accounting records, relating to its 
performance under this Agreement. 

B. Notice 

All notices or other official correspondence relating to contractual matters 
between the parties shall be made by depositing the same as first-class, postage paid 
mail addressed as follows: 

To CONSULTANT: Thomas O. Keller, P.E., G.E.  
GEI Consultants, Inc. 
5901 Priestly Drive, Suite 301 
Carlsbad, CA 92008 

     
To UNITED:   Maryam A. Bral, Ph.D., PE 
    United Water Conservation District 
    1701 North Lombard Street, Suite 200 
    Oxnard, CA 93030 



9 

or such other address as either party may designate hereinafter in writing delivered 
to the other party.  All notices shall be agreed to have been received three (3) days 
after mailing. 

C. No Waiver 

No failure or delay by UNITED in asserting any of UNITED’s rights and 
remedies as to any default of CONSULTANT shall operate as a waiver of the default, 
of any subsequent or other default by CONSULTANT, or of any of UNITED’s rights 
or remedies.  No such delay shall deprive UNITED of its right to institute and 
maintain any actions or proceedings which may be necessary to protect, assert or 
enforce any rights or remedies arising out of this Agreement or the performance of 
this Agreement. 

D. Integration 

This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties 
pertaining to the subject matter hereto, and supersedes all prior agreements, oral or 
written, and all prior or contemporaneous discussions or negotiations between the 
parties.  

E. Modification 

No alteration or variation of the terms of this Agreement shall be valid unless 
made in writing and signed by the parties.   

F. Rules of Interpretation 

The terms of this Agreement have been negotiated by the parties and the 
language used in this Agreement shall be deemed to be the language chosen by the 
parties to express their mutual intent.  This Agreement shall be construed without 
regard to any presumption or rule requiring construction against the party causing 
such instrument to be drafted, or in favor of the party receiving a particular benefit 
under this Agreement.  No rule of strict construction shall be applied against any 
party to this Agreement. 

G. Partial Invalidity 

If any term, covenant, condition, or provision of this Agreement is found by a 
court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void, or unenforceable, the remainder of 
the provisions hereof shall remain in full force and effect, and shall in no way be 
affected, impaired, or invalidated thereby. 



10 

H. Incorporation of Recitals and Exhibits 

The foregoing recitals and exhibits are incorporated herein as though fully set 
forth. 

I. California Law; Dispute Resolution; Venue 

This Agreement shall be interpreted and construed pursuant to the laws of the 
State of California, regardless of whether this Agreement is executed by any party in 
another state or otherwise.  If a dispute arises between the parties related to this 
Agreement or the breach thereof, the parties shall first attempt in good faith to settle 
the matter through discussion, and if unsuccessful may in their discretion mutually 
agree to mediate the dispute prior to filing a judicial action.  The costs of a third party 
mediator, if utilized, shall be borne equally by the parties.  If either party elects to 
file an action in court, such action shall be filed and heard in a court of competent 
jurisdiction in the County of Ventura. 

J. Counterparts 

This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, a complete set of 
which shall be deemed to be an original and all of which together shall comprise but 
a single document.  Signatures may be given via facsimile transmission and shall be 
deemed given as of the date of facsimile transmittal of the executed Agreement by 
one party to the other.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Agreement has been executed by the parties 
hereto. 

     UNITED WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT 

 

     By ________________________________________ 
      Mauricio E. Guardado, Jr., General Manager 
 
      

GEI CONSULTANTS, INC. 
 
 
     By ________________________________________ 
 
           ____________________________________ 



1 

EXHIBIT “A” TO AGREEMENT FOR  

PROFESSIONAL CONSULTING SERVICES 

CONSULTANT shall provide professional engineering consultation services under 
this Agreement for the Development of 60 Percent Design Documents for the 
Santa Felicia Dam Outlet Works Improvement Project in accordance with work 
described in the attached Scope of Work and Schedule of Charges. 

BACKGROUND 

Santa Felicia Dam is owned and operated by United Water Conservation District 
(UWCD) and is under the jurisdiction of the Federal Energy Regulatory 
Commission (FERC) and California Department of Water Resources Division of 
Safety of Dams (DSOD).   

The outlet works system of the dam consists of an intake tower with a single intake 
level, conduit beneath the dam, and downstream control facilities on the right 
(west) side of the dam.  A small hydroelectric plant is located adjacent to the 
downstream control facility.  The existing outlet works system needs to be replaced 
because of concerns for seismic stability of the intake tower and conduit through the 
dam, and to mitigate ongoing accumulation of sediment in the reservoir that will 
impact operation of the outlet works in the near future.  The purpose of the outlet 
works improvement project is to replace the outlet works to address dam safety and 
operational concerns.  

GEI Consultants, Inc. (GEI) has completed the following studies and designs to 
advance the outlet works improvement project: 

• Phase 1 Study – A feasibility study was performed to evaluate alternatives to 
mitigate concerns with the existing outlet works.  UWCD submitted the 
Phase 1 Study report to FERC and DSOD in April 2015.   

• Phase 2 Study – A Phase 2 Study was performed to further evaluate 
alternatives to address outlet works concerns.  A subsurface exploration 
program was performed as part of the Phase 2 Study to obtain geotechnical 
information to support conceptual design of outlet works replacement 
alternatives.  The Phase 2 Study report describes alternatives for 
construction of a new outlet works system on the left (east) abutment of the 
dam and contains a conceptual design of a new outlet works configuration to 
carry forward into the final design phase.  UWCD submitted the Phase 2 
Study report to FERC and DSOD in March 2019.   

• 10% Design – A 10% design phase was performed to advance the outlet works 
improvements project.  This design phase included a hydropower facility 



2 

evaluation that led to UWCD’s decision to incorporate a small turbine system 
in the outlet works improvement project and to abandon the existing 
hydropower facility.  UWCD submitted the 10% design report to FERC and 
DSOD in March 2020. 

• 30% Design – A 30% design phase was performed to advance the outlet works 
improvement project.  A subsurface exploration program was performed as 
part of the 30% design to obtain additional geotechnical information to 
support the final design. UWCD submitted the 30% design documents to 
FERC and DSOD in September 2021. 

As required by FERC, UWCD convened an independent Board of Consultants 
(BOC) to oversee and assess the adequacy of the investigations, designs, and 
construction activities for the outlet works improvement project.  Four BOC 
meetings have been held through completion of the 10% design phase.  A fifth BOC 
meeting is scheduled for September 2021 to review the 30% design. The BOC 
prepared a report at the end of each meeting to present their conclusions and 
recommendations with regard to the ongoing design work.   

The new outlet works facility will consist of the following four major components to 
be constructed on the left abutment of the dam: 

• Sloping intake facility in the reservoir,  
• Two water conveyance conduits in a tunnel through the left abutment,  
• Downstream control facility, and  
• Hydropower facility consisting of a small turbine located within the 

downstream control facility.   

The project will also include access road improvements, extension of the existing 
electrical power supply system to the new facilities, and abandonment of the 
existing outlet works facilities and powerhouse.  The existing outlet works will 
remain operational until completion of construction of the new outlet works. 

UWCD is also required by FERC and DSOD to improve the spillway of the dam to 
increase its capacity.  The outlet works improvement project and spillway 
improvement project are collectively referred to as the “Santa Felicia Dam Safety 
Improvement Project” (Project).  UWCD issued a Final Environmental Impact 
Report (Final EIR) for the Project in compliance with provisions of the California 
Environmental Quality Act in February 2019.  

The 30% design is completed pending the BOC’s review and comments.  Future 
design milestones are anticipated to be at the 60, 90, and 100% completion levels.  
The design of the outlet works improvements will evolve as additional analyses are 
performed, and additional input is received from UWCD, FERC, DSOD, and BOC.   



3 

The scope of work described below includes completion of 60% design of the outlet 
works improvement project.   

SCOPE OF WORK 

The scope of work for the 60% design of the outlet works improvement project is 
divided into the following ten tasks: 

Task 1 – Project Management and Coordination  
Task 2 – 60% Analysis and Design 
Task 3 – 60% Plan Drawings 
Task 4 – 60% Specifications 
Task 5 – 60% Geotechnical Baseline Report  
Task 6 – 60% Design Report 
Task 7 – 60% Cost Estimate, Schedule, Constructability Report  
Task 8 – Board of Consultants Meeting  
Task 9 – Comment Response Memorandum                                                                                                   
Task 10 – Dissolved Oxygen Evaluation (Optional) 

The scope of work for each task is presented in detail below.  General assumptions 
related to the scope of work are contained after a description of Task 10. 

Task 1 – Project Management and Coordination 

This task includes management of the GEI team, contract administration, project 
controls, progress reporting, and coordination with UWCD, regulatory agencies, and 
other UWCD consultants.  GEI’s project manager will coordinate with UWCD 
throughout the duration of the work, with assistance as needed from task leads.  
This task includes the following activities: 

• Management and supervision of the GEI design team. 
• Coordination meetings of the GEI design team. 
• Management, coordination, and evaluation of subconsultant services. 
• Management of the project scope, schedule, and budget. 
• Progress report included with submittal of monthly invoices.  

Coordination and communications with UWCD includes a one-hour bi-weekly 
progress meeting (virtual) to discuss project issues and progress.  One design review 
meeting (virtual) with UWCD engineering and operations and maintenance staff 
will be held approximately mid-way through the 60% design phase to discuss design 
issues, answer questions, and obtain input.  GEI will provide in-progress design 
drawings to UWCD in advance of the design review meeting. 

GEI will participate in coordination meetings (virtual) with regulatory agencies and 
other UWCD consultants with regard to relevant designs performed by others.  
These consist of design of a discharge channel for connection of the armored 



4 

discharge channel of the outlet works to lower Piru Creek and design of a fish 
passage system. 

GEI will assist UWCD in communications with FERC and DSOD to address issues 
related to process and functioning of the BOC, schedule of review submittals, and 
other matters related to the 60% design efforts.  We have assumed that these 
communications will mainly be via phone and email.  

Task 2 – 60% Analyses and Design 

GEI will perform geotechnical, structural, hydropower, hydraulic, and site civil 
analyses and design studies required to advance the design, plans, and 
specifications to the 60% level of completion.  

Geotechnical analyses include evaluations of slope stability, foundation design 
parameters, anchor pullout capacity, lateral loads on walls, temporary support of 
tunnel excavations, ground loading on steel conduits in tunnel, earth backfill 
requirements, discharge channel rip-rap sizing to prevent erosion, access road sub-
base requirements, and tunnel spoil gradation.  Geotechnical parameters for design 
of facilities will be established and included in the Design Report. 

Structural analyses include evaluations for development of final design criteria, 
seismic loading on structures, pipe wall thickness, thrust blocks, sloping intake 
facility design (reinforced concrete mats and pedestals, preliminary framing for fish 
screens, fish screen hoisting structure, and fish screen cleaning platform), upstream 
control facility building and vent structure design, downstream valve vault design, 
and downstream control facility structure design (reinforced concrete elements and 
building with a removable roof).  The structural analyses and design will be 
described in the Design Report.  An alternatives analysis will be performed to 
evaluate the pros and cons of a removable roof system for the downstream control 
facility versus an internal crane system.  This alternatives analysis will be 
documented in a brief technical memorandum (TM). 

Hydropower analyses include evaluations of the hydropower unit over a series of 
system net heads and varying flow rates to select a custom design of the crossflow 
unit for the site.  This analysis builds on previous preliminary unit selection by 
incorporating custom design-level data from a cross-flow manufacturer and using 
this information in combination with site specific conditions to develop a customized 
turbine design optimized for the site conditions. 

Hydraulic analyses include the following evaluations: 

• Fish Screens – Analyses will be performed to assess the uniformity of the 
approach velocity a distance of 3 inches from the surface of primary-flow and 
low-flow fish screens for comparison to the maximum allowable approach 
velocity of 0.8 feet/second.  The fish screens (one large and one small) will be 



5 

modeled using a preliminary framing configuration for a wedge-wire screen 
system.  Three-dimensional computational fluid dynamics (CFD) analyses 
will be performed to estimate if the modeled screen could cause high velocity 
“hot spots” that exceed the allowable approach velocity.  Analyses will be 
performed assuming the screen is 40% clogged by quagga mussel growth, 
making simplifying assumptions for modeling the clogged area.  Eight CFD 
model runs are assumed.  A TM will be prepared to document the analyses, 
results, and conclusions.  Analyses of internal baffling systems to reduce 
localized high velocities are not included, but could be performed as part of a 
future design phase if found to be needed based on the results of the CFD 
analyses. 

• Diffuser Wall – The 30% design includes a passive diffuser wall system to 
aerate the discharges from the hydropower turbine.  CFD analyses will be 
performed to estimate the effectiveness of the proposed diffuser wall to 
increase dissolved oxygen content of the discharge.  Six CFD model runs are 
assumed.  The results of the analysis will be used to determine if other 
methods are needed to increase dissolved oxygen content of the discharge to 
levels acceptable to UWCD.  A TM will be prepared to document the 
analyses, results, and conclusions.  Analyses of other means to increase 
dissolved oxygen content of the discharge are not included, but could be 
performed as Optional Task 1.10 if found to be needed based on the results of 
the CFD analyses. 

• Fixed-Cone Valve Spray – Analyses will be performed to estimate the landing 
area of discharge spray from a typical 54-inch fixed cone valve, and the 
velocity and angle of the spray impacting the ground.  Three CFD model runs 
are assumed.  The results of the analyses will be used to confirm the 
dimensions of the armored discharge channel and to determine the rip-rap 
size needed to prevent erosion due to the spray impact.  A TM will be 
prepared to document the analyses, results, and conclusions. 

• Hydraulic Transients – Final transient analyses will be performed using the 
final geometry of the outlet works system, and the parameters for the actual 
turbine selected for the project.  The future analyses will consider potential 
interconnections between the low-flow and high-flow systems.  A surge 
analysis will be performed to establish minimum closure times for two 
emergency shutoff valves to prevent unacceptable pressure surges in both the 
low-flow and high-flow systems.  After the specific turbine has been selected, 
a pressure surge evaluation will be performed to estimate negative pressure 
surges that would result from an instant load rejection.  Three surge analysis 
model runs are assumed.  A TM will be prepared to document the analyses, 
results, and conclusions. 

• Air Vent Grate Sizing – Analyses will be performed to confirm that the grate 
design (size and location) used for venting of 78-inch and 30-inch pipes at the 
intake facility will be adequate for venting of the pipes under extreme flow 



6 

conditions, and not result in velocities through the grate that would be a 
concern for the safety of personnel. 

Site civil analyses include evaluations for development of final site grading, site 
drainage, access roads, parking/turnaround areas, and temporary erosion control 
measures during construction. 

Draft TMs to document the various analysis and design studies will be submitted to 
UWCD for review.  Final TMs will be prepared to address UWCD comments.  

Task 3 – 60% Plan Drawings 

This task consists of updating the 30% design level drawings and preparing 
additional drawings for construction of the outlet works improvement project.  The 
drawings will include plan views, profiles, sections and details of the various project 
elements to a 60% level of completion.  We anticipate that the final drawing set will 
include approximately 125 drawings, divided into the following sections: 

• General 
• Erosion Control 
• Demolition 
• Civil 
• Mechanical 
• Structural 
• Architectural 
• Roads 
• Corrosion 
• Electrical (Includes Instrumentation and Controls) 

Reference drawings will also be included in the plan set.  The drawings will be 
prepared in a current version of AutoCAD Civil 3D as standard 22x34-inch full size 
drawings, which are conveniently reducible to 11x17-inch half size drawings for 
reference.   

Task 4 – 60% Specifications 

GEI will prepare technical specifications for construction to a 60% design level of 
completion.  Specifications will be prepared in standard Construction Specification 
Institute (CSI) MasterFormat 2016 standards.  Each technical specification will be 
a separate Microsoft Word file. 

The following sections of UWCD’s General Conditions and Standard Specifications 
will be used: 

• Notice Inviting Bids 
• Instructions to Bidders 



7 

• Proposal Forms 
• Agreement 
• General Provisions 
• Special Provisions 

All project technical specifications will be included as Appendix A – Technical 
Provisions.  A compiled set of specifications will be submitted in searchable PDF 
format for UWCD review and comment. 

Task 5 – 60% Geotechnical Baseline Report 

A Geotechnical Baseline Report (GBR) will be prepared for inclusion in the 
construction contract documents.  The GBR will establish a contractual baseline for 
the ground conditions expected to be encountered during construction of the tunnel 
portion of the outlet works improvement project.  The GBR will not be applicable to 
other parts of the project.  The baseline conditions stated in the GBR will be used as 
a basis for contractors to develop construction bids and select their means, methods 
and equipment for construction of the tunnel.  The baselines will also be used for 
evaluating potential differing site conditions during construction. 

Geologic and geotechnical data obtained during previous subsurface explorations of 
the site will be used to develop the GBR.  A draft GBR will be prepared, 
commensurate with a 60% design level of completion. 

Task 6 – 60% Design Report 

GEI will prepare a Design Report to summarize the overall design of the outlet 
works improvement project.  The Design Report will include a statement of the 
purpose and objectives of the project, descriptions of existing conditions, criteria 
used for design, results of analyses, and descriptions of the design of facilities.  The 
Design Report will reference other documents pertinent to the design effort, such as 
plan drawings, specifications, and topic-specific technical memoranda and reports.  
As the project advances through various stages of design, the Design Report will be 
updated to reflect an increasing level of detail, ultimately resulting in a Final 
Design Report at the end of the project.   

The 60% Design Report will be an update of the 30% Design Report.  TMs developed 
during the 60% design will be included as appendices to the 60% Design Report (or 
included in a separate volume).  

A draft 60% Design Report will be submitted to UWCD for review and a final 60% 
Design Report will be prepared to address UWCD comments.  

 

  



8 

Task 7 – 60% Cost Estimate, Schedule, Constructability Report 

Opinions of probable construction cost (OPCC) and opinions of probable project costs 
(OPPC) for the outlet works improvement project will be updated based on the 60% 
design information.  The OPCC represents a likely contractor bid to construct the 
project, including contractor overhead and profit, plus a contingency to account for 
potential unforeseen or changed conditions.  The OPPC will include allowances for 
non-construction project costs including permitting fees, legal and administrative 
costs, design investigations and engineering, and construction management costs.  
The cost estimates will be generated in accordance with guidelines established by 
AACE International (AACE) as a Class 2 equivalent (-15% to +20%) estimate level.  
The OPCC will be based on our evaluation of the major construction items 
appropriate to complete the work, and quantity estimates developed from the 60% 
design drawings.  The cost estimate will be submitted as a separate TM. 

Constructability analysis will be performed during 60% design and documented in a 
Constructability Report.  The report will include an anticipated construction 
schedule (Microsoft Project format) based on an anticipated sequence of 
construction.  The report will include general discussions of reservoir level control, 
dewatering issues, anticipated excavation and tunneling methods, construction 
staging area, as well as construction risks and potential mitigation measures.  The 
Constructability Report will inform development of the construction plans and 
specifications as well as development of the OPCC. 

A draft 60% Constructability Report will be submitted to UWCD for review and a 
final 60% Constructability Report will be prepared to address UWCD comments.   

Task 8 – Board of Consultants Meeting 

As required by FERC, UWCD convened a BOC to oversee and assess the adequacy 
of the investigations, designs, and construction activities for the outlet works 
improvement project.  FERC has specific requirements in terms of operation of the 
BOC, as indicated in a September 16, 2016 letter from FERC to UWCD.  GEI will 
work closely with UWCD to help assure that all BOC requirements established by 
FERC are followed and to support UWCD in communications with the BOC.  

There will be one meeting of the BOC near the completion of the 60% design phase 
(BOC Meeting No. 6), to be attended by UWCD, GEI, FERC, and DSOD.  The 60% 
design documents to be submitted to the BOC, FERC, and DSOD for formal review 
are the following: 

• 60% Design Report and Appended TMs 
• 60% Plan Drawings 
• 60% Specifications 
• 60% GBR 
• 60% Constructability Report 



9 

• Updated BOC Comment Tracking Form 

GEI will perform the following in support of the 60% design BOC meeting: assist 
UWCD with development of a meeting agenda, prepare a list of questions for the 
BOC to respond to, compile and print a packet of information for review by meeting 
attendees, develop a PowerPoint presentation to summarize key elements of the 
60% design work, and attend the BOC meeting to make presentations and answer 
questions.  We have assumed that this meeting will be held at UWCD’s office in 
Ventura County over a three-day period, and be attended by two GEI staff (plus two 
other GEI staff as part of the spillway improvement project).   

UWCD will handle scheduling of the meeting with the BOC and communications 
with the BOC, FERC, and DSOD relative to the meeting time and location.   

Task 9 – Comment Response Memorandum  

FERC, DSOD, and the BOC will submit comments on the 60% design documents 
submitted to them for review.  GEI will develop tracking forms to document FERC, 
DSOD, and BOC comments and provide responses to comments.  A comment 
response memorandum (CRM) will be prepared by GEI to compile the tracking 
forms.  A Draft CRM will be submitted to UWCD for review, and finalized to 
address UWCD comments on GEI’s responses.  UWCD comments on the 60% design 
documents will be tracked and addressed separately. 

Comments on the 60% design received from UWCD, FERC, DSOD, and BOC will be 
incorporated into the next phases of design, as appropriate. 

Task 10 – Dissolved Oxygen Evaluation (Optional) 

The 30% design includes a passive diffuser wall system to aerate the discharges 
from the hydropower turbine.  Task 2 includes analyses to estimate the 
effectiveness of the proposed diffuser wall to increase dissolved oxygen content of 
the discharge.  The results of the analysis will be used to determine if other 
methods are needed to increase dissolved oxygen content of the discharge to levels 
acceptable to UWCD.   

As an optional task, GEI will perform an evaluation to determine other means to 
increase dissolved oxygen levels of the turbine discharge if the diffuser wall concept 
is found to be ineffective.  A TM will be prepared to document the evaluation and 
conclusions.  A draft TM will be submitted to UWCD for review, and finalized to 
address UWCD comments.  

Additional Assumptions 

The following additional assumptions were made in developing the scope of work 
and fee estimate for 60% design of the outlet works improvement project: 



10 

1. The configuration of outlet works improvement facilities will be as generally 
shown on the 30% design documents.  Changes to this general configuration 
required by UWCD, BOC, or regulatory agencies may require modifications 
to the scope of work and design fee. 

2. The BOC and regulatory agencies will not request extraordinary engineering 
analyses beyond typical geotechnical, structural, and hydraulic evaluations 
for an outlet works improvement project of this type. 

3. All site survey information and site topography for design of facilities will be 
provided by others. 

4. No additional field subsurface explorations will be required for design of 
facilities. 

5. The allowable approach velocity for fish screen design is 0.8 feet per second. 
6. A passive system for cleaning of fish screens will be allowed, such that fish 

screens can be brought to the surface for periodic cleaning. 
7. Excavations for realignment of the existing access road near the intake 

facility will be allowed to extend beyond UWCD’s property line. 
8. The outlet works improvements will not include the Amiad system for quagga 

mussel filtration.  If UWCD decides to implement the Amiad system, then 
changes to the design of the outlet works facilities will be required.  These 
design changes would be performed as additional services at additional cost.  
Implementation of the Amiad system would likely require additional time to 
complete the design and construction of the outlet works improvement 
project. 

9. The outlet works improvements do not include design of fish passage 
facilities. 

10. The outlet works improvements do not include design of discharge channel 
improvements beyond the rip-rap discharge channel of the downstream 
control facility. 

11. All deliverables will be submitted in electronic format.  Two hard copies of 
final documents will be submitted to UWCD.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



11 

United Water Conservation District 
Outlet Works Improvement Project 
Design Fee Estimate – 60 Percent Design Phase 
GEI Consultants, Inc. 
9/24/2021 
 

Task 
GEI 

Labor 
Hours 

GEI Costs 
GEI 

Subconsultant 
Costs 

Total Fee 

Task 1 - Project 
Management and 
Coordination 

256 $71,144.00 $0.00 $71,144.00 

Task 2 - 60% 
Analyses and Design 2,264 $512,218.00 $105,000.00 $617,218.00 

Task 3 - 60% Plan 
Drawings 2,360 $461,852.00 $49,148.00 $511,000.00 

Task 4 - 60% 
Specifications 480 $114,352.00 $59,148.00 $173,500.00 

Task 5 - 60% 
Geotechnical 
Baseline Report 

236 $58,376.00 $0.00 $58,376.00 

Task 6 - 60% Design 
Report 332 $77,228.00 $0.00 $77,228.00 

Task 7 - 60% Cost 
Estimate, Schedule, 
Constructability 
Report 

508 $126,448.00 $0.00 $126,448.00 

Task 8 - Board of 
Consultants Meeting 
No. 6 

160 $42,300.00 $0.00 $42,300.00 

Task 9 - Comment 
Response 
Memorandum 

44 $11,600.00 $0.00 $11,600.00 

Task 10 - Dissolved 
Oxygen Evaluation 
(Optional) 

120 $26,892.00 $0.00 $26,892.00 

Total 6,760 $1,502,410.00 $213,296.00 $1,715,706.00 
 
 

 

 



12 

Schedule 

CONSULTANT shall provide professional consultation services for the 60 Percent 
Design for the Santa Felicia Dam Outlet Works Improvement Project in accordance 
with the schedule below. 

 
Item 

Approximate 
Weeks After 

Notice to Proceed 
Submit Technical Memorandum on Diffuser 
Wall Analysis 12 

Interim 60 Percent Design Meeting 20 

Submit Draft Geotechnical Baseline Report 30 

Submit Draft 60 Percent Design Report 36 

Submit 60 Percent Design Packet 40 

Complete 60 Percent Design 52 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



13 

GEI CONSULTANTS, INC. 
 
    Hourly Billing Rate 

13. Personnel Category    $ per hour 

Staff Professional – Grade 1    $ 127 
Staff Professional – Grade 2    $ 140 
Project Professional – Grade 3    $ 153 
Project Professional – Grade 4    $ 172 
Senior Professional – Grade 5  $ 203 
Senior Professional – Grade 6  $ 231 
Senior Professional – Grade 7    $ 274 
Senior Consultant – Grade 8  $ 307 
Senior Consultant – Grade 9  $ 375 
Senior Principal – Grade 10  $ 375 
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -  
Senior Drafter and Designer  $ 153 
Drafter / Designer and Senior Technician $ 140 
Field Professional  $ 115    
Technician, Word Processor, Administrative Staff  $ 114 
14. Office Aide  $   89 

 
These rates are billed for both regular and overtime hours in all categories. 
Rates will increase up to 5% annually, at GEI’s option, for all contracts that extend beyond twelve (12) months after the date 
of the contract. Rates for Deposition and Testimony are increased 1.5 times. 
 
OTHER PROJECT COSTS 
 
Subconsultants, Subcontractors and Other Project Expenses - All costs for subconsultants, subcontractors and other 
project expenses will be billed at cost plus a 15% service charge.  Examples of such expenses ordinarily charged to projects 
are subcontractors; subconsultants: chemical laboratory charges; rented or leased field and laboratory equipment; outside 
printing and reproduction; communications and mailing charges; reproduction expenses; shipping costs for samples and 
equipment; disposal of samples; rental vehicles; fares for travel on public carriers; special fees for insurance certificates, 
permits, licenses, etc.; fees for restoration of paving or land due to field exploration, etc.; state and local sales and use taxes 
and state taxes on GEI fees. The 15% service charge will not apply to GEI-owned equipment and vehicles or in-house 
reproduction expenses. 
 
Billing Rates for Specialized Technical Computer Programs – Computer usage for specialized technical programs will 
be billed at flat rates established in the Agreement.  Flow3D software modeling runs will be billed at $2,000 per run.   
 
Field and Laboratory Equipment Billing Rates – GEI-owned field and laboratory equipment such as pumps, sampling 
equipment, monitoring instrumentation, field density equipment, portable gas chromatographs, etc. will be billed at a daily, 
weekly, or monthly rate, as needed for the project. Expendable supplies are billed at a unit rate. 
 
Transportation and Subsistence - Automobile expenses for GEI or employee owned cars will be reimbursed per the Travel 
Expenses provisions included in Exhibit B. 
Tolls and parking charges will be billed directly. When required for a project, four-wheel drive vehicles owned by GEI or 
the employees will be billed at a daily rate appropriate for those vehicles.  Per diem living costs for personnel on assignment 
away from their home office will be negotiated for each project. 
 

 



1 

EXHIBIT “B” TO AGREEMENT FOR 

PROFESSIONAL CONSULTING SERVICES 

CONSULTANT shall adhere to the following Guidelines for Expense 
Reimbursement:  

Incidental expenditures incurred by CONSULTANT in the course of performing work 
under this Agreement and submitted for reimbursement by UNITED shall comply 
with the following guidelines.  

Receipts are required for all reimbursable expenses (with an exception for meals and 
lodging) and shall be furnished with the invoice. Reimbursable expenditures shall not 
be subject to mark-up. Only actual costs of expenditures within the limits presented 
below are eligible for reimbursement.  

1. Reimbursable Expenditures 

A. Travel Expenses 

Expenses for airfare or other travel accommodations shall not exceed costs that 
would reasonably be expected for comparable economy or coach class 
accommodations. 

Personal vehicles may be used when appropriate and mileage will be 
reimbursed at the standard Internal Revenue Service (IRS) business mileage rate 
(i.e., 56 cents per mile for calendar year 2021, but for a total cost no greater than the 
cost that would reasonably be expected for round trip economy or coach class airfare. 
With the exception of extenuating circumstances (e.g. transport of specialized 
equipment), mileage for any trip over 500 miles shall be reimbursed at a total cost no 
greater than would reasonably be expected for round trip economy or coach class 
airfare. Extenuating circumstances shall be pre-approved by UNITED.  

Rental vehicle costs are reimbursable when justified by the nature of the trip. 
With the exception of extenuating circumstances (e.g. transport of more than 4 people 
or excessive cargo) the total expense for the rental vehicle shall not exceed a cost that 
would reasonably be expected for a standard class vehicle. Insurance for rental 
vehicles is not reimbursable and must be in accordance with all insurance 
requirements set forth in this Agreement. 

B. Lodging  

The cost of lodging incurred on approved CONSULTANT business trips is 
reimbursable. UNITED will reimburse lodging at the standard U.S. General Services 
Administration (GSA) rate for Ventura County (i.e., $182.00 per night [excluding 



2 

taxes] for the months of October 2020 and January – September 2021). GSA rates are 
annually updated in October. 

C. Meals 

The cost of meals incurred on approved CONSULTANT Projects is 
reimbursable.  

If UNITED is reimbursing the CONSULTANT for lodging, UNITED will 
reimburse for meals at the appropriate standard GSA rate for Ventura County (i.e., 
$49.50 (or 75% of a daily rate) per day for first and last calendar day of PROJECT 
work, and $66.00 per day for additional PROJECT work days for calendar year 2021. 

If UNITED is not reimbursing the CONSULTANT for lodging, UNITED will 
not reimburse the CONSULTANT for meals.  

D. Equipment 

All reimbursable equipment must be purchased or rented at a reasonable cost, 
in accordance with industry standards.  

E. Expendable Items 

Items that are expendable (depleted) will not be returned to UNITED, as the 
items will be “used up” in the course of CONSULTANT’s work. 

F. Non-Expendable Items 

Items that are non-expendable (not depleted) will be returned to UNITED upon 
completion of CONSULTANT’s work. 

 



1 

EXHIBIT “C” TO AGREEMENT FOR 

PROFESSIONAL CONSULTING SERVICES 

CONSULTANT shall procure and maintain for the duration of the Agreement, and 
for injuries that occur and claims which are made after the services herein are 
performed, insurance against claims or injuries to persons or damages to property, 
which may arise from or in connection with the performance of the work hereunder 
by CONSULTANT, its agents, representatives, or employees.  

Minimum Scope of Insurance  

Coverage shall be at least as broad as: 

1. Insurance Services Office Commercial General Liability coverage (occurrence 
Form CG 00 01 or its equivalent). 

2. Insurance Services Office Form Number CA 00 01 covering Automobile 
Liability, Code 1 or its equivalent (any auto). 

3. Workers’ Compensation insurance as required by the State of California and 
Employer's Liability Insurance. 

4. Errors & Omissions Liability insurance appropriate to the CONSULTANT’s 
profession.  Architects’ and engineers’ coverage is to be endorsed to include 
contractual liability. 

5. Valuable Document Insurance on all plans, specifications and other documents 
as may be required to protect UNITED in the amount of its full equity in such 
plans, specifications and other documents. 

Minimum Limits of Insurance  

CONSULTANT shall maintain limits no less than: 

1. General Liability: 
Including operations, products 
and completed operations, as 
applicable. 

$1,000,000 per occurrence for bodily 
injury, personal injury and property 
damage.  If Commercial General 
Liability Insurance or other form with a 
general aggregate limit is used, either 
the general aggregate limit shall apply 
separately to this project/location or the 
general aggregate limit shall be twice 
the required occurrence limit. 

2. Automobile Liability: $1,000,000 per accident for bodily injury 
and property damage. 



2 

3. Employer’s Liability: $1,000,000 per accident for bodily injury 
or disease. 

4. Errors & Omissions Liability: $1,000,000 per claim. 

5. Valuable Document Insurance Full Equity of all Documents 

Deductibles and Self-Insured Retentions 

Any deductibles or self-insured retentions must be declared to and approved by 
UNITED.  At the option of UNITED, either: the insurer shall reduce or eliminate 
such deductibles or self-insured retentions as respects UNITED, its directors, officers, 
officials, employees and agents; or CONSULTANT shall provide a financial 
guarantee satisfactory to UNITED guaranteeing payment of losses and related 
investigations, claim administration and defense expenses. 

Other Insurance Provisions 

The commercial general liability and automobile liability policies are to contain, or 
be endorsed to contain, the following provisions: 

6. For all policies required by this Agreement, UNITED and its directors, officers, 
officials, employees and volunteers are to be covered as additional named 
insureds as respects: liability arising out of work or operations performed by 
or on behalf of the CONSULTANT; or automobiles owned, leased, hired or 
borrowed by the CONSULTANT. 

7. For any claims related to this Project, the CONSULTANT’s insurance coverage 
shall be primary insurance as respects UNITED and its directors, officers, 
officials, employees and agents.  Any insurance or self-insurance maintained 
by  UNITED, its directors, officers, officials, employees or agents shall be 
excess of the CONSULTANT’s insurance and shall not contribute with it. 

8. Each insurance policy required by this clause shall be endorsed to state that 
coverage shall not be canceled by either party, except after thirty (30) days 
prior written notice has been provided to UNITED (with the exception of ten 
(10) days for nonpayment of premium). 

If General Liability, Contractors Pollution Liability and/or Asbestos Pollution 
Liability and/or Errors & Omissions coverages are written on a claims-made form: 

9. The retroactive date must be shown, and must be before the date of the contract 
or the beginning of contract work. 

10. Insurance must be maintained and evidence of insurance must be provided for 
at least five (5) years after completion of the contract of work. 



3 

11. If coverage is canceled or non-renewed, and not replaced with another claims-
made policy form with a retroactive date prior to the contract effective date, 
the CONSULTANT must purchase an extended period coverage for a 
minimum of five (5) years after completion of contract work. 

12. A copy of the claims reporting requirements must be submitted to UNITED for 
review. 

13. If the services involve lead-based paint or asbestos identification/ remediation, 
the Contractors Pollution Liability shall not contain lead-based paint or 
asbestos exclusions.  If the services involve mold identification/ remediation, 
the Contractors Pollution Liability shall not contain a mold exclusion and the 
definition of “Pollution” shall include microbial matter including mold. 

Acceptability of Insurers 

Insurance is to be placed with insurers qualified to do business in the State of 
California with a current A.M. Best’s rating of no less than A: VII, unless otherwise 
acceptable to UNITED.  Exception may be made for the State Compensation 
Insurance Fund when not specifically rated. 

Verification of Coverage 

CONSULTANT shall furnish UNITED with original certificates and amendatory/ 
additional insured endorsements effecting coverage required by this clause.  The 
endorsements should be on forms provided by UNITED or on other than UNITED’s 
forms provided those endorsements conform to UNITED requirements.  All 
certificates and endorsements are to be received and approved by UNITED before 
work commences.  However, failure to do so shall not operate as a waiver of these 
insurance requirements. UNITED reserves the right to require complete, certified 
copies of all required insurance policies, including endorsements effecting the 
coverage required by these specifications at any time. 

Waiver of Subrogation 

CONSULTANT hereby agrees to waive subrogation, which any insurer of contractor 
may acquire from vendor by virtue of the payment of any loss.  CONSULTANT agrees 
to obtain any endorsement that may be necessary to effect this waiver of subrogation. 

The Workers’ Compensation policy shall be endorsed with a waiver of subrogation in 
favor of the entity for all work performed by the CONSULTANT, its employees, 
agents and subcontractors. 

 



 

 
 

Page 1 of 2 

 
Staff Report 

          
To: Engineering and Operations Committee 
 
Through: Mauricio E. Guardado, Jr., General Manager 
  
From: Maryam Bral, Chief Engineer 
 Craig Morgan, Engineering Manager 
 Michel Kadah, Engineer 

  
Date: September 28, 2021 (October 7, 2021 Committee Meeting) 
 
Agenda Item: 3.2 Authorize a Contract with GEI Consultants, Inc. to Develop 30 percent 

Design of the Santa Felicia Dam Spillway Improvement Project  
 Motion 
 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
The committee will consider recommending approval of the motion item, authorizing the General 
Manager to execute a Professional Consulting Services Agreement with GEI Consultants, Inc. 
(GEI) in the amount of $579,948.00 for development of the 30 percent design of the SFD Spillway 
Improvement Project, to the full Board. 
 
Background: 
The hydraulic capacity of the existing spillway is inadequate to pass the inflow design flood (IDF) 
of 220,000 cubic feet per second. Improvements to the existing spillway are requires to safely pass 
the IDF. The supplemental 10% design of the Spillway Improvement Project was recently 
completed, and the design documents were presented to the Board of Consultants (BOC) at the 
BOC meeting No. 5 that took place at the District’s Headquarters from Sept 21-23. The spillway 
improvements consist of lowering the spillway chute slab (complete replacement of the slab), reuse 
of the existing spillway walls and the ogee crest and raising the embankment dam crest by 6.5 feet 
with a mechanically stabilized earth wall.  
 
Discussion:   
The current supplemental 10 percent design was completed in September 2021. The design 
documents and the results of the hydraulic analyses were presented to the BOC, Federal Energy 
Regulatory Commission (FERC), and California Department of Water Resources Division of 
Safety of Dams (DSOD) at the BOC meeting No. 5. The BOC approved the current supplemental 
10 percent design and recommended the District to proceed with the next design phase.  
 
The 30 percent design phase will include additional geotechnical, structural, hydraulic, and site 
civil analyses and design studies required to advance the design work. The 30% design phase will 
also include the preparation of the 30 percent design packet for submittal to the BOC and the 
agencies. The design findings will be presented at the BOC meeting No. 6 tentatively scheduled 



Agenda Item:   3.2 Authorizing a Contract with GEI Consultants, Inc. to Develop 30 
 percent Design of the Santa Felicia Dam Spillway Improvement Project 
 Motion 
 
 

 
 

Page 2 of 2 

for August 2022. The future work beyond the 30% design will consist of 60 percent, 90 percent. 
and 100 percent completion levels.  
 
Staff recommends that the committee recommend to the Board to authorize the General Manager 
to execute a contract with GEI for development of the 30 percent design phase of the SFD Spillway 
Improvement Project. 
 
A copy of the Professional Consulting Service Agreement detailing GEI’s complete proposal, 
including the scope of work and deliverables, proposed fee, and the project schedule, is included 
in Attachment A. 
 
Fiscal Impact:   
 
The 30 percent design of the SFD Spillway Improvement Project is included in the Fiscal Years 
2021/22 and 2022/23 budget (Account No. 051-400-81080-8003-815) with sufficient funds 
available to provide $579,948.00 for the contract. 
 

Attachment A – Santa Felicia Dam Spillway Improvement Project – 30 percent Design Professional 
Services Agreement with GEI Consultants, Inc.  

 



1 

AGREEMENT FOR 
PROFESSIONAL CONSULTING SERVICES 

THIS AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made and entered into on 
________________, 2021, by and between the United Water Conservation District, 
Ventura County, California, (hereinafter “UNITED”), and GEI Consultants, Inc., 
(hereinafter “CONSULTANT”). 

RECITALS: 

WHEREAS, UNITED desires to obtain professional engineering consultation 
services in connection with the Development of 30 Percent Design Documents 
for the Santa Felicia Dam Spillway Improvement Project (“Project”); and 

WHEREAS, UNITED has selected CONSULTANT to provide such services; 
and 

WHEREAS, CONSULTANT represents that it has the skills, experience, 
license, and expertise to perform these professional services for UNITED; and  

WHEREAS, UNITED is desirous of engaging the services of CONSULTANT 
to perform these services; 

NOW, THEREFORE, based on the terms and covenants set forth herein, 
UNITED and CONSULTANT mutually agree as follows: 

1. EMPLOYMENT 

A. UNITED hereby employs CONSULTANT to perform and complete the 
professional engineering services as set forth in Exhibit “A” (“Scope of Work/Schedule 
of Charges”). CONSULTANT shall perform such professional services as set forth in 
Exhibit “A” and shall furnish or procure the use of incidental services, equipment, 
and facilities reasonably necessary for the completion of services. 

B. Any extra work over and above that included in the Scope of Work 
included in Exhibit “A” shall be in compliance with Section 3D. 

C. CONSULTANT represents that its services shall be performed, within 
the limits prescribed by UNITED, in a manner consistent with the level of care and 
skill ordinarily exercised by other engineering professionals under similar 
circumstances at the time and in the vicinity its services are performed. 

D. Thomas O. Keller shall: (a) personally perform or supervise the 
performance of services on a day-to-day basis on behalf of CONSULTANT; and (b) 



2 

maintain direct communication with UNITED’s Maryam A. Bral or designee in the 
performance of CONSULTANT’s services. 

E. CONSULTANT in the performance of services hereunder shall fully 
comply with any and all local, state and federal laws, regulations, ordinances, and 
policies applicable to its work, including any licensing laws applicable to 
CONSULTANT’s profession and anti-discrimination laws pertaining to employment 
practices. 

F. In the event of any conflict between the terms and conditions set forth 
in Exhibit A (Scope of Work/Schedule of Charges) versus those terms and conditions 
set forth in this Agreement, the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement 
shall govern and the conflicting terms and conditions in Exhibit A shall not apply. 

2. TERM OF AGREEMENT 

Unless otherwise earlier terminated as specified in Section 8, this Agreement 
shall commence on the date set forth above and shall expire on September 29, 2022. 

3. COMPENSATION 

Payment by UNITED for the consulting services shall be considered as full 
compensation for all personnel, materials, supplies, and equipment used in carrying 
out the work. 

A. Compensation and payments to the CONSULTANT shall be as 
described below: 

1. UNITED shall compensate CONSULTANT on a time and 
expenses basis not to exceed Five Hundred Seventy-Nine Thousand, and Nine 
Hundred Forty-Eight Dollars ($579,948.00) for performing all services authorized 
and required by this Agreement and specified in Exhibit “A.”  UNITED shall 
compensate CONSULTANT only for actual costs incurred on a time and expenses 
basis, but in no event shall the total compensation be greater than the not to exceed 
amount above.  However, the total amount paid on a time and expenses basis may be 
lower than the not to exceed amount above based on actual costs incurred.  Payment 
shall be made in accordance with CONSULTANT’s Schedule of Charges submitted to 
UNITED, included in Exhibit “A” attached and incorporated by reference herein. 

2. CONSULTANT shall provide UNITED with monthly itemized 
invoices. Invoices shall include the categories and identities of CONSULTANT’s 
employees performing services, a description of the services, the number of hours 
spent performing services, the hourly rate for each employee, CONSULTANT’s actual 
costs and expenses, and the total amount of compensation requested by 
CONSULTANT for that month.  Upon UNITED’s request, CONSULTANT shall 
include with its monthly invoices a detailed verification, including accounting 



3 

records, of the work actually performed and costs and expenses incurred, along with 
any other documents or information reasonably requested by UNITED. 

B. UNITED shall pay CONSULTANT within thirty (30) days after receipt 
of CONSULTANT’s invoices, with the exception of any disputed amounts which shall 
be withheld until resolution of the dispute.  If UNITED has reasonable grounds to 
believe that CONSULTANT will be unable to materially perform the services under 
this Agreement, or there exists or may exist a claim against CONSULTANT arising 
out of CONSULTANT’s negligence or intentional acts , errors, omissions, or material 
breach of any provision of this Agreement, then UNITED may withhold payment of 
any reasonable amount due to CONSULTANT which is directly related to such 
negligence, intentional act, error, omission or material breach.  No payment made 
under this Agreement shall be conclusive evidence of CONSULTANT’s performance 
of the Agreement, either wholly or in part, and no payment shall be construed to be 
an acceptance by UNITED of CONSULTANT’s work. 

C. CONSULTANT shall notify UNITED in writing of the need for 
additional services required due to the circumstances beyond the CONSULTANT’s 
control (“Additional Services”). The CONSULTANT shall obtain written 
authorization from UNITED before rendering any Additional Services.  
Compensation for all approved Additional Services shall be negotiated and approved 
in writing by UNITED before such Additional Services are performed by 
CONSULTANT. No compensation shall be paid to the CONSULTANT for any 
Additional Services that are not previously approved by UNITED in writing.  

D. Reimbursable expenses, if applicable, are in addition to compensation 
for services outlined in the Scope of Work and Additional Services, and shall be paid 
to the CONSULTANT in accordance with the guidelines specified on Exhibit “B”.  
Reimbursable expenses are paid at the actual costs, without mark-ups, incurred by 
the CONSULTANT and the CONSULTANT’s employees in conduct of Agreement 
activities.  

4. SCHEDULE OF WORK 

CONSULTANT shall complete and deliver services and deliverables to 
UNITED in a diligent and professional manner, in accordance with the Project 
schedule set forth in Exhibit “A” attached and incorporated by reference herein. Time 
is of the essence in CONSULTANT’s performance of services hereunder. 

CONSULTANT’s Project Manager shall keep UNITED’s Maryam A. Bral or 
designee informed as to the progress of work by informal reports.  Neither party shall 
hold the other responsible for damages or delay in performance caused by acts of God, 
strikes, lockouts, accidents, or other events beyond the reasonable control of the other 
or the other’s employees and agents. 

 



4 

5. ASSIGNMENT OF CONTRACT 

This Agreement is a professional services contract.  CONSULTANT shall not assign 
this Agreement or any portion of the work without the prior written approval of 
UNITED.  Any such assignment without UNITED’s prior written approval shall be 
void.  UNITED may withhold such approval for any reason in its sole discretion. 

6. INDEMNIFICATION  

 To the fullest extent permitted by law, CONSULTANT agrees to indemnify 
and hold UNITED entirely harmless from all liability arising out of: 

1. Workers’ Compensation and Employer’s Liability. Any and all 
claims under Workers’ Compensation acts and other employee benefit acts with 
respect to CONSULTANT’s employees or CONSULTANT’s subconsultant’s 
employees arising out of CONSULTANT’s work under this Agreement; and 

2. General Liability. To the extent arising out of, pertaining to, or 
relating to the negligence, recklessness, or willful misconduct of the CONSULTANT, 
the CONSULTANT shall indemnify, defend and hold UNITED harmless from any 
liability for damages for (1) death or bodily injury to person; (2) injury to, loss or theft 
of property; (3) any failure or alleged failure to comply with any provision of law; or 
(4) any other loss, damage or expense arising under either (1), (2), or (3) above, 
sustained by the CONSULTANT or UNITED, or any person, firm or corporation 
employed by the CONSULTANT or UNITED upon or in connection with the Project, 
except for liability resulting from the sole or active negligence, or willful misconduct 
of UNITED, its officers, employees, agents, or independent consultants who are 
directly employed by UNITED.  The CONSULTANT, at its own expense, cost, and 
risk, shall defend any and all claims, actions, suits, or other proceedings (other than 
professional negligence covered by Section A3 below) that may be brought or 
instituted against UNITED, its officers, agents, or employees, to the extent such 
claims, actions, suits, or other proceedings arise out of, pertain to, or relate to the 
negligence, recklessness, or willful misconduct of the CONSULTANT, and shall pay 
or satisfy any judgment that may be rendered against UNITED, its officers, agents, 
or employees, in any action, suit or other proceedings as a result thereof.  Any costs 
to defend under this Section A2 shall not exceed the CONSULTANT’s proportionate 
percentage of fault; and 

3. Professional Liability. To the extent arising out of, pertaining to, 
or relating to the negligence, recklessness, or willful misconduct of the 
CONSULTANT, the CONSULTANT shall indemnify and hold UNITED harmless 
from any loss, injury to, death of persons, or damage to property caused by any act, 
neglect, default, or omission of the CONSULTANT, or any person, firm, or 
corporation employed by the CONSULTANT, either directly or by independent 
contract, including all damages due to loss or theft, sustained by any person, firm, or 



5 

corporation, including UNITED, arising out of, or in any way connected with, the 
Project, including injury or damage either on or off UNITED property; but not for any 
loss, injury, death, or damages caused by sole or active negligence, or willful 
misconduct of UNITED.  With regard to the CONSULTANT’s obligation to indemnify 
for acts of professional negligence, such obligation does not include the obligation to 
provide defense counsel or to pay for the defense of actions or proceedings brought 
against UNITED, but rather to reimburse UNITED for attorneys’ fees and costs 
incurred by UNITED in defending such actions or proceedings brought against 
UNITED, and such fees and costs shall not exceed the CONSULTANT’s 
proportionate percentage of fault. 

7. INSURANCE 

A. CONSULTANT shall procure and maintain for the duration of this 
Agreement, and for injuries which occur and claims which are made after the services 
herein are provided, insurance policies in accordance with the requirements set forth 
in Exhibit “C” attached and incorporated by reference herein.  CONSULTANT shall 
also provide UNITED with a certificate of insurance attesting to its professional 
liability (errors and omissions) coverage and all required additional insured 
endorsements. 

B. Submission of insurance certificates or endorsements or other proof of 
insurance shall not relieve CONSULTANT from liability under the indemnification 
provisions of Section 6.  CONSULTANT’s obligations in accordance with Section 6 
shall apply whether or not such insurance policies shall have been determined to 
apply to any of such claims, damage, lawsuits, losses or liabilities covered by Section 
6. 

C. By its signature hereto, CONSULTANT certifies that it is aware of the 
provisions of California Labor Code Section 3700 which requires every employer to 
be insured against liability for workers compensation’ or to undertake self-insurance 
as specified. CONSULTANT shall comply with these provisions before commencing 
work under this Agreement. 

8. TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT 

A. Termination for Cause 

1. UNITED may terminate CONSULTANT’s services for cause, 
whereupon this Agreement shall terminate immediately.  Termination may occur 
regardless of whether CONSULTANT’s services are completed.  Any termination or 
special instructions from UNITED shall be made in writing. 

2. Termination for cause may occur upon any of the following events: 
(a) CONSULTANT’s material breach of this Agreement; (b) abandonment or lack of 
diligence in performance of the work by CONSULTANT; (c) cessation, suspension, 



6 

revocation or expiration of any license needed by CONSULTANT to provide services 
hereunder; (d) failure of CONSULTANT to substantially comply with any local, state 
or federal laws, regulations, ordinances or policies applicable to its work hereunder; 
(e) filing by or against CONSULTANT of bankruptcy or any petition under any law 
for relief of debtors; or (f) conviction of CONSULTANT or its principal representative 
or personnel for any crime other than minor traffic offenses. 

3. Subject to the provisions of Section 3.B herein, CONSULTANT 
shall be paid for all approved services performed and approved expenses incurred to 
the date of termination for cause supported by documentary evidence, including 
payroll records and expense reports, up to the date of the termination.  In the event 
of termination for cause, all damages and costs associated with the termination, 
including increased consultant and replacement consultant costs, shall be deducted 
from any payments due to CONSULTANT. 

4. In the event a termination for cause is determined to have been 
made wrongfully or without cause, then the termination shall be treated as a 
termination for convenience in accordance with Section 8.B below, and 
CONSULTANT shall have no greater rights than it would have had if a termination 
for convenience had been effected in the first instance.  No other loss, cost, damage, 
expense or liability may be claimed, requested or recovered by CONSULTANT. 

B. Termination Without Cause/For Convenience.  This Agreement may be 
terminated without cause by UNITED or for UNITED’s convenience upon fourteen 
(14) days’ written notice to the CONSULTANT.  In the event of a termination without 
cause, UNITED shall pay the CONSULTANT for all approved services performed 
and all approved expenses incurred under this Agreement supported by documentary 
evidence, including payroll records and expense reports, up until the date of the notice 
of termination.  In addition, CONSULTANT will be reimbursed for reasonable 
termination costs through the payment of 3% beyond the sum due the CONSULTANT 
under this section through 50%  completion of the CONSULTANT’s portion of the 
Project and, if 50% completion is reached, payment of 3% of the unpaid balance of the 
contract to CONSULTANT as termination cost.  This 3% is agreed to compensate the 
CONSULTANT for the unpaid profit CONSULTANT would have made under the 
Project on the date of termination and is consideration for entry into this termination 
for convenience clause. 

C. In the event of termination with or without cause, CONSULTANT shall 
promptly provide to UNITED all Project Documents as defined in Section 9 below 
within five (5) calendar days from the effective date of termination.  Failure to provide 
all Project Documents as required shall be deemed a material breach of this 
Agreement. 

D. In the event of a dispute as to the performance of the work or an 
interpretation of this Agreement, or payment or nonpayment for work performed or 



7 

not performed, the parties shall attempt to resolve the dispute.  Pending resolution 
of the dispute CONSULTANT agrees to continue the work diligently to completion.  
If the dispute is not resolved, CONSULTANT agrees it will neither rescind the 
Agreement nor stop the progress of work, but CONSULTANT’s sole remedy will be 
to submit such controversy to determination by a court having competent jurisdiction 
of the dispute as required by this Agreement after the Project has been completed 
and not before.  

9. PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 

A. The CONSULTANT is employed to render a professional service(s) only 
and any payments made to it are compensation solely for such services as it may 
render and recommendations it may make in the performance of services. 

B. All plans, specifications, construction documents, data, records, files, 
communications, information, reports and/or other documents that are prepared, 
generated, reproduced, maintained and/or managed by the CONSULTANT or 
CONSULTANT’s subconsultants arising from or in any way related to the services 
provided under this Agreement (regardless of medium, format, etc.) shall be and 
remain the property of UNITED (“Project Documents”).  UNITED may provide the 
CONSULTANT with a written request for the return of the Project Documents at any 
time.  Upon CONSULTANT’s receipt of UNITED’s written request, CONSULTANT 
shall return the requested Project Documents to UNITED within five (5) calendar 
days.  CONSULTANT may make copies of the work generated.  Failure to comply 
with any such written request above shall be deemed a material breach of this 
Agreement.  Nothing in this paragraph shall be deemed a waiver of any copyright in 
the Project Documents prepared by the CONSULTANT.  Any unauthorized reuse or 
modification of such Project Documents other than for purposes intended by 
CONSULTANT or for the Project shall be at UNITED’s risk and liability. 

C. CONSULTANT agrees that all dealings of the parties under this 
Agreement shall be confidential and no Project Documents or information developed, 
prepared or assembled by CONSULTANT under this Agreement, or any information 
made available to CONSULTANT by UNITED, shall be revealed, disseminated or 
made available by CONSULTANT to any person or entity other than UNITED 
without the prior written consent of UNITED, unless otherwise required by subpoena 
or applicable law or regulatory authority. 

10. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR RELATIONSHIP 

It is expressly understood between the parties that no employee/employer 
relationship is intended, the relationship of CONSULTANT to UNITED being that of 
an independent contractor.  UNITED shall not be required to make any payroll 
deductions or provide Worker’s Compensation Insurance coverage or health benefits 
to CONSULTANT.  CONSULTANT is solely responsible for selecting the means, 



8 

methods and procedures for performing its services hereunder as assigned by the 
UNITED and for coordinating all portions of the work so the results will be 
satisfactory to UNITED.  CONSULTANT will supply all tools and instruments 
required to perform its services under this Agreement. 

11. ASSISTANCE BY UNITED 

It is understood and agreed that the UNITED shall, to the extent reasonable 
and practicable, assist and cooperate with CONSULTANT in the performance of 
CONSULTANT’s services hereunder. Such assistance does not include, in any 
manner, the exercise of professional judgment for which CONSULTANT is being 
retained herein. Such assistance and cooperation to be provided by UNITED as 
applicable includes, but shall not be limited to, providing right of access to work sites; 
providing material available from the UNITED’s files such as maps, as-built 
drawings, records and operation and maintenance information; and rendering 
assistance in determining the location of existing facilities and improvements which 
may be affected by the Project.  CONSULTANT shall otherwise be responsible for 
giving all notices and complying with all applicable laws, ordinances, rules, 
regulations and lawful orders of any public authority relating to the work. 

12. ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS 

A. Examination of Records 

CONSULTANT agrees that UNITED shall have access to and the right to 
examine at any reasonable time and on reasonable notice CONSULTANT’s 
documents, papers and records, including accounting records, relating to its 
performance under this Agreement. 

B. Notice 

All notices or other official correspondence relating to contractual matters 
between the parties shall be made by depositing the same as first-class, postage paid 
mail addressed as follows: 

To CONSULTANT: Thomas O. Keller, P.E., G.E.  
GEI Consultants, Inc. 
5901 Priestly Drive, Suite 301 
Carlsbad, CA 92008 

     
To UNITED:   Maryam A. Bral, Ph.D., PE 
    United Water Conservation District 
    1701 North Lombard Street, Suite 200 
    Oxnard, CA 93030 



9 

or such other address as either party may designate hereinafter in writing delivered 
to the other party.  All notices shall be agreed to have been received three (3) days 
after mailing. 

C. No Waiver 

No failure or delay by UNITED in asserting any of UNITED’s rights and 
remedies as to any default of CONSULTANT shall operate as a waiver of the default, 
of any subsequent or other default by CONSULTANT, or of any of UNITED’s rights 
or remedies.  No such delay shall deprive UNITED of its right to institute and 
maintain any actions or proceedings which may be necessary to protect, assert or 
enforce any rights or remedies arising out of this Agreement or the performance of 
this Agreement. 

D. Integration 

This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties 
pertaining to the subject matter hereto, and supersedes all prior agreements, oral or 
written, and all prior or contemporaneous discussions or negotiations between the 
parties.  

E. Modification 

No alteration or variation of the terms of this Agreement shall be valid unless 
made in writing and signed by the parties.   

F. Rules of Interpretation 

The terms of this Agreement have been negotiated by the parties and the 
language used in this Agreement shall be deemed to be the language chosen by the 
parties to express their mutual intent.  This Agreement shall be construed without 
regard to any presumption or rule requiring construction against the party causing 
such instrument to be drafted, or in favor of the party receiving a particular benefit 
under this Agreement.  No rule of strict construction shall be applied against any 
party to this Agreement. 

G. Partial Invalidity 

If any term, covenant, condition, or provision of this Agreement is found by a 
court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void, or unenforceable, the remainder of 
the provisions hereof shall remain in full force and effect, and shall in no way be 
affected, impaired, or invalidated thereby. 



10 

H. Incorporation of Recitals and Exhibits 

The foregoing recitals and exhibits are incorporated herein as though fully set 
forth. 

I. California Law; Dispute Resolution; Venue 

This Agreement shall be interpreted and construed pursuant to the laws of the 
State of California, regardless of whether this Agreement is executed by any party in 
another state or otherwise.  If a dispute arises between the parties related to this 
Agreement or the breach thereof, the parties shall first attempt in good faith to settle 
the matter through discussion, and if unsuccessful may in their discretion mutually 
agree to mediate the dispute prior to filing a judicial action.  The costs of a third party 
mediator, if utilized, shall be borne equally by the parties.  If either party elects to 
file an action in court, such action shall be filed and heard in a court of competent 
jurisdiction in the County of Ventura. 

J. Counterparts 

This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, a complete set of 
which shall be deemed to be an original and all of which together shall comprise but 
a single document.  Signatures may be given via facsimile transmission and shall be 
deemed given as of the date of facsimile transmittal of the executed Agreement by 
one party to the other.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Agreement has been executed by the parties 
hereto. 

     UNITED WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT 

 

     By ________________________________________ 
      Mauricio E. Guardado, Jr., General Manager 
 
      

GEI CONSULTANTS, INC. 
 
 
     By ________________________________________ 
 
           ____________________________________ 



1 

EXHIBIT “A” TO AGREEMENT FOR  

PROFESSIONAL CONSULTING SERVICES 

CONSULTANT shall provide professional engineering consultation services under 
this Agreement for the Development of 30 Percent Design Documents for the 
Santa Felicia Dam Spillway Improvement Project in accordance with work 
described in the attached Scope of Work and Schedule of Charges. 

BACKGROUND 

Santa Felicia Dam is owned and operated by United Water Conservation District 
(UWCD), and is under the jurisdiction of the Federal Energy Regulatory 
Commission (FERC) and California Department of Water Resources Division of 
Safety of Dams (DSOD).   

The spillway of the dam does not have sufficient capacity to pass the inflow design 
flood (IDF) from Lake Piru Reservoir.  The IDF for the spillway improvement 
project was established as 220,000 cubic feet per second (cfs), with computed 
outflow through spillway equal to 205,000 cfs due to attenuation of the flow caused 
by reservoir storage above the spillway crest level.  The purpose of the spillway 
improvement project is to address the hydraulic deficiency of the existing spillway. 

GEI Consultants, Inc. (GEI) has completed the following studies and designs to 
advance the spillway improvement project: 

• Phase 1 Study – A feasibility study was performed to evaluate alternatives to 
mitigate the hydraulic deficiency of the spillway.  UWCD submitted the 
Phase 1 Study report to FERC and DSOD in April 2015.   

• Phase 2 Study – A Phase 2 Study was performed to further evaluate 
alternatives to address the hydraulic deficiency of the spillway.  A subsurface 
exploration program was performed as part of the Phase 2 Study to obtain 
geotechnical information to support conceptual design of spillway 
modification alternatives.  The Phase 2 Study report contains conceptual 
designs of four spillway modification alternatives and identifies a preferred 
alternative to carry forward into the final design phase.  UWCD submitted 
the Phase 2 Study report to FERC and DSOD in March 2019.  

• 10% Design – A 10% design phase was performed to advance the spillway 
improvement project.  This design phase included a detailed condition 
assessment of the existing spillway as required by FERC and DSOD.  UWCD 
submitted the 10% design report to FERC and DSOD in March 2020. 



2 

• Supplemental 10% Design – A supplemental 10% design phase was 
performed to advance the spillway improvements project.  A subsurface 
exploration program was performed as part of this phase to obtain additional 
geotechnical information for design. UWCD submitted the supplemental 10% 
design documents to FERC and DSOD in September 2021 

As required by FERC, UWCD convened an independent Board of Consultants 
(BOC) to oversee and assess the adequacy of the investigations, designs, and 
construction activities for the spillway improvement project.  Four BOC meetings 
have been held through completion of the 10% design phase.  A fifth BOC meeting is 
scheduled for September 2021 to review the supplemental 10% design.  The BOC 
prepared a report at the end of each meeting to present their conclusions and 
recommendations with regard to the ongoing design work.   

The spillway improvement project will consist of the following three major 
components to be constructed at the dam: 

• Lowering the spillway chute slab (complete replacement of the slab), 
• Reuse of the existing spillway walls and ogee crest, and  
• Raising the embankment dam crest by 6.5 feet with a mechanically stabilized 

earth wall. 

UWCD is also required by FERC and DSOD to replace the outlet works of the dam 
because of concerns for seismic stability of the intake tower and conduit through the 
dam, and to mitigate ongoing accumulation of sediment in the reservoir.  The 
spillway improvement project and outlet works improvement project are collectively 
referred to as the “Santa Felicia Dam Safety Improvement Project” (Project).  
UWCD issued a Final Environmental Impact Report (Final EIR) for the Project in 
compliance with provisions of the California Environmental Quality Act in 
February 2019.  

The supplemental 10% design is completed pending the BOC’s review and 
comments.  Future design milestones are anticipated to be at the 30, 60, 90, and 
100% completion levels.  The design of the spillway improvements will evolve as 
additional analyses are performed, and additional input is received from UWCD, 
FERC, DSOD, and BOC.   

The scope of work described below includes completion of 30% design of the spillway 
improvement project.   

SCOPE OF WORK 

The scope of work for the 30% design of the spillway improvement project is divided 
into the following eight tasks: 

 



3 

Task 1 – Project Management and Coordination 
Task 2 – 30% Analyses and Design 
Task 3 – 30% Plan Drawings 
Task 4 – 30% Specifications 
Task 5 – 30% Design Report 
Task 6 – 30% Cost Estimate, Schedule, Constructability Report  
Task 7 – Board of Consultants Meeting  
Task 8 – Comment Response Memorandum                                                                                             
Task 9 – Presentation to UWCD Board (Optional) 

The scope of work for each task is presented in detail below.  General assumptions 
related to the scope of work are contained after a description of Task 9. 

Task 1 – Project Management and Coordination 

This task includes management of the GEI team, contract administration, project 
controls, progress reporting, and coordination with UWCD, regulatory agencies, and 
other UWCD consultants.  GEI’s project manager will coordinate with UWCD 
throughout the duration of the work, with assistance as needed from task leads.  
This task includes the following activities: 

• Management and supervision of the GEI design team. 
• Coordination meetings of the GEI design team. 
• Management, coordination, and evaluation of subconsultant services. 
• Management of the project scope, schedule, and budget. 
• Progress report included with submittal of monthly invoices.  

Coordination and communications with UWCD includes a one-hour bi-weekly 
progress meeting (virtual) to discuss project issues and progress.  GEI will assist 
UWCD in communications with FERC and DSOD to address issues related to 
process and functioning of the BOC, schedule of review submittals, and other 
matters related to the 30% design efforts.  We have assumed that these 
communications will mainly be via phone and email.  

Task 2 – 30% Analyses and Design 

GEI will perform geotechnical, structural, hydraulic, and site civil analyses and 
design studies required to advance the design, plans, and specifications to the 30% 
level of completion.  

Geotechnical analyses include evaluations to support design of the lowered chute 
slab, secant pile cutoff wall at the end of the chute, mechanically stabilized earth 
(MSE) wall for raising the dam crest, and raising existing retaining walls to prevent 
overtopping during the IDF.  Geotechnical parameters for design of facilities will be 
established and included in the Design Report. 



4 

Structural analyses will be performed to advance the design of the spillway chute 
slab and concrete bevel reinforcement.  Structural analysis will be performed for 
raising existing retaining walls to prevent overtopping of the dam.  Connections to 
the existing structure will be evaluated and designed to resist hydrostatic and 
seismic forces.  Structural evaluations will include anchor bar design and layout to 
support the spillway improvement project.        

Hydraulic analyses will be performed to support the 30% design of the spillway 
modifications.  GEI will use the previously developed computational fluid dynamics 
(CFD) model of the proposed supplemental 10% design using Flow3D software.  The 
CFD model will be revised to evaluate and optimize the configuration of the sloped 
side wall details, existing wall raise and the terminus of the chute.  Additionally, 
the model will be refined and evaluated using a detailed grid cell spacing along the 
ogee crest and within the chute.  The results of these modeling scenarios will be 
compared to the previous results of the modeling.  GEI will update the spillway 
rating curve based on any modifications to the spillway configuration.  

Site civil analyses include evaluations for development of final site grading, site 
drainage, access roads, parking/turnaround areas, and temporary erosion control 
measures during construction. 

Draft technical memoranda (TMs) to document the various analysis and design 
studies will be submitted to UWCD for review.  Final TMs will be prepared to 
address UWCD comments.  

Task 3 – 30% Plan Drawings 

This task consists of preparation of 30% design level drawings for construction of 
the spillway improvement project.  The drawings will include plan views, profiles, 
sections, and details of the various project elements to a 30% level of completion.  
The drawings will show required demolition, excavations, foundation preparation, 
seepage and uplift control provisions, reinforced concrete slabs and walls, anchors, 
existing retaining wall improvements, backfills, and final grades for the spillway 
modifications and raising of the dam crest.  Access roads, construction staging 
areas, and stockpile areas will also be shown on the drawings.  The drawing set will 
include updates to previous design drawings developed to install cleanouts on the 
existing retaining wall heel drains.  We anticipate that the final drawing set will 
include approximately 70 drawings, divided into the following sections: 

• General 
• Erosion Control 
• Demolition 
• Civil 
• Structural 
• MSE Wall 



5 

• Wall Heel Drain Cleanouts  

Reference drawings will also be included in the plan set.  The drawings will be 
prepared in a current version of AutoCAD Civil 3D as standard 22x34-inch full size 
drawings, which are conveniently reducible to 11x17-inch half size drawings for 
reference.   

Task 4 – 30% Specifications 

A list of anticipated technical specifications for construction of the spillway 
improvement project will be developed.  Preparation of the technical specifications 
will begin at the 60% design level. 

Task 5 – 30% Design Report 

GEI will prepare a Design Report to summarize the overall design of the spillway 
improvement project.  The Design Report will include a statement of the purpose 
and objectives of the project, descriptions of existing conditions, criteria used for 
design, results of analyses, and descriptions of the design of facilities.  The Design 
Report will reference other documents pertinent to the design effort, such as plan 
drawings, specifications, and topic-specific technical memoranda and reports.  As 
the project advances through various stages of design, the Design Report will be 
updated to reflect an increasing level of detail, ultimately resulting in a Final 
Design Report at the end of the project.   

The 30% Design Report will be an update of the supplemental 10% Design Report.  
TMs developed during the 30% design will be included as appendices to the 30% 
Design Report (or included in a separate volume).  

A draft 30% Design Report will be submitted to UWCD for review and a final 30% 
Design Report prepared to address UWCD comments.   

Task 6 – 30% Cost Estimate, Schedule, Constructability Report 

Opinions of probable construction cost (OPCC) and opinions of probable project costs 
(OPPC) for the spillway improvement project will be updated based on the 30% 
design information.  The OPCC represents a likely contractor bid to construct the 
project, including contractor overhead and profit, plus a contingency to account for 
potential unforeseen or changed conditions.  The OPPC will include allowances for 
non-construction project costs including permitting fees, legal and administrative 
costs, design investigations and engineering, and construction management costs.  
The cost estimates will be generated in accordance with guidelines established by 
AACE International (AACE) as a Class 3 equivalent (-20% to +30%) estimate level.  
The OPCC will be based on our evaluation of the major construction items 
appropriate to complete the work, and quantity estimates developed from the 30% 
design drawings.  The cost estimate will be submitted as a separate TM. 



6 

Constructability analysis will be performed during 30% design and documented in a 
Constructability Report.  The report will include an anticipated construction 
schedule (Microsoft Project format) based on an anticipated sequence of 
construction.  The report will include general discussions of reservoir level control, 
dewatering issues, anticipated excavation methods, construction staging areas, as 
well as construction risks and potential mitigation measures.  The Constructability 
Report will inform development of the construction plans and specifications as well 
as development of the OPCC. 

A draft 30% Constructability Report will be submitted to UWCD for review and a 
final 30% Constructability Report prepared to address UWCD comments.   

Task 7 – Board of Consultants Meeting 

As required by FERC, UWCD convened a BOC to oversee and assess the adequacy 
of the investigations, designs, and construction activities for the spillway 
improvement project.  FERC has specific requirements in terms of operation of the 
BOC, as indicated in a September 16, 2016 letter from FERC to UWCD.  GEI will 
work closely with UWCD to help assure that all BOC requirements established by 
FERC are followed and to support UWCD in communications with the BOC.  

There will be one meeting of the BOC near the completion of the 30% design phase 
(BOC Meeting No. 6), to be attended by UWCD, GEI, FERC, and DSOD.  The 30% 
design documents to be submitted to the BOC, FERC, and DSOD for formal review 
are the following: 

• 30% Design Report and Appended TMs 
• 30% Plan Drawings 
• 30% Constructability Report 
• Updated BOC Comment Tracking Form 

GEI will perform the following in support of the 30% design BOC meeting: assist 
UWCD with development of a meeting agenda, prepare a list of questions for the 
BOC to respond to, compile and print a packet of information for review by meeting 
attendees, develop a PowerPoint presentation to summarize key elements of the 
30% design work, and attend the BOC meeting to make presentations and answer 
questions.  We have assumed that this meeting will be held at UWCD’s office in 
Ventura County over a three-day period, and be attended by two GEI staff (plus two 
other GEI staff as part of the outlet works improvement project).   

UWCD will handle scheduling of the meeting with the BOC and communications 
with the BOC, FERC, and DSOD relative to the meeting time and location.   

 

 



7 

Task 8 – Comment Response Memorandum  

FERC, DSOD, and the BOC will submit comments on the 30% design documents 
submitted to them for review.  GEI will develop tracking forms to document FERC, 
DSOD, and BOC comments and provide responses to comments.  A comment 
response memorandum (CRM) will be prepared by GEI to compile the tracking 
forms.  A Draft CRM will be submitted to UWCD for review, and finalized to 
address UWCD comments on GEI’s responses.  UWCD comments on the 30% design 
documents will be tracked and addressed separately. 

Comments on the 30% design received from UWCD, FERC, DSOD, and BOC will be 
incorporated into the next phases of design, as appropriate. 

Task 9 – Presentation to UWCD Board (Optional) 

As an optional task, GEI will prepare for and participate in a workshop to present 
key elements of the 30% design to UWCD management/Board.  For budgeting 
purposes, we have assumed a labor effort of 52 hours for this task.  

Additional Assumptions 

The following additional assumptions were made in developing the scope of work 
and fee estimate for 30% design of the spillway improvement project: 

1. The configuration of spillway improvements will be as generally shown on the 
supplemental 10% design documents.  Changes to this general configuration 
required by UWCD, BOC, or regulatory agencies may require modifications 
to the scope of work and design fee. 

2. The existing walls of the spillway can be used to safely pass the IDF. 
3. The BOC and regulatory agencies will not request extraordinary engineering 

analyses beyond typical geotechnical, structural, and hydraulic evaluations 
for a spillway slab replacement project. 

4. A physical hydraulic model of the spillway will not be required. 
5. Additional three-dimensional Finite Element Model (FEM) analyses of the 

existing walls will not be required. 
6. All site survey information and site topography for design of facilities will be 

provided by others. 
7. No additional field subsurface explorations will be required for design of 

facilities. 
8. All deliverables will be submitted in electronic format.  Two hard copies of 

final documents will be submitted to UWCD.  

 
 
 
 



8 

United Water Conservation District 
Spillway Improvement Project 
Design Fee Estimate – 30 Percent Design Phase 
GEI Consultants, Inc. 
9/24/2021 
 

Task 
GEI 

Labor 
Hours 

GEI Costs 
GEI 

Subconsultant 
Costs 

Total Fee 

Task 1 - Project 
Management and 
Coordination 

264 $64,752.00 $0.00 $64,752.00 

Task 2 - 30% 
Analyses and Design 828 $144,860.00 $0.00 $144,860.00 

Task 3 - 30% Plan 
Drawings 860 $148,980.00 $0.00 $148,980.00 

Task 4 - 30% 
Specifications 24 $5,376.00 $0.00 $5,376.00 

Task 5 - 30% Design 
Report 324 $65,036.00 $0.00 $65,036.00 

Task 6 - 30% Cost 
Estimate, Schedule, 
Constructability 
Report 

480 $85,000.00 $0.00 $85,000.00 

Task 7 - Board of 
Consultants Meeting 
No. 6 

164 $39,300.00 $0.00 $39,300.00 

Task 8 - Comment 
Response 
Memorandum 

60 $13,056.00 $0.00 $13,056.00 

Task 9 - Presentation 
to UWCD Board 
(Optional) 

52 $13,588.00 $0.00 $13,588.00 

Total 3,056 $579,948.00 $0.00 $579,948.00 
 
 

 

 

 

 



9 

Schedule 

CONSULTANT shall provide professional consultation services for the 30 Percent 
Design for the Santa Felicia Dam Spillway Improvement Project in accordance with 
the schedule below. 

 

 
Item 

Approximate 
Weeks After 

Notice to Proceed 
Submit Draft 30 Percent Spillway Hydraulic 
Analyses Technical Memorandum  20 

Submit Draft 30 Percent Design Basis 
Technical Memorandum 24 

Submit Draft 30 Percent Design Report 36 

Submit 30 Percent Design Packet 40 

Complete 30 Percent Design 52 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



10 

GEI CONSULTANTS, INC. 
 
    Hourly Billing Rate 

13. Personnel Category    $ per hour 

Staff Professional – Grade 1    $ 127 
Staff Professional – Grade 2    $ 140 
Project Professional – Grade 3    $ 153 
Project Professional – Grade 4    $ 172 
Senior Professional – Grade 5  $ 203 
Senior Professional – Grade 6  $ 231 
Senior Professional – Grade 7    $ 274 
Senior Consultant – Grade 8  $ 307 
Senior Consultant – Grade 9  $ 375 
Senior Principal – Grade 10  $ 375 
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -  
Senior Drafter and Designer  $ 153 
Drafter / Designer and Senior Technician $ 140 
Field Professional  $ 115    
Technician, Word Processor, Administrative Staff  $ 114 
14. Office Aide  $   89 

 
These rates are billed for both regular and overtime hours in all categories. 
Rates will increase up to 5% annually, at GEI’s option, for all contracts that extend beyond twelve (12) months after the date 
of the contract. Rates for Deposition and Testimony are increased 1.5 times. 
 
OTHER PROJECT COSTS 
 
Subconsultants, Subcontractors and Other Project Expenses - All costs for subconsultants, subcontractors and other 
project expenses will be billed at cost plus a 15% service charge.  Examples of such expenses ordinarily charged to projects 
are subcontractors; subconsultants: chemical laboratory charges; rented or leased field and laboratory equipment; outside 
printing and reproduction; communications and mailing charges; reproduction expenses; shipping costs for samples and 
equipment; disposal of samples; rental vehicles; fares for travel on public carriers; special fees for insurance certificates, 
permits, licenses, etc.; fees for restoration of paving or land due to field exploration, etc.; state and local sales and use taxes 
and state taxes on GEI fees. The 15% service charge will not apply to GEI-owned equipment and vehicles or in-house 
reproduction expenses. 
 
Billing Rates for Specialized Technical Computer Programs – Computer usage for specialized technical programs will 
be billed at flat rates established in the Agreement.  Flow3D software modeling runs will be billed at $2,000 per run.   
 
Field and Laboratory Equipment Billing Rates – GEI-owned field and laboratory equipment such as pumps, sampling 
equipment, monitoring instrumentation, field density equipment, portable gas chromatographs, etc. will be billed at a daily, 
weekly, or monthly rate, as needed for the project. Expendable supplies are billed at a unit rate. 
 
Transportation and Subsistence - Automobile expenses for GEI or employee owned cars will be reimbursed per the Travel 
Expenses provisions included in Exhibit B. 
Tolls and parking charges will be billed directly. When required for a project, four-wheel drive vehicles owned by GEI or 
the employees will be billed at a daily rate appropriate for those vehicles.  Per diem living costs for personnel on assignment 
away from their home office will be negotiated for each project. 
 

 



1 

EXHIBIT “B” TO AGREEMENT FOR 

PROFESSIONAL CONSULTING SERVICES 

CONSULTANT shall adhere to the following Guidelines for Expense 
Reimbursement:  

Incidental expenditures incurred by CONSULTANT in the course of performing work 
under this Agreement and submitted for reimbursement by UNITED shall comply 
with the following guidelines.  

Receipts are required for all reimbursable expenses (with an exception for meals and 
lodging) and shall be furnished with the invoice. Reimbursable expenditures shall not 
be subject to mark-up. Only actual costs of expenditures within the limits presented 
below are eligible for reimbursement.  

1. Reimbursable Expenditures 

A. Travel Expenses 

Expenses for airfare or other travel accommodations shall not exceed costs that 
would reasonably be expected for comparable economy or coach class 
accommodations. 

Personal vehicles may be used when appropriate and mileage will be 
reimbursed at the standard Internal Revenue Service (IRS) business mileage rate 
(i.e., 56 cents per mile for calendar year 2021, but for a total cost no greater than the 
cost that would reasonably be expected for round trip economy or coach class airfare. 
With the exception of extenuating circumstances (e.g. transport of specialized 
equipment), mileage for any trip over 500 miles shall be reimbursed at a total cost no 
greater than would reasonably be expected for round trip economy or coach class 
airfare. Extenuating circumstances shall be pre-approved by UNITED.  

Rental vehicle costs are reimbursable when justified by the nature of the trip. 
With the exception of extenuating circumstances (e.g. transport of more than 4 people 
or excessive cargo) the total expense for the rental vehicle shall not exceed a cost that 
would reasonably be expected for a standard class vehicle. Insurance for rental 
vehicles is not reimbursable and must be in accordance with all insurance 
requirements set forth in this Agreement. 

B. Lodging  

The cost of lodging incurred on approved CONSULTANT business trips is 
reimbursable. UNITED will reimburse lodging at the standard U.S. General Services 
Administration (GSA) rate for Ventura County (i.e., $182.00 per night [excluding 



2 

taxes] for the months of October 2020 and January – September 2021). GSA rates are 
annually updated in October. 

C. Meals 

The cost of meals incurred on approved CONSULTANT Projects is 
reimbursable.  

If UNITED is reimbursing the CONSULTANT for lodging, UNITED will 
reimburse for meals at the appropriate standard GSA rate for Ventura County (i.e., 
$49.50 (or 75% of a daily rate) per day for first and last calendar day of PROJECT 
work, and $66.00 per day for additional PROJECT work days for calendar year 2021. 

If UNITED is not reimbursing the CONSULTANT for lodging, UNITED will 
not reimburse the CONSULTANT for meals.  

D. Equipment 

All reimbursable equipment must be purchased or rented at a reasonable cost, 
in accordance with industry standards.  

E. Expendable Items 

Items that are expendable (depleted) will not be returned to UNITED, as the 
items will be “used up” in the course of CONSULTANT’s work. 

F. Non-Expendable Items 

Items that are non-expendable (not depleted) will be returned to UNITED upon 
completion of CONSULTANT’s work. 

 



1 

EXHIBIT “C” TO AGREEMENT FOR 

PROFESSIONAL CONSULTING SERVICES 

CONSULTANT shall procure and maintain for the duration of the Agreement, and 
for injuries that occur and claims which are made after the services herein are 
performed, insurance against claims or injuries to persons or damages to property, 
which may arise from or in connection with the performance of the work hereunder 
by CONSULTANT, its agents, representatives, or employees.  

Minimum Scope of Insurance  

Coverage shall be at least as broad as: 

1. Insurance Services Office Commercial General Liability coverage (occurrence 
Form CG 00 01 or its equivalent). 

2. Insurance Services Office Form Number CA 00 01 covering Automobile 
Liability, Code 1 or its equivalent (any auto). 

3. Workers’ Compensation insurance as required by the State of California and 
Employer's Liability Insurance. 

4. Errors & Omissions Liability insurance appropriate to the CONSULTANT’s 
profession.  Architects’ and engineers’ coverage is to be endorsed to include 
contractual liability. 

5. Valuable Document Insurance on all plans, specifications and other documents 
as may be required to protect UNITED in the amount of its full equity in such 
plans, specifications and other documents. 

Minimum Limits of Insurance  

CONSULTANT shall maintain limits no less than: 

1. General Liability: 
Including operations, products 
and completed operations, as 
applicable. 

$1,000,000 per occurrence for bodily 
injury, personal injury and property 
damage.  If Commercial General 
Liability Insurance or other form with a 
general aggregate limit is used, either 
the general aggregate limit shall apply 
separately to this project/location or the 
general aggregate limit shall be twice 
the required occurrence limit. 

2. Automobile Liability: $1,000,000 per accident for bodily injury 
and property damage. 



2 

3. Employer’s Liability: $1,000,000 per accident for bodily injury 
or disease. 

4. Errors & Omissions Liability: $1,000,000 per claim. 

5. Valuable Document Insurance Full Equity of all Documents 

Deductibles and Self-Insured Retentions 

Any deductibles or self-insured retentions must be declared to and approved by 
UNITED.  At the option of UNITED, either: the insurer shall reduce or eliminate 
such deductibles or self-insured retentions as respects UNITED, its directors, officers, 
officials, employees and agents; or CONSULTANT shall provide a financial 
guarantee satisfactory to UNITED guaranteeing payment of losses and related 
investigations, claim administration and defense expenses. 

Other Insurance Provisions 

The commercial general liability and automobile liability policies are to contain, or 
be endorsed to contain, the following provisions: 

6. For all policies required by this Agreement, UNITED and its directors, officers, 
officials, employees and volunteers are to be covered as additional named 
insureds as respects: liability arising out of work or operations performed by 
or on behalf of the CONSULTANT; or automobiles owned, leased, hired or 
borrowed by the CONSULTANT. 

7. For any claims related to this Project, the CONSULTANT’s insurance coverage 
shall be primary insurance as respects UNITED and its directors, officers, 
officials, employees and agents.  Any insurance or self-insurance maintained 
by  UNITED, its directors, officers, officials, employees or agents shall be 
excess of the CONSULTANT’s insurance and shall not contribute with it. 

8. Each insurance policy required by this clause shall be endorsed to state that 
coverage shall not be canceled by either party, except after thirty (30) days 
prior written notice has been provided to UNITED (with the exception of ten 
(10) days for nonpayment of premium). 

If General Liability, Contractors Pollution Liability and/or Asbestos Pollution 
Liability and/or Errors & Omissions coverages are written on a claims-made form: 

9. The retroactive date must be shown, and must be before the date of the contract 
or the beginning of contract work. 

10. Insurance must be maintained and evidence of insurance must be provided for 
at least five (5) years after completion of the contract of work. 



3 

11. If coverage is canceled or non-renewed, and not replaced with another claims-
made policy form with a retroactive date prior to the contract effective date, 
the CONSULTANT must purchase an extended period coverage for a 
minimum of five (5) years after completion of contract work. 

12. A copy of the claims reporting requirements must be submitted to UNITED for 
review. 

13. If the services involve lead-based paint or asbestos identification/ remediation, 
the Contractors Pollution Liability shall not contain lead-based paint or 
asbestos exclusions.  If the services involve mold identification/ remediation, 
the Contractors Pollution Liability shall not contain a mold exclusion and the 
definition of “Pollution” shall include microbial matter including mold. 

Acceptability of Insurers 

Insurance is to be placed with insurers qualified to do business in the State of 
California with a current A.M. Best’s rating of no less than A: VII, unless otherwise 
acceptable to UNITED.  Exception may be made for the State Compensation 
Insurance Fund when not specifically rated. 

Verification of Coverage 

CONSULTANT shall furnish UNITED with original certificates and amendatory/ 
additional insured endorsements effecting coverage required by this clause.  The 
endorsements should be on forms provided by UNITED or on other than UNITED’s 
forms provided those endorsements conform to UNITED requirements.  All 
certificates and endorsements are to be received and approved by UNITED before 
work commences.  However, failure to do so shall not operate as a waiver of these 
insurance requirements. UNITED reserves the right to require complete, certified 
copies of all required insurance policies, including endorsements effecting the 
coverage required by these specifications at any time. 

Waiver of Subrogation 

CONSULTANT hereby agrees to waive subrogation, which any insurer of contractor 
may acquire from vendor by virtue of the payment of any loss.  CONSULTANT agrees 
to obtain any endorsement that may be necessary to effect this waiver of subrogation. 

The Workers’ Compensation policy shall be endorsed with a waiver of subrogation in 
favor of the entity for all work performed by the CONSULTANT, its employees, 
agents and subcontractors. 

 



Staff Report 

To: Engineering and Operations Committee 

Through: Mauricio E. Guardado, Jr., General Manager 
Anthony A. Emmert, Assistant General Manager 
Linda Purpus, Environmental Services Manager 

From: Evan Lashly, Environmental Scientist 

Date: September 28, 2021 (October 7, 2021 Committee Meeting) 

Agenda Item:   3.3 Resolution 2021-18 Adopting the California Environmental Quality 
Act Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration and approving 
Phase One of the Freeman Diversion Sediment Management Project 
and its Implementation 
Motion 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Staff Recommendation: 
The committee will consider recommending approval of Resolution 2021-18, a resolution of the 
United Water Conservation District adopting the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) 
Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration (IS-MND) for Phase One of the Freeman Diversion 
Sediment Management Project, approving Phase One of the Project, authorizing its 
implementation by the General Manager; and directing the Environmental Services Manager to 
file a Notice of Determination (NOD) in accordance with CEQA for the Phase One of the 
Freeman Diversion Sediment Management Project, to the full Board. 

Discussion: 
The District is the lead agency for Phase One of the Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 
Project under CEQA. The proposed Freeman Diversion Sediment Management Project consists 
of two phases of sediment management activities and associated measures intended to minimize 
and avoid the potential for adverse environmental effects to occur as a result of those activities. 
Specifically, the Phase One includes 1.3 acres of earthwork with heavy equipment in the river 
channel upstream of the Freeman Diversion facility. The earthwork is intended to establish a 
new low-flow channel which will restore conveyance capacity of the bypass channel and 
ensure operational reliability of the Freeman Diversion and fish passage facilities. Phase One is 
planned to be completed in fall 2021 while river conditions on site are dry. Phase Two includes a 
long-term program of recurring sediment management activities within a 6-acre area, intended to 
provide operational reliability under changed future conditions.  CEQA review for Phase Two 
and consideration of its approval will occur at a later time. 



 
3.3 Resolution 2021-18 Adopting the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) 

Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration (IS-MND) and approving Phase One 
of the Freeman Diversion Sediment Management Project and its Implementation 
Motion 

 
 
 2 

Mission Goal:  
Meets mission-related Goal B (System Reliability) and Goal C (Regulatory & Environmental 
Compliance). 
 
Fiscal Impact: 
The California Department of Fish and Wildlife environmental filing fee is $2,480.25 and the 
County Clerk and Recorder’s Office filing fee for the CEQA NOD is $50.00 which is included in 
the Adopted Fiscal Year 2021-22 Budget under project account 420-300-54260; 1030-310. 
 
Attachments: 
Attachment A – Resolution 2021-18 
Attachment B – Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration 
Attachment C – Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 
Attachment D – Notice of Determination 



RESOLUTION 2021-18 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE UNITED 
WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT MAKING CERTAIN FINDINGS AND 
DETERMINATIONS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CALIFORNIA 
ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY ACT FOR ADOPTION OF A MITIGATED 
NEGATIVE DECLARATION AND APPROVAL AND IMPLEMENTATION 
OF PHASE ONE OF THE FREEMAN DIVERSION SEDIMENT 
MANAGEMENT PROJECT 

WHEREAS, the United Water Conservation District (“District”) intends to 
conduct Phase One of the Freeman Diversion Sediment Management Project located 
in an unincorporated area of the County of Ventura near the community of Saticoy for 
the purpose of maintaining operational reliability of the Freeman Diversion; and 

WHEREAS, the California Environmental Quality Act of 1970, as amended 
(“CEQA”) requires that, in the approval of a project for which a mitigated negative 
declaration (“MND”) has been prepared, the decision-making body shall review the 
MND and make certain findings regarding the significant effects on the environment 
identified in the mitigated negative declaration; and 

WHEREAS, such decision-making body in this case is the District’s Board of 
Directors (“Board”); and 

WHEREAS, the Freeman Diversion Sediment Management Project is the 
subject of a MND entitled “Initial Study Mitigated Negative Declaration Freeman 
Diversion Sediment Management” (SCH # 2021080524), prepared by the District as 
lead agency under CEQA; and  

WHEREAS, the Freeman Diversion Sediment Management Project contains 
two phases – Phase One and Phase Two – each with independent utility; and 

WHEREAS, the District published a Notice of Intent to adopt an Initial 
Study/MND in the Ventura County Star newspaper on August 28, 2021, and the draft 
MND was circulated to, trustee agencies, responsible agencies and other parties, 
including the County of Ventura and the State Clearinghouse and Planning Unit of the 
Governor’s Office of Planning and Research; and  

WHEREAS, the California Department of Fish and Wildlife provided 
comments on the draft MND; and  

WHEREAS, the MND concluded that implementation of the Freeman 
Diversion Sediment Management Project could result in potentially significant effects 
on the environment, and further identified mitigation measures that would reduce any 

3.3 Resolution 2021-18 - Attachment A



 
 
 
 
Resolution 2021-18 
Continued 
 
 

  

 

potentially significant effects to a less than significant level for Phase One and Phase 
Two; and 
 
 WHEREAS, District staff seeks approval of Phase One of the Freeman 
Diversion Sediment Management Project; and 
 

WHEREAS, mitigation measures for Phase One of the Freeman Diversion 
Sediment Management Project are set forth in a Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting 
Program (“MMRP”) prepared by the District, as lead agency, together with and as part 
of the MND; and  

 
WHEREAS, with the incorporation and implementation of measures 

contained in the MMRP into Phase One of the Freeman Diversion Sediment 
Management Project, any potentially significant effects on the environment arising 
from Phase One of the Freeman Diversion Sediment Management Project will be 
reduced to a less than significant level; and 

 
WHEREAS, the District Board of Directors hereby certifies that it has 

considered the proposed MND and MMRP and the information contained within, 
together with comments received thereto; and 

 
WHEREAS, the MND and MMRP for Phase One of the Freeman Diversion 

Sediment Management Project is hereby incorporated into this Resolution as if fully 
set forth herein. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 

DIRECTORS OF THE UNITED WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT AS 
FOLLOWS: 

1. The District Board of Directors makes the following findings: (a) on 
the basis of the whole record before the Board (including the initial study, the MND 
together with the MMRP, comments received in connection thereto, and other 
information in the record), there is no substantial evidence that Phase One of the 
Freeman Diversion Sediment Management Project will have a significant effect on the 
environment; (b) the MND together with the MMRP for Phase One of the Freeman 
Diversion Sediment Management Project has been completed in compliance with 
CEQA and consistent with State CEQA Guidelines; (c) the Board has independently 
reviewed and analyzed the MND together with the MMRP, comments received thereto 
and other information in the record, prior to its approval of Phase One of the Freeman 
Diversion Sediment Management Project and this Resolution; and (d) the MND 



 
 
 
 
Resolution 2021-18 
Continued 
 
 

  

 

together with the MMRP reflects the District’s independent judgment and analysis as 
a lead agency. 

2. The Board hereby adopts the MND with the exception of the mitigation 
outlined in BIO-1 for Phase Two activities (CEQA review for Phase Two and 
consideration of its approval will occur at a later time), together with the mitigation, 
monitoring and reporting measures contained in the MMRP prepared for Phase One 
of the Freeman Diversion Sediment Management Project. The Board further 
designates the District’s Environmental Services Manager at the District’s office, 
located at 1701 N. Lombard Street, Suite 200, Oxnard, California 93030, as the 
custodian of documents and record of proceedings on which this decision is based. 

3. The Board approves Phase One of the Freeman Diversion Sediment 
Management Project and authorizes its implementation when deemed appropriate by 
the General Manager. 

4. The Board authorizes and directs the District’s Environmental Services 
Manager to file a Notice of Determination in accordance with the provisions of CEQA. 

5. The foregoing recitals are true and correct and incorporated herein as 
if fully set forth. 

PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 13th day of October 2021. 

 

 
ATTEST:_____________________________________ 

     Michael W. Mobley, Board President 
 
 
ATTEST:_____________________________________ 

    Sheldon G. Berger, Board Secretary/Treasurer 
 



Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 

prepared by 

United Water Conservation District 
1701 North Lombard Street 

Oxnard, California 93030 
Contact: Evan Lashly, Environmental Scientist 

prepared with the assistance of 

Rincon Consultants, Inc. 
180 North Ashwood Avenue 

Ventura, California 93003 

August 2021 

3.3 Resolution 2021-18 - Attachment B



 

 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 

prepared by 

United Water Conservation District 
1701 North Lombard Street 

Oxnard, California 93030 
Contact: Evan Lashly, Environmental Scientist 

prepared with the assistance of 

Rincon Consultants, Inc. 
180 North Ashwood Avenue 

Ventura, California 93003 

August 2021 



 

 

This report prepared on 50% recycled paper with 50% post-consumer content. 

 



Table of Contents 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration i 

Table of Contents 

Initial Study ............................................................................................................................................. 1 
1. Project Title ......................................................................................................................... 1 
2. Lead Agency Name and Address ......................................................................................... 1 
3. Contact Person and Phone Number ................................................................................... 1 
4. Project Location .................................................................................................................. 1 
5. Project Sponsor’s Name and Address ................................................................................. 1 
6. General Plan Designation .................................................................................................... 1 
7. Zoning.................................................................................................................................. 4 
8. Introduction ........................................................................................................................ 4 
9. Background and Purpose .................................................................................................... 5 
10. Description of Project ......................................................................................................... 9 
11. Surrounding Land Uses and Setting ..................................................................................24 
12. Other Public Agencies Whose Approval is Required ........................................................24 
13. Have California Native American Tribes Traditionally and Culturally Affiliated with the 

Project Area Requested Consultation Pursuant to Public Resources Code Section 
21080.3.1? ........................................................................................................................25 

Environmental Factors Potentially Affected .........................................................................................27 

Determination ......................................................................................................................................27 

Environmental Checklist .......................................................................................................................29 
1 Aesthetics ..........................................................................................................................29 
2 Agriculture and Forestry Resources ..................................................................................35 
3 Air Quality .........................................................................................................................39 
4 Biological Resources ..........................................................................................................47 
5 Cultural Resources ............................................................................................................67 
6 Energy ...............................................................................................................................73 
7 Geology and Soils ..............................................................................................................77 
8 Greenhouse Gas Emissions ...............................................................................................85 
9 Hazards and Hazardous Materials ....................................................................................91 
10 Hydrology and Water Quality ...........................................................................................99 
11 Land Use and Planning ....................................................................................................115 
12 Mineral Resources ..........................................................................................................117 
13 Noise ...............................................................................................................................119 
14 Population and Housing ..................................................................................................127 
15 Public Services .................................................................................................................129 
16 Recreation .......................................................................................................................133 
17 Transportation ................................................................................................................135 
18 Tribal Cultural Resources ................................................................................................139 
19 Utilities and Service Systems ..........................................................................................143 
20 Wildfire............................................................................................................................147 
21 Mandatory Findings of Significance ................................................................................151 

References ..........................................................................................................................................155 
List of Preparers ..........................................................................................................................162 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

ii 

Tables 

Table 1 Schedule for Implementation of Phase 1..........................................................................10 

Table 2 AMM-1 Best Management Practices ................................................................................15 

Table 3 Stepped Acclimation Temperatures and Times for AMM-6 .............................................21 

Table 4 AMM-7 Noise Limit Thresholds and Breeding Seasons for Special Status Species ..........22 

Table 5 Required Approvals ...........................................................................................................25 

Table 6 Health Effects Associated with Non-Attainment Criteria Pollutants ................................42 

Table 7 Estimated Maximum Daily Emissions during Project Activities (lbs/day) .........................45 

Table 8 Summary of Jurisdictional Waters within the Study Area ................................................62 

Table 9 2019 Annual Gasoline and Diesel Consumption ...............................................................74 

Table 10 Estimated Fuel Consumption during Project Activities ....................................................75 

Table 11 Estimated Project Activities GHG Emissions .....................................................................89 

Table 12 Hazardous Materials Cleanup Sites within Five Miles of the Project Site ........................95 

Table 13 Santa Clara River Reach 3 – CWA Section 404(d) Listings...............................................102 

Table 14 Daytime Construction Activity Noise Threshold Criteria ................................................122 

Table 15 Project Site Vicinity Sound Level Monitoring Results – Short-Term ...............................122 

Table 16 AASHTO Maximum Vibration Levels for Preventing Damage .........................................124 

Table 17 Vibration Annoyance Potential Criteria ..........................................................................125 

Table 18 Vibration Levels at Sensitive Receivers ...........................................................................125 

Figures 

Figure 1 Regional Project Location ................................................................................................... 2 

Figure 2 Project Study Area .............................................................................................................. 3 

Figure 3 Photographs of the Freeman Diversion Facility ................................................................31 

Appendices 

Appendix A CalEEMod Results 

Appendix B Biological Resources Assessment (BRA) Report 

Appendix C Energy Calculations 

Appendix D Sound Level Measurements 

 



Initial Study 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 1 

Initial Study 

1. Project Title 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management  

2. Lead Agency Name and Address 

United Water Conservation District 
1701 North Lombard Street, Suite 200 
Oxnard, California 93030 

3. Contact Person and Phone Number 

Evan Lashly, Environmental Scientist 
United Water Conservation District 
805-525-4431 

4. Project Location 

The project site is located at and immediately upstream of the Freeman Diversion Facility (hereafter 
referred to as “Facility”) in the Santa Clara River channel in unincorporated Ventura County. United 
Water Conservation District (hereafter referred to as “United”), owns or possesses an access and 
maintenance easement for the portions of the Santa Clara River channel where project activities 
would occur. Figure 1 provides an overview of the regional project location, and Figure 2 delineates 
the extent of the study area, discussed further below. The study area is approximately 2.3 miles east 
of the unincorporated community of Saticoy, approximately one mile south of State Route (SR) 126 
and two miles east of SR 118, in Ventura County, California. The study area is centered at 
approximately 34.300244°, -119.107275° (WGS84) within the United States Geological Survey 
(USGS) Santa Paula, California 7.5-minute quadrangle. The Public Land Survey System depicts the 
study area within Township 3 North, Range 21 West, and Section 32, Mount Diablo Meridian.  

5. Project Sponsor’s Name and Address 

United Water Conservation District 
1701 North Lombard Street, Suite 200 
Oxnard, California 93030  

6. General Plan Designation 

The General Plan land use designation for the project site and the immediate vicinity is Open Space. 
This designation is applied to any parcel or area of land or water which is essentially unimproved 
and devoted to an open-space use. 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

2 

Figure 1 Regional Project Location 

  



Initial Study 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 3 

Figure 2 Project Study Area 

 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

4 

7. Zoning 

The project site is zoned as Open Space (OS) with minimum lot size of 160 acres, and a Mineral 
Resources Protection (MRP) overlay (OS-160 ac/MRP). These zones are defined in the Ventura 
County Ordinance Code, Division 8, Chapter 1 (Ventura County RMA 2021). 

8. Introduction 

United is preparing to conduct sediment management and associated activities, also referred to as 
“project activities”, at the Freeman Diversion Facility near the unincorporated community of Saticoy 
in Ventura County. The regional project location is shown on Figure 1, and the proposed project 
study area is shown on Figure 2. The study area delineates all areas where project-related sediment 
management activities would occur, referred to as the “project footprint”, as well as a buffer area 
around the project footprint, and the limits of the staging area and access road that would be used 
to support project activities. The project study area is inclusive of all portions of the Santa Clara 
River channel where sediment management activities would be conducted under both Phase 1 and 
Phase 2 of the project, which are detailed in the Description of Project section below. 

The proposed project is subject to review and approval under the California Environmental Quality 
Act (CEQA). An Initial Study and Mitigated Negative Declaration (IS-MND) is the appropriate level of 
CEQA documentation for the project because potential project impacts would be less than 
significant or mitigable to a less than significant level. This IS-MND is informed by a Biological 
Resources Assessment (BRA) that was prepared for Phase 1 of the proposed project and is included 
as Appendix B to this IS-MND. Although the BRA investigation is specific to Phase 1, and will 
therefore need to be expanded to inform regulatory permitting for Phase 2 of the project, it 
contains sufficient information to inform the identification and characterization of potential impacts 
associated with both Phase 1 and Phase 2 of the proposed project. Therefore, the BRA Report is 
incorporated by reference and referred to as applicable throughout the environmental impact 
analysis provided herein for CEQA compliance. The BRA documents existing conditions and provides 
an evaluation of the potential for impacts from the proposed project to affect special status species, 
sensitive vegetation communities, jurisdictional waters, wildlife movement through the study area, 
locally protected resources, and potential for conflicts with conservation plans. The information 
provided in the IS-MND will be used to inform the processing of regulatory approvals for the project, 
discussed below under “Other Public Agencies Whose Approval is Required”.  

United is a special district established in accordance with California Water Code Section 74000 et 
seq. that is authorized to, among other things, acquire water rights, build facilities to store and 
recharge water, and construct wells and pipelines for water deliveries. Because United is a local 
agency that provides water and constructs and maintains water delivery infrastructure, some of its 
activities are exempt from plans, policies, and regulations administered by local municipalities, as 
summarized below:  

▪ California Government Code Sections 53091(d) and 53091(e) apply to the location and 
construction of various pieces of utility infrastructure, including facilities for the production, 
storage, and transmission of water. Section 53091(d) exempts qualifying facilities constructed 
by a local agency from county and city building ordinances. Section 53091(e) exempts qualifying 
facilities constructed by a local agency from county and city zoning ordinances. Therefore, 



Initial Study 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 5 

activities evaluated in this IS-MND that involve the conveyance of water would be exempt from 
county and city building and zoning ordinances.  

▪ California Government Code Section 65402 requires a finding regarding the general plan 
conformance of any public project that involves the acquisition or disposal of real property, or 
the authorization or construction of a building or structure. Even when a project is not 
permitted or is conditionally permitted under local land use law, a local agency like United (i.e., 
an agency responsible for the local performance of governmental or proprietary functions 
within limited boundaries) ultimately has the authority to render general plan and zoning 
requirements inapplicable. Consistent with Section 65402(c), if a local planning agency were to 
conclude that a building or structure evaluated in this IS-MND was not in conformity with an 
applicable general plan, United may nonetheless overrule the finding. 

Given these regulatory limitations, not all elements of the project evaluated in this IS-MND would 
be subject to local plans, policies, and regulations. Therefore, as a matter of law, this IS-MND need 
not consider all such plans, policies, and regulations that might normally be applicable to similar 
activities undertaken by a different entity. Nevertheless, in the exercise of its discretion, United 
does reference, describe, and address in this IS-MND those local land use plans, policies, and 
regulations that may otherwise be relevant to the proposed project. 

9. Background and Purpose 

United is a California Special District, originally formed as the Santa Clara Water Conservation 
District in 1927, then transitioned to its current role by voter approval in 1950. United’s mission is to 
manage, protect, conserve, and enhance the water resources of the Santa Clara River, its tributaries, 
and associated aquifers. United’s boundaries encompass nearly 213,000 acres of central and 
southern Ventura County, including the Ventura County portion of the Santa Clara River Valley and 
the Oxnard Plain. Within this area, United operates and maintains a number of water facilities and 
associated water delivery infrastructure. These facilities directly and indirectly provide potable 
water to municipal customers and irrigation supplies in the Oxnard area, sometimes in lieu of 
coastal groundwater extractions. United’s facilities are vital to groundwater recharge, combating 
seawater intrusion, and other issues resulting from groundwater overdraft across the Oxnard Plain, 
as well as providing water supply for municipal, industrial, and agricultural uses in Ventura County. 

With its mild climate and rich soils, Ventura County, and in particular the Oxnard Coastal Plain, is 
regarded as having some of the most productive farmland in the world. Ventura County is also an 
“exurb” of Los Angeles, and its cities have experienced significant population growth during the 20th 
century.  As in most of California, the quantity and timing of direct precipitation is insufficient to 
meet local agricultural and municipal needs. Therefore, storage of excess water during wet periods 
is key to meeting demand during dry periods. Fortunately, extensive aquifer systems (an upper 
aquifer system, or UAS, and lower aquifer system, or LAS) underlie the Oxnard Coastal Plain, 
providing this storage capacity. Estimated groundwater withdrawals from the Oxnard sub-basin of 
the Santa Clara River basin (referred to informally as the “Oxnard basin”) and the Pleasant Valley 
basin, which underlie the Oxnard Coastal Plain, increased substantially through the early to mid-
20th century to meet growing demand for water, and have averaged 92,000 acre-feet/year since 
2000. These aquifers have historically been (and continue to be) the sole or primary source of water 
for many municipal and agricultural users on the Oxnard Coastal Plain. 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

6 

Groundwater level declines and seawater intrusion along the coast have long been a concern in the 
region.  In response, since 1928 United Water Conservation District (United) and its predecessor 
(Santa Clara Water Conservation District) have diverted a portion of the flow in the Santa Clara River 
along the northern Oxnard Coastal Plain to spreading (recharge) basins where the entrained water 
infiltrates through the surface to recharge underlying groundwater resources as well as to pipelines 
that deliver surface water directly to users in lieu of pumping in critical areas (“conjunctive-use”). 
Much of the water diverted from the Santa Clara River consists of storm flows occurring in the wet 
season of above-average rainfall years.  The Facility is also used to divert imported water, via the 
State Water Project, purchased by United and conveyed down the river to mitigate chronic 
groundwater overdraft on the Oxnard Coastal Plain.  The historic use of large volumes of surface 
water diverted from the Santa Clara River helped stabilize the water supply in southern Ventura 
County and allowed for development of the urban and agricultural economies that have thrived for 
decades now. 

In response to concerns raised by the state regarding groundwater overdraft and seawater intrusion 
on the Oxnard Plain, United and Ventura County cooperated to develop the “208 areawide water 
quality management plan: 1979-1980” pursuant to Section 208 of the 1972 Federal Water Pollution 
Control Act, which was subsequently approved by the State of California. An integral aspect of the 
plan is the Seawater Intrusion Abatement Program (SIAP), a two-phase project to combat sea water 
intrusion: Phase I was the Pumping Trough Pipeline (PTP) and Phase II was the Freeman Diversion 
Improvement Project. The current Freeman Diversion structure, which includes fish passage 
facilities designed and constructed in collaboration with the CA Department of Fish and Game (now 
CA Department of Fish and Wildlife) and in accordance with their requirements of the time, was 
constructed on the mainstem of the Santa Clara River in 1991 following a lengthy design and 
consultation process that began in the early 1980’s.  The purpose of the Freeman Diversion is to 
improve United’s ability to divert Santa Clara River water (especially higher flows following large 
storm events) for groundwater recharge to more effectively combat seawater intrusion, and to 
stabilize the elevation of the upstream river channel following decades of gravel mining by others in 
the mid-20th century. Prior to construction of Freeman Diversion, United diverted surface flows in 
the Santa Clara River to recharge basins at Saticoy by bulldozing temporary dikes in the river 
channel (referred to as the “Saticoy Diversion”).  However, due to continuous downcutting of the 
river in response to past gravel mining practices, the Saticoy Diversion was becoming increasingly 
difficult to operate in a safe manner without causing environmental damage.  A major benefit of the 
Freeman Diversion is that it prevents further channel incision and disruption of riparian habitats in 
areas upstream of the Facility. 

Today, the amount of water that can physically be diverted is dictated first by the quantity of water 
available in the river at any given time and by the capacity of the diversion canals, but is also limited 
to that which can be legally diverted as identified by United’s State Water Resources Control Board 
(SWRCB) License 10173, which was issued in 1973, and Permit 18908, which was issued in 1982 and 
amended in 1987 and 1992, incorporating bypass flow requirements for migration of steelhead 
trout.  As previously noted, the SWRCB expressed serious concerns about groundwater overdraft 
and seawater intrusion on the Oxnard Plain in the late 1970s and supported United’s pursuit of 
Permit 18908 as the Freeman Diversion was being designed and permitted.  License 10173 and 
Permit 18908 both recognize United’s significant investment in constructing Santa Felicia Dam and 
Lake Piru, and that a reliable downstream diversion structure was a critical component of successful 
water resource management throughout United’s service area. 



Initial Study 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 7 

Streamflow in the Santa Clara River at the Freeman Diversion is highly variable and most directly 
influenced by rainfall events occurring in the watershed during the winter rainy season (December 
to March). Streamflow can increase by tens of thousands of cubic feet per second (cfs) in a day 
following a significant rainfall event.  Under SWRCB Permit 18908, United can divert up to 375 cfs 
for distribution to groundwater spreading grounds and for direct consumptive use within its service 
area. The maximum annual diversion volume on a calendar year basis is 144,630 acre-feet. United 
cannot always divert what is allowed under its water right due to various limitations, including 
periods of low flow (primarily due to drought), the need to meet instream flow requirements, 
excessively high total suspended solid levels, and limited recharge capacity during high groundwater 
conditions (rarely occurs during extremely wet years). Under typical conditions, an average of 
approximately 60,000 acre-feet per year of surface flow is diverted from the Santa Clara River. 

United’s artificial recharge operations and conjunctive-use projects have been successful in slowing 
basin-wide groundwater level declines and seawater intrusion, but chronic overdraft conditions 
persist.  CA Department of Water Resources continues to classify the Oxnard and Pleasant Valley 
basins as “high priority basins subject to critical overdraft,” due to both the long-term problems 
with groundwater overdraft and seawater intrusion, and local groundwater supply being the sole 
source of water for many urban and agricultural water users.  United operates both potable and 
irrigation-water delivery systems, but these systems were designed to optimize basin yields and are 
operated as enterprise funds that do not generate profits for United.  United artificially recharges 
far more groundwater than it extracts in the Oxnard and Pleasant Valley basins.  Therefore, the net 
effect of United’s conjunctive-use projects and artificial recharge has been to improve the 
groundwater balance, which has maintained groundwater elevations in the Oxnard and adjacent 
basins at higher levels, on average, than would have occurred without these projects.  Other 
beneficial effects of United’s activities include, but are not limited to, improvement of groundwater 
quality in the Forebay area and in the Pleasant Valley basin, and mitigation of seawater intrusion in 
the Oxnard basin.  United’s recharge activities in the Oxnard Forebay are particularly effective in 
reducing nitrate concentrations at wells; many of the small mutual water companies in the Forebay 
area, including some that serve disadvantaged or low-income communities, are solely dependent on 
groundwater from area wells for water supply.   

United is planning to expand its diversion and recharge capacity primarily to provide greater bypass 
flows for steelhead migration on the receding limb of the streamflow hydrograph, while still 
diverting sufficient water during higher flows to recharge the underlying aquifers.   This expansion 
(to divert more water during peak flows) is also expected to help ensure that water supplies for the 
region remain reliable into the future in the face of climate change (due to models predicting fewer 
and more intense storms for the region).  If unable to respond to future conditions, large reductions 
in groundwater use in the Oxnard and Pleasant Valley basins are a likely outcome, as described in 
the Fox Canyon Groundwater Management Agency’s (FCGMA) groundwater sustainability plans 
(GSP) for the basins.  The FCGMA’s GSPs have determined that the combined sustainable yield for 
the Oxnard and Pleasant Valley basins is about two-thirds of current groundwater demand.  Such 
reductions will have major negative impacts on agricultural and municipal supply unless countered 
by increased use of other water sources. Furthermore, United’s operation of the Freeman Diversion 
historically accounts for approximately 70% of the sustainable yield of the Oxnard and Pleasant 
Valley basins. Although United is working with other stakeholders to develop plans to bring a 
broader portfolio of water sources to the region, no identified water supply alternatives are as cost 
effective and energy efficient as maximizing artificial recharge of flows diverted from the Santa Clara 
River. 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

8 

The Facility consists of a roller compacted concrete grade control structure that spans 
approximately 1,200 feet across the river and stands approximately 25 feet tall (on the downstream 
side) and a series of gates, bays, canals, fish screens, and appurtenant structures that comprise the 
water diversion and fish passage facilities on the south bank. Flows through the Facility are diverted 
from the grade control structure into a system of canals, which in turn deliver the water to the 
spreading grounds or to pipelines for direct surface water deliveries.  

The Facility has an existing Denil fish ladder and fish screen bay. A Denil fish ladder is a baffle fish 
way that uses rows of notched baffles with switch backs to facilitate fish moving upstream past the 
diversion. The notched baffles slow the velocity of the flow, allowing fish to swim through the 
middle of the baffles upstream. The Denil fish ladder is intended to allow passage of federally 
endangered southern California steelhead (Oncorhynchus mykiss irideus) (steelhead; O. mykiss) 
migrating upstream. There is also an associated fish screen bay, intended to allow passage of 
downstream migrating juvenile and adult steelhead and preclude their entry into United’s diversion 
facilities (e.g., canals, pipelines). 

United must maintain the Santa Clara River channel at the Facility so as to keep the thalweg of the 
river near the south bank and the fish passage and diversion structures. The streambed material of 
the Santa Clara River is highly mobile and storm events can result in substantial scour and/or 
deposition that directly affect the characteristics and location of surface flows both upstream and 
downstream of the Facility. The natural erosion and deposition of sediment can shift the thalweg of 
the river away from the Facility, which eliminates or interferes with United’s ability to divert water 
or operate the fish passage structure. Furthermore, sediment build-up can obstruct and re-direct 
flows over the diversion structure (i.e., the crest of the dam), preventing accuracy in the flow 
measurements necessary for compliance with the Amended Judgment and Permanent Injunction 
issued in the case of Wishtoyo et al. vs United Water Conservation District [CV 16-3869-DOC (PLAx)] 
(Court Order).  

Proper functioning of the Facility to divert water and provide fish passage is dependent upon the 
effective management of sediment that accumulates within the channel. The Santa Clara River 
watershed has extremely high sediment production rates, and sediment accumulation immediately 
upstream of and adjacent to the Facility adversely affects the Facility’s connectivity with the Santa 
Clara River. If sediment accumulation is allowed to progress unchecked, it will threaten further 
discontinuity between the Facility and the river. Therefore, United has developed the proposed 
project and is seeking permits and authorizations to implement the proposed project, which will 
provide the necessary level of sediment management to facilitate and maintain functionality of the 
Facility to ensure reliable diversions and fish passage functions. 

United is currently developing a Multiple Species Habitat Conservation Plan (MSHCP) to address 
steelhead, which was listed as a federally endangered species in 1997, as well as six other federally 
listed or non-listed species. The MSHCP is being prepared as part of United’s application package to 
the National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS), United States Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS), and 
California Department of Fish and Wildlife (CDFW) for incidental take permits (ITPs) under Section 
10(a)(1)(B) of the federal Endangered Species Act (ESA) and the California Endangered Species Act 
(CESA). United is currently analyzing the MSHCP in an Environmental Impact Report (EIR) for CEQA 
compliance (State Clearinghouse [SCH] Number 2013111031). The MSHCP EIR is referenced as 
applicable throughout this IS-MND; however, the MSHCP is still under development and has not yet 
been finalized or certified. 

In 2019, the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE; Clean Water Act [CWA] Section 404) issued a 
programmatic individual permit (SPL-2013-00171-EBR), which among other routine maintenance, 



Initial Study 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 9 

authorized United to implement sediment management activities within an area 1.4-acres upstream 
of the Facility.  Due to unresponsiveness of the Los Angeles Regional Water Quality Control Board 
(RWQCB), the CWA Section 401 water quality certification was waived by the USACE. On December 
13, 2019, United and CDFW executed an amendment to an existing Lake and Streambed Alteration 
Agreement (LSAA; No. 1600-2013-0223-R5) which authorized the implementation of a new, one-
time, 0.7-acre pilot channel. Following the 2019 permit issuance, in December of that year United 
excavated a pilot channel in accordance with permit requirements to redirect flows towards the 
south bank of the river, consistent with the current design of Phase 1 described below. The 2019 
pilot channel was partially successful in its objectives, resulting in an approximately 40 percent 
increase in flow capacity of the bypass channel compared to the prior year; however, additional 
management is necessary to facilitate proper function of the Facility. Therefore, Phase 1 is designed 
to leverage the work completed in 2019 to better achieve United’s objectives.  

The 2019 regulatory permits and agreements issued by the USACE and CDFW for the excavation of 
the pilot channel are still valid; however, it should be noted that the CDFW SAA amendment 
authorized United to implement the pilot channel activity one-time during the term of the 
agreement. In order to identify and characterize potential impacts of the proposed project as a 
whole, inclusive of both the Phase 1 and Phase 2 project activities, the environmental impact 
analysis provided herein considers potential impacts associated with conducting project activities 
across the entire 6-acre project site. This CEQA document will be used to inform applications for 
regulatory permits from the resource agencies (USACE, Los Angeles RWQCB, CDFW) responsible for 
issuing permits for the project’s total 6-acre sediment management area, shown on Figure 2. 

10. Description of Project 

The proposed project would provide for the continued reliable operation and maintenance of the 
existing Facility by conducting sediment management and associated activities necessary to 
maintain the capacity and function of the Facility. The proposed project is specific to the upstream 
sediment management and associated activities that are necessary to the operation and 
maintenance of the Facility; the proposed project would not expand the existing purpose or 
function of the Facility. As discussed under “Background and Purpose” above, the proposed project 
would be implemented in two separate phases, referred to as Phase 1 and Phase 2, which 
collectively address an approximately six-acre sediment management area within the Santa Clara 
River channel.  

An overview of the two project phases is below, followed by more detailed discussion of the 
activities that would occur under both project phases, including: access and staging; site 
preparation; in-channel sediment management; subsequent sediment management; and Avoidance 
and Minimization Measures (AMMs) that would be implemented as part of the project design.  

Phase 1: Initial 1.3-acre Low-flow Channel 

During the first year of the proposed project, an initial 1.3-acre low-flow channel would be 
established by excavating accumulated sediments to shift the river’s existing thalweg to the 
southern bank of the river channel, extending approximately 900 feet upstream of the Facility. The 
1.3-acre total includes all areas within the river channel that will be potentially affected by Phase 1 
activities, including equipment travel, site ingress, and egress. The extent of the low-flow channel 
and the adjacent spoils dispersal area are shown on Figure 2. A detailed drawing of the proposed 
low-flow channel, including surveyed elevations and cross-sections, is also included in the BRA 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

10 

provided as Appendix B to this IS-MND. The proposed low-flow channel will preserve some of the 
natural sinuosity of the channel while providing a new direct flow path toward the bypass channel 
of the Facility.  

The new low-flow channel under Phase 1 would be approximately 40 feet wide and 825 feet long 
with a maximum depth of three feet and a grade of approximately 0.73 percent. This configuration 
is designed to provide a uniform grade from the elevation of the concrete floor of the bypass 
channel (155 feet above mean sea level [amsl]), to the elevation of the riverbed thalweg at the 
upstream end of the Phase 1 channel (164 feet amsl). Phase 1 would require excavation of 
approximately 4,700 cubic yards of material to form the new low-flow channel. The south side of 
the channel would be sloped as steeply as feasible towards the south bank of the river to allow for a 
safe and stable slope while positioning the channel as close as feasible to the river’s south bank and 
avoiding disruptions to mature riparian vegetation. The north side of the new low-flow channel 
would be sloped more gradually toward the terrace of the river’s north bank.  

Material excavated to create the new low-flow channel would be redistributed within the Phase 1 
sediment management area, which is indicated as the “soils dispersal area” on Figure 2. Material 
excavated to form the low-flow channel would be dispersed in the soils dispersal area and 
compacted to conditions consistent with the surrounding riverbed. The new low-flow channel is 
designed to accommodate flows of up to 1,300 cfs, which represent low to moderate flows, while 
flows greater than 1,300 cfs would overtop the channel and spread across the main channel of the 
river. During a two-year storm flow event, which would have flow of approximately 12,800 cfs, flows 
would spread out into the entire active river channel and would overtop the crest of the Facility. 

Phase 1 is anticipated to be implemented over 13 days, as shown in Table 1 below.  

Table 1 Schedule for Implementation of Phase 1 

Timing Task 

1 day Flag Phase 1 work area boundaries (following completion of pre-activity surveys) 

1 day Salvage and relocate species from the Phase 1 work area, if needed 

10 days Complete Phase 1 earthwork 

1 day Demobilize from Phase 1 

The Phase 1 schedule above does not include time for dewatering activities, because United 
anticipates implementing Phase 1 during fall of 2021, and the 2020-2021 winter season has seen 
record-low precipitation for the Ventura County region. As of mid-July 2021, average daily flows at 
the Facility have dropped to zero cfs, and there is a reasonable expectation that conditions within 
the river channel adjacent to the Facility will remain completely dry during the 2021 summer 
season. As such, dewatering is not anticipated to be necessary for the implementation of Phase 1.  

Phase 2: Subsequent 4.7-acre Expansion 

After the first year of the proposed project and establishment of the new 1.3-acre low-flow channel 
under Phase 1, the proposed project’s sediment management area would be expanded by 4.7 acres 
under Phase 2, to encompass the total sediment management area of up to six acres as shown on 
Figure 2. The timing of Phase 2 implementation will be determined by regulatory permit 
authorizations, weather conditions affecting the level of flows in the river, and the successful 
establishment of the initial low-flow channel under Phase 1. Once regulatory permits for Phase 2 are 



Initial Study 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 11 

in place, and given acceptable flow conditions in the river, the Phase 2 expansion activities will be 
scheduled as needed. In the interest of providing a conservative analysis for CEQA purposes, it is 
assumed that implementation of the Phase 2 expansion will also include maintenance of the initial 
Phase 1 channel. As such, Phase 2 would introduce project activities to a new 4.7-acre portion of the 
channel not previously affected by Phase 1, but it could also introduce subsequent project activities 
to the initial 1.3-acre Phase 1 channel, such that the Phase 2 disturbance area would be up to six 
acres. 

Phase 2 sediment management activities will be similar to Phase 1 activities in nature and consist of 
low-flow channel excavation and recontouring intended to promote favorable interactions between 
flow and the Facility within the entire six-acre area. However, the specific location and 
characteristics of excavation and recontouring will be dependent upon the site conditions at the 
time of work. Individual grading plans will be developed as needed for any given sediment 
management event conducted during Phase 2. Phase 2 does not include the trucking of excavated 
sediments to an off-site disposal location, as all excavated sediments would be redeposited on-site 
within the portion of the river channel identified as the project footprint in Figure 2.  

A schedule for implementation of Phase 2 will be developed based upon site-specific conditions at 
the time of project implementation, including with consideration to the success of Phase 1 
implementation and the resulting degree of sediment management required to facilitate desired 
Facility operations. Subsequent sediment management events conducted during Phase 2 are 
anticipated to be required approximately every two to three years, but could be conducted annually 
if needed to address sediment accumulation and maintain Facility function. 

Project Activities  

The following sections describe project activities that are applicable to the entire 6-acre proposed 
project sediment management area, inclusive of both the 1.3-acre Phase 1 footprint and the 4.7-
acre Phase 2 footprint.  

Access and Staging 

The project site would be accessed from the existing United maintenance roads including the 
riverbed access point on the south bank of the Santa Clara River and from the north bank across the 
diversion crest (possible access point during Phase 2), as shown on Figure 2. These access points are 
maintained clear of vegetation by United under an existing LSAA with CDFW (1600-2013-0223-R5). 
The southern bank access point is via an existing dirt ramp upstream of the Facility. This access point 
enters the river channel immediately upstream of the bypass channel and provides direct access to 
the project site. The existing developed portions of the Facility would be used as the staging area for 
the duration of the project. 

No new access roads would be installed to accommodate project activities. The staging areas for 
sediment management activities are permanently disturbed in their present condition, and 
therefore no additional disturbance would result from using these areas for staging during sediment 
management activities. 

In-Channel Sediment Management 

Sediment management activities within the Santa Clara River channel adjacent to and upstream of 
the Facility are expected to be required approximately once every two years. United is seeking 
approvals to conduct these activities on an as-needed basis, up to once per year. Under both project 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

12 

phases, sediment management activities would be conducted during the primary maintenance 
window from mid-September through December, after the end of the bird nesting season and prior 
to the onset of the steelhead migration season.  

All project activities would be conducted within the active riverbed, in areas that are regularly 
subjected to a natural cycle of disturbance (i.e., scour and deposition). Sediment management 
activities would not be conducted in areas with mature riparian vegetation; however, some recently 
recruited (i.e., emergent, or early successional) vegetation may be trimmed or cleared, as discussed 
below under “Vegetation Removal”. The activities planned to be conducted under Phase 1 and 
Phase 2 are described under respective headings above, and briefly summarized below. 

▪ Phase 1 - Initial Sediment Management Event. The initial sediment management event would 
be conducted as Phase 1 of the proposed project, to implement a new excavated low-flow 
channel within the Phase 1 footprint area of 1.3 acres. Please see the description of Phase 1 
provided under “Phase 1: Initial 1.3-acre Low-flow Channel”. 

▪ Phase 2 - Subsequent Sediment Management Events. Following the successful implementation 
of a new low-flow channel under Phase 1, subsequent sediment management events would be 
conducted as-needed, and are anticipated to occur approximately every two to three years, but 
could be conducted annually if needed. Phase 2 would expand the Phase 1 footprint up to an 
additional 4.7 acres, resulting in a total project footprint of up to six acres. Specific grading plans 
for subsequent sediment management events under Phase 2 would be submitted to the 
resource agencies for review and approval prior to being undertaken. 

All sediment management activities included under the proposed project would be conducted using 
the same methods and equipment types and intensities; however, the larger size of the Phase 2 
sediment management area would necessitate increased use of equipment to redistribute and 
recontour sediment spoils, as discussed below under “Sediment Spoils Management” and detailed 
in the issue area analyses provided below, as applicable.   

Dewatering  

As discussed above for Phase 1, dewatering activities are not anticipated to be necessary for the 
implementation of Phase 1 during 2021, due to record-low precipitation and current projections for 
a dry riverbed upstream of the Facility during August through December 2021. It is anticipated that 
dewatering activities will be necessary to accommodate Phase 2, and that in future years, 
depending upon weather conditions and flows present in the river, dewatering may be required 
prior to subsequent sediment management activities conducted under Phase 2, to be determined at 
the time of project implementation. Dewatering activities are described below and referenced 
throughout the impact analysis, as applicable to potential impacts of the proposed project. 

Under normal operating conditions, United maintains an impound both within and immediately 
upstream of the Facility. This impound is a contiguous body of water that inundates the canal bay, 
bypass channel, and the adjacent Santa Clara River channel. The water surface elevation of this 
impound is controlled primarily by the canal gates; however, the water surface elevation can also be 
manipulated by the roller gate and to a lesser extent by the fish ladder exit gate. The extent of 
inundated area within the Santa Clara River channel is dependent upon the topographic and 
bathymetric characteristics of the channel at any given time and is subject to alteration by patterns 
of erosion and deposition due to river discharge. Due to these dynamic processes, site preparation 
for in-channel sediment management may require the impound to be dewatered.  

United proposed to use a two-stage draw-down process, as described below. 



Initial Study 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 13 

▪ Draw-down Stage A. This first stage draw-down would dewater most low-gradient lateral 
habitat of the forebay. The first stage would target a draw-down rate of less than two inches per 
hour, through operation of United’s headworks facilities. This stage would be conducted over 
the course of 1.5 to 2 days, depending upon the water level in the head bay at the time. The 
impound would be reduced to an area confined within the footprint of the bypass channel 
approach (i.e., confined by vertical concrete walls). Following completion of Stage A draw-down 
activities, the head bay and fish screen bays are not expected to drain completely, though water 
levels within the head bay and fish screen bay will be reduced to levels to accommodate species 
surveys, capture, and relocation as necessary prior to initiating the second stage of draw-down 
activities. 

▪ Draw-down Stage B. The second stage draw-down would dewater the bypass channel. Water 
would be released under the roller gate and into the downstream pool. This draw-down would 
be conducted slowly over the course of approximately one hour, until the pool within the 
bypass approach channel is limited to an area immediately upstream of the roller gate. Once the 
pool is concentrated in the area immediately upstream of the roller gate, the rate of release 
under the roller gate would be increased to promote transport of aquatic species into the pool 
downstream. Surveyors would be present upstream and downstream of the roller gate at all 
phases of this stage.  

If flowing water is present within the sediment management area following the completion of 
dewatering activities described above, flow rerouting activities may be conducted to sufficiently 
clear the work area of flows, thereby allowing sediment management activities to proceed. If flow 
rerouting is necessary, it would be conducted by establishing a temporary coffer dam within the 
channel, to temporarily obstruct water flowing into the work area. The temporary coffer dam would 
either be comprised of a manmade material that would be transported to the project site (e.g., 
inflatable bladder, sandbags, plywood, fence posts), or it would be comprised of native streambed 
material and structured as an earthen berm within the channel. As mentioned above, dewatering 
activities are not anticipated to be necessary for Phase 1, and are specific to Phase 2 of the project. 

Under Phase 2 dewatering activities, the temporary coffer dam would either impound water 
upstream of the sediment management area, or it would divert flow around the active sediment 
management area within the project footprint. Impounded water would be pumped downstream or 
conveyed via gravity in a screened pipe through or around the sediment management area. 
Screened pump intakes and pipes would meet current guidelines for screening by NMFS and CDFW, 
as applicable. To allow equipment access and minimize the amount of physical manipulation of the 
riverbed, the temporary coffer dam would be located as close as possible to the active sediment 
management area and the Facility footprint. Upon completion of any Phase 2 sediment 
management activities requiring dewatering, the temporary coffer dam would be removed from the 
channel, the site would be recontoured to a condition promoting favorable flow patterns for the 
Facility (i.e., complementary to surrounding contours established during that particular sediment 
management event). 

Sediment Spoils Management 

As discussed above, both Phase 1 and Phase 2 would balance cut and fill on the project site, by 
redistributing excavated sediments across the respective sediment management areas, consisting of 
1.3 acres under Phase 1 and an additional 4.7 acres under Phase 2, for a total sediment 
management area of six acres, as shown on Figure 2. Because the project would balance excavated 
materials on-site, it is not anticipated to require hauling excavated sediments off-site for disposal. 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

14 

However, in an effort to provide a conservative analysis and avoid the need for subsequent 
environmental review, should currently unforeseen circumstances necessitate the off-site disposal 
of excavated sediments, also referred to as “sediment spoils”, the analysis provided herein identifies 
and characterizes potential impacts associated with hauling excavated sediments off-site for 
disposal; this topic primarily affects Air Quality, Greenhouse Gases, and Transportation. If off-site 
spoils disposal is required, it is anticipated disposal would occur at United’s nearby Dos Diegos 
property or at Toland Road Landfill, located at 3500 Toland Road in Santa Paula, approximately 14.5 
miles from the Facility, owned and operated by the Ventura Regional Sanitation District (VRSD). Any 
disposal conducted at Toland Road Landfill would be done so in accordance with VRSD management 
procedures for the landfill.  

Vegetation Removal 

Neither protected trees nor mature vegetation communities (e.g., riparian woodland) are proposed 
for removal under the project. Vegetation trimming may be required along the access route to the 
project footprint (Figure 2) to allow access by heavy equipment. Any vegetation trimming would be 
minimal and would not result in the removal of mature trees significant to the riparian forest 
community.  

The early successional community present in the study area shown on Figure 2 is dominated by 
young arroyo willow (Salix lasiolepis) and mulefat (Baccharis salicifolia) recruits within the 
encroaching sand and gravel bar upstream of and adjacent to the Facility. Early successional 
vegetation may require trimming or clearing around the project footprint, as applicable. The area 
where this community occurs is subject to frequent disturbance from flooding, such that early 
successional species would continue to recruit following project activities, and the functions and 
services provided by the habitat would remain largely intact. 

Avoidance and Minimization Measures  

United has developed project-specific Avoidance and Minimization Measures (AMMs) for the 
proposed project activities, as presented below. These AMMs are included in the proposed project 
design and would be implemented as part of the proposed project. As such, AMMs do not 
constitute mitigation measures, which are identified in respective environmental issue areas in the 
impact analysis below, where necessary to minimize or avoid potential impacts. These AMMs also 
do not constitute regulatory requirements, although they would assist in proposed project 
compliance with regulatory permits; applicable regulatory permits are discussed in detail in the 
respective issue area sections in the impact analysis below.  

AMM-1 Best Management Practices 

Best management practices (BMPs) are measures included in the project description that are 
implemented as part of the project and are designed to avoid and minimize effects of sediment 
management activities on sensitive natural resources. These measures are generally considered 
standard practice for industry-specific and for general development projects and are intended to 
provide a framework for good work practice aimed at environmental sensitivity. Best management 
practices often include standard and general recommended avoidance or minimization measures 
outlined by an organization or agency, for example, the California Stormwater Quality Association 
(CASQA) or the CDFW. General site maintenance BMPs, which would be implemented during the 
sediment management activities, are presented below in Table 2. 



Initial Study 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 15 

Table 2 AMM-1 Best Management Practices 

AMM-1A 
General BMPs 

▪ Clearly mark work boundaries using stakes or other high visibility marking (e.g., flagging), prior 
to staging or other project activities involving ground or vegetation disturbance. No work would 
occur outside of marked work areas unless first approved by United Environmental Services 
staff. 

▪ At the end of project activities, remove all temporary flagging, fencing, barriers, project related 
structures, and associated materials (including BMPs) 

▪ Conduct project activities in a manner that prevents the introduction, transfer, and spread of 
invasive species, including plants, animals, and microbes; remove all visible soil/mud, plant 
materials, and animal remnants from all vehicles, tools, boots, and equipment. 

▪ Clean up trash and other project debris daily; use fully covered trash receptacles with secure lids 
to contain all trash. Receptacles would be removed from the site and emptied at least weekly.  

▪ Locate staging/storage and refueling/maintenance of equipment and materials outside of 
habitat areas. All staged equipment would have drip pans or similar containment placed 
underneath when not in use. 

▪ No substances that could be hazardous to aquatic life would be allowed to contaminate the soil 
and/or enter or be placed where it may be washed by rainfall or runoff into jurisdictional waters. 

▪ Prohibit pumping or use of water from the river for dust control or any other use by the project. 

▪ Prohibit removal of or damage to native vegetation with a diameter at breast height (DBH) of 
more than 3 inches without approval. 

AMM-1B 
Erosion Control 

▪ Prohibit use of chemical dust suppression agents within 100 feet of wetlands or water bodies. 

▪ Implement wind erosion control at the project site. 

▪ After 14 days of inactivity, a stockpile is non-active. All stockpiles are required to be protected as 
non-active stockpiles immediately if they are not scheduled to be used within 14 days. 

▪ Cover all stockpiles and protect with a temporary linear sediment barrier prior to the onset of 
precipitation. 

▪ Locate fiber rolls on level contours spaced as follows: 

 Slope inclination of 4:1 (Horizontal:Vertical) or flatter: Fiber rolls should be placed at a 
maximum interval of 20 feet. 

 Slope inclination between 4:1 and 2:1 (Horizontal:Vertical): Fiber Rolls should be placed at a 
maximum interval of 15 feet (a closer spacing is more effective). 

 Slope inclination 2:1 (Horizontal:Vertical) or greater: Fiber Rolls should be placed at a 
maximum interval of 10 feet (a closer spacing is more effective). 

AMM-1C 
Sanitary/Septic 
Waste 
Management 

▪ Locate temporary sanitary facilities away from drainage facilities, watercourses, and from traffic 
circulation. If site conditions allow, place portable facilities a minimum of 50 feet from drainage 
conveyances and traffic areas. When subjected to high winds or risk of high winds, temporary 
sanitary facilities would be secured to prevent overturning. 

AMM-1D 
Waste 
Management 
and Materials 
Pollution 
Control 

▪ Maintain all vehicles and equipment in good working condition, free from leaks, and operating 
within normal parameters. 

▪ Immediately clean up any vehicle or equipment fluid spills to ensure the work area is maintained 
clean and free of spills and contamination. 

▪ Limit the area where heavy equipment would operate to the minimum footprint necessary and 
contain the area within straw waddles or similar material to prevent runoff from the project site. 
If access to areas outside of the delineated footprint is required, it must be approved by a 
responsible United administrator.  

▪ Maintain the project site and study area free of trash. All trash would be deposited in closed-lid 
receptacles and would be removed from the site weekly. 

▪ If maintenance must occur on site, use designated areas, located away from drainage courses. 
Dedicated maintenance areas would be protected from stormwater run-on and run-off and 
should be located at least 50 feet from downstream drainage facilities and watercourses. 

▪ All fueling trucks and fueling areas are required to have spill kits and/or use other spill 
protection devices. 

▪ No pets or firearms would be permitted on the project site or other United-owned lands. 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

16 

AMM-2 Schedule/Timing of Work 

During Phase 1, no work would occur if flowing water is present in the river channel within the study 
area. As of early August 2021, the Phase 1 project activity area is dry and free of flowing or standing 
water. Given current and projected drought, United expects the Phase 1 project activities area will 
remain dry until 2021-22 winter season storms arrive in the region (i.e., providing for dry conditions 
during the implementation of Phase 1 between September 15 and December 31, the preferred 
maintenance window). In subsequent years to the initial implementation of Phase 1, it is anticipated 
that dewatering activities will be necessary to accommodate Phase 2 sediment management 
activities, depending upon rainfall and runoff for the respective year. If necessary to facilitate 
implementation of Phase 2 sediment management activities, United would dewater the project site 
prior to conducting Phase 2 activities to ensure that activities occur in a dry river channel. Additional 
scheduling/timing of work conditions include the following. 

▪ In the unlikely event that flowing water becomes present within the study area after dewatering 
activities for Phase 2, United would cease work and consult with the permitting agencies prior 
to proceeding with project activities. 

▪ If a rain event of a tenth of an inch or greater is forecasted by the National Weather Service 
within 72 hours of planned activities, all project activities must stop, and all equipment must be 
removed from the bed, bank, and channel of the Santa Clara River. 

▪ Non-active areas would be stabilized as soon as practical after the cessation of soil disturbing 
activities or one day prior to the onset of precipitation. 

▪ The time of day for work activities would be limited to daylight hours. 

AMM-3 Worker Environmental Awareness Training 

To ensure all AMMs are followed, it is essential personnel understand the scope of project activities, 
the general biology of special status species with potential to occur on the project site, and the 
individual responsibilities of project personnel. The most effective approach to addressing personnel 
awareness is through a worker environmental awareness training (WEAT) program. To ensure all 
personnel associated with the project are fully familiar with the project activities, the special status 
species with potential to occur in the project area, and the required AMMs, all personnel would 
attend a WEAT before conducting work on the project. The WEAT would provide details pertaining 
to project activities and correct procedures to follow during work activities to avoid or minimize 
potential impacts to special status species. Other information provided in the WEAT would include 
identification of special status species with potential to occur in the project area, correct notification 
procedures, and action to take in the event these species are encountered, as well as definitions of 
take. 

The WEAT program would involve several components to ensure all project personnel are properly 
trained: 

▪ Before initiation of project activities, all United Environmental Services staff working on the 
project and any contract biologists hired for biological monitoring would be provided the WEAT 
material and would be thoroughly trained on the information and in how to teach the 
information.  

▪ Before the start of any project activities, United Environmental Services staff would provide the 
WEAT to project personnel working on the site. Project personnel would attend the WEAT at a 
training facility designated by United.  



Initial Study 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 17 

▪ After the initial WEAT, any workers new to the project can be provided the WEAT by United 
Environmental Services staff in a tail-gate format at the project site.  

▪ WEAT handouts would be available at the project site when work is being performed to be 
handed out to workers during on-site trainings. 

▪ A record of all trained personnel would be kept by United Environmental Services staff. 

The WEAT would contain the following information: 

▪ A list of phone numbers for United’s Environmental Services staff and relevant agency contacts. 
This information would also be kept on site during work activities. 

▪ A list of all AMMs for the project along with information on the project activity or special status 
species to which it relates. 

▪ Instruction on identification of special status species and where and when special status species 
are most likely to be found. 

▪ Instructions on correct techniques and procedures for working within the Santa Clara River 
channel and adjacent riparian vegetation community. 

▪ Instructions regarding the individual responsibilities under the Clean Water Act, the project 
Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP), site specific BMPs, and the location of Material 
Safety Data Sheets for the project. 

▪ Instruction regarding the importance of maintaining a clean project site, including ensuring all 
food scraps, wrappers, food containers, cans, bottles, and other trash from the project are 
deposited in closed trash containers.  

▪ Instructions to notify the foreman and regional spill response coordinator in case of a hazardous 
materials spill or leak from equipment, or upon the discovery of soil or groundwater 
contamination. 

▪ Instruction on proper notification procedures in the event of take of special status species. The 
on-site foreman would be notified immediately followed directly by notification to the United 
environmental personnel. Within 12 hours of the incidence of take, notification would be 
provided to relevant agencies. Written documentation of the incidence would be provided to 
agencies within 48 hours.  

▪ Instruction that noncompliance with any laws, rules, regulations, or AMMs could result in a 
worker(s) being barred from participating in any remaining project activities associated with the 
proposed project. 

AMM-4 Pre-activity Surveys 

Prior to conducting any sediment management activities, current project site conditions would be 
determined to establish the appropriate course of action and AMMs to be implemented based on 
time of year and presence/absence of special status species. Pre-activity surveys would be 
conducted prior to the start of any ground- or vegetation-disturbing activities to determine site 
conditions and potential presence of special status species. The dry condition of the river channel 
would be established during the pre-activity surveys. Specific AMMs to be implemented would be 
determined upon completion of the pre-activity surveys. 

▪ Reptiles. Prior to conducting any project activities (under Phase 1 and/or Phase 2) within or 
adjacent to suitable habitat, United Environmental Services staff or qualified biologists familiar 
with western pond turtle, two-striped gartersnake, and other special status reptile species, 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

18 

would conduct pre-activity surveys for special status reptiles with potential to occur in the study 
area. The survey would include the entire study area. Two surveys would be conducted: one 
within the week before and one within 48 hours of implementation of project activities. If any 
special status reptile species are found, AMM-6 – Species Capture and Relocation Protocol 
would be implemented, if necessary. Any individuals that can be avoided and left free of harm 
would be left undisturbed.  

▪ Birds. The project would be completed outside the nesting bird season with project activities 
limited to the period between September 15 and December 31 (AMM-2, Schedule/Timing of 
Work). United expects no nesting bird activity would be occurring during project 
implementation. Nevertheless, to ensure no late-season nesting activity is occurring, and to 
detect any existing inactive nests, United Environmental Services staff or qualified avian 
biologists familiar with least Bell’s vireo, southwestern willow flycatcher, yellow-billed cuckoo, 
and other special status birds, would conduct a pre-activity survey for birds and nests with 
potential to occur in the study area. The survey would cover an area not less than the study 
area, which provides at minimum a 25-foot buffer from the project footprint. The survey would 
be completed no less than 14 days prior to the start of project activities. Any active or inactive 
nests detected would be avoided according to AMM-5, Nesting Birds.  

▪ Fish. Prior to initiation of Phase 2 sediment management activities that require dewatering, 
United Environmental Services staff or qualified biologists will conduct pre-activity surveys for 
special status aquatic species that could occur in the project area or be impacted by the project. 
If any special status species are present, AMM-1, Best Management Practices, will provide 
avoidance or minimization of impacts to special status species, and AMM-4 will be implemented 
as necessary. United environmental staff will determine if instream flow conditions (i.e., flow, 
depth, stream continuity) and aquatic habitat are potentially suitable for native fish species. 
Surveys of wetted areas will occur prior to any ground/vegetation disturbance or project 
activities that require dewatering, water diversion, work in flowing water, or work within 100 
feet of flowing water in or adjacent to the Santa Clara River. The survey methodology will be 
appropriate for the aquatic conditions (e.g., water depth, water quality) present at the time and 
may include bankside or wading visual inspection, snorkeling, or use of underwater video 
equipment. 

▪ Relocation Sites. If pre-activity surveys identify native or special status species that may require 
relocation from the project site, suitable relocation sites will be identified during 
implementation of this AMM. Relocation sites will be identified in coordination with NMFS and 
CDFW; the specifics of identifying and prioritizing suitable relocation sites is discussed in AMM-6 
Species Capture and Relocation Protocol. 

AMM-5 Nesting Birds 

United proposes to conduct project activities between September 15 and December 31, outside of 
the nesting bird season. To ensure that no late-season nesting birds are present during project 
activities United would conduct nesting bird surveys prior to project implementation. If active or 
inactive nests are detected, the following measures would be implemented:  

▪ Any nests encountered would be identified to nearest taxonomic level feasible, activity status 
would be determined, and the nest location would be mapped with a Geographic Information 
System (GIS) unit and marked in the field. Field marks would include high visibility flagging 
located so as to not disturb the nest. 



Initial Study 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 19 

▪ If an active nest is found, United Environmental Services staff would establish a minimum no-
work buffer around the nest according to species:  

 Active bird nests, other than raptor, would be avoided by a minimum of 50 feet. Flagging 
would be used on the ground or vegetation to establish the buffer around the nest. Any 
work occurring near the buffer would require an avian biological monitor to determine if 
the nesting bird is distressed by the activities. 

 Active raptor nests would be avoided by a minimum of 300 feet. Flagging would be used on 
the ground or vegetation to establish a buffer around the nest. Any work occurring near the 
buffer would require an avian biological monitor to determine if the nesting bird is 
distressed by the activities.  

▪ Buffers of special status bird nests would include temporary fencing and signage for the 
duration of the project. 

▪ If nesting birds display signs of distress due to project activities, all activities would stop and 
United with consult with agencies as needed prior to continuing work.  

▪ If an inactive nest is found, United Environmental Services staff would maintain a suitable 
vegetation buffer around the nest to the maximum extent practicable. Inactive nests would be 
maintained intact and undisturbed. 

 Breeding habitat and nest site buffers would be marked with fencing and/or flagged in all 
directions and would be left in place for the duration of the project. Breeding habitat and nests 
would not be disturbed or removed for the duration of the project. 

 Buffer distances may be adjusted up or down in distance from the nest by a United 
Environmental Services staff person in consultation with CDFW and USFWS. Buffer distances 
may be increased if a subject bird is displaying any signs of stress due to project activities. Buffer 
distances may be decreased if needed to adequately conduct project activities and if the subject 
bird is not displaying any signs of stress due to project activity. 

 Upon project completion, all habitat and nest buffer fencing and flagging and all nest marking 
flagging would be removed. 

AMM-6 Species Capture and Relocation Protocol 

Capture and Relocation Protocol (CRP) requirements will be implemented to minimize impacts to 
special status species to the maximum extent practicable, and will only be implemented as a last 
resort in the event that impacts to special status species cannot be avoided while undertaking 
project activities. No special status bird species will be relocated, because bird species have a higher 
susceptibility to stress, and they are  difficult to safely capture and transport. The CRP was 
developed using the best available approach, based on current professional literature, resource 
agency guidance, and expert experience in the appropriate capture, handling, and relocation of fish 
and reptile species. During capture and relocation activities, it is anticipated that native non-special 
status species may be incidentally encountered and subsequently require relocation to suitable 
habitats away from the project site. Relocation sites for native non-special status species may be 
within the immediate area, if it is determined they are unlikely to return to the project site during 
covered activities. 

The CRP includes protocols to safely capture and relocate special status species including O. mykiss, 
lamprey, arroyo chub, and western pond turtle. Prior to the start of any project activity that would 
potentially require the capture and relocation of special status species, United Environmental 
Services staff or designated qualified biologist(s) will conduct surveys of the project site for the 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

20 

presence of special status species could be impacted by project activities (AMM-4). If not already 
identified, the surveys will also identify suitable relocation sites based on physical essential habitat 
characteristics and species presence at relocation sites. Additional surveys to identify suitable off-
site relocation sites will be conducted as necessary. Relocation sites will be located within the Santa 
Clara River watershed and contain habitat conditions suitable for the species in question (i.e., 
relocation sites may be different for O. mykiss and western pond turtle). Conditions (e.g., water 
temperature, dissolved oxygen, general aquatic habitat conditions) at potential relocation sites will 
be documented and reported to NMFS and CDFW and species-specific sites will be prioritized in 
coordination with NMFS and CDFW. 

Only United Environmental Services staff or qualified biologist(s) assigned by United Environmental 
Services staff will conduct the CTP. All capture and relocation activities will be documented on hard-
copy datasheets and in an electronic database.  

Project Activities Requiring Capture and Relocation. Species capture and relocation is not 
anticipated to be required during Phase 1, because no dewatering or flow rerouting is anticipated to 
be necessary. During dewatering and flow rerouting for Phase 2, species capture and relocation will 
only be conducted as a last resort, to minimize or avoid impact to special status species that may 
incidentally become stranded as flow recedes in the dewatered channel. The CRP will identify BMPs 
focused on excluding aquatic special status species from work areas, such as the use of blocknets 
and flow re-routing to avoid harmful effects to stranded species. When necessary, capture of 
aquatic special status species will be conducted using seines, dipnets, turtle traps, or other methods 
specified by the relevant resource agencies.  

Aquatic Species Handling and Transport. All aquatic species that are captured for relocation in 
accordance with the CRP will be identified and enumerated, and all observations will be recorded on 
hard-copy datasheets and entered into an electronic database. United has developed a species 
identification photo book to assist in species identification and implementation of the CRP will be 
conducted under the supervision of individuals with experience identifying fish and reptile species. 
The following best practices will be implemented as part of the CRP: 

▪ All equipment will be cleaned/decontaminated using the most current methodologies to avoid 
spreading diseases and invasive species.  

▪ Transport containers used during relocation between sites will be aerated, insulated, and at 
least 100 quarts in size. Water temperature at the capture site and in the transport container 
will be measured prior to handling fish and monitored during transport. Five-gallon buckets may 
be used to transfer species from the point of capture to the 100-quart transport containers. 

▪ Whenever possible, fish will not be transported at temperatures above 20°C, and transport 
activities will be performed in the morning to minimize thermal stress. 

▪ The number of other native species placed in containers will depend on the life stages collected, 
and caution will be taken to not over-crowd containers. 

▪ No more than 10 O. mykiss or lamprey juveniles will be placed in an individual 100-quart 
transport container.  

▪ Fish handling, transfer between containers, and transport time will be minimized to the extent 
possible. Fish transport time is expected to be no more than one to two hours. 

▪ Handling and transport of O. mykiss will be conducted in coordination with NMFS and CDFW. 
Specifically, each individual fish’s life-stage (e.g., degree of smoltification) will be assessed and 
considered alongside environmental conditions within the watershed and at potential 
relocation sites to determine the appropriate relocation site. 



Initial Study 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 21 

▪ Any western pond turtles will be transported in containers with approximately one inch of 
water to maintain a moist environment during transport.  

▪ Turtles necessary to be captured and relocated will be assessed and the following information 
will be documented: carapace length, width, and height; sex; general condition and appearance.  

For all special status aquatic species that are captured and relocated in accordance with this AMM, 
temperature acclimation from the transport containers to the relocation site(s) will be provided by 
periodically transferring water from the selected relocation site(s) into the transport containers. The 
time steps listed below in Table 3 will be followed to provide appropriate acclimation and minimize 
stress to the respective species.  

Table 3 Stepped Acclimation Temperatures and Times for AMM-6 

Temperature Differential 
(degrees Centigrade Acclimation Time (minutes) 

0-2 10 

3-5 20 

6-7 30 

Non-native, invasive aquatic species will be euthanized or removed using standard practices. These 
species include, but may not be limited to: largemouth bass (Micropterus salmoides), green sunfish 
(Lepomis cyanellus), bluegill (Lepomis macrochirus), brown bullhead (Ameiurus nebulosus), black 
bullhead (Ameiurus melas), fathead minnow (Pimephales promelas), Mississippi (inland) silverside 
(Menidia audens), threadfin shad (Dorosoma petenense), common carp (Cyprinus carpio), goldfish 
(Carassius auratus) crappie (Pomoxis sp.), mosquitofish (Gambusia affinis), shimofuri goby 
(Tridentiger bifasciatus), African clawed frog (Xenopus laevis), American bullfrog (Lithobates 
catesbeianus), and red-eared slider (Trachemys scripta elegans). 

AMM-7 Noise Abatement Protocol 

United’s noise abatement protocol was developed based on published scientific research and expert 
experience concerning the effects of noise on wildlife. The goal of the protocol is to serve as an 
avoidance or minimization approach to reduce the impact of noise from project activities on special 
status species to the extent practicable.  

The noise abatement protocol consists of strategies for minimizing the effects of noise on reptiles 
and nesting riparian birds, as well as the effects of underwater noise on special status fish species. 
The project would occur outside of the nesting season and no nesting is expected to occur during 
project implementation. The river channel is expected to be dry during project implementation and 
no underwater noise is expected. In the absence of nesting birds and water, noise abatement 
protocols associated with these potential impacts would not apply.  

To mitigate noise effects to special status species, avoidance and minimization measures would be 
in place for each type of project activity. Limiting work to seasonal periods or times of day is the 
most effective approach to avoid potential effects to wildlife, including as related to migration and 
breeding. Installing hardscape structures (earthen berm or sound wall) to abate persistent or 
continuous sound sources is also effective. Considering the complex nature of the project activities, 
careful planning should integrate the temporal and spatial distribution of those activities relative to 
the specific special status species. Each project activity with the potential to generate noise levels 
above those shown in Table 4 in AMM-7 below should be evaluated relative to the noise abatement 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

22 

measures listed below. The mitigation strategies listed below would be assessed during the planning 
phase for appropriate integration into activities conducted by United personnel and contractors. 

SUMMARY OF NOISE LIMIT THRESHOLDS AND BREEDING SEASONS FOR SPECIAL STATUS SPECIES 

Table 4, below, identifies the recommended noise limit thresholds and applicable breeding or 
migration seasons for special status fish, reptile, and bird species relevant to the project site. 
Following this table are lists of general mitigation strategies as well as resource-specific mitigation 
strategies to minimize potential impacts to special status species due to noise during breeding or 
migration seasons. 

Table 4 AMM-7 Noise Limit Thresholds and Breeding Seasons for Special Status Species 

Special Status Species 
Noise Limit Threshold (dB) 
(Recommended) Breeding Season/Migration Season 

Fish 

Pacific lamprey 180 dBA re 1µPa for > 2 hours January through May (migrant) 

Southern California steelhead 180 dBA re 1µPa for > 2 hours January through May (migrant) 

Reptiles 

Western pond turtle 95 dBA for periods up to 2 hours May to August 

Birds 

Least Bell’s vireo 60 dBA at nest April to September 

Southwestern willow flycatcher 60 dBA at nest Mid-May to September 

Yellow-billed cuckoo 60 dBA at nest Mid-May to September 

The general mitigation strategies and resource-specific mitigation strategies identified under 
respective headings below would be implemented under AMM-7 to minimize impacts associated 
with potential noise disruptions to breeding or migration seasons for special status species. 

GENERAL MITIGATION STRATEGIES 

▪ Outfit equipment with engineering and administrative controls (mufflers, shielding, etc.) 

▪ Establish project design and project layout cognizant of noise criteria and buffers 

▪ Sequence operations to avoid sensitive migratory or nesting periods 

▪ Create temporal and spatial operational constraints 

▪ Include noise information/training into environmental education provided to workers and 
contractors 

▪ Integrate noise mitigation at the source including both stationary and mobile equipment 

▪ Select equipment for appropriate noise level recommendations 

▪ Implement inspection and maintenance programs 

▪ Utilize natural shielding 

▪ Establish temporary shielding 

▪ Build permanent shielding 

▪ Implement noise mitigation at receptor sites 

▪ Use masking 

▪ Relocate special status species 



Initial Study 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 23 

RESOURCE-SPECIFIC MITIGATION STRATEGIES TO BE CONSIDERED 

▪ Conduct activities outside of nesting bird season  

▪ Perform pre-project surveys to document presence/absence of special status species and 
develop buffers around active nests or other resources 

▪ Conduct noise monitoring to document sound sources and establish boundaries around nests so 
noise levels do not exceed to 60 dBA 

▪ Implement additional measures if a nest is located within the area of the 60-dBA boundary, 
including the use of a sound walls or sound reducing curtains to reduce noise levels around 
project activities, or stop the offending construction activity until juveniles have fledged  

▪ Install fencing around work areas adjacent to the river to exclude wildlife (turtles) from project 
areas prior to hibernation periods 

AMM-8 Biological Monitoring 

United Environmental Services staff, or contracted biologists, would be approved as qualified 
biologists and biological monitors prior to conducting biological monitoring of project activities. 
Qualified biologists assigned to biological monitoring would meet a minimum qualification prior to 
being assigned to monitoring tasks. At a minimum, qualified monitors would be able to demonstrate 
applied experience with special status species, including ability to identify the species, experience 
with the species’ biological life history and behavior, experience with detection of the species in its 
natural habitat, and experience coordinating with project personnel in avoidance of impacts to 
special status species. Experience with handling of special status species is not required for 
biological monitors; however, if such experience is lacking, the biological monitor would not handle 
special status species. Handling of special status species for any reason would only be performed by 
qualified biologists with demonstrated relevant experience.  

United Environmental Services staff, or a contracted approved biological monitor, would be present 
to monitor during all project activities occurring within or adjacent to sensitive or suitable habitat 
for special status species, or as directed under any other AMMs. This includes monitoring a 500-foot 
buffer surrounding the active project site. The monitor’s responsibilities include observing and 
documenting project activities, and providing recommendations designed to (a) limit potential 
impacts to special status species, (b) ensure compliance with any applicable permits, and (c) 
document any incidence of take, if any occurs. The monitor would retain stop-work authority for 
instances when a special status species is observed to be at risk for direct harm or harassment due 
to the project activities. If a task does not have the potential to result in effects to special status 
species, United would be able to assign any otherwise trained personnel to conduct the given 
activity. 

AMM-9 Invasive Species Management 

During implementation of project activities, BMPs would be in place to avoid and minimize the 
introduction and spread of invasive species. These BMPs include ensuring all vehicles, equipment, 
tools, and sediment and erosion control activities are free of invasive plant and animal species. 
Invasive species management protocols (e.g., CDFW 2016) would be implemented for all activities 
that occur within the Santa Clara River channel and riverine habitat. 

The following BMPs would be implemented during all covered activities: 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

24 

▪ BMPs for invasive species management would be implemented when biological surveys are 
required (e.g., pre-activity surveys) in aquatic habitats suitable for covered species. 

▪ All equipment would be washed off-site, at a location approved by United, before entering the 
project site, to ensure equipment is free of mud, algae, snails, or other debris. 

▪ All equipment would be inspected on site (i.e., Freeman Diversion), before leaving the site, to 
ensure equipment is free of mud or other debris that could contain invasive species. 

▪ All soils, seed mix (e.g., for habitat restoration), or other material would be certified free of 
invasive species before being imported or exported to or from the project site. 

Invasive species would also be actively removed on an opportunistic basis during project activities 
and during monitoring events. During project activities, invasive plant species (e.g., giant reed, 
tamarisk [Tamarix spp.]) would be removed and disposed of off-site in approved green waste 
facilities. Additionally, within the project footprint, invasive plant species would be actively removed 
and/or treated with herbicide (by a licensed applicator and in accordance with the label and all 
relevant regulations) during the period following the proposed earthwork and the subsequent 
spring growing season, to prevent establishment of invasive species within the disturbance 
footprint. 

Invasive wildlife species (e.g., common carp, American bullfrog) would be removed on an 
opportunistic basis during monitoring or surveys. Invasive wildlife would also be collected and 
removed during project activities when handled. When invasive wildlife species are captured, they 
would be collected, humanly dispatched, and disposed of off-site.  

11. Surrounding Land Uses and Setting 

Land uses to the north and west of the project site include the undeveloped channel of the Santa 
Clara River. Undeveloped hillsides are adjacent to the east, and active agricultural fields are adjacent 
to the south, as well as across the Santa Clara River to the west. The unincorporated community of 
Saticoy is located to the southwest of the Facility, on the west side of the Santa Clara River.  

12. Other Public Agencies Whose Approval is Required 

United operates the Facility to meet water resource management objectives, as discussed above 
under “Project Background”. The sediment management activities assessed herein are required to 
operate and maintain the existing facility, including but not limited to the associated fish passage 
structure. The proposed sediment management activities would include ground-disturbing activities 
in and around the Santa Clara River, and would therefore require a number of regulatory approvals, 
as summarized in Table 5.  



Initial Study 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 25 

Table 5 Required Approvals 

Resource Agency Permit Notes 

CDFW LSAA Standard 
Agreement 

Phase 1 and Phase 2 of the proposed project requires CDFW approval 
via issuance of a new LSAA, at the discretion of CDFW. In 2019 CDFW 
issued an LSAA for activities (pilot channel) similar to Phase 1 of the 
proposed project. The 2019 activities are incorporated into Phase 1 of 
the proposed project. 

RWQCB CWA Section 401 
Water Quality 
Certification 

Required due to the project’s need for federal approval under Section 
404 of the CWA; see below. Compliance is also anticipated to include 
development and implementation of a project specific SWPPP. 

USACE CWA Section 404 
Individual Permit 

It is anticipated the USACE will require an Individual Permit; however, if 
coverage may be provided under the existing RGP69, the conditions 
identified therein will be applied to the proposed project. Permitted 
activities are anticipated to be limited to the active channel bottom and 
areas of previous disturbance from construction of the Facility. 

USFWS and NMFS ESA Section 7 ITP  Phase 1 of the proposed project will not result in potential effects to 
listed species and does not require ESA Section 7 consultation. 

Regarding Phase 2, the USACE will initiate formal ESA Section 7 
consultation with the USFWS and NMFS as follows:  

▪ USFWS for effects to vireo and flycatcher 

▪ NMFS for effects to steelhead 

CDFW = California Department of Fish and Wildlife; CWA = Clean Water Act; ESA = Endangered Species Act; ITP = Incidental Take 
Permit; LSAA = Lake and Streambed Alteration Agreement; NMFS = National Marine Fisheries Service; RGP69 = Regional General 
Permit No. 069 issued by the USACE to United for operation and maintenance of the Facility (not including sediment management 
activities); RWQCB = Regional Water Quality Control Board; SWPPP = Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan; USACE = United States 
Army Corps of Engineers; USFWS = United States Fish and Wildlife Service 

Project approval by the California Coastal Commission is not necessary because the proposed 
project is located outside the coastal zone, and would not affect coastal zone resources. 
Additionally, the project would not adversely affect Essential Fish Habitat, such that formal 
consultation under Section 305(b)(2) of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and 
Management Act (MSA) is not required. Furthermore, the Facility is not listed on the current 
National Register of Historic Places (NRHP), and due to the sediment management area being 
limited to the active channel bottom and areas of previous disturbance, there is little likelihood for 
previously unknown cultural resources to be present within the project site, such that consultation 
under Section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act is not required. 

13. Have California Native American Tribes Traditionally 

and Culturally Affiliated with the Project Area 

Requested Consultation Pursuant to Public Resources 

Code Section 21080.3.1? 

As of the date that this IS-MND is being submitted for public review, no California Native American 
tribes have requested consultation with United pursuant to PRC Section 21080.3.1. Therefore, there 
is no trigger for tribal consultation pursuant to PRC 21080.3.1 for the proposed project.  



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

26 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 



Environmental Factors Potentially Affected 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 27 

Environmental Factors Potentially Affected 

This project would potentially affect the environmental factors checked below, involving at least 
one impact that is “Potentially Significant” or “Less than Significant with Mitigation Incorporated” as 
indicated by the checklist on the following pages. 

□ Aesthetics □ Agriculture and 
Forestry Resources 

□ Air Quality 

■ Biological Resources ■ Cultural Resources □ Energy 

■ Geology/Soils □ Greenhouse Gas 
Emissions 

□ Hazards & Hazardous 
Materials 

□ Hydrology/Water Quality □ Land Use/Planning □ Mineral Resources 

□ Noise □ Population/Housing □ Public Services 

□ Recreation □ Transportation ■ Tribal Cultural Resources 

□ Utilities/Service Systems □ Wildfire □ Mandatory Findings  
of Significance 

Determination 

Based on this initial evaluation: 

□ I find that the proposed project COULD NOT have a significant effect on the environment, 
and a NEGATIVE DECLARATION will be prepared. 

■ I find that although the proposed project could have a significant effect on the environment, 
there will not be a significant effect in this case because revisions to the project have been 
made by or agreed to by the project proponent. A MITIGATED NEGATIVE DECLARATION will 
be prepared. 

□ I find that the proposed project MAY have a significant effect on the environment, and an 
ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT REPORT is required. 

□ I find that the proposed project MAY have a “potentially significant impact” or “less than 
significant with mitigation incorporated” impact on the environment, but at least one effect 
(1) has been adequately analyzed in an earlier document pursuant to applicable legal 
standards, and (2) has been addressed by mitigation measures based on the earlier analysis 
as described on attached sheets. An ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT REPORT is required, but it 
must analyze only the effects that remain to be addressed. 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

28 

□ I find that although the proposed project could have a significant effect on the environment, 
because all potential significant effects (a) have been analyzed adequately in an earlier EIR 
or NEGATIVE DECLARATION pursuant to applicable standards, and (b) have been avoided or 
mitigated pursuant to that earlier EIR or NEGATIVE DECLARATION, including revisions or 
mitigation measures that are imposed upon the proposed project, nothing further is 
required. 

   

Signature 
 Date 

 
  

Printed Name 
 Title 

 



Environmental Checklist 

Aesthetics 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 29 

Environmental Checklist 

1 Aesthetics 

 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Incorporated 

Less than 
Significant 

Impact No Impact 

Except as provided in Public Resources Code 
Section 21099, would the project:     

a. Have a substantial adverse effect on a 
scenic vista? □ □ □ ■ 

b. Substantially damage scenic resources, 
including but not limited to, trees, rock 
outcroppings, and historic buildings 
within a state scenic highway? □ □ □ ■ 

c. In non-urbanized areas, substantially 
degrade the existing visual character or 
quality of public views of the site and its 
surroundings? (Public views are those 
that are experienced from a publicly 
accessible vantage point). If the project is 
in an urbanized area, would the project 
conflict with applicable zoning and other 
regulations governing scenic quality? □ □ ■ □ 

d. Create a new source of substantial light or 
glare that would adversely affect daytime 
or nighttime views in the area? □ □ ■ □ 

This section provides a description of existing visual conditions—that is, the physical features that 
make up the visible landscape—in and around the project site, and presents an assessment of 
changes to those conditions that would occur with implementation of the proposed project. The 
effects of the proposed project on the visual environment are generally defined in terms of the 
project’s physical characteristics and potential visibility, the extent to which the project would 
change the perceived visual character and quality of the environment, and the expected level of 
sensitivity the viewing public may have where the project would alter existing views.  

Regulatory Setting 

No federal or State plans, policies, regulations, or laws related to aesthetics, light, and glare are 
applicable to the proposed project.  



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

30 

Local 

As a special district established in accordance with California Water Code Section 74000 et seq., 
some of United’s activities are exempt from plans, policies, and regulations administered by local 
municipalities. As such, this IS-MND need not, as a matter of law, consider all local plans, policies, 
and regulations that might normally be applicable to similar activities undertaken by a different 
entity. Nevertheless, in the exercise of its discretion, United addresses in this IS-MND those local 
plans, policies, and regulations that may be relevant to the proposed project. For aesthetics, these 
include the Ventura County General Plan, as summarized below. 

▪ Ventura County General Plan, Section 1.7, Scenic Resources, identifies Policy 1.7.2-1, which 
states that discretionary development which would significantly degrade visual resources or 
significantly alter or obscure public views of visual resources shall be prohibited unless no 
feasible mitigation measures are available and the decision-making body determines there are 
overriding considerations. 

Environmental Setting 

The project site is located at the existing Facility on the Santa Clara River, near the unincorporated 
community of Saticoy. Figure 3 provides photographs of the current visual character of the project 
site and surrounding area. Overall, the Santa Clara River watershed is characterized by a coastal 
Mediterranean-type ecosystem dominated by vegetation communities typically associated with 
these conditions, including dune habitat, chaparral, woodland and forest habitats, and annual 
grassland. Agriculture is a predominant element of the visual character in the Santa Clara River 
Valley, including row crops, orchards, berry farms, and nurseries. 

Natural and artificial light reflect off various surfaces and can create localized occurrences of 
daytime and nighttime glare. Limited buildings and structures made with glass, metal, and polished 
exterior roofing materials are present in the residential areas of Saticoy, located downstream of the 
project site. There are no significant sources of light or glare at the Facility. The surrounding project 
area, including the Santa Clara River and adjacent agricultural land, and the desilting basin and 
recharge basins, are essentially without artificial reflective materials. There are no reported 
occurrences of excessive daytime or nighttime light or glare in the project vicinity. 

Two of the largest viewer groups in the project area are residents in nearby urban areas and 
motorists on local roadways. Views from residences in the unincorporated community of Saticoy 
typically would be limited to the immediate surroundings, and few if any areas affected by project 
activities would be visible. Similarly, although motorists provide a large number of potential viewers, 
the nearest major roadway to the project site is Los Angeles Avenue/SR 118, which crosses the 
Santa Clara River on an existing bridge more than a mile downstream of the Facility. In addition, the 
sensitivity of this viewer group to local scenic conditions is limited by the fact that a driver’s focus is 
predominantly on the road and surrounding vehicles, and the vehicle is in motion, limiting 
opportunities for extended views of particular resources. 



Environmental Checklist 

Aesthetics 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 31 

Figure 3 Photographs of the Freeman Diversion Facility 

 
Photograph 1. View of the Freeman Diversion Facility looking downstream (photograph taken by United 
Water Conservation District in 2019). 

 
Photograph 2. View of the Freeman Diversion Facility looking upstream (photograph taken by United 
Water Conservation District in 2019). 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

32 

Impact Analysis 

a. Would the project have a substantial adverse effect on a scenic vista? 

A scenic vista is typically considered a view of an area that has remarkable scenery or a natural or 
cultural resource that is indigenous to the area. The Ventura County General Plan identifies a range 
of Scenic Resources Areas in the county, including the viewsheds of Lake Casitas, Matilija Lake, Lake 
Piru, and Lake Sherwood. The nearest viewshed to the project site is associated with Lake Piru, and 
does not extend beyond Santa Felicia Dam, which is located more than 25 miles upstream of the 
project site. Project activities are not proposed in sensitive viewsheds, so views would not be 
affected. No impact would occur. 

NO IMPACT 

b. Would the project substantially damage scenic resources, including but not limited to, trees, 
rock outcroppings, and historic buildings within a state scenic highway? 

No roadways designated by the State as scenic highways are located in the project site, and there 
are no roadways eligible for either state or county designation as scenic highways located in the 
immediate vicinity of the project site. The Santa Clara River downstream of the project site at the 
Facility could experience changes in flow conditions, but these would not be noticeable to motorists 
traveling in these areas. In no location in the project site would trees, rock outcroppings, historic 
buildings, or other scenic resources be damaged. No impact would occur.  

NO IMPACT 

c. Would the project, in non-urbanized areas, substantially degrade the existing visual character 
or quality of public views of the site and its surroundings? (Public views are those that are 
experienced from a publicly accessible vantage point). If the project is in an urbanized area, 
would the project conflict with applicable zoning and other regulations governing scenic 
quality? 

The proposed sediment management activities would occur in the project’s defined sediment 
management areas, which are within the Santa Clara River channel in a nonurbanized area, where 
the general public do not have direct views of the work areas. The current visual character of the 
project site and surrounding area is portrayed in the photographs provided as Figure 3. The project 
site may be visible by members of the general public who gain access to the project site for activities 
such as birding; however, access must be approved by United, and requests for access have 
historically been rare. Viewers who most commonly have an opportunity to see the Facility are 
individuals on nearby agricultural lands, who are not considered sensitive viewer groups with 
expectations for high-quality visual conditions. Recreationists hiking or otherwise accessing the 
Santa Clara River could also have views of the Facility; however, much of the river is surrounded by 
private land, and there is limited access with relatively few individuals using the river corridor in the 
project area. 

The presence of workers and equipment during sediment management activities would represent a 
short-term change in the appearance of the Facility. However, sediment management activities 
would be conducted in areas that are not open to the public and are generally not visible to the 
general public, such that modifications to the visual characteristics of the facility due to the 
presence of workers and equipment would not degrade public views. After the completion of 
sediment management activities, which are anticipated to occur up to once per year, or as needed 



Environmental Checklist 

Aesthetics 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 33 

in response to large storm events, the visual condition of the project site would be consistent with 
the existing visual condition. Therefore, the project would not result in a substantial degradation in 
visual character or quality, and potential impacts would be less than significant. 

LESS THAN SIGNIFICANT IMPACT 

d. Would the project create a new source of substantial light or glare that would adversely affect 
daytime or nighttime views in the area? 

The proposed sediment management activities would occur in the project’s defined sediment 
management areas, which are within the Santa Clara River channel in a nonurbanized area, where 
the general public do not have direct views of the work areas. Implementation of the proposed 
project would require the use of equipment and machinery that may cause some reflection in the 
direct sunlight; however, such effects would be temporary and highly localized to the project’s 
active work areas. The project would not introduce lighting or permanent reflective materials where 
they do not already exist. In addition, sediment management activities in the riverbed would be 
obscured from public views by distance and by vegetation growing adjacent to and in the riverbed.  

United would implement BMPs as part of the proposed project design, in accordance with the 
AMMs provided in the Project Description. In accordance with AMM-2, Schedule/Timing of Work, 
project activities would be limited to daylight hours. As such, nighttime activities requiring lighting 
are not anticipated to be necessary; however, if nighttime work must occur, AMM-2 also specifies 
that lighting will be shielded and directed downward on the immediate work area to avoid or 
minimize light trespass on adjacent lands. Therefore, the proposed project would not result in new 
sources of substantial light or glare that would adversely affect day or nighttime views, and this 
impact would be less than significant. 

LESS THAN SIGNIFICANT IMPACT 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

34 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

 



Environmental Checklist 

Agriculture and Forestry Resources 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 35 

2 Agriculture and Forestry Resources 

 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Incorporated 

Less than 
Significant 

Impact No Impact 

Would the project:     

a. Convert Prime Farmland, Unique Farmland, 
or Farmland of Statewide Importance 
(Farmland), as shown on maps prepared 
pursuant to the Farmland Mapping and 
Monitoring Program of the California 
Resources Agency, to non-agricultural use? □ □ □ ■ 

b. Conflict with existing zoning for agricultural 
use or a Williamson Act contract? □ □ □ ■ 

c. Conflict with existing zoning for, or cause 
rezoning of, forest land (as defined in 
Public Resources Code Section 12220(g)); 
timberland (as defined by Public Resources 
Code Section 4526); or timberland zoned 
Timberland Production (as defined by 
Government Code Section 51104(g))? □ □ □ ■ 

d. Result in the loss of forest land or 
conversion of forest land to non-forest 
use? □ □ □ ■ 

e. Involve other changes in the existing 
environment which, due to their location 
or nature, could result in conversion of 
Farmland to non-agricultural use or 
conversion of forest land to non-forest 
use? □ □ □ ■ 

This section evaluates the potential impacts on agricultural resources from implementation of 
United’s proposed sediment management activities. Existing agricultural resource characteristics are 
described, as well as the relationship between the proposed project and existing plans and policies.  

Regulatory Setting 

Federal 

The Farmland Protection and Policy Act (FPPA), 7 U.S. Code 4201, was enacted in 1981 to minimize 
the impact federal programs have on the unnecessary and irreversible conversion of farmland to 
nonagricultural uses. The program encourages alternative actions, if appropriate, that could lessen 
the adverse effects on farmland and ensure that federal programs are operated in a manner that, to 
the extent practicable, will be compatible with state and local government and private programs 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

36 

that protect farmland. The FPPA applies only to federal assistance and actions that would convert 
Important Farmland to nonagricultural uses. It does not authorize the federal government to 
regulate the use of private or nonfederal land or in any way affect the private property rights of 
owners of private land. Compliance is to be coordinated with the U.S. Natural Resources 
Conservation Service (NRCS). 

State 

The California Land Conservation Act of 1965, commonly known as the Williamson Act, enables local 
governments to form contracts with private landowners to promote the continued use of the 
relevant land in agricultural or related open space use. In return, landowners receive property tax 
assessments that are based on farming and open space uses instead of full market value. Local 
governments receive an annual subvention (subsidy) of foregone property tax revenues from the 
State via the Open Space Subvention Act of 1971 (California Department of Conservation [DOC] 
2019). The Williamson Act empowers local governments to establish “agricultural preserves” 
consisting of lands devoted to agricultural uses and other compatible uses. When such preserves are 
established, the locality may offer owners of agricultural land that is included in the preserves the 
opportunity to enter into annually renewable contracts that restrict the land to agricultural use for 
at least 10 years (i.e., the contract continues to run for 10 years following the first date upon which 
the contract is not renewed). In return, landowners receive substantially reduced property tax 
assessments in return for enrollment under a Williamson Act contract.  

Local 

As a special district established in accordance with California Water Code Section 74000 et seq., 
some of United’s activities are exempt from plans, policies, and regulations administered by local 
municipalities. As such, this IS-MND need not, as a matter of law, consider all local plans, policies, 
and regulations that might normally be applicable to similar activities undertaken by a different 
entity. Nevertheless, in the exercise of its discretion, United addresses in this IS-MND those local 
plans, policies, and regulations that may be relevant to the proposed project. For agriculture and 
forestry resources, this includes the Ventura County General Plan (County of Ventura 2020), as 
summarized below. 

Ventura County General Plan, Section 8, Agriculture Element, identifies the following policies that 
may be considered relevant to the proposed project: 

▪ Policy AG-1.1, Agricultural Land Protection and Preservation. The County shall continue to 
protect and preserve agricultural land by directing growth away from productive agricultural 
lands into cities, unincorporated urban areas, or existing communities and by supporting the 
acquisition or voluntary dedication of agriculture conservation easements.  

▪ Policy AG-2.1, Discretionary Development Adjacent to Agriculturally Designated Lands. The 
County shall ensure that discretionary development adjacent to Agriculturally designated lands 
does not conflict with agricultural use of those lands. 

▪ Policy AG-2.4, Hillside Erosion Control Ordinance. The County shall regulate hillside agricultural 
grading through the Hillside Erosion Control Ordinance and its oversight by the Public Works 
Agency. 



Environmental Checklist 

Agriculture and Forestry Resources 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 37 

Environmental Setting 

The agricultural industry in Ventura County plays an important role in the regional and county 
economy and is responsible for providing approximately 43,000 jobs, such as jobs in the crop 
production, processing, shipping, and related industries and service sectors (Farm Bureau Ventura 
County [FBVC] 2018). Because of its temperate climate, a variety of crops are grown year-round in 
Ventura County. Of the county’s 1.2 million acres, approximately 26 percent of the county is in 
agricultural production (FBVC 2018). Agricultural lands are a primary land use across the Oxnard 
Plain, which the Santa Clara River traverses. There are active agricultural fields in the project area, 
particularly downstream from the Facility; however, there are no agricultural lands within or 
adjacent to the proposed sediment management areas included under Phase 1 or Phase 2 of the 
proposed project. United provides water supply for agricultural uses across the Oxnard Coastal Plain 
and maintains groundwater infiltration ponds at the Facility, which facilitate the replenishment of 
groundwater supplies underlying the Oxnard Plain.  

Impact Analysis 

a. Would the project convert Prime Farmland, Unique Farmland, or Farmland of Statewide 
Importance (Farmland), as shown on maps prepared pursuant to the Farmland Mapping and 
Monitoring Program of the California Resources Agency, to non-agricultural use? 

The proposed project involves the implementation of sediment management activities which are 
part of United’s continued operation and maintenance of the Facility and associated groundwater 
recharge basins. Sediment management activities would occur both upstream and downstream of 
the Facility within the Santa Clara River. Project activities would not be located on Prime Farmland, 
Unique Farmland, or Farmland of Statewide Importance and thus would not directly require 
designated Farmland to be converted to nonagricultural use. Therefore, no impact to Prime 
Farmland, Unique Farmland, or Farmland of Statewide Importance would occur. 

NO IMPACT 

b. Would the project conflict with existing zoning for agricultural use or a Williamson Act 
contract? 

The proposed project’s sediment management areas are located within the Santa Clara River 
channel, which is not subject to a Williamson Act contract. Implementation of the proposed project 
would not affect existing zoning or Williamson Act contracts. Local agricultural operations on lands 
upstream and downstream of the project site would remain unaffected by the proposed project 
activities. Therefore, no impact associated with conflicts with agricultural zoning or Williamson Act 
contracts would occur as a result of the project. 

NO IMPACT 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

38 

c. Would the project conflict with existing zoning for, or cause rezoning of, forest land (as defined 
in Public Resources Code Section 12220(g)); timberland (as defined by Public Resources Code 
Section 4526); or timberland zoned Timberland Production (as defined by Government Code 
Section 51104(g))? 

d. Would the project result in the loss of forest land or conversion of forest land to non-forest use? 

The project site is within the Santa Clara River channel, which is not characterized by or designated 
as forest or timber production lands. The project would not directly or indirectly affect forest land or 
timberland. No impact would occur. 

NO IMPACT 

e. Would the project involve other changes in the existing environment which, due to their 
location or nature, could result in conversion of Farmland to non-agricultural use or conversion 
of forest land to non-forest use? 

As discussed for significance thresholds (a) through (d) above, the proposed project would have no 
impact on agricultural land uses or forest lands. The project’s sediment management activities 
would be limited to the defined sediment management areas for Phase 1 and Phase 2, which are 
located within the Santa Clara River channel, and would not have potential to convert Farmland to 
non-agricultural uses or forest land to non-forest uses. Therefore, no impact would occur.  

NO IMPACT 

 



Environmental Checklist 

Air Quality 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 39 

3 Air Quality 

 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Incorporated 

Less than 
Significant 

Impact No Impact 

Would the project:     

a. Conflict with or obstruct implementation 
of the applicable air quality plan? □ □ □ ■ 

b. Result in a cumulatively considerable net 
increase of any criteria pollutant for 
which the project region is non-
attainment under an applicable federal 
or state ambient air quality standard? □ □ ■ □ 

c. Expose sensitive receptors to substantial 
pollutant concentrations? □ □ ■ □ 

d. Result in other emissions (such as those 
leading to odors) adversely affecting a 
substantial number of people? □ □ □ ■ 

Regulatory Setting 

Federal  

The federal and State Clean Air Acts (CAA) mandate the control and reduction of certain air 
pollutants. Under these laws, the United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) and the 
California Air Resources Board (CARB) have established the National Ambient Air Quality Standards 
(NAAQS) and the California Ambient Air Quality Standards (CAAQS) for “criteria pollutants” and 
other pollutants. Some pollutants are emitted directly from a source (e.g., vehicle tailpipe, an 
exhaust stack of a factory, etc.) into the atmosphere, including carbon monoxide (CO), volatile 
organic compounds (VOC)/reactive organic compounds (ROC),1 nitrogen oxides (NOX), particulate 
matter with diameters of ten microns or less (PM10) and 2.5 microns or less (PM2.5), sulfur dioxide, 
and lead. Other pollutants are created indirectly through chemical reactions in the atmosphere, 
such as ozone, which is created by atmospheric chemical and photochemical reactions primarily 
between ROC and NOX. Secondary pollutants include oxidants, ozone, and sulfate and nitrate 
particulates (smog). 

Air pollutant emissions are generated primarily by stationary and mobile sources. Stationary sources 
can be divided into two major subcategories: 

▪ Point sources occur at a specific location and are often identified by an exhaust vent or stack. 
Examples include boilers or combustion equipment that produce electricity or generate heat.  

 
1 CARB defines VOC and ROC similarly as, “any compound of carbon excluding carbon monoxide, carbon dioxide, carbonic acid, metallic 
carbides or carbonates, and ammonium carbonate,” with the exception that VOC are compounds that participate in atmospheric 
photochemical reactions. For the purposes of this analysis, ROC and VOC are considered comparable in terms of mass emissions, and the 
term ROC is used in this IS-MND. 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

40 

▪ Area sources are widely distributed and include such sources as residential and commercial 
water heaters, painting operations, lawn mowers, agricultural fields, landfills, and some 
consumer products.  

Mobile sources refer to emissions from motor vehicles, including tailpipe and evaporative 
emissions, and can also be divided into two major subcategories: 

▪ On-road sources that may be legally operated on roadways and highways.  

▪ Off-road sources include aircraft, ships, trains, and self-propelled construction equipment.  

Air pollutants can also be generated by the natural environment, such as when high winds suspend 
fine dust particles. 

State 

The State CAA also requires the Ventura County Air Pollution Control District (VCAPCD) to prepare a 
plan for air quality improvement for pollutants for which Ventura County is in non-compliance. The 
VCAPCD’s 2016 Air Quality Management Plan (AQMP) is an update of the previous 2007 AQMP. The 
2016 AQMP, adopted on February 14, 2017, incorporates new scientific data and notable regulatory 
actions that have occurred since adoption of the 2007 AQMP, including the approval of the federal 
eight-hour ozone standard of 0.070 parts per million (ppm) that was finalized in 2015. The 2016 
AQMP builds upon the approaches taken in the 2007 AQMP and includes attainment and 
reasonable further progress demonstrations of the federal eight-hour ozone standard (VCAPCD 
2017). The statutory deadline for Ventura County to attain the eight-hour ozone NAAQS is July 20, 
2021. The 2016 AQMP determines that, with implementation of the proposed control strategies, 
Ventura County was expected to reach attainment of the eight-hour ozone NAAQS and CAAQS by 
July 20, 2020; however, the determination of whether attainment has been achieved will not be 
made until collection and evaluation of monitoring data from the 2020 ozone season has been 
completed (VCAPCD 2017). Nevertheless, ozone concentrations in Ventura County exceeded the 
eight-hour ozone NAAQS on only seven days in 2019, which is the lowest recorded number of 
exceedances since the eight-hour ozone NAAQS was lowered to 0.070 ppm in 2015 (VCAPCD 2020). 

Local 

As a special district established in accordance with California Water Code Section 74000 et seq., 
some of United’s activities are exempt from plans, policies, and regulations administered by local 
municipalities. As such, this IS-MND need not, as a matter of law, consider all local plans, policies, 
and regulations that might normally be applicable to similar activities undertaken by a different 
entity. Nevertheless, in the exercise of its discretion, United addresses in this IS-MND those local 
plans, policies, and regulations that may be relevant to the proposed project. For air quality, this 
includes the Ventura County Air Quality Assessment Guidelines (VCAPCD 2003). 

The analysis presented in this section is based upon guidance found in the Ventura County Air 
Quality Assessment Guidelines (Guidelines), adopted by the VCAPCD in 2003. The Guidelines 
recommend specific air emission criteria and threshold levels for determining whether a project 
may have a significant adverse impact on air quality in Ventura County. In accordance with the 
Guidelines, a project may result in a significant impact if operational emissions exceed 25 pounds 
per day of ROC or 25 pounds per day of NOX. The 25 pounds per day thresholds for ROC and NOX are 
not intended to be applied to construction emissions because such emissions are temporary. 
Nevertheless, the VCAPCD’s Guidelines state that construction-related emissions should be 



Environmental Checklist 

Air Quality 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 41 

mitigated if estimates of ROC or NOX emissions from heavy-duty construction equipment exceed 
25 pounds per day for either ROC or NOX.  

The VCAPCD has not established quantitative thresholds for particulate matter for either 
construction or operation. However, the VCAPCD indicates that a project that may generate fugitive 
dust emissions in such quantities as to cause injury, detriment, nuisance, or annoyance to any 
considerable number of persons, or which may endanger the comfort, repose, health, or safety of 
any such person, or which may cause or have a natural tendency to cause injury or damage to 
business or property, would have a significant air quality impact. This threshold applies to the 
generation of fugitive dust during construction grading and excavation activities. The VCAPCD 
Guidelines recommend application of fugitive dust mitigation measures for all dust-generating 
activities. Such measures include minimizing the project disturbance area, watering the site prior to 
commencement of ground-disturbing activities, covering all truck loads, and limiting on-site vehicle 
speeds to 15 miles per hour or less. 

The VCAPCD has not established quantitative thresholds for CO for either construction or operation. 
However, the VCAPCD states a CO hotspot screening analysis should be conducted for any project 
with indirect CO emissions greater than the applicable ozone project significance thresholds (i.e., 25 
pounds per day) that may significantly impact roadway intersections currently operating at, or that 
are expected to operate at, Level of Service (LOS) E or F. A CO hotspot screening analysis should also 
be conducted for any project-impacted roadway intersection at which a CO hotspot might occur 
(VCACPD 2003). If project emissions do not meet these criteria, then the project would have a less 
than significant impact related to CO hotspots. However, if project emissions exceed these criteria 
and the screening analysis demonstrates there may be a CO hotspot, the VCAPCD recommends use 
of the CALINE4 model to determine whether the project would create or contribute to an existing 
CO hotspot. 

The VCAPCD has not established a significance threshold for impacts related to Valley Fever. 
However, the VCAPCD recommends consideration of the following factors that may indicate a 
project’s potential to result in impacts related to Valley Fever: 

▪ Disturbance of the topsoil of undeveloped land (to a depth of about 12 inches) 

▪ Dry, alkaline, sandy soils 

▪ Virgin, undisturbed, non-urban areas 

▪ Windy areas 

▪ Archaeological resources probable or known to exist in the area (e.g., Native American midden 
sites) 

▪ Special events (fairs, concerts) and motorized activities (motocross track, All-Terrain Vehicle 
activities) on unvegetated soil (non-grass) 

▪ Non-native population (i.e., out-of-area construction workers)  

The VCAPCD implements rules and regulations for emissions that may be generated by various uses 
and activities. The rules and regulations detail pollution-reduction measures that must be 
implemented during project activities in Ventura County. Relevant rules and regulations to the 
project include: 

▪ Rule 50 (Opacity). This rule sets opacity standards on the discharge from sources of air 
contaminants. This rule would apply during construction of the project. 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

42 

▪ Rule 51 (Nuisance). This rule prohibits any person from discharging air contaminants or any 
other material from a source that would cause injury, detriment, nuisance, or annoyance to any 
considerable number of persons or the public or which endangers the comfort, health, safety, or 
repose to any considerable number of persons or the public. 

▪ Rule 55 (Fugitive Dust). This rule requires fugitive dust generators, including construction and 
demolition projects, to implement control measures limiting the amount of dust from vehicle 
track-out, earth moving, bulk material handling, and truck hauling activities.2 

▪ Rule 55.1 (Paved Roads and Public Unpaved Roads). This rule requires fugitive dust generators 
to begin the removal of visible roadway accumulation within 72 hours of any written 
notification from the VCAPCD. The use of blowers is expressly prohibited under any 
circumstances. This rule also requires controls to limit the amount of dust from any construction 
activity or any earthmoving activity on a public unpaved road. 

▪ Rule 55.2 (Street Sweeping Equipment). This rule requires the use of PM10 efficient street 
sweepers for routine street sweeping and for removing vehicle track-out pursuant to Rule 55.  

Environmental Setting 

The project site is located is located in the South Central Coast Air Basin (SCCAB), which is under the 
jurisdiction of the San Luis Obispo Air Pollution Control District (SLOAPCD), Santa Barbara County Air 
Pollution Control District (SBCAPCD), and the VCAPCD. The project site is located specifically in 
Ventura County, which is under the VCAPCD’s jurisdiction. As the local air quality management 
agency, the VCAPCD is required to monitor air pollutant levels to ensure that the NAAQS and CAAQS 
are met and to develop strategies to meet the standards. Depending on whether the standards are 
met or exceeded, the Ventura County portion of the SCCAB is classified as being in “attainment” or 
“nonattainment.” In areas designated as non-attainment for one or more air pollutants, a 
cumulative air quality impact exists for those air pollutants, and the human health impacts 
associated with these criteria pollutants, presented in Table 6, are already occurring in that area as 
part of the environmental baseline condition. Under State law, air districts are required to prepare a 
plan for air quality improvement for pollutants for which the district is in non-compliance. Ventura 
County is designated a nonattainment area for the ozone NAAQS and CAAQS and the PM10 CAAQS 
(CARB 2020).  

Table 6 Health Effects Associated with Non-Attainment Criteria Pollutants 

Pollutant Adverse Effects 

Ozone (1) Short-term exposures: (a) pulmonary function decrements and localized lung edema in 
humans and animals and (b) risk to public health implied by alterations in pulmonary 
morphology and host defense in animals; (2) long-term exposures: risk to public health 
implied by altered connective tissue metabolism and altered pulmonary morphology in 
animals after long-term exposures and pulmonary function decrements in chronically 
exposed humans; (3) vegetation damage; and (4) property damage. 

Suspended particulate 
matter (PM10) 

(1) Excess deaths from short-term and long-term exposures; (2) excess seasonal declines in 
pulmonary function, especially in children; (3) asthma exacerbation and possibly induction; 
(4) adverse birth outcomes including low birth weight; (5) increased infant mortality; (6) 
increased respiratory symptoms in children such as cough and bronchitis; and (7) increased 
hospitalization for both cardiovascular and respiratory disease (including asthma). 

Source: USEPA 2018 

 
2 The emission estimates of particulate matter PM10 and PM2.5 shown in Table 7 for the proposed project reflect application of water to 
exposed soils twice daily to reduce dust emissions during grading activities, which would be required for compliance with Rule 55. 



Environmental Checklist 

Air Quality 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 43 

The air quality in the SCCAB is influenced by a wide range of emission sources, such as dense 
population centers, heavy vehicular traffic, industry, and weather. In addition, San Joaquin Valley 
Fever (Valley Fever), an infectious disease caused by the fungus Coccidioides immitis, is a disease of 
concern in the SCCAB. This disease is related to air pollution because infection is caused by 
inhalation of Coccidioides immitis spores that have become airborne when dry, dusty soil or dirt is 
disturbed by natural processes, such as wind or earthquakes, or by human-induced ground-
disturbing activities, such as construction, farming, or other activities (VCAPCD 2003). In 2019, the 
total number of cases of Valley Fever reported in California was 9,004, with 364 cases reported in 
Ventura County (California Department of Public Health [CDPH] 2020). 

Impact Analysis 

Air pollutant emissions generated by project activities were estimated using the California Emissions 
Estimator Model (CalEEMod), Version 2020.4.0. CalEEMod uses project-specific information to 
model a project’s construction and operational emissions. The CalEEMod analysis conducted for the 
proposed project reflects the implementation of the project as described under Description of 
Project. Emissions modeled for project activities include emissions generated by heavy-duty 
equipment used on site and emissions generated by vehicle trips associated with project activities, 
such as worker and vendor trips. CalEEMod estimates emissions by multiplying the amount of time 
equipment is in operation by emission factors. Project activities were analyzed based on the 
schedule and equipment list provided by United staff.  

This analysis assumes that Phase 1 and 2 of the proposed project would be implemented using 
similar phasing of activities and equipment. Project activities would include dewatering, site 
preparation, construction of diversions (if necessary), earthwork, and demobilization. As detailed in 
the Project Description, the proposed project activities do not include off-site disposal of sediment 
spoils from excavation, because all of the sediment spoils are proposed to be redistributed across 
the project’s combined 6-acre footprint, with grading and compaction applied to recontour the 
channel and provide the proposed elevations. However, this analysis calculated the emissions that 
would be associated with off-site disposal of spoils from a portion of the proposed excavation 
activities, to characterize the impacts that could occur should off-site disposal become necessary 
due to future circumstances, such as regulatory limits to the amount of sediment that can be 
redistributed within the channel. This included crafting assumptions about the type and number of 
truck trips required to transport up to 2,010 cubic yards of sediment spoils to an off-site landfill, 
assumed to be the Toland Road Landfill in Santa Paula, for disposal or reuse. Further, although a 
potential future need for off-site sediment disposal could occur under either Phase 1 or Phase 2 of 
the project, this analysis conservatively assumed that all off-side disposal would occur during Phase 
1, thereby characterizing the worst-case-scenario air quality emissions from project activities, and 
the associated impact significance determination. 

In addition, the air quality emissions calculations conducted for this analysis assumed the following:  

▪ No heavy-duty equipment would be used during dewatering 

▪ All heavy-duty equipment used for the project would be diesel-powered, but the equipment 
would be equipped with cleaner engines that would be rated either USEPA Tier 3 or 4  

▪ Project equipment and activities would comply with all applicable regulatory standards, 
including VCAPCD Rules 55, 55.1, 55.2 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

44 

▪ Phase 1 activities would occur over up to 17 days, including the transport of up to 2,010 cubic 
yards of sediment spoils for off-site disposal (adding four days to the 13-day schedule shown in 
Table 1) 

▪ Phase 2 activities would occur over up to 16 days, including the excavation of up to 8,000 cubic 
yards of sediment, with the volume of cut and fill material balanced on site, such that no export 
of spoils for off-site disposal would occur 

▪ Phase 1 activities are already permitted and would occur as early as 2021 

▪ Phase 2 activities would not occur sooner than the second year of project implementation 

▪ Phase 2 activities would occur at a maximum of once per year for the foreseeable future as part 
of the sediment management plan for the Facility 

▪ Phase 2 activities and equipment would be the same for all future years 

For the purposes this analysis, the emissions calculations assumed that Phase 1 and Phase 2 project 
activities would occur consecutively in the same year, with Phase 2 activities starting immediately 
upon completion of Phase 1 activities. This is a conservative worst-case scenario that includes 
sediment management activities across the combined 6-acre sediment management area in the 
same year, inclusive of 1.3 acres under Phase 1, and an additional 4.7 acres under Phase 2.  

As discussed in Section 2, Description of Project, no expansion of other existing activities would 
occur under the proposed project. Other aspects of operation and maintenance of the Facility have 
been previously reviewed and processed for the purposes of CEQA, and are covered under existing 
regulatory permits; therefore, emissions are not estimated for these activities. 

a. Would the project conflict with or obstruct implementation of the applicable air quality plan? 

A significant air quality impact could occur if a project is not consistent with the applicable AQMP or 
if the project would represent a substantial hindrance to implementing the policies or obtaining the 
goals of that plan. According to the Guidelines, a project may be inconsistent with the applicable air 
quality plan if it would cause the existing population to exceed forecasts contained in the most 
recently adopted AQMP. The VCAPCD adopted the 2016 Ventura County AQMP to demonstrate a 
strategy for, and reasonable progress toward, attainment of the eight-hour ozone NAAQS (VCAPCD 
2017). The project does not include the construction of residences, and it would not increase the 
number of employees needed for operation and maintenance of the Facility. Therefore, the project 
would neither increase the existing population nor exceed the regional population growth 
forecasted in the 2016 Ventura County AQMP, which underlies the AQMP’s air pollutant emissions 
forecasts. As a result, the project would not conflict with or obstruct implementation of the AQMP, 
and no impact would occur. 

NO IMPACT 

b. Would the project result in a cumulatively considerable net increase of any criteria pollutant for 
which the project region is non-attainment under an applicable federal or state ambient air 
quality standard? 

Ventura County is designated nonattainment for the NAAQS for ozone and the CAAQS for ozone and 
PM10. Project activities would periodically generate temporary air pollutant emissions associated 
with fugitive dust (PM10 and PM2.5) and exhaust emissions from heavy-duty equipment and project 
vehicles. Table 7 summarizes the estimated maximum daily emissions of pollutants during proposed 
project activities.  



Environmental Checklist 

Air Quality 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 45 

Table 7 Estimated Maximum Daily Emissions during Project Activities (lbs/day) 

Project Year ROC NOx CO SO2 PM10 PM2.5 

Phase 1 1 17 19 <1 7 4 

Phase 2 1 18 22 <1 6 4 

Maximum Emissions 1 18 19 <1 7 4 

lbs/day = pounds per day; ROC = reactive organic compounds, NOX = nitrogen oxides, CO = carbon monoxide, SO2 = sulfur dioxide, PM10 
= particulate matter 10 microns in diameter or less, PM2.5 = particulate matter 2.5 microns or less in diameter 

Notes: All emissions modeling was completed made using CalEEMod. See Appendix A for modeling results. Some numbers may not add 
up due to rounding. Emission data is pulled from “mitigated” results, which account for compliance with regulations (including VCAPCD 
Rule 55) and project design features. Emissions presented are the highest of the winter and summer modeled emissions. 

As shown in Table 7, ROC and NOX emissions generated during both phases would not exceed 25 
pounds per day. As discussed previously, although sediment management activities under the 
proposed project could occur each year, air pollutant emissions would only occur for a short period 
of time, including up to 17 days during Phase 1 and 16 days during Phase 2; therefore, project 
emissions are compared to VCPACD thresholds for project emissions. As noted earlier under Air 
Pollutant Emission Thresholds, the VCAPCD’s 25 pounds per day thresholds for ROC and NOX do not 
apply to project emissions because such emissions are temporary. Nonetheless, for comparison, the 
VCAPCD recommends mitigation if ROC or NOX emissions exceed 25 pounds per day during project 
activities. The proposed project would not exceed this threshold. 

As discussed in the introduction to this impact analysis, as a worst-case scenario for air quality 
emissions, it was assumed that the project’s entire 6-acre sediment management area, including 1.3 
acres under Phase 1 and an additional 4.7 acres under Phase 2, would be addressed in the same 
year, with Phase 2 implemented immediately after Phase 1. Additionally, it is assumed that the 
same level of effort and associated air quality emissions would occur each time that Phase 1 and/or 
Phase 2 sediment management activities are implemented. Therefore, the calculations presented 
above for the initial year of the project are also applicable to following years. As shown above, 
potential impacts associated with these emissions would be less than significant. Therefore, the 
project’s air quality impacts associated with criteria pollutants would be less than significant. 

LESS THAN SIGNIFICANT IMPACT 

c. Would the project expose sensitive receptors to substantial pollutant concentrations? 

Certain population groups are considered particularly sensitive to air pollution; these groups include 
children, the elderly, and people with health problems. Therefore, the majority of sensitive receptor 
locations for air quality contaminants are schools, hospitals, and residences (VCAPCD 2003). There 
are no sensitive receptors in the immediate vicinity of the project site. The closest receptor is a 
single-family residence approximately 3,000 feet (0.6 mile) northwest of the site. 

Project activities would result in temporary emissions of diesel particulate matter (DPM), which is a 
toxic air contaminant (TAC), from the exhaust of off-road, heavy-duty diesel equipment used for 
project activities. However, due to the temporary nature of project activities and the distance 
between the project site and the nearest sensitive receptor, the project would not expose sensitive 
receptors to substantial TAC concentrations. In addition, no CO hotspots would occur as a result of 
the project because the project site is in a rural location with infrequent vehicle traffic. Therefore, 
the proposed project would not expose sensitive receptors to substantial CO concentrations.  



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

46 

Project ground-disturbing activities would have the potential to release Coccidioides immitis spores. 
However, the population of Ventura County has been and would continue to be exposed to Valley 
Fever from agricultural and ground-disturbing activities, such as construction, occurring throughout 
the region. In addition, substantial increases in the number of reported cases of Valley Fever tend to 
occur only after major ground-disturbing events such as the 1994 Northridge earthquake (VCAPCD 
2003). Implementation of the project would not result in comparable major ground disturbance 
during the earthwork phase, and compliance with VCAPCD Rule 55 (Fugitive Dust) would limit the 
number of spores released during ground disturbance. The project would not involve grading of 
previously undisturbed soils. In addition, the project does not include special events (such as fairs or 
concerts) or motorized activities that would result in substantial ground disturbance during 
operation. In addition, the project activities would be removing sediment inundated with water. 
Thus, it is unlikely that spores would mobilize from wet soil because the water would minimize the 
amount of soil disturbed and released into the air. Therefore, per VCAPCD guidance, project 
activities would not result in a substantial increase in entrained fungal spores that cause Valley 
Fever above existing background levels. 

The proposed project would not expose sensitive receptors to substantial pollutant concentrations, 
and potential impacts would be less than significant. 

LESS THAN SIGNIFICANT IMPACT 

d. Would the project result in other emissions (such as those leading to odors) adversely affecting 
a substantial number of people? 

Based on the Guidelines, a project may have a significant impact if it would generate an 
objectionable odor to a degree that would cause injury, detriment, nuisance, or annoyance to a 
considerable number of persons or to the public, or which would endanger the comfort, repose, 
health, or safety of any such persons or the public, or which would cause, or have a natural 
tendency to cause, injury or damage to business or property. During proposed project activities, 
heavy equipment and vehicles would be used and could emit odors associated with vehicle and 
engine exhaust and during idling. However, such odors would be intermittent and temporary and 
would cease upon the completion of sediment management activities under Phase 1 and Phase 2. 
Furthermore, odors disperse with distance and, due to the distance between project activities and 
the nearest sensitive receptor of approximately 3,000 feet (approximately 0.6 mile), sensitive 
receptors would not be affected by odors from the project. Overall, project activities would not 
generate other emissions, such as those leading to odors, affecting a substantial number of people. 
No impact would occur. 

NO IMPACT 



Environmental Checklist 

Biological Resources 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 47 

4 Biological Resources 

 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Incorporated 

Less than 
Significant 

Impact No Impact 

Would the project:     

a. Have a substantial adverse effect, either 
directly or through habitat modifications, 
on any species identified as a candidate, 
sensitive, or special status species in local 
or regional plans, policies, or regulations, or 
by the California Department of Fish and 
Wildlife or U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service? □ □ ■ □ 

b. Have a substantial adverse effect on any 
riparian habitat or other sensitive natural 
community identified in local or regional 
plans, policies, or regulations, or by the 
California Department of Fish and Wildlife 
or U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service? □ ■ □ □ 

c. Have a substantial adverse effect on state 
or federally protected wetlands (including, 
but not limited to, marsh, vernal pool, 
coastal, etc.) through direct removal, filling, 
hydrological interruption, or other means? □ ■ □ □ 

d. Interfere substantially with the movement 
of any native resident or migratory fish or 
wildlife species or with established native 
resident or migratory wildlife corridors, or 
impede the use of native wildlife nursery 
sites? □ □ ■ □ 

e. Conflict with any local policies or 
ordinances protecting biological resources, 
such as a tree preservation policy or 
ordinance? □ □ □ ■ 

f. Conflict with the provisions of an adopted 
Habitat Conservation Plan, Natural 
Community Conservation Plan, or other 
approved local, regional, or state habitat 
conservation plan? □ □ □ ■ 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

48 

A Biological Resources Assessment (BRA) was completed for Phase 1 of the proposed project and is 
documented in the BRA Report provided as Appendix B to this IS-MND. The BRA Report supports 
permitting and implementation of Phase 1 of the project, for the initial 1.3-acre sediment 
management event. An expanded BRA will be conducted to inform permitting and implementation 
of Phase 2, to address the 4.7-acre expansion to the initial Phase 1 sediment management area, 
ultimately addressing the project’s full potential 6-acre sediment management area. The analysis 
provided below identifies and characterizes potential impacts to natural resources associated with 
the combined 6-acre sediment management area, to facilitate environmental compliance for CEQA 
purposes. As noted, prior to the implementation of Phase 2, which will include regulatory permitting 
for the 4.7-acre expansion under Phase 2, an expanded BRA would be conducted to support 
regulatory permitting and project implementation. The analysis provided below incorporates the 
BRA Report by reference, as applicable to Phase 1 activities, and includes analysis of the project’s 
full potential 6-acre sediment management area, for impacts to natural resources. 

Regulatory Setting 

This section provides a general summary of the applicable federal, state, and local regulations 
related to biological resources that could occur within the project study area. Regulated or sensitive 
biological resources considered and evaluated in this IS-MND include special status plant and 
wildlife species, bird nests, sensitive plant communities, jurisdictional waters and wetlands, and 
wildlife movement corridors. 

Federal  

The federal Endangered Species Act (ESA) was passed by Congress in 1973 to protect and recover 
imperiled species and the habitat upon which they depend. The lead federal agencies for 
implementing ESA are the USFWS and the NMFS. Section 9 of the ESA prohibits the “take” of species 
listed by USFWS and NMFS as threatened or endangered. In addition to the ESA, the Bald and 
Golden Eagle Protection Act prohibits take of bald or golden eagles, including their nests and eggs, 
and the Migratory Bird Treaty Act (MBTA) prohibits take, including killing, capturing, selling, trading, 
and transport, of protected migratory bird species. 

The USACE and the USEPA regulate the discharge of dredge or fill material into waters of the U.S. 
under Section 404 of the Clean Water Act (CWA). The term “discharge of dredged material” means 
any addition of dredged material into, including redeposit of dredged material other than incidental 
fallback within, the waters of the United States. Section 404 (f)(1) states maintenance, including 
emergency reconstruction of recently damaged parts, of currently serviceable structures such as 
dikes, dams, levees, groins, riprap, breakwaters, causeways, bridge abutments or approaches, and 
transportation structures qualify for exemption of permit requirements. Maintenance does not 
include any modifications changing the character, scope, or size of the original fill design. Emergency 
reconstruction must occur within a reasonable period of time after damage occurs in order to 
qualify for this exemption. 

The EPA and the California State Water Resources Control Board (SWRCB) regulate surface water 
quality in waters of the United States under Section 401 of the CWA. The objective is to restore and 
maintain the chemical, physical and biological integrity of the Nation’s waters. Clean Water Act 
Section 401 states before issuing a license or permit resulting in any discharge to waters of the 
United States, an applicant for a federal permit or license must obtain a certification noting the 
discharge is consistent with the CWA from the EPA/Tribe/State where the proposed project is 
located, including attainment of applicable water quality standards is required.  



Environmental Checklist 

Biological Resources 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 49 

State  

The CESA protects native species of fishes, amphibians, reptiles, birds, mammals, invertebrates, and 
plants, and their habitats, threatened with extinction and those experiencing a significant decline. 
The CDFW may authorize the take of any such species if certain conditions are met. Incidental take 
permits (ITPs) can be authorized under Section 2081(b) of the Fish and Game Code (CFGC), which 
allows CDFW to authorize take of species listed as endangered, threatened, candidate, or a rare 
plant, if take is incidental to otherwise lawful activities. Section of the CFGC designate fully 
protected species for which no take authorization can be provided, except under special 
circumstances. Fully protected species sections include 3511 (birds), 4700 (mammals), 5050 (reptiles 
and amphibians), and 5515 (fish).  

In addition to CESA, several section of the CFGC provide varying levels of protection for species. 
Section 3503 of the CFGC generally protects birds, including their nests and eggs, against take, 
possession, or destruction; Section 3503.5 of the CFGC specifically protects birds of prey, including 
their nests and eggs against take, possession, or destruction; and Section 3515 of the CFGC 
incorporates restrictions imposed by the MBTA with respect to migratory birds (which consists of 
most native bird species). Section 5901 provides for the protection of fish by prohibiting the 
construction of any device in a stream that would prevent, impede, or tend to prevent or impede, 
the passing of fish up and down stream. Section 5931 requires the furnishing a suitable fish passage 
in the event movement up and down stream may be impeded by a device constructed in a stream. 
California Fish and Game Code Section 5937 further provides for the protection of fish by requiring 
sufficient flows of water to pass over, around, or through a dam so as to keep in good condition any 
fish that may exist below the structure.  

California Fish and Game Code Section 1600 et. seq. requires all diversions, obstructions, or changes 
to the natural flow of bed, channel, or bank of any river, stream, or lake in California are subject to 
the regulatory authority of the CDFW and require preparation of a Lake or Streambed Alteration 
Agreement (LSA). If work is necessary to protect life or property; or immediate repairs to public 
service facilities are necessary to maintain service as a result of a disaster in an area in which the 
Governor has proclaimed a state of emergency an emergency notification must be submitted in 
writing within 14 days of beginning emergency project/work. 

The SWRCB and local Los Angeles Region RWQCB have jurisdiction over “waters of the State,” which 
are defined as any surface water or groundwater, including saline waters, within the boundaries of 
the state. Procedures for defining RWQCB jurisdiction pursuant to the SWRCB’s State Wetland 
Definition and Procedures for Discharges of Dredged or Fill Material to Waters of the State went 
into effect May 28, 2020. 

Local 

As a special district established in accordance with California Water Code Section 74000 et seq., 
some of United’s activities are exempt from plans, policies, and regulations administered by local 
municipalities. As such, this IS-MND need not, as a matter of law, consider all local plans, policies, 
and regulations that might normally be applicable to similar activities undertaken by a different 
entity. Nevertheless, in the exercise of its discretion, United addresses in this IS-MND those local 
plans, policies, and regulations that may be relevant to the proposed project. For biological 
resources, this includes the Ventura County General Plan (County of Ventura 2020), which includes 
policies for the protection of biological resources, as well as the Ventura County Tree Protection 
Ordinance, and the Habitat Connectivity and Wildlife Ordinance. 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

50 

The Ventura County Watershed Protection District (VCWPD) holds authority over its jurisdictional 
channels. The primary ordinance establishing VCWPD authority and the requirements to obtain 
permits for any encroachment into VCWPD jurisdictional channels, including right of way, is Ventura 
County Watershed Protection Ordinance WP-2. Red-line channels are those where the VCWPD has 
jurisdiction over and a watercourse or encroachment permit is required for work affecting the bed, 
banks and overflow areas of VCWPD jurisdictional red line channels. Government Code 53091 
exempts the location or construction of facilities for the production, generation, storage, treatment, 
or transmission of water, from the building and zoning ordinances of a county or city. The project 
site within the Santa Clara River is a jurisdictional channel within VCWPD’s “Zone 2” and is therefore 
subject to a watercourse permit approval from VCWPD.  

Environmental Setting 

The Santa Clara River is an episodic system in which winter storms typically scour out vegetation 
that fills back in during lower flows through the summer and fall. During the field surveys in January 
and February 2021, vegetation communities were mapped to characterize the existing 
environmental conditions. The vegetation communities summarized below are the dominant 
community types observed within the study area. Open water accounted for much of the study 
area, and disturbed/developed areas were present around the Freeman Diversion structure. 
Vegetation communities and land cover types present include arroyo willow thickets, eucalyptus 
groves, cattail marshes, and sandbars. 

The study area encompasses a portion of the Santa Clara River immediately upstream of the Facility 
and is mostly characterized by the active riverbed. The dominant vegetation and land cover types in 
the study area consist of arroyo willow thickets, eucalyptus groves, cattail marshes, sandbars, and 
open water, as summarized below. 

▪ Arroyo Willow Thickets (Salix lasiolepis Shrubland Alliance). This alliance typically occurs along 
stream banks and benches, slope seeps, and stringers along drainages from 0 to 2,179 meters in 
elevation. The community is dominated by arroyo willow (Salix lasiolepis) with over 50 percent 
relative cover in the tree or shrub layer. Co-dominant species include Fremont cottonwood 
(Populus fremontii), giant reed (Arundo donax), and mulefat (Baccharis salicifolia) (Sawyer et al. 
2009). This vegetation community is ranked G4S4 and is considered a CDFW sensitive natural 
community (CDFW 2020). 

▪ Eucalyptus Groves (Eucalyptus globulus Semi-Natural Alliance). This woodland semi-natural 
alliance is found planted as trees, groves, and windbreaks, as well as in settings where it has 
become naturalized on uplands or bottomlands and adjacent to stream courses, lakes, or levees 
from 0 to 1,900 meters in elevation. Within the study area, this alliance is dominated by blue 
gum eucalyptus (Eucalyptus globulus), being the sole tree species, and occurs in uplands along 
the southern edge of the study area. This grove was partially burned in a fire in October of 2019 
and has since regenerated. The herbaceous layer is sparse. 

▪ Cattail Marshes (Typha sp. Herbaceous Alliance). This herbaceous alliance is found in semi-
permanently flooded freshwater or brackish marshes with clayey or silty soils up to 350 meters 
in elevation. The community is dominated by cattails (Typha sp.), with one or more cattail 
species having over 50 percent cover in the herbaceous layer. This vegetation community is 
ranked G5S5 and is not considered sensitive (CDFW 2020b). 

▪ Sandbars. Within the study area, sandbars contain large areas of unvegetated mudflats with 
debris deposits that show evidence of flooding. In some areas the herbaceous layer is 
intermittent to dense, and common species include watercress (Nasturtium officinale), 



Environmental Checklist 

Biological Resources 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 51 

rabbitsfoot grass, and spotted ladysthumb (Persicaria maculata). No tree layer is present, and 
the shrub layer is intermittent and dominated by arroyo willow. Sandbar willow saplings and 
mulefat saplings are also present. 

▪ Open Water. Open water occurs within the low-flow channels of the Santa Clara River as it 
passes through the study area and enters the Facility, the extent of which is directly influenced 
by the depth of the impound created by the Facility. Water also accumulates just downstream 
of the structure. These open water areas include the active channel within the portion of the 
riverbed subject to perennial flows as well as meandering low-flow channels between and 
around sandbars. 

Open water makes up the majority land cover of the study area, however, several vegetation 
communities are present, as discussed above, and provide suitable habitat for many native and 
special status plant species.  

General Wildlife 

The study area provides habitat for species that commonly occur in semi-rural and rural areas 
around the outskirts of urban developed and agricultural lands. The habitat within the study area is 
adjacent to and unobstructed from the surrounding landscape including the Santa Clara River 
upstream of the study area, the upland area of South Mountain, and agricultural fields. Within the 
Santa Clara River, 22 common and special status species of fish are known to occur; 17 species are 
introduced and potentially invasive, including the common carp (Cyprinus carpio), Owens sucker 
(Catostomus fumeiventris), Owens and Santa Ana sucker hybrids (C. fumeiventris + C. santaanae), 
prickly sculpin (Cottus asper), crappie (Pomoxis sp.), mosquito fish (Gambusia affinis), fathead 
minnow (Pimpephales promelas), goldfish (Carassius auratus), largemouth bass (Micropterus 
salmoides), brown bullhead (Ameiurus nebulosus), black bullhead (A. melas), bullhead channel 
catfish (Ictalurus punctatus), green sunfish (Lepomis cyanellus), threadfin shad (Dorosoma 
petenense), Mississippi silverside (Menidia beryllina), striped mullet (Mugil cephalus), and Shimofuri 
goby (Tridentiger bifasciatus) (United 2020).  

Of the seven native3 fish species known to occur in the Santa Clara River, five are known to occur in 
the study area, four of which have special status: arroyo chub (Gila orcutti), Santa Ana sucker 
(Catostomus santaanae), Pacific lamprey (Entosphenus tridentatus), and steelhead (including the 
non-special status resident lifeform, rainbow trout). The partially armored stickleback (Gasterosteus 
microcephalus) occurs in the study area and does not have special status. Tidewater goby 
(Eucyclogobius newberryi) and unarmored threespine stickleback (Gasterosteus aculeatus 
williamsoni) have special status; however, these species are not known to occur in the study area. 

Many commonly occurring reptile and amphibian species are found in both upland and riparian 
habitats of the study area, while others are restricted somewhat to riparian corridors and aquatic 
habitats. Additionally, several highly aquatic non-native reptiles and amphibians have been 
introduced to the Santa Clara River watershed such as bullfrog (Lithobates catesbeiana) and red 
eared slider (Trachemys scripta elegans) (United 2020). Bird and mammal species are often mobile 
and widely dispersed but may have specific habitat or resource preferences such as those found 
within the study area. A list of wildlife species observed within the study area during the January 21 
and February 8 field surveys is provided in the BRA Report included as Appendix B. 

 
3 While native to the southern California region, arroyo chub is considered introduced to the Santa Clara River (Moyle 2002) and Santa 
Ana sucker are listed as Threatened under the federal ESA only in the Los Angeles Basin (USFWS 2021). 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

52 

Special Status Species 

The natural disturbance to the project area caused by recurrent scour and deposition events during 
high-flow rain events, coupled with the inundation of the project area with sediment, generally 
result in low potential for special status species to occur in the project area. During the field survey 
no special status federal or state listed species were observed or otherwise detected in the study 
area. Based on the investigation and analysis included in the BRA Report provided as Appendix B, a 
total of 39 special status plant species were identified, one of which has moderate potential to 
occur, the white rabbit-tobacco (Pseudognaphalium leucocephalum), California Native Plant Society 
(CNPS) California Rare Plant Rank (CRPR) 2B.2. This species occurs in chaparral, woodland, coastal 
scrub, and riparian woodlands communities on sandy or gravelly benches, dry stream bottoms, and 
canyon bottoms at elevations of under 500 meters (CNPS 2021). The project area is approximately 
two miles downstream of a known population tracked in the CNDDB (from 2015), and suitable 
riparian habitat and substrates are present. However, the species was not observed during rare 
plant surveys conducted in May 2021. 

A total of 26 special status wildlife species were identified in the literature review for the BRA, 14 of 
which have either moderate or high potential to occur or are present in the study area. The 
following nine special status wildlife species are present in the study area:  

▪ Arroyo chub (Gila orcutti): State Species of Special Concern 

▪ Santa Ana sucker (Catostomus santaanae): Federally Threatened 

▪ Pacific lamprey (Entosphenus tridentatus): State Species of Special Concern 

▪ Southern California steelhead (Oncorhynchus mykiss irideus pop. 10): Federally Endangered 

▪ Western pond turtle (Emys marmorata): State Species of Special Concern 

▪ Two-striped gartersnake (Thamnophis hammondii): State Species of Special Concern 

▪ Yellow warbler (Setophaga petechia): State Species of Special Concern 

▪ Yellow-breasted Chat (Icteria virens): State Species of Special Concern 

▪ Least Bell’s vireo (Vireo bellii pusillus): Federally Endangered, State Endangered 

Arroyo chub, Santa Ana sucker, Pacific lamprey, and steelhead are known to occur in the Santa Clara 
River and have been documented in the study area. In particular, steelhead are seasonally present 
in the study area and are expected to occur between January and May, but may be present from 
June through December. 

The study area also contains suitable habitat for western pond turtle and two-striped gartersnake. 
Both species have been documented in the study area. 

The study area contains both suitable nesting and foraging habitat for yellow warbler, yellow-
breasted chat, and least Bell’s vireo. All three species have been documented within the study area.  

Four special status wildlife species have high potential to occur in the study area: 

▪ Coastal whiptail (Aspidoscelis tigris stejnegeri): State Species of Special Concern 

▪ Coast horned lizard (Phrynosoma blainvillii): State Species of Special Concern 

▪ South coast gartersnake (Thamnophis sirtalis pop. 1): State Species of Special Concern 

▪ Southwestern willow flycatcher (Empidonax traillii extimus): Federally Endangered, State 
Endangered 



Environmental Checklist 

Biological Resources 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 53 

The study area contains potentially suitable habitat for coastal whiptail, coast horned lizard, and 
south coast garter snake. All three reptile species have been documented within five miles of the 
study area. The study area contains suitable foraging habitat for southwestern willow flycatcher but 
lacks suitable nesting habitat for the species. Southwestern willow flycatcher has been documented 
in the Santa Clara River within one mile of the study area.  

One special status species has moderate potential to occur in the study area: 

▪ Western yellow-billed cuckoo (Coccyzus americanus occidentalis): Federally Threatened, State 
Endangered 

The study area contains potentially suitable foraging habitat for western yellow-billed cuckoo but 
lacks suitable nesting habitat for the species. Western yellow-billed cuckoo has not been 
documented near the study area. 

Further discussion of federal- and State-listed and fully protected species is provided in the BRA 
Report included as Appendix B.  

Jurisdictional Waters and Wetlands 

The Santa Clara River in the study area is characterized by a wide riverbed with an active channel 
that winds through the study area from east to west before flowing through and over the Facility. 
The Santa Clara River is subject to USACE, RWQCB, and CDFW jurisdiction. The Santa Clara River 
contains an ordinary high-water mark, bed, bank, and channel features, as well as riparian forest 
community. The entire study area, including the active channel, floodplain terraces, and Freeman 
Diversion structure, consists of CDFW jurisdictional streambed. USACE and RWQCB wetland waters 
include the sandbars and other vegetated areas in the active channel, as indicated by the presence 
of hydrophytic vegetation, hydric soils, and hydrology indicators. Areas of open water were 
classified as USACE and RWQCB non-wetland waters. No isolated waters of the State are present. An 
ephemeral tributary enters the southern bank of the Santa Clara River east of the Freeman 
Diversion facilities. The confluence of the tributary and the main river is just inside the study area; 
the tributary itself is almost entirely outside the study area. There is no difference in vegetation 
communities associated with the portion of the ephemeral tributary in the study area. 

Wildlife Movement 

Wildlife movement corridors, or habitat linkages, are generally defined as connections between 
habitat patches that allow for physical and genetic exchange between otherwise isolated animal 
populations. A group of habitat linkages in an area can form a wildlife corridor network. The habitats 
in the link do not necessarily need to be the same as the habitats that are being linked; rather, the 
link merely needs to contain sufficient cover and forage to allow temporary inhabitation. Typically, 
habitat linkages are contiguous strips of natural areas, though dense plantings of landscape 
vegetation can be used by certain disturbance-tolerant species. Depending upon the species using a 
corridor, specific physical resources (e.g., rock outcroppings, vernal pools, or oak trees) may need to 
be located in the habitat link at certain intervals to allow slower-moving species to traverse the link. 
For highly mobile or aerial species, habitat linkages may be discontinuous patches of suitable 
resources spaced sufficiently close together to permit travel along a route in a short period of time.  

The study area is located within a Habitat Connectivity and Wildlife Corridor in the South Coast 
Ecoregion which extends roughly from Point Conception to 190 miles into Baja California (South 
Coast Wildlands 2008). Specifically, the study area is within the Santa Monica–Sierra Madre 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

54 

Connection and is one of the few coastal to inland connections remaining in the South Coast 
Ecoregion. This linkage connects the Santa Monica Mountains, Santa Susana Mountains, and the 
Sierra Madre Ranges of Los Padres National Forest. The study area is not located within any 
Essential Connectivity Areas (ECAs) as reported in BIOS (CDFW 2021); the nearest ECA to the study 
area is approximately four miles to the north. 

Additionally, the Facility contains a fish passage system that facilitates the movement of steelhead 
upstream and downstream through this reach of the Santa Clara River. Volitional movement of 
upstream migrating steelhead past the Facility is directly dependent upon United’s ability to operate 
the fish passage system. 

Multiple Species Habitat Conservation Plan  

United is currently preparing an MSHCP for the rehabilitation of the Freeman Diversion fish passage 
facility and future operations. This MSHCP is part of United’s application for ITP under Section 
10(a)(1)(B) of the ESA, for construction, operation, and maintenance of the Facility. United owns, 
operates, and maintains water facilities in a number of locations in the Santa Clara River Watershed 
and Oxnard Plain, including the Freeman Diversion and associated water conveyance and sediment 
management infrastructure. Renovation of the Freeman Diversion driven by construction of an 
updated fish passage facility and modifications to the associated water conveyance and sediment 
management infrastructure as well as diversion operations at the Freeman Diversion have the 
potential to result in take of federally protected species. The federal ITP would authorize incidental 
take of 7 species (or populations characterized as subspecies or life history strategy of a subspecies, 
e.g., southern California steelhead) listed as threatened or endangered under the ESA. The MSHCP 
provides documentation and analysis to support decisions by federal resources agencies on the 
issuance of ITPs. In general, an ITP would be issued based on the determination that the effects of 
incidental take of the covered species would be minimized and mitigated consistent with the 
standards in the ESA. 

No other Habitat Conservation Plans, Natural Community Conservation Plans (NCCPs), or other 
approved local, regional, or state habitat conservation plan areas are applicable in the study area.  

Impact Analysis 

Implementation of the proposed project has potential to result in impacts to resources protected by 
federal and state regulations, and the project therefore requires consultation under the ESA and 
CFGC. United is preparing an ESA Section 10 MSHCP, which has not yet been approved by regulatory 
agencies and does not cover the sediment management activities associated with this proposed 
project, as analyzed herein for CEQA purposes. United is consulting with NMFS, USFWS, and CDFW 
to determine whether proposed project activities would affect state and federally listed species, 
including southern California steelhead (NMFS), Santa Ana sucker, western yellow-billed cuckoo, 
southwestern willow flycatcher, and least Bell’s vireo (CDFW, USFWS). The project would also 
impact jurisdictional aquatic features regulated by the USACE, RWQCB, and CDFW, and avoidance of 
these areas would be infeasible due to the sediment management areas for both Phase 1 and Phase 
2 being located within the Santa Clara River channel. These impacts require permits from the 
abovementioned agencies prior to initiating work in jurisdictional areas. 

Project-specific AMMs were developed based upon the findings of analysis conducted for the BRA 
Report (see Appendix B), which addressed the Phase 1 and Phase 2 project areas; as discussed in the 
Project Description, AMMs are incorporated into the design of the proposed project and do not 
constitute mitigation measures. The impact analysis provided below accounts for the 



Environmental Checklist 

Biological Resources 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 55 

implementation of all AMMs as part of the project design, and identifies project-specific mitigation 
measures where necessary to supplement the applicable AMMs as needed to avoid or minimize 
impacts to a less-than-significant level.  

a. Would the project have a substantial adverse effect, either directly or through habitat 
modifications, on any species identified as a candidate, sensitive, or special status species in 
local or regional plans, policies, or regulations, or by the California Department of Fish and 
Wildlife or U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service? 

There are a number of sensitive or special status species in the project area, including special status 
plants, fish, reptiles, and nesting birds, each of which are addressed below for potential to be 
impacted by the proposed project. 

Special Status Plants 

Direct impacts to white rabbit-tobacco could result from project activities if the species is present 
during the time the proposed activities are performed, and if project activities subsequently result 
in removal of individuals from the project area. In addition to direct impacts, indirect impacts could 
result from reduced pollination if project activities result in a reduction of insect species following 
sediment management activities. The following AMMs, which would be implemented as part of the 
proposed project, would minimize or avoid the potential for the proposed project’s sediment 
management activities to impact special status plants: 

▪ AMM-1: Best Management Practices 

▪ AMM-2: Schedule/Timing of Work 

▪ AMM-3: Worker Environmental Awareness Training 

▪ AMM-4: Pre-activity Surveys 

▪ AMM-8: Biological Monitoring 

▪ AMM-9: Invasive Species Management 

Given the lack of observations of the species within the project area during botanical surveys in May 
2021, the fact that the study area is regularly subject to a natural cycle of disturbance due to flood 
flows and associated floodplain processes, and the relatively small size of the project area in relation 
to potential habitat for this species within the Santa Clara River, the proposed project is not 
expected to cause the population of the species within the river to drop below self-sustaining levels. 
Therefore, potential impacts to special status plants would be less than significant. 

Special Status Fish 

During certain times of the year and under certain conditions, the project area contains one of the 
six physical and biological factors (PBFs), also referred to as Primary Constituent Elements (PCEs), 
that constitute steelhead critical habitat. Specifically, the project footprint includes freshwater 
migration corridor free of obstruction and excessive risk of predation with adequate water quantity 
to allow for juvenile and adult mobility, as well as cover, shelter, and holding areas for juveniles and 
adults, and adequate water quality to allow for survival of individuals. During excavation of the new 
low-flow channel under Phase 1, no features associated with critical habitat PBFs would be removed 
in the 1.3-acre project footprint.   

Sediment management activities conducted under the proposed project would require work within 
the active channel of the Santa Clara River. Activities are planned to occur during the dry season 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

56 

and, for the initial implementation of Phase 1, flows at the Facility ceased in July 2021 and there is a 
reasonable expectation that the study area will remain completely dry until winter season storms 
arrive (anticipated for December 2021). Cessation of flows in the river channel and dry conditions 
within the work area would result in no direct impacts to steelhead, lamprey, arroyo chub, and 
Santa Ana sucker, as well as other special status aquatic species during excavation of the new low-
flow channel and activities associated with the dispersal and compaction of spoils. For project 
activities subsequent to the initial implementation of Phase 1, including the 4.7-acre expansion 
included under Phase 2, flows may be present in the river during project activities, and fish species 
could be directly or indirectly impacted if project activities occur when flowing water is present. If 
water is present in the channel at the time when project activities are planned, dewatering activities 
would be required to minimize the potential for impacts to fish. Dewatering activities may also 
result in direct impacts to fish species, due to potential stranding and relocation efforts to protect 
fish from possible mortality. Prior to and during dewatering activities, United Environmental 
Services staff or qualified biologists will enter the dewatered areas and survey for aquatic special 
status species (and other native species to the extent possible), in accordance with the project 
AMMs. The potential for dewatering to be required for Phase 2 activities will be addressed in the 
required regulatory agency approvals, including from the USACE, Los Angeles RWQCB, and CDFW. 

Steelhead, Pacific lamprey, arroyo chub, Santa Ana sucker, and other fish species have potential to 
occur within and surrounding the study area; however, during Phase 1 implementation, the river 
channel is expected to be completely dry and these species would therefore not be present. There is 
no documented observation of steelhead in or near the study area during the months of September, 
October, or November. Excavation of the new low-flow channel would not create any conditions 
that could obstruct movement of fish species up or down the channel upstream of the Facility. The 
new low-flow channel would create a relatively direct route through the Santa Clara River that 
would not significantly alter or impede movement of fish species. The path of the new low-flow 
channel would be directly oriented at the existing fish passage facility, maintaining a direct route 
upstream of the Facility. As such, no direct adverse impacts to fish species would occur as a result of 
Phase 1. Rather, the proposed activities are expected to provide a benefit to the movement of fish 
species by increasing the reliability of fish passage facility operations. Conversely, if the proposed 
activities are left undone, continued sediment deposition upstream of the Facility could eliminate 
United’s ability to operate the fish passage facility, thereby significantly impeding the ability of 
steelhead to migrate upstream past the Facility. 

During excavation in support of Phase 2 sediment management activities, water may be present in 
the channel, necessitating flow rerouting via a screened pipe, to protect fish species from direct 
impacts during excavation activities. The screened pipe would be designed to avoid obstruction to 
movement of fish downstream; however, it would temporarily obstruct movement of fish upstream 
during project implementation. Following the completion of project activities, the screened pipe 
would be removed, allowing for the free movement of fish and aquatic species. When flows rewater 
the project site, the new low-flow channel would contain flow velocities, water quantity and quality, 
and substrate features consistent with the natural condition of the river. Components of a 
freshwater migration corridor associated with steelhead PBFs would be expected to return to the 
channel when seasonal flows resume during the next rainy season. No permanent impacts to 
steelhead critical habitat would occur as a result of Phase 1 or Phase 2 of the project. 

United conducted an evaluation of suspended sediment concentrations in response to storm flows 
prior to excavating the 2019 pilot channel (as a baseline condition) and following excavation of the 
2019 pilot channel, to evaluate the effects of the proposed activities on suspended sediment 



Environmental Checklist 

Biological Resources 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 57 

concentrations in the river. The detailed analysis is included as an appendix within the Biological 
Resources Assessment Report (Appendix B). While the areal extent of the 2019 earthwork (0.7 acre) 
was smaller than that currently proposed under Phase 1 (1.3 acres), there was no significant 
increase in suspended sediment observed as a result of the 2019 pilot channel, relative to storm-
induced conditions. The contributions of suspended sediment concentrations resulting from the 
proposed activities are expected to be negligible with regard to the total suspended sediment 
concentrations generated by natural storm-induced flows in the Santa Clara River. Increased 
suspended solid concentration from project activities would be a temporary indirect impact on fish 
species and would not be significant. 

To reduce potential impacts to steelhead, project activities would only be conducted between 
September 15 and December 31, outside steelhead migration window and when steelhead are not 
expected to be present on site. Additional limitations on the timing of project activities are included 
in the design of the proposed project, including through the AMMs listed below to minimize or 
avoid the potential for impacts to special status fish species: 

▪ AMM-1: Best Management Practices 

▪ AMM-2: Schedule/Timing of Work 

▪ AMM-3: Worker Environmental Awareness Training 

▪ AMM-4: Pre-activity Surveys 

▪ AMM-6: Species Capture and Relocation Protocol 

▪ AMM-8: Biological Monitoring 

▪ AMM-9: Invasive Species Management 

During implementation of project activities, including AMMs including in the project design, if a rain 
event measuring one tenth of an inch or greater is forecasted within 72 hours of project activities, 
all activities in the sediment management area will cease and all equipment will be removed from 
the bed, bank, and channel of the Santa Clara River. Prior to and during dewatering activities, if 
needed prior to Phase 2 implementation, United Environmental Services staff or qualified biologists 
will enter the dewatered areas and survey for aquatic special status species (and other native 
species to the extent possible), in accordance with the AMMs listed above and included in the 
project design. Therefore, potential impacts to special status fish species would be less than 
significant. 

Special Status Reptiles 

Impacts to western pond turtle, two-striped gartersnake, south coast gartersnake, coastal whiptail, 
and coast horned lizard could result from project activities including equipment strikes, crushing of 
nests, crushing/removal of refugia, general habitat disturbance or removal, disrupting foraging or 
breeding activities leading to increased stress and reduced fecundity. 

Of the special status reptiles with potential to occur within the project area, two-striped gartersnake 
and western pond turtle have been observed at the Facility and have high potential to be present 
during project activities. If gartersnakes or turtles are present in the project area during sediment 
management activities, direct impacts to individuals may occur from incidental crushing of 
individuals by vehicle traffic from personnel driving to and from the project area daily and while 
accessing the project area along the access road, during initial grading activities to prepare the site, 
and during general sediment excavation and dispersal of spoils. No pond turtle nesting is expected 
to occur during the time when project activities would be conducted, and no incidental crushing of 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

58 

nests is expected. During Phase 1, the project footprint is expected to be completely dry during 
work activities, and no impacts to basking pond turtles are expected. Seasonal timing of project 
activities, according to AMM-2, Schedule/Timing of Work, would further facilitate avoidance of 
direct impact to western pond turtle nesting and breeding behavior. Pre-activity surveys (AMM-4, 
Pre-activity Surveys) would be completed prior to the start of project activities. Any special status 
reptile species observed would be captured and relocated out of harm’s way according to AMM-6, 
Species Capture and Relocation Protocol. All project staff would be required to attend a training 
according to AMM-3, Worker Environmental Awareness Training, prior to the start of work, to 
ensure workers understand the requirements of project site conditions that constitute permissible 
working conditions, and to ensure workers are versed in the recognition of special status reptile 
species and understand what to do in the event of encounters. 

Work activities would be limited to the active river channel, except when accessing the project 
footprint along the access road, and no upland refugia for special status reptile species would be 
impacted. Ground vibration from moving heavy equipment may impact reptiles near the project 
footprint; however, ground vibrations would be minimal and would only occur at potentially 
significant levels when heavy equipment is moving to and from the project footprint along the 
access road. Otherwise, equipment would be relatively stationary during excavation activities and 
would only make small movements at a time. Dispersal and compaction of spoils would occur within 
the active river channel where reptiles may occur. Ground vibration at the banks of the channel 
where reptiles are expected to be present would be less than significant.  

If individuals occur in the project footprint when work is scheduled to occur, they would be 
captured and relocated to a safe location with suitable habitat upstream or downstream (AMM-6, 
Species Capture and Relocation Protocol) of the study area. Implementation of the capture and 
relocation protocol to move special status reptiles out of the way of project activities has the 
potential to result in harm to individuals from efforts to capture and handle individuals, and while 
temporarily housing and handling individuals during relocation. Safe handling procedures would be 
implemented to avoid or minimize mortality to the extent possible and no mortality is anticipated 
during relocation. 

Implementation of the following AMMs as part of the project design would minimize or avoid the 
potential for impacts to affect special status reptiles: 

▪ AMM-1: Best Management Practices 

▪ AMM-2: Schedule/Timing of Work 

▪ AMM-3: Worker Environmental Awareness Training 

▪ AMM-4: Pre-activity Surveys 

▪ AMM-5: Nesting Birds 

▪ AMM-6: Species Capture and Relocation Protocol 

▪ AMM-7: Noise Abatement Protocol 

▪ AMM-8: Biological Monitoring 

United Environmental Services staff or qualified biologists will be present and monitoring during all 
project activities for observance of special status reptiles. With the implementation of AMMs listed 
above and included in the project design, potential impacts to western pond turtle, two-striped 
gartersnake, south coast gartersnake, coastal whiptail, and coast horned lizard would be less than 
significant. 



Environmental Checklist 

Biological Resources 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 59 

Special Status and Nesting Birds 

Implementation of the proposed project would not result in direct impacts to special status and 
nesting birds primarily because sediment management activities would not occur during the bird 
nesting season (February 1 – September 15) or when migratory bird species would be expected to 
be present. Indirect impacts could affect special status and nesting birds through impacts to suitable 
habitat; however, such impacts are expected to be minimal because the disturbance footprint is 
limited to open water and sandbars within the active channel of the Santa Clara River. The proposed 
activities are designed to redirect the specific location and pattern of surface flow within the project 
site by recontouring the sediment management area to provide a more direct flow path into the 
Facility while preserving some of the natural sinuosity of the river channel. Certain portions of the 
site will undergo a habitat type conversion, such as open water converted to exposed sand/gravel 
bar or emergent vegetation converted to open water, and a vegetation successional stage reset. The 
sediment management area is entirely within the active channel of the Santa Clara River, which is 
normally subject to a natural cycle of disturbance (i.e., habitat-type conversion and vegetation 
successional stage reset) due to flood flows. The proposed project activities will result in a more 
frequent habitat-type conversion and successional stage reset than may otherwise occur, but the 
project would not result in a total loss of ecological function such as would occur if permanent 
development were proposed.  

Emergent vegetation is expected to quickly recolonize disturbed areas following earthwork. AMM-9, 
Invasive Species Management, which would be implemented as part of the proposed project, would 
include the application of BMPs for invasive species management, including but not limited to 
equipment washing and inspections, certification that all imported and exported materials are free 
of invasive species, and the active removal of invasive species on an opportunistic basis. Alterations 
to the project site via habitat-type conversion and successional stage reset will not result in a net 
loss of usable wildlife habitat or the open space nature of the project site. The project site does not 
contain mature riparian vegetation due to the natural floodplain processes of the Santa Clara River 
and maintaining it as such would not constitute a significant impact. No impacts to mature riparian 
vegetation on the riverbanks adjacent to the project area are proposed.  

During active use of heavy machinery, temporary impacts to special status birds could occur if they 
are present outside the nesting season due to noise and other general work disturbance resulting in 
avoidance behavior. Project activities involving use of heavy equipment are proposed to be limited 
to the period between September 15 and December 31, with the target period between September 
15 and October 31 as practicable, which is outside the nesting season of February 1 through 
September 15. Avoidance of the nesting season is also required by AMM-1, Best Management 
Practices, which would be implemented as part of the proposed project design.  

▪ Least Bell’s vireo is present within and surrounding the study area. Known breeding territories 
and nests have been documented downstream of the project area and along the north bank of 
the river. No nests have been recorded or observed directly within the sediment management 
area; however, breeding territories are known to overlap the sediment management area. 
Seasonal timing of work activities (AMM-2, Schedule/Timing of Work) would help avoid direct 
impacts to least Bell’s vireo. Indirect impacts to individuals could occur from the loss of foraging 
opportunities as a result of the project. Temporary removal of up to six acres of potential 
foraging habitat (the combined Phase 1 and Phase 2 sediment management areas) could impact 
the species from a reduction of foraging opportunities in the immediate area of the Facility. 
Noise, dust, and other nuisances associated with project activities could indirectly impact the 
species, if individuals are present during project activities. Least Bell’s vireo typically make their 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

60 

southward migration (i.e., leave the region) in late-July through late-September (Griffith and 
Griffith 2000; NatureServe 2016), and are therefore not likely to be present during project 
implementation between September and December. Once individuals return to the project area 
in the season following the completion of work, the site is expected to have returned to a 
condition that would again support foraging opportunities for the species. 

▪ Southwestern willow flycatcher has no documented breeding territories within the sediment 
management areas. A breeding territory for southwestern willow flycatcher has been 
documented approximately 1.1 miles from the Facility but has been unoccupied since 2017. 
Southwestern willow flycatchers typically make their southward migration (i.e., leave the 
region) from July through September (Sogge et al. 2010) and are not likely to be present during 
the proposed time of work. Given the lack of suitable nesting habitat within the project area, 
and the timing of migration, direct impacts to southwestern willow flycatcher from project 
activities are not expected. Seasonal timing of work activities (AMM-2, Schedule/Timing of 
Work) would further avoid the potential for direct impacts to southwestern willow flycatcher. 
Indirect impacts are similarly not anticipated, due to the lack of nesting habitat and the timing 
of migration, as well as the project’s anticipated lack of permanent impact to foraging habitat. 
Returning seasonal flows prior to the start of the next migratory and nesting season would 
provide suitable foraging opportunities to southwestern willow flycatcher if they occur in the 
study area in the future.  

▪ Western yellow-billed cuckoo has not been observed near the Facility, and no breeding 
territories for western yellow-billed cuckoo have been documented to date within the sediment 
management areas. Therefore, no take of cuckoo nests or individuals is expected from project 
activities, due to the lack of suitable nesting habitat as well as the seasonal timing of work 
activities (AMM-2, Schedule/Timing of Work) would help avoid direct impacts to the species. 
Temporary removal of six acres of potential western yellow-billed cuckoo foraging habitat could 
result in reduced of potential breeding, nesting, and foraging opportunities in the immediate 
area of the Freeman Diversion, which would constitute indirect impacts. Similarly, noise, dust, 
or other similar disturbances could indirectly impact the species if it unexpectedly occurs during 
project activities. However, yellow-billed cuckoo typically make their southward migration (i.e., 
leave the region) between late-July and mid-September (Laymon 1998) and are not likely to be 
present during the proposed time of work. Further, emergent vegetation communities are 
expected to recolonize the project site when yellow-billed cuckoo are returning to the region. 

▪ Yellow-breasted chat and yellow warbler are present within and surrounding the study area. 
Direct impacts to these species could occur if sediment management is implemented during the 
nesting season. Seasonal timing of work activities (AMM-2, Schedule/Timing of Work) would 
help avoid direct impacts. Temporary removal of up to six acres of yellow-breasted chat and 
yellow warbler foraging habitat across the combined Phase 1 and Phase 2 sediment 
management areas could result in indirect impacts from a reduction of potential breeding, 
nesting, and foraging opportunities in the immediate area of the Freeman Diversion. Noise, 
dust, or other similar nuisances during project activities could indirectly impact these species if 
present during project activities. However, yellow-breasted chat typically occupy breeding 
habitat between early-April and late-August (Small 1994) and yellow warbler typically occupy 
breeding habitat between late-March and early-October (Shuford and Gardali 2008); as such, 
these species are not likely to be present during project activities which are anticipated to occur 
between September and December. In addition, as described above, emergent vegetation 
communities are expected to recolonize the project site when yellow-breasted chat and yellow 
warbler returning to the region in the season following completion of the project. 



Environmental Checklist 

Biological Resources 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 61 

Special status and other nesting birds could be affected by direct and indirect impacts from the 
proposed sediment management activities; however, due to the implementation of AMMs that are 
included in the design of the proposed project, and the anticipated recovery of foraging in the 
sediment management areas following completion of the project, potential impacts to least Bell’s 
vireo, southwestern willow flycatcher, western yellow-billed cuckoo, yellow-breasted chat, yellow 
warbler, and nesting birds would be less than significant. 

LESS THAN SIGNIFICANT IMPACT 

b. Would the project have a substantial adverse effect on any riparian habitat or other sensitive 
natural community identified in local or regional plans, policies, or regulations, or by the 
California Department of Fish and Wildlife or U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service? 

Phase 1 of the proposed project, which would be conducted on the initial 1.3-acre sediment 
management area, would not result in impacts to southern riparian scrub, referred to as arroyo 
willow thickets. Sediment management activities would be confined to areas of open water and 
sandbars, and therefore would have no impacts to arroyo willow thickets. 

Phase 2 of the proposed project, which would expand the initial sediment management area of 1.3 
acres by an additional 4.7 acres, for a total sediment management area of up to six acres, would 
result in impacts to up to 1.65 acres of arroyo willow thicket. Phase 2 sediment management 
activities would create a vegetation successional stage reset of areas within the project footprint 
that are colonized with arroyo willow thickets. These arroyo willow thickets are within the active 
channel of the Santa Clara River and would be maintained as an early successional stage under the 
natural floodplain processes. Additionally, areas of the project site are expected to be naturally 
recolonized by arroyo willow thicket following sediment management activities; however, the 
frequency of successional stage reset will be artificially increased by project activities, as compared 
to the natural floodplain processes of the Santa Clara River. This increase will not result in a total 
loss of ecological function or value of the study area, but rather a shift in composition dynamically 
through time.  

The 1.65 acres of arroyo willow thicket anticipated to be impacted during Phase 2 represents a small 
portion of the arroyo willow thicket community present along the Santa Clara River. Because areas 
of the project site would recolonize with arroyo willow thicket, including with consideration to 
variability between years, arroyo willow thicket would not be permanently lost as a result of the 
project. Implementation of the following AMMs as part of the project design would minimize or 
avoid the potential for impacts to arroyo willow thickets:  

▪ AMM-1: Best Management Practices 

▪ AMM-3: Worker Environmental Awareness Training 

▪ AMM-8: Biological Monitoring 

▪ AMM-9: Invasive Species Management  

In addition to the AMMs listed above, which are included in the design of the proposed project, 
Mitigation Measure BIO-1, Compensatory Mitigation, would be implemented to provide habitat 
preservation and enhancement, thereby further reducing potential impacts to arroyo willow 
thickets, and maintaining the dynamic nature of the community within the project site.  



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

62 

Mitigation Measures 

Mitigation Measure BIO-1, Compensatory Mitigation, presented in full below, would be 
implemented during Phase 2 of the proposed project to reduce potential impacts to arroyo willow 
thickets to a less than significant level. 

BIO-1 Compensatory Mitigation 

To offset the disturbance and alteration of the channel of the Santa Clara River and the sensitive 
natural communities present in the project area, compensatory mitigation would be provided in the 
form of off-site mitigation lands located at United owned parcels (APNs: 128-004-020, 129-002-006, 
129-002-001) within the Santa Clara River downstream of the Freeman Diversion Facility. Mitigation 
lands would be preserved in perpetuity through a conservation easement at a ratio of 3:1 
(mitigation: impacts), resulting in 18 acres of mitigation lands. Restoration activities may be 
undertaken at the off-site mitigation property as needed to ensure the site provides suitable in-kind 
habitat for protected resources impacted by the project. A Habitat Mitigation and Monitoring Plan 
will be developed to provide specific measures and success criteria for mitigation. As a component 
of the conservation easement, funding will be secured via a non-wasting endowment to ensure 
mitigation and monitoring measures are successfully implemented. 

Significance After Mitigation 

With the implementation of Mitigation Measure BIO-1, Compensatory Mitigation, potential impacts 
to arroyo willow thicket natural communities resulting from Phase 2 of the proposed project would 
be less than significant. 

LESS THAN SIGNIFICANT WITH MITIGATION INCORPORATED 

c. Would the project have a substantial adverse effect on state or federally protected wetlands 
(including, but not limited to, marsh, vernal pool, coastal, etc.) through direct removal, filling, 
hydrological interruption, or other means? 

The Santa Clara River is subject to the jurisdiction of the USACE, RWQCB, and CDFW within the study 
area. A jurisdictional delineation documented the location and extent of non-wetland waters of the 
U.S., wetland waters of the U.S., and waters of the U.S., as well as CDFW jurisdictional streambed. 
Jurisdictional waters in the project area are summarized below in Table 8. 

Table 8 Summary of Jurisdictional Waters within the Study Area 

 USACE RWQCB CDFW 

Jurisdictional 
Area 

Non-
Wetland 
Waters 

of the U.S. 
(acres 

[lin. ft.]) 

Wetland 
Waters 

of the U.S. 
(acres) 

Waters 
of the U.S. 

(acres 
[lin. ft.]) 

Non-
wetland 
Waters 

of the State 
(acres 

[lin. ft.]) 

Wetland 
Waters 

of the State 
(acres) 

Waters 
of the State 

(acres 
[lin. ft.]) 

CDFW 
Jurisdictiona
l Streambed 

(acres 
[lin. ft.]) 

Santa Clara 
River 

2.95 (1,166) 4.34 (1,133) 7.29 (1,166) 2.95 (1,166) 4.34 (1,133) 7.29 (1,166) 9.91 (1,192) 

Phase 1 of the proposed project would result in temporary direct impacts to 1.3 acres of waters of 
the U.S. and the CDFW jurisdictional streambed. Within the 1.3-acre project footprint, 0.7 acre of 
open water and 0.6 acre of river channel sandbar would be temporarily directly impacted. These 



Environmental Checklist 

Biological Resources 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 63 

temporary impacts are similar to those expected under the natural disturbance regime of the active 
Santa Clara River channel (i.e., scour, deposition, vegetational community successional reset).  

Phase 2 of the proposed project would result in direct impacts to 2.28 acres of open waters and 4.11 
acres of wetland waters of the U.S. and State. Phase 2 of the proposed project would result in 
repeated temporary impacts similar to those expected under the natural disturbance regime, 
though at an artificially increased frequency. Indirect impacts from project materials (e.g., stockpiled 
materials, project equipment, and trash) stored on the Facility site staging area could adversely 
affect water quality (e.g., increased turbidity, altered pH, decreased dissolved oxygen levels, etc.) if 
runoff were to occur during storm events. Implementation of the proposed project would include 
AMMs to avoid or minimize potential indirect impacts to water quality within the potentially 
jurisdictional waters. Specifically, the following AMMs, implemented as part of the proposed project 
design, would address potential impacts to jurisdictional waters: 

▪ AMM-1: Best Management Practices 

▪ AMM-2: Schedule/Timing of Work 

▪ AMM-3: Worker Environmental Awareness Training 

With the implementation of these AMMs, included as project design features, potential impacts of 
the proposed project to jurisdictional waters would be reduced. In addition, Mitigation Measure 
BIO-1, Compensatory Mitigation, identified under impact threshold (a) above, would also be 
implemented to address this potential impact.  

Mitigation Measures 

Mitigation Measure BIO-1, Compensatory Mitigation, presented above in the discussion of 
significance threshold (b), would be implemented as applicable to reduce potential impacts to a less 
than significant level. Mitigation Measure BIO-1 is in addition to the AMMs that would be 
implemented as part of the proposed project design, as presented in the Project Description under 
“Avoidance and Minimization Measures”, and including AMMs -1, -2, and -3, as listed above. 

Significance After Mitigation 

With the implementation of Mitigation Measure BIO-1, Compensatory Mitigation, potential impacts 
to arroyo willow thicket natural communities resulting from Phase 2 of the proposed project would 
be less than significant. 

LESS THAN SIGNIFICANT WITH MITIGATION INCORPORATED 

d. Would the project interfere substantially with the movement of any native resident or 
migratory fish or wildlife species or with established native resident or migratory wildlife 
corridors, or impede the use of native wildlife nursery sites? 

The project area is located within a known wildlife corridor that provides connectivity for wildlife 
between the Santa Monica Mountains, Santa Susana Mountains, and the Sierra Madre Ranges of 
Los Padres National Forest. Additionally, the Santa Clara River facilitates regional wildlife movement 
through the study area. The proposed project does not include the installation of any permanent 
fences or other structures that would impede wildlife movement, and the project would not 
permanently modify the Santa Clara River in a manner which would hinder wildlife movement or 
result in the loss of the open-space characteristic of the study area. The project may result in a 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

64 

temporary discouragement of wildlife movement within the study area for the duration while 
project activities are being conducted (i.e., moving or migrating wildlife may avoid active heavy 
machinery); however, the Phase 1 active work period is planned for approximately two weeks (13 to 
16 days) with no nighttime work and would not be a significant impact. Phase 2 activities are 
expected to be completed within similar work periods. Implementation of AMM-1, Best 
Management Practices and would help assure the project would be completed in a manner to avoid 
long-term impacts to wildlife movement corridor and implementation of AMM-2, Schedule/Timing 
of Work would help assure the project would be completed during a time when species migration is 
typically not occurring, further avoiding direct impacts to wildlife movement. 

Sediment management activities themselves are not intended to obstruct or impede the flow of 
water, but rather alter the specific location and characteristics of flow to direct the thalweg of the 
river toward the Facility. Upon completion of project activities, during the following wet season, the 
study area would become inundated with new flows and aquatic species could move freely within 
and through the project area.  

The project may result in a temporary discouragement of wildlife movement within the study area 
while project activities are being conducted (i.e., moving or migrating wildlife may avoid active 
heavy machinery). AMMs included in the design of the proposed project would include BMPs to 
minimize or avoid such indirect disturbances, including through the following: 

▪ AMM-1: Best Management Practices 

▪ AMM-2: Schedule/Timing of Work 

Overall, the proposed project is not expected to substantially hinder wildlife movement in the 
project area, due to no new development or permanent installations being proposed, as well as the 
implementation of AMMs to avoid indirect temporary disturbances. Therefore, potential impacts of 
the project to wildlife movement and migration would be less than significant. 

LESS THAN SIGNIFICANT IMPACT 

e. Would the project conflict with any local policies or ordinances protecting biological resources, 
such as a tree preservation policy or ordinance? 

As discussed under “Background and Purpose” in the Project Description, United is a special district 
established in accordance with California Water Code Section 74000 et seq. that is authorized to, 
among other things, acquire water rights, build facilities to store and recharge water, and construct 
wells and pipelines for water deliveries. Because United is a local agency that provides water and 
constructs and maintains water delivery infrastructure, some of its activities are exempt from plans, 
policies, and regulations administered by local municipalities. Given these regulatory limitations, not 
all elements of the project evaluated in this IS-MND are subject to local plans, policies, and 
regulations, and as a matter of law, this IS-MND need not consider all such plans, policies, and 
regulations that might normally be applicable to similar activities undertaken by a different entity. 
Nevertheless, in the exercise of its discretion, United does reference, describe, and address in this 
IS-MND those local land use plans, policies, and regulations that may otherwise be relevant to the 
proposed project.  

For the purposes of this significance criterion, such plans and policies include the Ventura County 
Tree Protection Ordinance, and the Ventura County General Plan. The Ventura County Tree 
Protection Ordinance requires a permit be obtained for the removal, alteration, or encroachment 
into the tree protection zone (TPZ) of a protected tree. No trees protected by the Ordinance were 



Environmental Checklist 

Biological Resources 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 65 

identified within the project area; therefore, the proposed project would not conflict with the 
Ventura County Tree Protection Ordinance. 

The Ventura County General Plan contains policies regarding locally important species, wildlife 
movement, and wetland habitats. As discussed in the impact analyses provided above, AMMs 
included in the design of the proposed project would avoid or minimize the potential for the project 
to result in impacts to locally important species, and impacts to wildlife movement from the 
proposed project would be less than significant. In addition, the proposed project does not involve 
discretionary development and therefore the County’s wetland policy is not applicable. Therefore, 
the proposed project would not conflict with these local policies, and no impact would occur. 

NO IMPACT 

f. Would the project conflict with the provisions of an adopted Habitat Conservation Plan, Natural 
Community Conservation Plan, or other approved local, regional, or state habitat conservation 
plan? 

The proposed project does not include any activities located within an adopted HCP, NCCP, or other 
currently approved local, regional, or state habitat conservation plan areas. The Freeman Diversion 
MSHCP is in preparation by United and is part of United’s application for an ITP for federally listed 
species. The Freeman Diversion MSHCP is not anticipated to be approved before completion of the 
proposed project; however, the proposed project would not conflict with the provisions of the 
MSHCP if it were approved earlier than anticipated. Therefore, the proposed project would have no 
impact to an HCP, NCCP, or other approved local, regional, or state habitat conservation plans, and 
no impact would occur. 

NO IMPACT 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

66 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

 



Environmental Checklist 

Cultural Resources 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 67 

5 Cultural Resources 

 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Incorporated 

Less than 
Significant 

Impact No Impact 

Would the project:     

a. Cause a substantial adverse change in the 
significance of a historical resource 
pursuant to §15064.5? □ □ □ ■ 

b. Cause a substantial adverse change in the 
significance of an archaeological resource 
pursuant to §15064.5? □ ■ □ □ 

c. Disturb any human remains, including 
those interred outside of formal 
cemeteries? □ □ ■ □ 

This section provides an analysis of the proposed project’s potential impacts to cultural resources, 
including historical resources, archaeological resources, and human remains.  

Regulatory Setting 

Federal 

Federal protection of resources is legislated by (a) the National Historic Preservation Act (NHPA) of 
1966 as amended by 16 U.S. Code 470, (b) the Archaeological Resource Protection Act of 1979, and 
(c) the Advisory Council on Historical Preservation. These laws and organizations maintain processes 
for determination of the effects on historical properties eligible for listing in the National Register of 
Historic Places (NRHP). Section 106 of the NHPA and accompanying regulations (36 Code of Federal 
Regulations [CFR] Part 800) constitute the main federal regulatory framework guiding cultural 
resources investigations and require consideration of effects on properties that are listed in, or may 
be eligible, for listing in the NRHP. The NRHP is the nation’s master inventory of known historic 
resources. It is administered by the National Park Service (NPS) and includes listings of buildings, 
structures, sites, objects, and districts that are considered significant at the national, state, or local 
level. The formal criteria (36 CFR 60.4) for determining NRHP eligibility are as follows: 

1) The property is at least 50 years old (however, properties under 50 years of age that are of 
exceptional importance or are contributors to a district can also be included in the NRHP); 

2) It retains integrity of location, design, setting, materials, workmanship, feeling, and associations; 
and 

3) It possesses at least one of the following characteristics: 

Criterion A: Association with events that have made a significant contribution to the broad 
patterns of history (events). 

Criterion B: Association with the lives of persons significant in the past (persons). 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

68 

Criterion C: Distinctive characteristics of a type, period, or method of construction, or 
represents the work of a master, or possesses high artistic values, or represents a significant, 
distinguishable entity whose components may lack individual distinction (architecture). 

Criterion D: Has yielded, or may be likely to yield, information important to prehistory or history 
(information potential). 

Listing in the NRHP does not entail specific protection or assistance for a property but it does 
guarantee recognition in planning for federal or federally assisted projects, eligibility for federal tax 
benefits, and qualification for federal historic preservation assistance. Additionally, project effects 
on properties listed in or eligible for listing in the NRHP must be evaluated under CEQA. 

The National Register Bulletin also provides guidance in the evaluation of archaeological site 
significance. If a heritage property cannot be placed within a particular theme or time period, and 
thereby lacks “focus,” it is considered not eligible for the NRHP. In further expanding upon the 
generalized NRHP criteria, evaluation standards for linear features (such as roads, trails, fence lines, 
railroads, ditches, flumes, etc.) are considered in terms of four related criteria that account for 
specific elements that define engineering and construction methods of linear features: (1) size and 
length; (2) presence of distinctive engineering features and associated properties; (3) structural 
integrity; and (4) setting. The highest probability for NRHP eligibility exists within the intact, longer 
segments, where multiple criteria coincide. 

State 

All properties in California that are listed in or formally determined eligible for listing in the NRHP 
are automatically listed in the California Register of Historical Resources (CRHR). The CRHR is a 
listing of California resources that are significant within the context of California’s history. The CRHR 
is a statewide program of similar scope and with similar criteria for inclusion as those used for the 
NRHP. In addition, properties designated under municipal or county ordinances are also eligible for 
listing in the CRHR. 

A historic resource must be significant at the local, state, or national level under one or more of the 
criteria defined in the California Code of Regulations Title 15, Chapter 11.5, Section 4850 to be 
included in the CRHR. The CRHR criteria are similar to the NRHP criteria and are tied to CEQA 
because any resource that meets the criteria below is considered a significant historical resource 
under CEQA. As noted above, all resources listed in or formally determined eligible for the NRHP are 
automatically listed in the CRHR. 

The CRHR uses four evaluation criteria: 

1) Is associated with events or patterns of events that have made a significant contribution to the 
broad patterns of local or regional history, or the cultural heritage of California or the United 
States. 

2) Is associated with the lives of persons important to local, California, or national history. 

3) Embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, region, or method of construction, or 
represents the work of a master, or possesses high artistic values. 

4) Has yielded, or has the potential to yield, information important to the prehistory or history of 
the local area, California or the nation. 

Similar to the NRHP, a resource must meet one of the above criteria and retain integrity. The CRHR 
uses the same seven aspects of integrity as the NRHP. 



Environmental Checklist 

Cultural Resources 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 69 

In addition, CEQA requires public agencies to consider the effects of their actions on “historical 
resources,” “unique archaeological resources,” and “tribal cultural resources.” Pursuant to Public 
Resources Code (PRC) Section 21084.1, a “project that may cause a substantial adverse change in 
the significance of an historical resource is a project that may have a significant effect on the 
environment.” PRC Section 21083.2 requires agencies to determine whether projects would have 
effects on unique archaeological resources.  

A resource shall be considered historically significant if it meets any of the following criteria:  

1. Is associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the broad patterns of 
California’s history and cultural heritage 

2. Is associated with the lives of persons important in our past 

3. Embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, region, or method of construction, 
or represents the work of an important creative individual, or possesses high artistic values 

4. Has yielded, or may be likely to yield, information important in prehistory or history  

In addition, if it can be demonstrated that a project would cause damage to a unique archaeological 
resource, the lead agency may require reasonable efforts be made to permit any or all of these 
resources to be preserved in place or left in an undisturbed state. To the extent that resources 
cannot be left undisturbed, mitigation measures are required (PRC Section 21083.2[a], [b]).  

PRC Section 21083.2(g) defines a unique archaeological resource as an archaeological artifact, 
object, or site about which it can be clearly demonstrated that, without merely adding to the 
current body of knowledge, there is a high probability that it meets any of the following criteria: 

1. Contains information needed to answer important scientific research questions and that 
there is a demonstrable public interest in that information 

2. Has a special and particular quality such as being the oldest of its type or the best available 
example of its type 

3. Is directly associated with a scientifically recognized important prehistoric or historic event 
or person 

Local 

As a special district established in accordance with California Water Code Section 74000 et seq., 
some of United’s activities are exempt from plans, policies, and regulations administered by local 
municipalities. As such, this IS-MND need not, as a matter of law, consider all local plans, policies, 
and regulations that might normally be applicable to similar activities undertaken by a different 
entity. Nevertheless, in the exercise of its discretion, United addresses in this IS-MND those local 
plans, policies, and regulations that may be relevant to the proposed project. For cultural resources, 
this includes the Ventura County General Plan (County of Ventura 2020), which includes policies for 
the protection of cultural resources, as discussed below. 

The following policies from Section 6.4 of the Ventura County General Plan (County of Ventura 
2020) for the protection of cultural, historical, and archaeological resources may be relevant to the 
proposed project: 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

70 

▪ Policy COS-4.2 (a): Cooperation for Cultural, Historical, Paleontological, and Archaeological 
Resource Preservation. The County shall cooperate with cities, special districts, appropriate 
organizations and private landowners to identify known cultural, archaeological, historical, and 
paleontological resources to preserve identified resources within the county […] 

▪ Policy COS-4.4: Discretionary Development and Tribal, Cultural, Historical, Paleontological, 
and Archaeological Resource Preservation. The County shall require that all discretionary 
development projects be assessed for potential tribal, cultural, historical, paleontological, and 
archaeological resources by a qualified professional and shall be designed to protect existing 
resources. Whenever possible, significant impacts shall be reduced to a less than significant 
level through the application of mitigation and/or extraction of maximum recoverable data. 
Priority shall be given to measures that avoid resources.  

In addition, the following policies from Section 1.8, “Paleontological and Cultural Resources” of the 
Ventura County General Plan (County of Ventura 2020) may be relevant to the proposed project: 

▪ Discretionary developments shall be assessed for potential paleontological and cultural resource 
impacts, except when exempt from such requirements by CEQA. Such assessments shall be 
incorporated into a countywide paleontological and cultural resource data base. 

▪ Discretionary development shall be designed or re-designed to avoid potential impacts to 
significant paleontological or cultural resources whenever possible. Unavoidable impacts, 
whenever possible, shall be reduced to a less than significant level and/or shall be mitigated by 
extracting maximum recoverable data. Determinations of impacts, significance and mitigation 
shall be made by qualified archaeological (in consultation with recognized local Native American 
groups), historical or paleontological consultants, depending on the type of resource in 
question. 

▪ Mitigation of significant impacts on cultural or paleontological resources shall follow the 
Guidelines of the State Office of Historic Preservation, the State Native American Heritage 
Commission, and shall be performed in consultation with professionals in their respective areas 
of expertise. 

▪ Confidentiality regarding locations of archaeological sites throughout the county shall be 
maintained in order to preserve and protect these resources from vandalism and the 
unauthorized removal of artifacts. 

▪ During environmental review of discretionary development, the reviewing agency shall be 
responsible for identifying sites having potential archaeological, architectural, or historical 
significance and this information shall be provided to the County Cultural Heritage Board for 
evaluation. 

▪ The Building and Safety Division shall utilize the State Historic Building Code for preserving 
historic sites in the county. 

Environmental Setting 

In January 2021, GEI Consultants, Inc. conducted a cultural resources assessment for the Freeman 
Diversion Fish Passage Facility Geotechnical Exploration Project, which is overlaps the proposed 
project. The Geotechnical Exploration Project included an analysis of the entire current study area; 
therefore, the analysis prepared for the Geotechnical Exploration Project is incorporated by 
reference as applicable to the proposed project. The aforementioned analysis included: a records 
search of the California Historical Resources Information System at the South Central Coastal 
Information Center (SCCIC) located at California State University, Fullerton; a Native American 



Environmental Checklist 

Cultural Resources 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 71 

Heritage Commission (NAHC) Sacred Lands File (SLF) search; and a pedestrian field survey of the 
current project site (United 2021). The SCCIC records search was performed to identify previously 
recorded cultural resources, as well as previously conducted cultural resources studies within the 
project site and a 0.5-mile radius surrounding it. The SCCIC records search identified two cultural 
resources studies conducted within a 0.5-mile radius of the project site, both of which evaluated 
portions of the project site. The SCCIC search did not identify any previously recorded cultural 
resources within the project site or a 0.5-mile radius surrounding the project site (United 2021). 
Additionally, the field survey conducted by the GEI archaeologist did not identify any cultural 
resources within the project site (United 2021).  

Impact Analysis 

a. Would the project cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of a historical resource 
pursuant to §15064.5? 

Rincon reviewed historical aerials and topographic maps from HistoricAerials.com to identify 
potential cultural resource concerns on the project site (NETR Online 2021). Historical topographic 
maps from 1903 to 1942 depict the project site as undeveloped land with the Santa Clara River 
watershed running through the project site (NETR Online 2021). Topographic maps from 1947 to 
1964 show changes to the Santa Clara River watershed with the riverbed depicted by 1980. The 
Facility was built in 1991; however, it does not appear on topographic maps until 2015 (NETR Online 
2021). Aerial imagery from 1947 to 1980 depict changes to the Santa Clara River alignment from its 
current condition by 2005 (NETR Online 2021). 

The Facility was built in 1991 and is less than 45 years old; therefore, the Facility does not meet the 
age requirements to be evaluated as a historic-aged resource. The Facility operation, maintenance, 
and sediment management do not take place within or near a previously recorded historical 
resource. As such, no historical resources are recorded within the project site and no impact to 
historical resources would occur due to the project.  

NO IMPACT 

b. Would the project cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of an archaeological 
resource pursuant to §15064.5? 

The project site has been disturbed by the previous development of the Facility. No previously 
recorded archaeological resources are present within the project site or a 0.5-mile radius 
surrounding the project site. The field survey conducted by GEI Consultants for the Geotechnical 
Investigation Project identified two shell pieces and two pieces of possible lithic debitage (United 
2021). It was determined that neither of the items identified qualified as cultural materials (United 
2021).  

The project site lies within the Santa Clara River watershed, which may have been ideal for historic 
or prehistoric sites due to the use of waterways for food resources. No archaeological resources 
have been previously recorded within the project site; however, unanticipated discoveries are 
always a possibility during ground disturbance. Therefore, mitigation measures are recommended 
to address the unanticipated discovery of cultural resources during implementation of Phase 1 or 
Phase 2 of the proposed project. With implementation of the mitigation measure provided below, 
potential impacts to unknown archaeological resources would less than significant. 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

72 

Mitigation Measures 

The following mitigation measure, Mitigation Measure CR-1, Unanticipated Archaeological 
Resources, would be implemented during all ground-disturbing activities associated with the 
proposed project to reduce impacts to a less than significant level. 

CR-1 Unanticipated Archaeological Resources 

In the unlikely event that archaeological resources are unexpectedly encountered during ground-
disturbing activities, work within 50 feet of the find shall be halted and an archaeologist meeting the 
Secretary of the Interior’s Professional Qualification Standards for archaeology (NPS 1983) shall be 
contacted immediately to evaluate the find. If the find is prehistoric, then a local Native American 
representative shall also be contacted to participate in the evaluation of the find. Impacts to the 
find shall be avoided to the extent feasible; methods of avoidance may include, but shall not be 
limited to, capping or fencing, or project redesign. If necessary, the archaeologist may be required 
to prepare a treatment plan for archaeological testing in consultation with the local Native 
American representative. If the discovery proves to be eligible for the CRHR and cannot be avoided 
by the project, additional work, such as data recovery excavation, may be warranted to mitigate any 
significant impacts to historical resources. 

Significance After Mitigation 

Implementation of Mitigation Measure CR-1 would reduce impacts associated with the 
unanticipated find of archaeological resources to a less than significant level by providing 
compliance with regulatory requirements related to the analysis and handling of archaeological 
resources. Potential impacts would be less than significant after mitigation. 

LESS THAN SIGNIFICANT WITH MITIGATION INCORPORATED 

c. Would the project disturb any human remains, including those interred outside of formal 
cemeteries? 

No cemeteries are known to exist within the project site or are anticipated to be encountered 
within the project site, which consists primarily of the Santa Clara River channel. Although unlikely, 
the discovery of human remains is always a possibility during ground disturbing activities. If human 
remains are unexpectedly found during any activities, the State of California Health and Safety Code 
Section 7050.5 states that no further disturbance shall occur until the county coroner has made a 
determination of the origin and disposition of the remains, pursuant to PRC Section 5097.98. 
Therefore, in the event of an unanticipated discovery of human remains during implementation of 
the proposed project, the Ventura County Coroner would be notified immediately. If the human 
remains are determined by the Ventura County Coroner to be prehistoric, the coroner will notify the 
NAHC, which will determine and notify a most likely descendant (MLD). The MLD will complete the 
inspection of the site within 48 hours of being granted access to the site. With adherence to existing 
regulations, impacts to human remains would be less than significant. 

LESS THAN SIGNIFICANT IMPACT 



Environmental Checklist 

Energy 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 73 

6 Energy 

 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Incorporated 

Less than 
Significant 

Impact No Impact 

Would the project:     

a. Result in a potentially significant 
environmental impact due to wasteful, 
inefficient, or unnecessary consumption 
of energy resources, during project 
construction or operation? □ □ ■ □ 

b. Conflict with or obstruct a state or local 
plan for renewable energy or energy 
efficiency? □ □ □ ■ 

Regulatory Setting 

Federal 

USEPA’s Construction Equipment Fuel Efficiency Standard minimizes inefficient, wasteful, or 
unnecessary fuel consumption. 

State 

California Code of Regulations Title 13 Sections 2449 and 2485 prohibit diesel-fueled commercial 
motor vehicles and off-road diesel vehicles from idling for more than five minutes to minimize 
unnecessary fuel consumption.  

Local 

As a special district established in accordance with California Water Code Section 74000 et seq., 
some of United’s activities are exempt from plans, policies, and regulations administered by local 
municipalities. As such, this IS-MND need not, as a matter of law, consider all local plans, policies, 
and regulations that might normally be applicable to similar activities undertaken by a different 
entity. Nevertheless, in the exercise of its discretion, United addresses in this IS-MND those local 
plans, policies, and regulations that may be relevant to the proposed project. The Ventura County 
General Plan (County of Ventura 2020) includes energy policies, however none are applicable to the 
proposed project sediment management activities.  

Environmental Setting 

As a state, California is one of the lowest per capita energy users in the United States, ranked 48th in 
the nation, due to its energy efficiency programs and mild climate (United States Energy Information 
Administration [USEIA] 2021). Project activities would not require the consumption of electricity or 
natural gas beyond that currently used for Facility operations; therefore, this analysis focuses on the 
consumption of fuels from heavy-duty equipment and trucks. Petroleum fuels are primarily 
consumed by on-road and off-road equipment in addition to some industrial processes, with 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

74 

California being one of the top petroleum-producing states in the nation (California Energy 
Commission [CEC] 2021). Gasoline, which is used by light-duty cars, pickup trucks, and sport utility 
vehicles, is the most used transportation fuel in California with 15.4 billion gallons sold in 2019 (CEC 
2020). Diesel, which is used primarily by heavy duty-trucks, delivery vehicles, buses, trains, ships, 
boats and barges, farm equipment, and heavy-duty construction and military vehicles, is the second 
most used fuel in California with 1.8 billion gallons sold in 2019 (CEC 2020). Table 9 summarizes the 
petroleum fuel consumption for Ventura County, in which the project site would be located, as 
compared to statewide consumption. 

Table 9 2019 Annual Gasoline and Diesel Consumption 

Fuel Type 
Ventura County 

(millions of gallons) 
California 

(millions of gallons) 
Proportion of Statewide 

Consumption1 

Gasoline 329 15,365 2.1% 

Diesel  35 1,756 2.0% 

 1 For reference, the population of Ventura County (835,223 persons) is approximately 2.1 percent of the population of California
 (39,466,855 persons) (California Department of Finance [CDF] 2021). 

 Source: CEC 2020 

Impact Analysis 

Energy consumption is directly related to environmental quality in that the consumption of 
nonrenewable energy resources releases criteria air pollutant and greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions 
into the atmosphere. The environmental impacts of air pollutant and GHG emissions associated with 
the project’s energy consumption are discussed in detail in Section 3, Air Quality, and Section 8, 
Greenhouse Gas Emissions, respectively. 

a. Would the project result in a potentially significant environmental impact due to wasteful, 
inefficient, or unnecessary consumption of energy resources, during project construction or 
operation? 

Project activities would use nonrenewable energy resources during both Phase 1 and Phase 2. As 
discussed in the approach to the impact analysis in Section 3, Air Quality, the worst-case scenario 
for air quality emissions would occur if sediment were transported by truck for off-site disposal and 
therefore, although the project proposes to balance all excavated sediment across the project’s 
combined 6-acre sediment management area (including 1.3 acres under Phase 1 and 4.7 acres 
under Phase 2), air quality emissions were calculated for the truck trips that would be required to 
haul a portion of the project’s sediment spoils to a landfill for off-site disposal. The calculations also 
conservatively assumed that if required, all off-site disposal activities would occur during Phase 1. 
During project activities for both Phase 1 and Phase 2, energy would be consumed in the form of 
petroleum-based fuels used to power off-road heavy-duty vehicles and equipment on the project 
site, worker travel to and from the project site, and vehicles used to deliver materials to the site. 
Information provided by United staff and the CalEEMod outputs for the air pollutant and GHG 
emissions modeling (Appendix A) were used to estimate energy consumption associated with the 
proposed project. As shown in Table 10, Phase 1 would require approximately 103 gallons of 
gasoline and approximately 2,606 gallons of diesel fuel, which would provide for the excavation of 
up to 4,700 cubic yards of sediment and the hauling by truck for off-site landfill disposal of up to 
2,010 cubic yards of sediment spoils. Phase 2 would require approximately 103 gallons of gasoline 



Environmental Checklist 

Energy 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 75 

and approximately 1,936 gallons of diesel fuel, which would provide for the excavation and on-site 
redistribution and recontouring of up to 8,000 cubic yards of sediment, with no off-site disposal of 
sediment spoils. These project energy estimates are conservative because they assume that 
motorized project equipment would be used during every day of the project. 

Table 10 Estimated Fuel Consumption during Project Activities 

Source 

Fuel Consumption (gallons) 

Gasoline Diesel 

Phase 1 Phase 2 Phase 1 Phase 2 

Equipment & Hauling Trips N/A 2,606 1,936 

Worker Vehicle Trips 103 103 N/A 

Total 206 4,542 

N/A = not applicable  

See Appendix C for energy calculation sheets. 

Energy use during project activities would be temporary in nature, and heavy-duty equipment used 
would be typical of similar-sized projects in the region. In addition, project contractors and United 
staff would be required to comply with the provisions of California Code of Regulations Title 13 
Sections 2449 and 2485, which prohibit diesel-fueled commercial motor vehicles and off-road diesel 
vehicles from idling for more than five minutes and would minimize unnecessary fuel consumption. 
Heavy-duty equipment would be subject to the USEPA Construction Equipment Fuel Efficiency 
Standard, which would also minimize inefficient, wasteful, or unnecessary fuel consumption. These 
practices would result in efficient use of energy necessary to complete project activities. In the 
interest of cost-efficiency, project contractors and United staff also would not utilize fuel in a 
manner that is wasteful or unnecessary. Therefore, project activities would not involve the 
inefficient, wasteful, and unnecessary use of energy, and impacts related to energy consumption 
would be less than significant. 

LESS THAN SIGNIFICANT IMPACT 

b. Would the project conflict with or obstruct a state or local plan for renewable energy or energy 
efficiency? 

United has not adopted specific renewable energy or energy efficiency plans. Energy-related plans 
and policies adopted by the County of Ventura would not be applicable to the proposed project. 
Therefore, no impact associated with conflicting with a renewable energy or energy efficiency plan 
would occur. 

NO IMPACT 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

76 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

 



Environmental Checklist 

Geology and Soils 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 77 

7 Geology and Soils 

 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Incorporated 

Less than 
Significant 

Impact No Impact 

Would the project:     

a. Directly or indirectly cause potential 
substantial adverse effects, including the 
risk of loss, injury, or death involving:     

1. Rupture of a known earthquake 
fault, as delineated on the most 
recent Alquist-Priolo Earthquake 
Fault Zoning Map issued by the 
State Geologist for the area or 
based on other substantial evidence 
of a known fault? □ □ ■ □ 

2. Strong seismic ground shaking? □ □ ■ □ 

3. Seismic-related ground failure, 
including liquefaction? □ □ ■ □ 

4. Landslides? □ □ ■ □ 

b. Result in substantial soil erosion or the 
loss of topsoil? □ □ ■ □ 

c. Be located on a geologic unit or soil that 
is unstable, or that would become 
unstable as a result of the project, and 
potentially result in on- or off-site 
landslide, lateral spreading, subsidence, 
liquefaction, or collapse? □ □ ■ □ 

d. Be located on expansive soil, as defined 
in Table 1-B of the Uniform Building Code 
(1994), creating substantial direct or 
indirect risks to life or property? □ □ ■ □ 

e. Have soils incapable of adequately 
supporting the use of septic tanks or 
alternative wastewater disposal systems 
where sewers are not available for the 
disposal of wastewater? □ □ □ ■ 

f. Directly or indirectly destroy a unique 
paleontological resource or site or unique 
geologic feature? □ ■ □ □ 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

78 

This section describes current conditions relative to geology and soils within the project area, 
including a description of soils and existing geologic and seismic conditions, analysis of 
environmental impacts, and recommendations for mitigation measures for any significant or 
potentially significant impacts. The section also includes a discussion of paleontological resources, 
which include mineralized, partially mineralized, or unmineralized bones and teeth, soft tissues, 
shells, wood, leaf impressions, footprints, burrows, and microscopic remains that are more than 
5,000 years old and occur mainly in Pleistocene or older sedimentary rock units.  

Regulatory Setting 

Federal 

In October 1977, the United States Congress passed the Earthquake Hazards Reduction Act to 
reduce the risks to life and property from future earthquakes in the United States. To accomplish 
this, the act established the National Earthquake Hazards Reduction Program (NEHRP). The mission 
of NEHRP includes improved understanding, characterization, and prediction of hazards and 
vulnerabilities; improved building codes and land use practices; risk reduction through post‐
earthquake investigations and education; development and improvement of design and 
construction techniques; improved mitigation capacity; and accelerated application of research 
results. The NEHRP designates the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) as the lead 
agency of the program and assigns several planning, coordinating, and reporting responsibilities. 

State 

The Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zoning Act of 1972 (PRC Section 2621-2630) intends to reduce 
the risk to life and property from surface fault rupture during earthquakes by regulating 
construction in active fault corridors, and by prohibiting the location of most types of structures 
intended for human occupancy across the traces of active faults. The act defines criteria for 
identifying active faults, giving legal support to terms such as active and inactive, and establishes a 
process for reviewing building proposals in Earthquake Fault Zones. Under the Alquist-Priolo Act, 
faults are zoned and construction along or across these zones is strictly regulated if they are 
“sufficiently active” and “well-defined.” A fault is considered sufficiently active if one or more of its 
segments or strands shows evidence of surface displacement during Holocene time (defined for 
purposes of the act as within the last 11,000 years). A fault is considered well defined if its trace can 
be clearly identified by a trained geologist at the ground surface or in the shallow subsurface, using 
standard professional techniques, criteria, and judgment (California DOC 2007). Before a project can 
be permitted in a designated Alquist‐Priolo Earthquake Fault Zone, cities and counties must require 
a geologic investigation to demonstrate that proposed buildings would not be constructed across 
active faults. The law addresses only the hazard of surface fault rupture and is not directed toward 
other earthquake hazards. 

The Seismic Hazards Mapping Act of 1990 (PRC Section 2690–2699.6) seeks to reduce damage 
resulting from earthquakes. In comparison with the Alquist-Priolo Act which addresses surface fault 
rupture, the Seismic Hazards Mapping Act addresses other earthquake-related hazards, including 
ground shaking, liquefaction, and seismically induced landslides. The act’s provisions are similar in 
concept to those of the Alquist-Priolo Act, wherein the State is charged with identifying and 
mapping areas at risk of strong ground shaking, liquefaction, landslides, and other corollary hazards, 
while cities and counties are required to regulate development within mapped Seismic Hazard 
Zones. Under the Seismic Hazards Mapping Act, permit review is the primary mechanism for local 



Environmental Checklist 

Geology and Soils 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 79 

regulation of development. Permits for development projects are not issued until geologic 
investigations have been completed and mitigation has been developed to address any issues.  

With regards to paleontological resources PRC Section 5097 states “person shall not knowingly and 
willfully excavate upon, or remove, destroy, injure, or deface, any historic or prehistoric ruins, burial 
grounds, archaeological or vertebrate paleontological site, including fossilized footprints, 
inscriptions made by human agency, rock art, or any other archaeological, paleontological, or 
historical feature situated on public lands, except with the express permission of the public agency 
having jurisdiction over the lands”. 

Local 

As a special district established in accordance with California Water Code Section 74000 et seq., 
some of United’s activities are exempt from plans, policies, and regulations administered by local 
municipalities. As such, this IS-MND need not, as a matter of law, consider all local plans, policies, 
and regulations that might normally be applicable to similar activities undertaken by a different 
entity. Nevertheless, in the exercise of its discretion, United addresses in this IS-MND those local 
plans, policies, and regulations that may be relevant to the proposed project. For geology and soils, 
and paleontological resources, this includes policies from the Ventura County General Plan (County 
of Ventura 2020), as listed below. 

The following policies from Section 6.5, Soil and Mineral Resources, of the Ventura County General 
Plan (County of Ventura 2020) related to geology and soils may be relevant to the proposed project: 

▪ Policy COS-5.1: Soil Protection. The County shall strive to protect soil resources from erosion, 
contamination, and other effects that substantially reduce their value or lead to the creation of 
hazards.  

▪ Policy COS-5.2: Erosion Control. The County shall encourage the planting of vegetation on soils 
exposed by grading activities, not related to agricultural production, to decrease soil erosion.  

In addition, consistent with the 2015 Ventura County Multi-Hazard Mitigation Plan (County of 
Ventura et al. 2015), the Ventura County General Plan 2040 Update identifies policies for geologic 
and seismic hazards in Ventura County, which include the following areas of concern: earthquake 
faults; seismic hazards (liquefaction- and earthquake-induced landslides); landslides; soil erosion; 
expansive soils; and subsidence.  

Finally, the following policies from Section 6.4 of the Ventura County General Plan (County of 
Ventura 2020) for the protection of paleontological resources are relevant to the proposed project: 

▪ Policy COS-4.2 (a): Cooperation for Cultural, Historical, Paleontological, and Archaeological 
Resource Preservation. The County shall cooperate with cities, special districts, appropriate 
organizations and private landowners to identify known cultural, archaeological, historical, and 
paleontological resources to preserve identified resources within the county […] 

▪ Policy COS-4.4: Discretionary Development and Tribal, Cultural, Historical, Paleontological, 
and Archaeological Resource Preservation. The County shall require that all discretionary 
development projects be assessed for potential tribal, cultural, historical, paleontological, and 
archaeological resources by a qualified professional and shall be designed to protect existing 
resources. Whenever possible, significant impacts shall be reduced to a less than significant 
level through the application of mitigation and/or extraction of maximum recoverable data. 
Priority shall be given to measures that avoid resources.  



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

80 

Environmental Setting 

Geology and Soils 

The proposed project area is located within a distinctive geologic province of California known as 
the Transverse Ranges. The Transverse Ranges are a complex series of east-west trending mountain 
ranges and valleys that strongly contrast with the northwest trend of the adjacent Coast Ranges and 
Peninsular Ranges. The western limit of the geomorphic province is formed by the islands of San 
Miguel, Santa Rosa, and Santa Cruz, while the eastern limit extends into the Mojave Desert, and 
includes the San Bernardino Mountains to the east of the San Andreas Fault. The province contains 
one of the thickest accumulations of Cenozoic Era sediments in the world. The sediments have been 
subjected to regional uplift, faulting, and folding. The area is considered geologically young and 
tectonically active (California Coastal Conservancy [CCC] 2008). 

The Santa Clara River flows between the east-west trending mountains of the Transverse Ranges. 
The topography of the Santa Clara River Watershed is characterized by a low-lying floodplain 
immediately adjacent to the river, surrounded by mountainous terrain, much of which is within 
United States National Forest land. Long-term geologic instability in the region has resulted in 
exposure of many highly deformed, fractured, and faulted rock types in the Santa Clara River 
Watershed. The project site contains the following primary soil types: San Benito clay loam, 50 to 75 
percent slopes; Major Land Resource Area 20; and sandy alluvial land (United 2021). Underlying 
geology of the project site includes unconsolidated surficial gravel and sand alluvial deposits (stream 
channel) and weakly consolidated surficial gravel alluvial terrace deposits (United 2021).  

The Santa Clara River Watershed is located within the San Andreas Fault system, which forms the 
dynamic boundary between the Pacific and North America tectonic plates. Relative motion of the 
tectonic plates includes strike-slip displacement (plates sliding laterally against each other) and 
convergence (plates compressing against each other). There are a number of faults in this 
seismically active region; the Santa Clara River roughly follows the axis of a valley that is bounded by 
active strands of the San Cayetano Fault to the north and the Oak Ridge Fault to the south 
(California DOC 2015). The proposed project site on the Santa Clara River is immediately north of 
the Oak Ridge Fault, and within approximately five miles of the San Cayetano Fault to the north of 
the river. Intense seismic activity in the region is reflected in frequent ruptures along these faults. 
There are no Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zones within the project site (California DOC 2021). 
The project site is located within a liquefaction zone, as shown on the Ventura County Mapper 
(County of Ventura 2020). Additionally, the project site is located within an area susceptible to 
landslides (California DOC 2021). 

Paleontological Resources 

The proposed project area is located in the Transverse Range, which contains finds of many 
different kinds of fossil organisms (County of Ventura 2020). The western part of the Transverse 
Range is an area of interest for future paleontological study because of the thick, well-exposed and 
carefully studied geological cross-sections in this region (County of Ventura 2020). There are 316 
vertebrate fossil localities that have been documented within Ventura County, according to a 2016 
Paleontological Record Search through the Natural History Museum of Los Angeles (County of 
Ventura 2020). According to the California Department of Conservation’s geologic mapping, the 
project area primarily consists of quaternary alluvium from the Pliocene to Holocene period, which 
ranges from low to high paleontological potential. Additionally, there are some areas that are 



Environmental Checklist 

Geology and Soils 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 81 

underlain by older mudstone, sandstone, and conglomerate from the Paleocene to Pleistocene 
periods, which are considered to have high paleontological potential. 

Impact Analysis 

a.1. Would the project directly or indirectly cause potential substantial adverse effects, including the 
risk of loss, injury, or death involving rupture of a known earthquake fault, as delineated on the 
most recent Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zoning Map issued by the State Geologist for the 
area or based on other substantial evidence of a known fault? 

a.2. Would the project directly or indirectly cause potential substantial adverse effects, including the 
risk of loss, injury, or death involving strong seismic ground shaking? 

The Facility is not located within an Alquist-Priolo earthquake fault zone. However, there are 
tectonically active areas near the Facility, including the San Cayetano Fault to the north and the Oak 
Ridge Fault to the south. Activity along these faults in the vicinity of the Facility could result in 
seismic ground shaking at the project site, which could in turn result in liquefaction and lateral 
spreading within the Santa Clara River channel. 

Implementation of the proposed project would involve activities within the Santa Clara River 
channel that would require workers, equipment, and machinery to temporarily be present on-site. 
Strong ground shaking may cause injury to workers or equipment damage if they are on site at the 
time. However, due to the temporary nature (i.e., short duration) of sediment management 
activities to be conducted under the project, it is unlikely a seismic event would occur during such 
activities. In addition, the proposed project would not affect existing potential for seismic activity to 
occur in the project area, and would not exacerbate existing conditions. Implementation of the 
proposed project would not result in a substantial increase in risk of loss, injury, or death resulting 
from earthquake-related hazards. Therefore, this potential impact would be less than significant. 

LESS THAN SIGNIFICANT IMPACT 

a.3. Would the project directly or indirectly cause potential substantial adverse effects, including the 
risk of loss, injury, or death involving seismic-related ground failure, including liquefaction? 

Much of Ventura County is subject to seismic-related liquefaction events. As discussed in the 
Environmental Setting under “Liquefaction and Lateral Spreading,” liquefaction occurs when soils 
behave like a liquid during seismic shaking and re-solidify when shaking stops; the potential for this 
to occur is highest in areas with high groundwater and loose, fine, sandy soils at depths of less than 
50 feet. Liquefaction may also lead to lateral spreading, or the horizontal movement of soil toward 
an “open face,” such as a streambank; the potential for lateral spreading to occur is highest in areas 
where there is a high groundwater table and there are relatively soft and recent alluvial deposits. 
The project site within the Santa Clara River channel is characterized by conditions that are 
conducive to liquefaction and lateral spreading in response to strong seismic events. 

The proposed project would not introduce new permanent infrastructure to the project site and 
would not expose existing infrastructure to hazards associated with liquefaction and lateral 
spreading. Implementation of the project would require workers and equipment to be temporarily 
present within the channel during sediment removal and deposition activities, which are anticipated 
to occur up to once per year. However, it is unlikely that workers and equipment would be present 
during a liquefaction or lateral spreading event, as the area would have been cleared in response to 
the seismic event that would have occurred to trigger the liquefaction or lateral spreading. If a 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

82 

liquefaction and/or lateral spreading event were to occur upstream of the Facility, United, as the 
owner and operator of the Facility, would need to conduct in-channel sediment management 
activities such as those included under the proposed project. The project would not alter the 
existing potential for seismic-related ground failure to occur; however, due to the existing potential 
for such hazards to occur, potential impacts associated with conducting project activities would be 
adverse but less than significant. 

LESS THAN SIGNIFICANT IMPACT 

a.4. Would the project directly or indirectly cause potential substantial adverse effects, including the 
risk of loss, injury, or death involving landslides? 

The project area is also subject to existing landslide hazards associated with the surrounding 
hillsides. However, the proposed project activities would be limited to in-channel work, and would 
not include any ground-disturbing work on hillside areas, where landslide events would initiate. The 
project would not alter the existing potential for seismic-related ground failure, including landslides, 
to occur; however, due to the existing potential for such hazards to occur, potential impacts 
associated with conducting project activities would be adverse but less than significant. 

LESS THAN SIGNIFICANT IMPACT 

b. Would the project result in substantial soil erosion or the loss of topsoil? 

Soil disturbing activities increase the rate at which soil is eroded by increasing the amount of soil 
exposed to wind and water erosion. Soil disturbing activities would occur each time sediment 
management activities are conducted, which would take place up to one time per year. During all 
soil disturbing activities, the proposed project would be required to implement a project-specific 
SWPPP, for compliance with the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) program 
which was established under Section 402 of the Clean Water Act; see Section 10, Hydrology and 
Water Quality, for further discussion regarding required contents of a SWPPP and compliance with 
the NPDES program.  

The NPDES program was established by the federal Clean Water Act to protect receiving waters 
from pollution, including as associated with erosion and sedimentation. The proposed project’s 
SWPPP would include grading and erosion-control BMPs and specifications with standard erosion 
control measures (including management and structural controls) for all activities that expose soil. 
Implementation of SWPPP BMPs would reduce the potential for soil erosion to occur as a result of 
the proposed sediment removal and deposition activities, and may include the placement of 
velocity dissipation devices, silt fencing, storm drain inlet protection, wind erosion control, and 
stabilized project site entrances.  

In addition to the SWPPP required for NPDES compliance, the proposed project includes AMMs that 
are incorporated into the project design to support and parallel the NPDES requirements for the 
management of soil erosion. These include: AMM-1, Best Management Practices, which identifies a 
suite of BMPs for soil and sedimentation management under AMM-1A, General BMPs, and AMM-
1B, Erosion Control; AMM-2, Schedule/Timing of Work; and AMM-3, Worker Environmental 
Awareness Training, which specifies that a WEAT program will be conducted for all project 
personnel and provide instructions regarding the individual responsibilities under the Clean Water 
Act, the project’s SWPPP, and site-specific BMPs included in the SWPPP. With project compliance 
with the NPDES program, and implementation of AMMs which are included as part of the project 



Environmental Checklist 

Geology and Soils 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 83 

design, the proposed project would not result in substantial soil erosion or loss of topsoil, and 
potential impacts would be less than significant. 

LESS THAN SIGNIFICANT IMPACT 

c. Would the project be located on a geologic unit or soil that is unstable, or that would become 
unstable as a result of the project, and potentially result in on- or off-site landslide, lateral 
spreading, subsidence, liquefaction, or collapse? 

d. Would the project be located on expansive soil, as defined in Table 1-B of the Uniform Building 
Code (1994), creating substantial direct or indirect risks to life or property? 

The proposed project area has the potential to contain expansive and unstable soils. Expansive soils 
typically consist of fine-particle clay-based soils that, based on this clay composition, expand in 
volume when exposed to water. Although soils in the surrounding area may contain expansive 
characteristics, sediments within the Santa Clara River channel, where the proposed project would 
occur, are not expansive; as discussed in the introduction to this section, the proposed project site is 
characterized by unconsolidated surficial gravel, sand alluvial deposits (stream channel), and weakly 
consolidated surficial gravel alluvial terrace deposits. Unstable soils may also be present in the area 
surrounding the project site, such as on hillsides and slopes that may be subject to landslides or 
destabilization if disturbed; however, the proposed project would not disturb hillsides or occur on 
soils known to be unstable. The proposed project would not introduce new structures and would 
not cause existing structures to be subject to new or exacerbated hazards associated with the 
presence of unstable soils, including expansive soils. 

Although the proposed project would not be located on a geologic unit or soil that is unstable, it 
would involve substantial soil disturbance associated with sediment management activities that 
would ultimately be conducted across the project’s combined (Phase 1 and Phase 2) 6-acre 
sediment management area. To address the potential for these soil disturbing activities to result in 
instability, particularly from initial excavation of accumulated sediments, AMMs incorporated into 
the project design would be implemented and include BMPs for soil stability. Specifically, AMM-1B, 
Erosion Control, requires covering of all stockpiles and placement of fiber rolls on level contours to 
provide slope stability and avoid erosion and sedimentation impacts.  

The proposed sediment management activities would not cause existing soils to become unstable 
from the construction or modification of existing infrastructure. The project would include 
substantial soil disturbance, particularly during initial excavation activities, and BMPs included in the 
project design as AMMs would be implemented to reduce or avoid the potential for erosion and 
sedimentation impacts to occur. The project would not create or alter risks to life or property 
associated with existing geologic units or soils. Potential impacts would be less than significant. 

LESS THAN SIGNIFICANT IMPACT 

e. Would the project have soils incapable of adequately supporting the use of septic tanks or 
alternative wastewater disposal systems where sewers are not available for the disposal of 
wastewater? 

The proposed project does not include a septic tank or alternative wastewater disposal system. 
During project activities, workers would use on-site portable restroom facilities, which would be 
serviced by a designated contractor. No impact would occur. 

NO IMPACT 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

84 

f. Would the project directly or indirectly destroy a unique paleontological resource or site or 
unique geologic feature? 

The majority of the project area consists of quaternary alluvium from the Pliocene to Holocene 
period, which ranges from low to high paleontological potential. There are some areas underlain by 
older mudstone, sandstone, and conglomerate from the Paleocene to Pleistocene periods, which 
are considered to have high paleontological potential. Thus, in locations where suitable soils are 
present, it is possible that previously unknown unique paleontological resources could be 
encountered during ground disturbing activities. Implementation of the proposed project would 
require excavation and grading to remove accumulated sediment within the Santa Clara River 
channel; these activities are associated with operation and maintenance of the Facility, and would 
generally be conducted in previously disturbed areas where sediment has accumulated and been 
removed before. However, depending upon the depth of previous excavations and the amount of 
sediment accumulated since the previous removal, it is possible that the proposed sediment 
management activities could encounter unknown paleontological resource(s) within the alluvium of 
the river channel. Therefore, Mitigation Measure GEO-1, provided below, would be implemented.   

Mitigation Measures 

The following mitigation measure, Mitigation Measure GEO-1, Paleontological Worker Awareness 
Training in Areas with Suitable Soils, would be implemented during all ground-disturbing activities 
associated with the proposed project to reduce potential impacts to paleontological resources to a 
less than significant level. 

GEO-1 Paleontological Worker Awareness Training in Areas with Suitable Soils 

United shall provide an on-site training to all project personnel and operational staff involved 
regarding the possibility of encountering fossils. The appearance and types of fossils likely to be 
seen during project activities shall be described. Project personnel shall be trained about the proper 
notification procedures should fossils be encountered, including halting operations within 100 feet 
of the find and notifying United who shall then retain a qualified paleontologist for identification 
and salvage of fossils that would qualify as a unique paleontological resource. 

Significance After Mitigation 

Implementation of Mitigation Measure GEO-1 would reduce potential impacts to paleontological 
resources to a less than significant level by alerting workers and operational personnel to the 
possibility of encountering paleontological resources, and requiring work to stop if a paleontological 
resource is encountered. With the implementation of Mitigation Measure GEO-1, potential impacts 
to paleontological resources would be less than significant. 

LESS THAN SIGNIFICANT WITH MITIGATION INCORPORATED 



Environmental Checklist 

Greenhouse Gas Emissions 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 85 

8 Greenhouse Gas Emissions 

 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Incorporated 

Less than 
Significant 

Impact No Impact 

Would the project:     

a. Generate greenhouse gas emissions, 
either directly or indirectly, that may 
have a significant impact on the 
environment? □ □ ■ □ 

b. Conflict with an applicable plan, policy, or 
regulation adopted for the purpose of 
reducing the emissions of greenhouse 
gases? □ □ □ ■ 

Regulatory Setting 

Federal 

The United States Supreme Court has ruled that carbon dioxide (CO2) is an air pollutant as defined 
under the federal CAA and that the USEPA has the authority to regulate GHG emissions 
(Massachusetts et al. v. Environmental Protection Agency et al., 549 U.S. Code 497 [2007]). In 2010, 
the USEPA started to address GHG emissions from stationary sources through its New Source 
Review permitting program, including operating permits for “major sources” issued under Title V of 
the federal CAA.  

State 

In response to climate change, California implemented Assembly Bill (AB) 32, the “California Global 
Warming Solutions Act of 2006.” AB 32 required the reduction of statewide GHG emissions to 1990 
emissions levels (essentially a 15 percent reduction below 2005 emission levels) by 2020 and the 
adoption of rules and regulations to achieve the maximum technologically feasible and cost-
effective GHG emissions reductions. On September 8, 2016, the Governor signed Senate Bill (SB) 32 
into law, extending AB 32 by requiring the State to further reduce GHG emissions to 40 percent 
below 1990 levels by 2030 (the other provisions of AB 32 remain unchanged). On December 14, 
2017, the CARB adopted the 2017 Scoping Plan, which provides a framework for achieving the 2030 
target. The 2017 Scoping Plan relies on the continuation and expansion of existing policies and 
regulations, such as the Cap-and-Trade Program and the Low Carbon Fuel Standard, and 
implementation of recently adopted policies and legislation, such as SB 1383 (aimed at reducing 
short-lived climate pollutants including methane, hydrofluorocarbon gases, and anthropogenic black 
carbon) and SB 100 (accelerates the State’s Renewables Portfolio Standard Program). The 2017 
Scoping Plan also puts an increased emphasis on innovation, adoption of existing technology, and 
strategic investment to support its strategies. As with the 2013 Scoping Plan Update, the 2017 
Scoping Plan does not provide project-level thresholds for land use development. Instead, it 
recommends local governments adopt policies and locally appropriate quantitative thresholds 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

86 

consistent with a statewide per capita goal of six metric tons (MT) of carbon dioxide equivalent 
(CO2e) by 2030 and two MT of CO2e by 2050 (CARB 2017).  

Local 

As a special district established in accordance with California Water Code Section 74000 et seq., 
some of United’s activities are exempt from plans, policies, and regulations administered by local 
municipalities. As such, this IS-MND need not, as a matter of law, consider all local plans, policies, 
and regulations that might normally be applicable to similar activities undertaken by a different 
entity. Nevertheless, in the exercise of its discretion, United addresses in this IS-MND those local 
plans, policies, and regulations that may be relevant to the proposed project.  

The VCAPCD is the primary agency responsible for addressing air quality concerns in Ventura 
County; its role is discussed further in Section 3, Air Quality. To protect public health and agriculture 
from the adverse effects of air pollution by identifying air pollution problems and developing a 
comprehensive program to achieve and maintain state and federal air quality standards, the 2018 
VCAPCD Implementation and Enforcement Policy Guide provide guidance to the VCAPCD staff, the 
public, and the regulated community. The VCAPCD enforces the Greenhouse Gas Emission 
standards through both its own regulations and inspections as well as working with CARB’s GHG 
staff and Enforcement Division staff. 

In addition, the Ventura County 2040 General Plan serves as the County’s Climate Action Plan (CAP). 
The CAP is incorporated into the County’s 2040 General Plan and includes specific GHG reduction 
measures. The 2040 General Plan provides goals and associated policies also referred to as climate 
change mitigation measures, in the Conservation and Open Space Element for the energy use, 
transportation, water conservation, land use, and solid waste sectors. In addition, Appendix B 
includes reduction measures and an emissions reduction summary with the long-term reduction 
targets for unincorporated Ventura County. The intent of the CAP is to guide the County towards 
achieving or exceeding the State’s emissions reductions targets. The CAP documents and forecasts 
2020, 2030, 2040 and 2050 GHG emissions.  

Environmental Setting 

Climate change is the observed increase in the average temperature of the Earth’s atmosphere and 
oceans along with other substantial changes in climate (such as wind patterns, precipitation, and 
storms) over an extended period of time. Climate change is the result of numerous, cumulative 
sources of GHG emissions contributing to the “greenhouse effect,” a natural occurrence which takes 
place in Earth’s atmosphere and helps regulate the temperature of the planet. The majority of 
radiation from the sun hits Earth’s surface and warms it. The surface, in turn, radiates heat back 
towards the atmosphere in the form of infrared radiation. Gases and clouds in the atmosphere trap 
and prevent some of this heat from escaping into space and re-radiate it in all directions.  

GHG emissions occur both naturally and as a result of human activities, such as fossil fuel burning, 
decomposition of landfill wastes, raising livestock, deforestation, and some agricultural practices. 
GHGs produced by human activities include CO2, methane, nitrous oxide, hydrofluorocarbons, 
perfluorocarbons, and sulfur hexafluoride. Different types of GHGs have varying global warming 
potentials (GWP). The GWP of a GHG is the potential of a gas or aerosol to trap heat in the 
atmosphere over a specified timescale (generally, 100 years). Because GHGs absorb different 
amounts of heat, a common reference gas (CO2) is used to relate the amount of heat absorbed to 
the amount of the gas emitted, referred to as CO2e, which is the amount of GHG emitted multiplied 
by its GWP. Carbon dioxide has a 100-year GWP of one. By contrast, methane has a GWP of 28, 



Environmental Checklist 

Greenhouse Gas Emissions 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 87 

meaning its global warming effect is 28 times greater than CO2 on a molecule per molecule basis 
(Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [IPCC] 2014).4 

Anthropogenic activities since the beginning of the industrial revolution (approximately 250 years 
ago) are adding to the natural greenhouse effect by increasing the concentration of GHGs in the 
atmosphere that trap heat. Since the late 1700s, estimated concentrations of CO2, methane, and 
nitrous oxide in the atmosphere have increased by over 43 percent, 156 percent, and 17 percent, 
respectively, primarily due to human activity (USEPA 2021). Emissions resulting from human 
activities are thereby contributing to an average increase in Earth’s temperature. Climate change 
impacts in California may include loss of snowpack, sea level rise, more extreme heat days per year, 
more high ozone days, more large forest fires, and more drought years (California Office of Planning 
and Research [OPR], et al. 2018). 

Impact Analysis 

GHG emissions associated with project activities were estimated using CalEEMod, Version 2020.4.0, 
with the assumptions described under Section 3, Air Quality.  

Individual projects do not generate sufficient GHG emissions to influence climate change directly. 
However, physical changes caused by a project can contribute incrementally to significant 
cumulative effects, even if individual changes resulting from a project are limited. The issue of 
climate change typically involves an analysis of whether a project’s contribution towards an impact 
would be cumulatively considerable. “Cumulatively considerable” means the incremental effects of 
an individual project are significant when viewed in connection with the effects of past projects, 
other current projects, and probable future projects (CEQA Guidelines Section 15064[h][1]). 

According to CEQA Guidelines Section 15183.5(b), projects can tier from a qualified GHG reduction 
plan, which allows for project-level evaluation of GHG emissions through the comparison of the 
project’s consistency with the GHG reduction policies included in a qualified GHG reduction plan. 
However, United has not formally adopted a Climate Action Plan or other GHG reduction plan to 
date. Thus, this approach is not currently feasible for this analysis. 

To evaluate whether a project may generate a quantity of GHG emissions with the potential to have 
a significant impact on the environment, local air districts have developed several bright-line 
significance thresholds. Significance thresholds are numeric mass emissions thresholds that identify 
the level at which additional analysis of project GHG emissions is necessary. If project emissions are 
equal to or below the significance threshold, with or without mitigation, the project’s GHG 
emissions would be less than significant. VCAPCD has not established quantitative significance 
thresholds for evaluating GHG emissions in CEQA analyses, but it recommends using the California 
Air Pollution Control Officers Association (2008) CEQA and Climate Change: Addressing Climate 
Change through California Environmental Quality Act white paper and other resources when 
developing GHG evaluations (VCAPCD 2003). The CEQA and Climate Change paper provides a 
common platform of information and tools to support local governments and was prepared as a 
resource, not as a guidance document. CEQA Guidelines Section 15064.4 expressly provides a “lead 
agency shall have discretion to determine, in the context of a particular project,” whether to 
“quantify GHG emissions resulting from a project” and/or “rely on a qualitative analysis or 
performance-based standards.” Updates to CEQA Guidelines Section 15064.4 that took effect in 

 
4 The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change’s (2014) Fifth Assessment Report determined that methane has a GWP of 28. However, 
the 2017 Climate Change Scoping Plan published by the CARB uses a GWP of 25 for methane, consistent with the Intergovernmental 
Panel on Climate Change’s (2007) Fourth Assessment Report. Therefore, this analysis utilizes a GWP of 25. 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

88 

December 2018 further state that a lead agency should “focus its analysis on the reasonably 
foreseeable incremental contribution of the project’s emissions to the effects of climate change” 
and that the analysis should “reasonably reflect evolving scientific knowledge and state regulatory 
schemes.” 

This analysis utilizes two thresholds to evaluate the significance of the project’s GHG emissions: the 
South Coast Air Quality Management District (SCAQMD) recommended bright-line threshold and 
consistency with applicable plans, policies, and regulations for the reduction of GHG emissions. 

Neither the United nor VCAPCD have developed a qualified GHG reduction plan. The Ventura 
County 2040 General Plan is considered a qualified CAP, but the project would not be subject to 
local municipality plans or policies since United is the local agency. Therefore, the project would not 
tier off of the County’s qualified CAP. Considering that no specific GHG threshold or qualified GHG 
reduction plan has been recommended or adopted by United or VCAPCD and the County’s CAP 
would not be applicable, it is appropriate to refer to guidance from other agencies when discussing 
GHG emissions. The VCAPCD generally refers to SCAQMD methodology for evaluating GHG 
emissions. In guidance provided by the SCAQMD’s GHG CEQA Significance Threshold Working Group 
in September 2010, SCAQMD considered a tiered approach to determine the significance of 
residential and commercial projects. The draft tiered approach is outlined in meeting minutes dated 
September 29, 2010 (SCAQMD 2010):   

▪ Tier 1. If the project is exempt from further environmental analysis under existing statutory or 
categorical exemptions, there is a presumption of less than significant impacts with respect to 
climate change. If not, then the Tier 2 threshold should be considered. 

▪ Tier 2. Consists of determining whether the project is consistent with a GHG reduction plan that 
may be part of a local general plan, for example. The concept embodied in this tier is equivalent 
to the existing concept of consistency in CEQA Guidelines Section 15064(h)(3), 15125(d) or 
15152(a). Under this Tier, if the project is consistent with the qualifying local GHG reduction 
plan, it is not significant for GHG emissions. If there is not an adopted plan, then a Tier 3 
approach would be appropriate. 

▪ Tier 3. Establishes a screening significance threshold level to determine significance. The 
Working Group has provided a recommendation of 10,000 MT of CO2e per year for industrial 
projects and 3,000 MT of CO2e per year for non-industrial projects.  

▪ Tier 4. Establishes a service population threshold to determine significance. The Working Group 
has provided a recommendation of 4.8 MT of CO2e per year for land use projects. 

The project would not be statutory or categorically exempt, and therefore Tier 1 does not apply. As 
previously stated, United does not have a local, qualified GHG reduction plan for the project to tier 
from, and Tier 2 would not apply. Service population is defined as employees plus residents; 
because the project is related to the operation and maintenance of water infrastructure, it would 
not generate any residents or require new employees; therefore, a service population threshold 
would not provide an accurate depiction of project GHG emission impacts. Thus, for the purposes of 
this analysis, the bright-line threshold developed by the SCAQMD of 3,000 MT of CO2e per year for 
non-industrial projects is used in this analysis to determine the significance of GHG emissions in 
accordance with Tier 3. 

According to the CEQA Guidelines Section 15064(h)(3), a project’s incremental contribution to a 
cumulative impact can be found not cumulatively considerable if the project would comply with an 
approved plan or mitigation program that provides specific requirements that would avoid or 



Environmental Checklist 

Greenhouse Gas Emissions 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 89 

substantially lessen the cumulative problem in the geographic area of the project. To qualify, such 
plans or programs must be specified in law or adopted by the public agency with jurisdiction over 
the affected resources through a public review process to implement, interpret, or make specific the 
law enforced or administered by the public agency. Examples of such programs include a “water 
quality control plan, air quality attainment or maintenance plan, integrated waste management 
plan, habitat conservation plan, natural community conservation plans [and] plans or regulations for 
the reduction of GHG emissions.” Therefore, a lead agency can make a finding of less than 
significant for GHG emissions if a project complies with adopted programs, plans, policies and/or 
other regulatory strategies to reduce GHG emissions. The proposed project’s consistency with 
applicable plans, policies, and regulations adopted for the purpose of reducing GHG emissions is 
evaluated qualitatively. A project is considered consistent with the provisions of these documents if 
it meets the general intent in reducing GHG emissions in order to facilitate the achievement of local 
and state-adopted goals and does not impede attainment of those goals.  

a. Would the project generate GHG emissions, either directly or indirectly, that may have a 
significant impact on the environment? 

Project activities would generate GHG emissions during Phases 1 and 2, primarily from the 
operation of heavy-duty equipment within the sediment management area, as well as from vehicles 
transporting workers to and from the project site, and heavy trucks to export sediment spoils for 
off-site disposal (assumed to occur under the worst-case-scenario air quality emissions calculations). 
Table 11 below provides an overview of GHG emissions associated with Phase 1 and Phase 2 of the 
project, respectively. 

Table 11 Estimated Project Activities GHG Emissions 

Year Emissions (MT of CO2e) 

Phase 1 32 

Phase 2 23 

Total 55 

SCAQMD Threshold1
 3,000 

Exceeds Threshold? No 

MT = metric tons; CO2e = carbon dioxide equivalents 

1 The threshold of 3,000 MT of CO2e per year is the threshold recommended for non-industrial projects by the SCAQMD under Tier 3. 

Notes: Emissions modeling was completed using CalEEMod. See Appendix A for CalEEMod results. 

As shown in Table 11, Phase 1 would generate an estimated 32 MT of CO2e each time it is 
implemented, and Phase 2 would generate an estimated 23 MT of CO2e each time it is 
implemented. If Phase 1 and Phase 2 are conducted in the same year, the total estimated CO2e 
emissions would be 55 MT of CO2e; it is assumed the phases would be implemented consecutively, 
with Phase 2 implemented immediately following Phase 1. Under each annual scenario (Phase 1, 
Phase 2, or both Phase 1 and Phase 2) the estimated emissions from project activities would remain 
below the SCAQMD threshold of 3,000 MT of CO2e. Therefore, potential impacts would be less than 
significant. 

LESS THAN SIGNIFICANT IMPACT 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

90 

b. Would the project conflict with an applicable plan, policy, or regulation adopted for the purpose 
of reducing the emissions of greenhouse gases? 

Several plans and policies have been adopted to reduce GHG emissions in the southern California 
region, including the State’s 2017 Scoping Plan (CARB 2017). United has not adopted a GHG 
reduction plan to date; therefore, this discussion focuses on the project’s consistency with the 
CARB’s 2017 Scoping Plan. The principal State plans and policies addressing GHG emissions include 
AB 32, the California Global Warming Solutions Act of 2006, and the subsequent legislation, SB 32. 
The quantitative goal of AB 32 is to reduce GHG emissions to 1990 levels by 2020, which was 
achieved in 2016 (CARB 2018), and the goal of SB 32 is to reduce GHG emissions to 40 percent 
below 1990 levels by 2030. Pursuant to the SB 32 goal, the CARB’s 2017 Scoping Plan was created to 
outline goals and measures for the state to achieve the reductions.  

The 2017 Scoping Plan strategies applicable to the proposed project include reducing fossil fuel use, 
energy demand, and vehicle miles traveled (VMT); maximizing recycling and diversion from landfills; 
and increasing water conservation. The proposed project would support United’s water 
conservation goals by providing sediment management activities that will facilitate optimal 
operation of the Facility, including the management of groundwater recharge basins that reduce 
seawater intrusion resulting from over-pumping of local groundwater resources beneath 
agricultural lands. The project would not increase energy demand compared to existing Facility 
operations, and would not generate increased VMT since existing United employees would provide 
labor to conduct the sediment management work. There would occasionally be fossil fuel used 
during the future project activities; however, United would furnish diesel equipment with engines 
certified to meet USEPA’s Tier 4 emission standards, as defined in 40 Code of Federal Regulation 
1039, such that project equipment would have cleaner emissions than have traditionally been 
associated with the equipment. Furthermore, the Facility does not generate waste products nor 
would it lead to an increased VMT since existing employees would maintain the Facility. Therefore, 
the project would not conflict with the 2017 Scoping Plan, and no impacts would occur.  

NO IMPACT 

 



Environmental Checklist 

Hazards and Hazardous Materials 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 91 

9 Hazards and Hazardous Materials 

 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Incorporated 

Less than 
Significant 

Impact No Impact 

Would the project:     

a. Create a significant hazard to the public 
or the environment through the routine 
transport, use, or disposal of hazardous 
materials? □ □ ■ □ 

b. Create a significant hazard to the public 
or the environment through reasonably 
foreseeable upset and accident 
conditions involving the release of 
hazardous materials into the 
environment? □ □ ■ □ 

c. Emit hazardous emissions or handle 
hazardous or acutely hazardous 
materials, substances, or waste within 
0.25 mile of an existing or proposed 
school? □ □ □ ■ 

d. Be located on a site that is included on a 
list of hazardous material sites compiled 
pursuant to Government Code Section 
65962.5 and, as a result, would it create a 
significant hazard to the public or the 
environment? □ □ □ ■ 

e. For a project located in an airport land 
use plan or, where such a plan has not 
been adopted, within two miles of a 
public airport or public use airport, would 
the project result in a safety hazard or 
excessive noise for people residing or 
working in the project area? □ □ □ ■ 

f. Impair implementation of or physically 
interfere with an adopted emergency 
response plan or emergency evacuation 
plan? □ □ □ ■ 

g. Expose people or structures, either 
directly or indirectly, to a significant risk 
of loss, injury, or death involving wildland 
fires? □ □ ■ □ 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

92 

This section describes the project’s potential impacts related to hazards and hazardous materials. 
The evaluation provided in this section is based on public databases containing lists of known and 
significant hazardous waste/hazardous materials sites, such as records from the SWRCB’s 
GeoTracker and California Department of Toxic Substances (DTSC) EnviroStor databases. 

Regulatory Setting 

Federal 

Various federal laws address the proper handling, use, storage, and disposal of hazardous materials, 
as well as requiring measures to prevent or mitigate injury to health or the environment if such 
materials are accidentally released. The USEPA is the agency primarily responsible for enforcement 
and implementation of federal laws and regulations pertaining to hazardous materials. Applicable 
federal regulations pertaining to hazardous materials are primarily contained in CFR Titles 29, 40, 
and 49. Hazardous materials, as defined in the CFR, are listed in 49 CFR 172.101. Management of 
hazardous materials is governed by the federal laws and regulations listed below. 

▪ The Toxic Substances Control Act of 1976 (15 U.S. Code Section 2601 et seq.) regulates the 
manufacturing, inventory, and disposition of industrial chemicals, including hazardous materials. 
Section 403 of the Toxic Substances Control Act establishes standards for lead-based paint 
hazards in paint, dust, and soil. 

▪ The Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976 (42 U.S. Code 6901 et seq.) is the law 
under which the USEPA regulates hazardous waste from the time the waste is generated until 
its final disposal (“cradle to grave”). 

▪ The Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980 (also 
called the Superfund Act or CERCLA) (42 U.S. Code 9601 et seq.) gives the USEPA authority to 
seek out parties responsible for releases of hazardous substances and ensure their cooperation 
in site remediation. 

▪ The Superfund Amendments and Reauthorization Act of 1986 (Public Law 99-499; USC Title 42, 
Chapter 116), also known as SARA Title III or the Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-
Know Act of 1986 (EPCRA), imposes hazardous materials planning requirements to help protect 
local communities in the event of accidental release. SARA Title III or EPCRA encourages and 
supports emergency planning efforts at the state and local levels and to provide local 
governments and the public with information about potential chemical hazards in their 
communities. Because of the community right-to-know laws, information is collected from 
facilities that handle (e.g., produce, use, store) hazardous materials above certain quantities. 
The provisions of EPCRA apply to emergency planning, emergency release notification, reporting 
of hazardous chemical storage, and inventory of toxic chemical releases. 

▪ The federal Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) is the agency responsible for 
assuring worker safety in the handling and use of chemicals identified in the Occupational Safety 
and Health Act of 1970 (Public Law 91-596, 9 U.S. Code 651 et seq.). OSHA has adopted 
numerous regulations pertaining to worker safety, contained in CFR Title 29. These regulations 
set standards for safe workplaces and work practices, including standards relating to the 
handling of hazardous materials and those required for excavation and trenching.  



Environmental Checklist 

Hazards and Hazardous Materials 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 93 

State 

In California, both federal and state community right-to-know laws are coordinated through the 
Governor’s Office of Emergency Services (OES). Management of hazardous materials is governed by 
the state laws and regulations listed below. 

▪ The state equivalent to the federal EPCRA is Chapter 6.95 of the California Health and Safety 
Code, the Hazardous Materials Release Response Plans and Inventory. Under this law, qualifying 
businesses are required to prepare a Hazardous Materials Business Plan, which would include 
hazardous materials and hazardous waste management procedures and emergency response 
procedures, including emergency spill cleanup supplies and equipment. At such time as the 
applicant begins to use hazardous materials at levels that reach applicable state and/or federal 
thresholds, the plan is submitted to the administering agency. 

▪ DTSC is a division of the California Environmental Protection Agency (Cal/EPA); its primary 
regulatory responsibility is prevention of toxic harm to the public and environment. As required 
by Section 65962.5 of the California Government Code, DTSC maintains a hazardous waste and 
substances site list for the state, known as the Cortese List. Individual RWQCBs are the lead 
agencies responsible for identifying, monitoring, and cleaning up leaking underground storage 
tanks (LUSTs). The Los Angeles RWQCB has jurisdiction over the proposed project area. 

▪ The Porter-Cologne Water Quality Act is California’s statutory authority for the protection of 
water quality, and requires California’s nine RWQCBs to adopt water quality control plans and 
establish water quality objectives (WQOs). The project site is within the jurisdiction of the Los 
Angeles RWQCB, and subject to the management direction of the Basin Plan for the Coastal 
Watersheds of Los Angeles and Ventura Counties (Basin Plan). Please see Section 10, Hydrology 
and Water Quality, for further discussion of Porter-Cologne and the Basin Plan.  

▪ OSHA’s corresponding state regulatory agency is the California Occupational Safety and Health 
Administration (Cal/OSHA), which assumes primary responsibility for developing and enforcing 
workplace safety regulations within the state. Cal/OSHA standards are located in Title 8 of the 
CCR and are generally more stringent than federal OSHA regulations. Cal/OSHA conducts on-site 
evaluations and issues notices of violation to enforce necessary improvements to health and 
safety practices. 

Local 

As a special district established in accordance with California Water Code Section 74000 et seq., 
some of United’s activities are exempt from plans, policies, and regulations administered by local 
municipalities. As such, this IS-MND need not, as a matter of law, consider all local plans, policies, 
and regulations that might normally be applicable to similar activities undertaken by a different 
entity. Nevertheless, in the exercise of its discretion, United addresses in this IS-MND those local 
land use plans, policies, and regulations that may be relevant to the proposed project. For hazards 
and hazardous materials, these include the Ventura County Certified Unified Program and the 
Ventura County General Plan, as summarized below. 

▪ Ventura County Certified Unified Program. A Certified Unified Program Agency (CUPA) is a local 
agency that has been certified by Cal/EPA to implement the local Unified Program. The CUPA 
can be a county, city, or joint powers authority. The Ventura County Environmental Health 
Division (Ventura County CUPA) is the certified CUPA for Ventura County, including the project 
site. As such, the Ventura County CUPA provides regulatory oversight for six statewide 
environmental programs, as listed below. 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

94 

 Hazardous Materials Business Plan 

 Hazardous Waste 

 Tiered Permitting 

 Underground Storage Tanks 

 Aboveground Petroleum Storage 

 California Accidental Release Prevention Program 

The Ventura County CUPA implements State and federal laws and regulations, County ordinance 
code, and local policies for the above programs. Compliance is achieved through routine and follow-
up inspections, educational guidance, and enforcement actions. The Ventura County CUPA is also 
involved with hazardous materials emergency response, investigation of illegal hazardous waste 
disposal, and public complaints. 

▪ Ventura County General Plan. The Ventura County General Plan was originally adopted by the 
County Board of Supervisors on May 24, 1988, and since then been amended multiple times. On 
September 15, 2020, the County of Ventura adopted a General Plan Update with a horizon year 
of 2040. Below is a summary of General Plan guidance applicable to hazardous materials 
handling, use, and safety (County of Ventura 2020).  

 Policy 2.1.2-3: Essential facilities, special occupancy structures and hazardous materials 
storage facilities shall be designed and constructed to resist forces generated by 
earthquakes, gravity, precipitation, fire and winds. 

Environmental Setting 

For purposes of this section, the term “hazardous materials” refers to both hazardous substances 
and hazardous wastes. A “hazardous material” is defined in the CFR as “a substance or material that 
… is capable of posing an unreasonable risk to health, safety, and property when transported in 
commerce” (49 CFR 171.8). California Health and Safety Code Section 25501 defines a hazardous 
material as follows:  

“Hazardous material” means any material that, because of its quantity, concentration, or 
physical, or chemical characteristics, poses a significant present or potential hazard to human 
health and safety or to the environment if released into the workplace or the environment. 
“Hazardous materials” include, but are not limited to, hazardous substances, hazardous waste, 
and any material which a handler or the administering agency has a reasonable basis for 
believing that it would be injurious to the health and safety of persons or harmful to the 
environment if released into the workplace or the environment.  

“Hazardous wastes” are defined in California Health and Safety Code Section 25141(b) as wastes 
that:  

… because of their quantity, concentration, or physical, chemical, or infectious characteristics, 
[may either] cause, or significantly contribute to an increase in mortality or an increase in 
serious illness [or] pose a substantial present or potential hazard to human health or the 
environment when improperly treated, stored, transported, disposed of, or otherwise managed.  



Environmental Checklist 

Hazards and Hazardous Materials 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 95 

The Cal/EPA website provides a compilation of the following lists which provide information on 
facilities or sites qualifying the Cortese List: 

▪ Hazardous Waste and Substances sites from the DTSC’s EnviroStor database 

▪ LUST sites from SWRCB’s GeoTracker database 

▪ Solid waste disposal sites identified by the SWRCB with waste constituents above hazardous 
waste levels outside the waste management unit 

▪ Active Cease and Desist Orders and Cleanup and Abatement Orders from the SWRCB 

▪ Hazardous waste facilities subject to corrective action pursuant to Section 25187.5 of the Health 
and Safety Code, identified by DTSC and listed in the EnviroStor database  

The SWRCB GeoTracker database includes: LUSTs; permitted underground storage tanks; and spills, 
leaks, investigations, and cleanup database sites. The DTSC EnviroStor database includes: federal 
and state response sites; voluntary, school, and military cleanups and corrective actions; and 
permitted sites. The data sources cited above identify sites with suspected and confirmed releases 
of hazardous materials to the subsurface soil and/or groundwater. The status of these sites changes 
as identification, monitoring, and clean-up of hazardous materials progress. Typically, a site is closed 
once it has been demonstrated that existing site uses combined with the levels of identified on-site 
contamination present no significant risk to human health or the environment. 

Based on a review of the aforementioned websites, several hazardous materials sites were 
identified within the county, only one of which is located within five miles of the project site, as 
summarized in Table 12 below.  

Table 12 Hazardous Materials Cleanup Sites within Five Miles of the Project Site 

Site Name Address Site Type Cleanup Status 

Southern Pacific Milling Company 1368 Mission Rock Road 
Santa Paula, California 

Voluntary Cleanup No further action as of 2004 

DTSC 2021; SWRCB 2021 

The site identified by DTSC as the “Southern Pacific Milling Company” site, which requires no further 
cleanup action, is located approximately two miles upstream of the Facility. Lands immediately 
surrounding the project site are generally owned by the Lloyd-Butler Trust, none of which are listed 
by the DTSC or SWRCB as active hazardous materials cleanup sites. In addition to hazardous 
materials and hazardous wastes, this analysis addresses airports and air hazards, schools, 
emergency response, and wildland fire hazards, as discussed below. 

▪ Airports and Air Hazards. Airport influence areas are used in land use planning to identify areas 
commonly overflown by aircraft as they approach and depart an airport, or as they fly within 
established airport traffic patterns. The nearest airport or air strip to the proposed project site is 
the Santa Paula Airport, located approximately four miles upstream from the Facility, along the 
Santa Clara River in the city of Santa Paula. Santa Paula Airport is a privately-owned airport open 
for public use (Ventura County Airport Land Use Commission [ALUC] 2000). The Oxnard Airport, 
a primary commercial service airport, is located approximately ten miles south-southwest of the 
project site, in the city of Oxnard.  



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

96 

▪ Schools. Schools are considered sensitive receptors because children are particularly susceptible 
to long-term effects of hazardous materials from hazardous air emissions as well as accidental 
releases associated with the handling of extremely hazardous materials, substances, or wastes. 
The nearest schools to the Facility are as follows: 

 Saticoy Elementary School is located approximately 2.5 miles to the west-southwest of the 
Facility, in the unincorporated community of Saticoy 

 Mesa Union Elementary School is located approximately 2.5 miles to the southeast of the 
Facility, in the unincorporated community of Somis 

 Linda Vista Adventist Elementary School and Rio Mesa High School are located 
approximately 3 miles and 3.5 miles, respectively, to the south of the Facility in the city of 
Oxnard 

There are no schools located within two miles of the Facility. 

▪ Emergency Response. The Ventura County Emergency Operations Plan (EOP) outlines 
emergency response actions to identified hazards in the area, and delineates the county’s 
coordinated response by all employees with specific responsibilities detailed in the event the 
plan is activated (Ventura County Sherriff OES 2021). The Ventura County Sheriff OES is 
responsible for the administration of countywide disaster planning, mitigation, response, and 
recovery activities. In the event of a disaster, the OES is responsible for the County’s Emergency 
Operations Center, coordination of the County’s Emergency Management Team, and for 
recovering the County’s disaster response costs from state and federal governments. The OES 
Manager is responsible for the day-to-day administration of the County’s disaster preparedness 
and response program, as well as the County’s EOP (Ventura County Sherriff OES 2021). 

▪ Wildland Fire Hazards. Fire protection for the proposed project area is provided by Ventura 
County Fire Department (VCFD), which provides emergency services to all unincorporated areas 
of the county and some cities. Outside of the boundaries of the cities of Fillmore, Oxnard, 
Ventura, and the Los Padres National Forest, Ventura County Fire Protection District (VCFPD) 
has responsibility for wildfire suppression on all private land. The VCFD Fire Prevention Bureau 
is charged with developing and implementing programs and policies that prevent or reduce the 
magnitude of emergency occurrences, such as loss of life and property, personal injury or 
environmental damage. Wildland fire conditions, risks, and firefighting capabilities in the project 
area are addressed in detail in Section 20, Wildfire.  

Impact Analysis 

a. Would the project create a significant hazard to the public or the environment through the 
routine transport, use, or disposal of hazardous materials? 

b. Would the project create a significant hazard to the public or the environment through 
reasonably foreseeable upset and accident conditions involving the release of hazardous 
materials into the environment? 

The proposed project activities would require the use of heavy equipment and machinery, which in 
turn would require the use of potentially hazardous materials consisting of vehicle fuels and other 
fluids. Pursuant to 40 CFR 112, the project is required to prepare a spill prevention and treatment 
plan for rapidly, effectively, and safely cleaning up and disposing of any spills or releases that may 
occur during sediment management activities at the project site. In addition to 40 CFR 112, project 
compliance with the Construction General Permit (2009-0009 DWQ; as amended by revised orders 



Environmental Checklist 

Hazards and Hazardous Materials 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 97 

2010-0014-DWQ and 2012-0006-DWQ) requires spill prevention and containment plans to avoid 
spills and releases of hazardous materials and wastes into the environment.  

In accordance with the aforementioned regulatory requirements, inspections would be conducted 
to verify consistent implementation of NPDES requirements, including BMPs to avoid and minimize 
the potential for spills and releases, and of the immediate cleanup and response thereto. In 
addition, the proposed project includes AMMs that specify BMPs to address the handling and use of 
hazardous materials, as well as the appropriate actions for response to an unanticipated spill of 
hazardous materials. These AMMs, which would be implemented as part of the proposed project, 
include AMM-1, Best Management Practices, which specifies under AMM-1A, “No substances that 
could be hazardous to aquatic life will be allowed to contaminate the soil and/or enter or be placed 
where it may be washed by rainfall or runoff into jurisdictional waters.” In addition, AMM-1C, Waste 
Management and Materials Pollution Control, provides requirements for the use, storage, and 
maintenance of project vehicles and equipment, to minimize the potential for an unanticipated spill 
to occur, and further requires that all fueling trucks and fueling areas are equipped with spill kits 
and other spill protection devices. 

The use and handling of any hazardous materials or wastes during project implementation would 
occur in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and the project would be implemented 
with a suite of project design features to minimize or avoid potentially adverse impacts associated 
with hazardous materials. The project would not create a significant hazard to the public or the 
environment, and would not create a significant hazard associated with transport, use, or disposal 
of hazardous materials. Potential impacts would be less than significant. 

LESS THAN SIGNIFICANT IMPACT 

c. Would the project emit hazardous emissions or handle hazardous or acutely hazardous 
materials, substances, or waste within 0.25 mile of an existing or proposed school? 

There are no schools located within 0.25 mile of the proposed project site, and the proposed project 
would not involve the transportation or handling of acutely hazardous materials, substances, or 
waste within 0.25 mile of an existing or proposed school. In addition, the only emissions that would 
occur during the proposed sediment management activities would be associated with the 
equipment and machinery used to conduct sediment movement within the Santa Clara River 
channel, and would not result in hazardous emissions that could reach an existing or proposed 
school. No impact would occur. 

NO IMPACT 

d. Would the project be located on a site that is included on a list of hazardous material sites 
compiled pursuant to Government Code Section 65962.5 and, as a result, would it create a 
significant hazard to the public or the environment? 

The project site is not included on a list of hazardous material sites, and would not create a hazard 
to the public or the environment associated with such a site. No impact would occur. 

NO IMPACT 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

98 

e. For a project located within an airport land use plan or, where such a plan has not been 
adopted, within two miles of a public airport or public use airport, would the project result in a 
safety hazard or excessive noise for people residing or working in the project area? 

The proposed project is not located within an airport land use plan or within two miles of a public 
airport or public use airport. No impact would occur. 

NO IMPACT 

f. Would the project impair implementation of or physically interfere with an adopted emergency 
response plan or emergency evacuation plan? 

The proposed project activities are limited to sediment removal and deposition at the existing 
Facility on the Santa Clara River; implementation of the project would not require any lane or road 
closures that could interfere with emergency response activities. In addition, the project would not 
introduce unusual or particularly hazardous activities to the area, such as would require an 
increased level of emergency preparedness or response than is presently available to the site. The 
proposed project would not impair implementation of or physically interfere with an adopted 
emergency response plan or emergency evacuation plan. No impact would occur. 

NO IMPACT 

g. Would the project expose people or structures, either directly or indirectly, to a significant risk 
of loss, injury, or death involving wildland fires? 

Please see Section 20, Wildfire, for detailed discussion of this topic. In summary, the proposed 
project would not exacerbate existing wildland fire hazards in the project area, and would not cause 
people or structures to be exposed to wildland fires. If a wildland fire were to occur while workers 
are present on the project site, they would evacuate the area in accordance with the Ventura 
County 2021 EOP (Ventura County OES 2021), as would occur under present conditions. Potential 
impacts would be less than significant.  

LESS THAN SIGNIFICANT IMPACT 



Environmental Checklist 

Hydrology and Water Quality 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 99 

10 Hydrology and Water Quality 

 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Incorporated 

Less than 
Significant 

Impact No Impact 

Would the project:     

a. Violate any water quality standards or 
waste discharge requirements or 
otherwise substantially degrade surface 
or ground water quality? □ □ ■ □ 

b. Substantially decrease groundwater 
supplies or interfere substantially with 
groundwater recharge such that the 
project may impede sustainable 
groundwater management of the basin? □ □ □ ■ 

c. Substantially alter the existing drainage 
pattern of the site or area, including 
through the alteration of the course of a 
stream or river or through the addition of 
impervious surfaces, in a manner which 
would:     

(i) Result in substantial erosion or 
siltation on- or off-site; □ □ ■ □ 

(ii) Substantially increase the rate or 
amount of surface runoff in a 
manner which would result in 
flooding on- or off-site; □ □ ■ □ 

(iii) Create or contribute runoff water 
which would exceed the capacity of 
existing or planned stormwater 
drainage systems or provide 
substantial additional sources of 
polluted runoff; or □ □ ■ □ 

(iv) Impede or redirect flood flows? □ □ □ ■ 

d. In flood hazard, tsunami, or seiche zones, 
risk release of pollutants due to project 
inundation? □ □ ■ □ 

e. Conflict with or obstruct implementation 
of a water quality control plan or 
sustainable groundwater management 
plan? □ □ □ ■ 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

100 

Regulatory Setting 

Numerous federal, State, and local acts, rules, plans, policies, and programs define the framework 
for regulating hydrology-related factors, such as flood control, drainage, and stormwater runoff and 
water quality of surface water and groundwater in the affected environment, as discussed below. 

Federal 

CLEAN WATER ACT 

The federal CWA establishes the basic structure for regulating discharges of pollutants into the 
waters of the United States (including wetlands) and regulating quality standards for surface waters 
and gave the USEPA the authority to implement control programs. The CWA authorizes the USEPA 
to delegate many permitting, administrative, and enforcement aspects of the CWA to state 
governments, with the USEPA retaining oversight responsibilities. In turn, the USEPA has delegated 
various authorities for establishing water quality standards and regulating controllable factors 
affecting water quality to the State. Federal regulations and policies relevant to implementing the 
proposed project include: CWA Section 401 (Water Quality Certifications), Section 402 (NPDES 
permit program), Section 404 (regulation of the discharge of dredged or fill material into waters of 
the United States), and Section 303(d), which addresses water quality-related impairments of 
surface waters. Each of these CWA sections is discussed below. 

▪ Section 401 – Water Quality Certifications. Section 401 of the CWA requires any person 
applying for a federal permit or license to conduct any activity, including the construction or 
operation of facilities, that may result in any discharge into navigable waters, to provide the 
licensing or permitting agency a certification from the state in which the discharge originates or 
will originate that the discharge will comply with all applicable water quality standards, 
limitations, and restrictions. No license or permit may be issued by a federal agency until after 
Section 401 certification has been granted by the applicable state agency, and no license or 
permit may be issued if certification has been denied. Permits issued under Section 404 of the 
CWA trigger the requirement for Section 401 clearance. Similarly, permits issued under Sections 
9 and 10 of the Rivers and Harbors Act also require Section 401 clearance. The Los Angeles 
RWQCB administers the Section 401 Water Quality Certification for the project area.  

▪ Section 402 – NPDES Permit Program. Section 402 of the CWA established the NPDES permit 
program, which regulates point- and nonpoint-source discharges to waters of the United States. 
In California, the SWRCB and its nine RWQCBs administer the NPDES permit program. The 
NPDES stormwater program requires permits for discharges from construction activities that 
disturb one or more acre of land. The SWRCB adopted a general NPDES permit for stormwater 
discharges associated with construction activity (Construction General Permit) in Order No. 
2009-0009-DWQ, which became effective on July 1, 2010 (as amended by revised orders 2010-
0014-DWQ and 2012-0006-DWQ). Projects throughout the state may therefore receive Section 
402 NPDES clearance by complying with the Construction General Permit, subject to the 
approval of the RWQCB.  

The Construction General Permit includes specific requirements for coverage, based on the “risk 
level” of the project site. Three different risk levels are dependent on two factors: (1) project 
sediment runoff risk and (2) receiving water risk. Obtaining coverage under the Construction 
General Permit requires filing of a Notice of Intent with the RWQCB, and implementing a SWPPP 
which specifies BMPs to reduce or eliminate sediment and other pollutants in stormwater and 
non-stormwater discharges. The Construction General Permit requires implementation of BMPs 



Environmental Checklist 

Hydrology and Water Quality 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 101 

that control pollutant discharges using the best available technology economically achievable 
for toxic contaminants, the best conventional technology for conventional contaminants, and 
any other necessary BMPs to meet water quality standards.  

The Construction General Permit contains technology-based numeric action levels for pH and 
turbidity and requires visual monitoring for potential contaminant runoff at all sites, and 
effluent monitoring at all risk level 2 and 3 sites, with follow-up actions required for 
exceedances of numeric action levels. Risk level 2 and 3 sites also must prepare and implement 
Rain Event Action Plans for all storm events forecast to have measurable precipitation. The 
Construction General Permit also specifies runoff reduction requirements for all sites not 
covered by a municipal NPDES permit, to minimize postconstruction stormwater runoff impacts. 
Authorization for coverage under the Construction General Permit will be acquired for the 
project, and appropriate BMPs will be implemented to ensure compliance with the permit 
conditions. 

The NPDES stormwater program also requires permits for discharges from municipal separate 
stormwater sewer systems (MS4s). The Los Angeles RWQCB has issued an MS4 NPDES permit 
that covers all areas within the boundaries of Ventura County and the co-permittees, which 
include the cities of Camarillo, Fillmore, Moorpark, Ojai, Oxnard, Port Hueneme, Santa Paula, 
Simi Valley, Thousand Oaks, and Ventura. This MS4 Permit is discussed further below, in the 
“Local” section. 

▪ Section 404 – Discharge of Dredged for Fill Material. Section 404 of the CWA established a 
program to regulate the discharge of dredged or fill material into waters of the United States. 
The USACE administers the NPDES program, including review and issuance of permits. The basic 
premise of the NPDES program is that no discharge of dredged or fill material may be permitted 
if (1) a practicable alternative exists that is less damaging to the aquatic environment or (2) the 
nation’s waters would be significantly degraded. In other words, when applying for a permit, the 
applicant must demonstrate that steps have been taken to avoid impacts on wetlands, streams, 
and other aquatic resources; that potential impacts have been minimized; and that 
compensation will be provided for all remaining unavoidable impacts. As described above for 
Section 401, when a project requires a Section 404 permit from the USACE, it then also requires 
a Section 401 Water Quality Certification from the RWQCB.  

▪ Section 303(d) – Water Quality-Related Impairments of Surface Water Bodies. Section 303(d) 
of the CWA requires states to develop a list of water bodies (or sections of water bodies) that 
will not attain water quality standards after implementation of minimum required levels of 
treatment by point-source dischargers (i.e., municipalities and industries). The law requires that 
states establish priority rankings for waters on the lists and develop total maximum daily loads 
(TMDLs) for these waters. In California, the SWRCB is required to provide the USEPA with a 
303(d) list for impaired waters throughout the state. The 303(d) list also identifies the pollutant 
or stressor causing impairment and establishes a schedule for developing a control plan to 
address the impairment, typically in the form of a TMDL. The TMDL specifies the amount of the 
target pollutant the water body can sustain on a daily or annual basis. The SWRCB delegates 
303(d) authority to the nine RWQCBs. TMDLs are prepared by the RWQCBs and result in 
amendments to the applicable Water Quality Control Plan (Basin Plan), which are subject to the 
approval of the USEPA. The 303(d) list is used by the USEPA to prepare biennial federal CWA 
Section 305(b) National Water Quality Inventory Reports to Congress. Generally, NPDES permit 
limitations (as applicable under the CWA Section 402, discussed above) for Section 303(d)-listed 
pollutants must be consistent with the load allocation identified in the TMDL.  



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

102 

The Facility sits between two reaches of the Santa Clara River: Reach 3, which stretches for 32 miles 
from A Street in Filmore to the Facility, and Reach 2, which stretches for 6.39 miles from the Facility, 
downstream past the crossing of Los Angeles Avenue/SR 118, to U.S. Highway 101. The Reach 2 
segment is not identified on the state’s Section 303(d) list as water quality impaired (SWRCB 2019). 
The Reach 3 segment is identified as impaired for several water quality constituents, as detailed 
below in Table 13.  

Table 13 Santa Clara River Reach 3 – CWA Section 404(d) Listings 

Pollutant Pollutant Category Final Decision TMDL Status TMDL Dates 

Total Dissolved 
Solids 

Salinity Do Not Delist TMDL required list 2015 

Toxicity Toxicity List on 303(d) list TMDL required list 20211 

Chloride Salinity Do Not Delist Being addressed with 
USEPA-approved TMDL 

20102 

Selenium Metals/Metalloids List on 303(d) list TMDL required list 20271 

Indicator Bacteria Fecal Indicator Bacteria List on 303(d) list Being addressed with 
USEPA-approved TMDL 

20122 

Trash Trash List on 303(d) list Being addressed by 
action other than TMDL 

20273 

 TMDL: Total Maximum Daily Load; USEPA: United States Environmental Protection Agency 
 1 Expected TMDL Completion Date 
 2 USEPA TMDL Approved Date 
 3 Expected Attainment Date 

 Source: SWRCB 2019 

FEDERAL ANTIDEGRADATION POLICY 

In addition to the federal CWA, the Federal Antidegradation Policy was adopted as part of the 1972 
amendments to the CWA, to compel individual states to implement policies that protect existing 
instream water uses. The Federal Antidegradation Policy established three tiers or types of 
waterbodies to guide analysis: 

▪ Tier 1 maintains and protects existing uses and water quality conditions to support such uses 
and applies to all surface waters. 

▪ Tier 2 is comprised of “High Quality Waters” which have higher water quality than required to 
support designated uses. 

▪ Tier 3 is comprised of “Outstanding National Resource Waters” and no water quality 
degradation is allowed in Tier 3 waterbodies. 

The federal policy directs states to adopt a statewide policy that includes the following primary 
provisions (40 CFR 131.12): 

1) Existing instream water uses and the level of water quality necessary to protect the existing 
uses shall be maintained and protected. 

2) Where the quality of waters exceeds levels necessary to support propagation of fish, 
shellfish, and wildlife and recreation in and on the water, that quality shall be maintained 
and protected unless the state finds, after full satisfaction of the intergovernmental 



Environmental Checklist 

Hydrology and Water Quality 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 103 

coordination and public participation provisions of the state’s continuing planning process, 
that allowing lower water quality is necessary to accommodate important economic or 
social development in the area in which the waters are located. 

3) Where high quality waters constitute an outstanding National resource, such as waters of 
national and state parks and wildlife refuges and waters of exceptional recreational or 
ecological significance, that water quality shall be maintained and protected. 

In August of 2005, the USEPA issued a memorandum addressing procedures for antidegradation 
analyses; this memo states that a 10 percent reduction in remaining assimilative capacity is 
“considered to be workable and protective in identifying those significant lowering of water quality 
that should receive a full antidegradation review, including public participation” (USEPA 2005). 

State 

PORTER-COLOGNE WATER QUALITY CONTROL ACT 

Porter-Cologne is California’s statutory authority for the protection of water quality. Under Porter-
Cologne, California must adopt water quality policies, plans, and objectives that ensure that 
beneficial uses of the state are reasonably protected. Porter-Cologne requires California’s nine 
RWQCBs to adopt water quality control plans and establish WQOs, and authorizes the SWRCB and 
nine RWQCBs to issue and enforce permits with requirements for discharges to surface waters and 
land. The applicable RWQCB for the proposed project is Los Angeles RWQCB. Under the Porter-
Cologne Act, each RWQCB must formulate and adopt a water quality control plan (known as a 
“Basin Plan”) for its region. Los Angeles RWQCB has adopted the Basin Plan for the Coastal 
Watersheds of Los Angeles and Ventura Counties, which includes both narrative and numeric WQOs 
designed to provide protection for all designated beneficial uses in all its principal streams and 
tributaries.  

CALIFORNIA ANTIDEGRADATION POLICY 

Resolution No. 68-16, Statement of Policy with Respect to Maintaining High Quality of Waters in 
California, also known as the California Antidegradation Policy, was adopted by the SWRCB in 1968. 
This is similar to the federal policy except that the State policy applies to both groundwater and 
surface waters, whereas the federal policy applies only to surface waters. Resolution No. 68-16 
states, in part: 

1. Whenever the existing quality of water is better than the quality established in policies as of 
the date on which such policies become effective, such existing high quality will be 
maintained until it has been demonstrated to the State that any change will be consistent 
with maximum benefit to the people of the State, will not unreasonably affect present and 
anticipated beneficial use of such water and will not result in water quality less than that 
prescribed in the policies. 

2. Any activity which produces or may produce a waste or increased volume or concentration 
of waste and which discharges or proposes to discharge to existing high quality waters will 
be required to meet waste discharge requirements which will result in the best practicable 
treatment or control of the discharge necessary to assure that (a) a pollution or nuisance 
will not occur and (b) the highest water quality consistent with maximum benefit to the 
people of the State will be maintained. 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

104 

The California Antidegradation Policy incorporates the Federal Antidegradation Policy, discussed 
above, which is applicable if a discharge that began after November 28, 1975, would lower existing 
surface water quality. 

CALIFORNIA WATER CODE 

The California Water Code is enforced by the California Department of Water Resources (DWR). The 
mission of the DWR is “to manage the water resources of California in cooperation with other 
agencies, to benefit the State’s people, and to protect, restore, and enhance the natural and human 
environments.” The DWR is responsible for promoting California’s general welfare by ensuring 
beneficial water use and development statewide. Groundwater management is outlined in the 
California Water Code, Division 6, Part 2.75, Chapters 1–5, Sections 10750–10755.4. 

California Water Code Section 8400 et seq. establishes the Cobey-Alquist Flood Control Act, which 
states that a large portion of land resources of the State of California is subject to recurrent 
flooding, and that the public interest necessitates sound development of land use because: (1) land 
is a limited, valuable, and irreplaceable resource, and (2) the floodplains of the state are a land 
resource to be developed in a manner that, in conjunction with economically justified structural 
measures for flood control, will prevent loss of life and economic loss caused by excessive flooding. 
The primary responsibility for planning, adoption, and enforcement of land use regulations to 
accomplish floodplain management rests with local levels of government. It is State of California 
policy to encourage local levels of government to plan land use regulations to accomplish floodplain 
management and to provide State assistance and guidance. 

GROUNDWATER MANAGEMENT ACT AND SUSTAINABLE GROUNDWATER MANAGEMENT ACT 

The Groundwater Management Act was first introduced in 1992 as AB 3030 and has since been 
modified by SB 1938 in 2002, AB 359 in 2011, and the Sustainable Groundwater Management Act 
(SB 1168, SB 1319, and AB 1739) in 2014. The intent of the acts is to encourage local agencies to 
work cooperatively to manage groundwater resources within their jurisdictions and to provide a 
methodology for developing a Groundwater Management Plan. 

The Sustainable Groundwater Management Act of 2014 (SGMA) became law on January 1, 2015, 
and applies to all groundwater basins in the state (Water Code Section 10720.3). By enacting SGMA, 
the legislature intended to provide local agencies with the authority and the technical and financial 
assistance necessary to sustainably manage groundwater within their jurisdiction (Water Code 
Section 10720.1). In 2014, DWR ranked California’s groundwater basins as “high,” “medium,” “low,” 
or “very low” priority. In this ranking process within Ventura County, the Piru, Fillmore, Oxnard, 
Mound, Pleasant Valley, and Las Posas Valley groundwater subbasins were deemed “high” priority, 
and the Santa Paula subbasin was deemed “very low” priority (groundwater rights in the Santa 
Paula subbasin were adjudicated in 1996). The Oxnard and Pleasant Valley subbasins were also 
listed as being in “critical overdraft.” The high dependency on groundwater in these areas was a 
primary factor in the rankings. In 2019, the DWR released draft results for Phase 2 of its SGMA Basin 
Prioritization efforts: the Piru, Fillmore, Mound, and Oxnard subbasins were all deemed “high” 
priority, with the Oxnard subbasin also listed as being in “critical overdraft”.  

Pursuant to the SGMA, any local agency that has water supply, water management, or land use 
responsibilities within a groundwater basin may elect to be a “groundwater sustainability agency” 
for that basin (Water Code Section 10723). The Fox Canyon Groundwater Management Agency (Fox 
Canyon GMA) elected to be the groundwater sustainability agency under the SGMA for the basins 
within its Fox Canyon GMA boundary. In 2017, the Fillmore and Piru Basins Groundwater 



Environmental Checklist 

Hydrology and Water Quality 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 105 

Sustainability Agency (Fillmore and Piru GSA) was formed as a joint powers authority composed of 
United, the County of Ventura, and the City of Fillmore and covering the Fillmore and Piru 
subbasins. Also in 2017, the Mound Basin Groundwater Sustainability Agency (Mound Basin GSA) 
was formed as a joint powers authority composed of United, the County of Ventura, and the City of 
Ventura covering the Mound subbasin.  

CALIFORNIA DRAINAGE LAW 

California drainage law is case law through which the courts have established the following general 
principles, which apply in general to development projects:  

▪ The downstream property owner is obligated to accept and make provision for those waters 
that are the natural flow from the land above.  

▪ The upstream property owner shall not concentrate water where it was not concentrated 
before without making proper provision for its disposal without damage to the downstream 
property owner.  

▪ The upstream property owner may reasonably increase drainage runoff by paving or 
construction of other impervious surfaces, including buildings, without liability. The upstream 
property owner may not further increase drainage runoff by diversion of water that previously 
drained to another area. Reasonableness is often based on prevailing standards of practice in 
the community or region.  

▪ No property owner shall block, or permit to be blocked, any drainage channel, ditch, or pipe. No 
property owner shall divert drainage water without properly providing for its disposal. 

Local 

As a special district established in accordance with California Water Code Section 74000 et seq. that 
is authorized to, among other things, acquire water rights, build facilities to store and recharge 
water, and construct wells and pipelines for water deliveries, some of United’s activities are exempt 
from plans, policies, and regulations administered by local municipalities. As such, this IS-MND need 
not, as a matter of law, consider all local plans, policies, and regulations that might normally be 
applicable to similar activities undertaken by a different entity. Nevertheless, in the exercise of its 
discretion, United does reference, describe, and address in this IS-MND those local land use plans, 
policies, and regulations that may be relevant to the proposed project. 

VENTURA COUNTY MUNICIPAL STORMWATER SYSTEM PERMIT 

The County of Ventura and the incorporated cities therein are co-permittees under the municipal 
stormwater NPDES Permit for the Ventura County MS4, which covers the project site. On July 8, 
2010, Los Angeles RWQCB adopted Order No. R4-2010-0108 (2010 MS4 Permit) for a 5-year term 
under the CWA and the Porter-Cologne Act, which updated the previous Order No. CAS004002 (Los 
Angeles RWQCB 2010). The 2010 MS4 Permit expired on July 8, 2015, but is on administrative 
extension until a new permit is adopted.  

On March 5, 2018, the VCWPD as the Principal Permittee (of the MS4) and on behalf of the Co-
Permittees, requested the removal of fecal coliform from the monitoring requirements for 
freshwaters, for consistency with the RWQCB’s Resolution No. R10-005, which removes the water 
quality objective for fecal coliform in freshwaters designated for water contact recreation (REC-1). 
On May 23, 2018, the Los Angeles RWQCB approved this modification to the Ventura County MS4 
Permit (Los Angeles RWQCB 2019). The Los Angeles RWQCB is currently developing a new regional 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

106 

permit to cover Ventura County and all the incorporated cities therein; this regional permit, once 
adopted, will supersede the Order (R4-2010-0108) that currently covers the Permittees in Ventura 
County (Ventura County Stormwater Quality Management Program [VCSQMP] 2021). The first step 
for all stormwater permit renewals is the submittal of a Report of Waste Discharge (ROWD) to the 
RWQCB, which summarizes the accomplishments and challenges of the permittees under the 
current permit. The ROWD was submitted to Los Angeles RWQCB in January 2015, and the Los 
Angeles RWQCB released the tentative Regional Phase I MS4 NPDES Permit (Tentative Regional MS4 
Permit) for public comment on August 24, 2020 (VCSQMP 2021).  

Under the 2010 MS4 Permit, the permittees are required to implement development planning 
guidance and control measures that control and mitigate stormwater quality and quantity impacts 
on receiving waters as a result of new development and redevelopment. The permittees also are 
required to implement other municipal source detection and elimination programs, as well as 
maintenance measures. The Ventura County Stormwater Quality Management Program (VCSQMP) 
defines the requirements of the 2010 MS4 Permit. Elements of the VCSQMP include NPDES permit 
coverage and provisions, institutional arrangements, program structure, monitoring and reporting, 
fiscal resources, and legal authority. The VCSQMP also addresses specific stormwater pollution 
requirements for new developments. 

VCWPD ENCROACHMENT AND WATERCOURSE PERMITS 

The VCWPD provides for the control and conservation of floodwater and stormwater and for the 
protection of watercourses, watersheds, public highways, life, and property in the county from 
damage or destruction caused by these waters. Various ordinances relating to the protection and 
regulation of flood control facilities and watercourses provide the VCWPD authority and the 
requirement to obtain permits for any encroachment into VCWPD jurisdictional channels, including 
rights-of-way. The VCWPD issues two types of permits: an Encroachment Permit is required for work 
being done within VCWPD’s real estate holdings, and a Watercourse Permit is required where 
development or activity would affect the floodplain associated with a jurisdictional channel. The 
project site within the Santa Clara River is a jurisdictional channel within VCWPD’s “Zone 2” and is 
therefore subject to a watercourse permit approval from VCWPD.  

VENTURA COUNTY HYDROMODIFICATION CONTROL PLAN 

As mentioned previously, Ventura County is subject to the 2010 MS4 Permit issued by Los Angeles 
RWQCB. In July 2013 and consistent with the 2010 MS4 Permit, the VCWPD developed a preliminary 
draft Hydromodification Control Plan with the objective of minimizing hydromodification impacts 
associated with applicable future new development and redevelopment in Ventura County (VCWPD 
2013). The Hydromodification Control Plan seeks to achieve this objective through compliance with 
the Hydromodification Control Criteria stipulated in the county’s 2010 MS4 Permit and described in 
the Hydromodification Control Plan. 

SALT AND NUTRIENT MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR THE LOWER SANTA CLARA RIVER 

The SWRCB’s Recycled Water Policy (Resolution No. 2009-0011) requires the development of 
regional or subregional salt and nutrient management plans for groundwater basins in California. 
The intent of the Recycled Water Policy is to increase the use of recycled water from municipal 
wastewater sources, which contain salts and nutrients, while protecting groundwater resources 
from increased salt and nutrient loading. Several stakeholders in Ventura County, with the VCWPD 
as the lead agency, collaborated to develop the Lower Santa Clara River Salt and Nutrient 



Environmental Checklist 

Hydrology and Water Quality 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 107 

Management Plan (SNMP), which covers the Piru, Fillmore, Santa Paula, Mound, and Oxnard 
subbasins within the Lower Santa Clara River Groundwater Basin (VCWPD 2015). The Los Angeles 
RWQCB adopted the SNMP into its Basin Plan in 2015. The adopted Lower Santa Clara River Basin 
salt and nutrient management strategies are voluntary measures designed to maintain water quality 
that is protective of beneficial uses and prevent additional loading in localized areas of elevated salt 
and nutrient concentrations (VCWPD 2015). The stakeholders also developed a protocol for 
managing future projects that may affect salt and nutrient loads and have identified additional 
potential control measures to be implemented should it become necessary (VCWPD 2015). 

VENTURA COUNTY GENERAL PLAN 

Below is a summary of General Plan guidance applicable to water resources in the county, including 
groundwater, surface water, water quality, and flood-related hazards (Ventura County 2020).  

▪ Discretionary development which is inconsistent with the goals and policies of the County's 
Water Management Plan (WMP) shall be prohibited, unless overriding considerations are cited 
by the decision-making body. 

▪ Discretionary development shall comply with all applicable County and State water regulations. 

▪ Discretionary development shall not significantly impact the quantity or quality of water 
resources within watersheds, groundwater recharge areas or groundwater basins. 

▪ Use of the Santa Clara River as a multiple resource (i.e., source of supply for water, concrete 
aggregates and biological habitat) shall be permitted to continue; with the use of the river as a 
water resource having priority over all other uses. 

▪ Development proposed within the floodplain shall be designed and built to standards intended 
to mitigate to the extent possible the impacts from the one percent annual chance storm.  

▪ The design of any structures which are constructed in floodplain areas as depicted on the 
Hazards Protection Maps, shall be governed by Federal regulations, specifically Title 44 CFR 
Sections 59 through 70, as well as the County Floodplain Management Ordinance and shall 
incorporate measures to reduce flood damage to the structure and to eliminate any increased 
potential flood hazard in the general area due to such construction.  

Environmental Setting 

The proposed project is located at the Facility within the Santa Clara River channel. This area is 
within the jurisdiction of the Los Angeles Region RWQCB, and subject to the management direction 
of the Basin Plan for the Coastal Watersheds of Los Angeles and Ventura Counties. Designated 
beneficial uses of the portion of the Santa Clara River between the Freeman Diversion and U.S. 
Highway 101 (Reach 2) are listed below, as identified in the Basin Plan (Los Angeles RWQCB 2020): 

▪ Municipal and Domestic Water Supply 
(MUN) 

▪ Industrial Service Supply (IND) 

▪ Industrial Process Supply (PROC) 

▪ Agricultural Supply (AGR) 

▪ Groundwater Recharge (GWR) 

▪ Freshwater Replenishment (FRSH) 

▪ Cold Freshwater Habitat (COLD) 

▪ Warm Freshwater Habitat (WARM) 

▪ Wildlife Habitat (WILD) 

▪ Rare, Threatened or Endangered Species 
(RARE) 

▪ Migration of Aquatic Organisms (MIGR) 

▪ Wetland Habitat (WET) 

▪ Contact Water Recreation (REC-1) 

▪ Non-contact Water Recreation (REC-2) 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

108 

The portion of the Santa Clara River between the Freeman Diversion and A Street in Fillmore (Reach 
3, upstream of the Facility) has the same designated beneficial uses as listed above for Reach 2, 
except for COLD, which is not a designated beneficial use for Reach 3, upstream of the Facility.  

The project site and adjacent areas both upstream and downstream of the Facility is located within 
the Regulatory Floodway, which is managed by the VCWPD which is a division of the Ventura County 
Public Works Agency (PWA), and the 100-year flood hazard area, as designated by FEMA as the area 
of land subject to inundation by at least one foot of water in response to a 100-year flood event, or 
the event magnitude with a likelihood of occurring once every 100 years (FEMA 2021). 

The portion of the Santa Clara River where the project is located overlies the Santa Paula 
Groundwater Basin, which is one of 27 adjudicated basins throughout the state. Recharge to the 
Santa Paula Subbasin occurs via percolation of surface flow in the Santa Clara River, Santa Paula 
Creek, and other minor tributary streams; subsurface flow from the Fillmore Subbasin, percolation 
of precipitation, and percolation of unused irrigation waters provide recharge as well (DWR 2004). 
Groundwater in Santa Paula Subbasin flows toward the southwest, along the Santa Clara River. 

The Superior Court of the State of California for the County of Ventura entered a stipulated 
judgment in March of 1996 to establish pumping allocations and a management plan for the Santa 
Paula Groundwater Basin (United Water Conservation District vs. City of San Buenaventura, original 
March 7, 1996, amended August 24, 2010 [“Judgment”]). Members of the Santa Paula Basin 
Pumpers Association (SPBPA) and the City of San Buenaventura (Ventura) exercise rights to pump 
groundwater from the basin for reasonable and beneficial uses. The Judgment provides for the 
creation of a Santa Paula Basin Technical Advisory Committee (TAC) with equal representation from 
United, the SPBPA, and the City of Ventura. The TAC is charged with establishing a program to 
“monitor conditions in the basin, including but not necessarily limited to verification of future 
pumping amounts, measurements of groundwater levels, estimates of inflow to and outflow from 
the basin, increases and decreases in groundwater storage, and analyses of groundwater quality.” 
The Judgment also allows for the development of a management plan for the operation of the basin 
and empowers the TAC to determine the safe yield of the basin.  

Following the 1996 Judgment, in July 2003 an Investigation of Santa Paula Basin Yield was prepared 
to determine sustainable yield of the basin. It was determined that extractions of 26,000 acre-feet 
per year (AFY) from the subbasin would be sustainable, although it is possible that the yield of the 
subbasin could be increased by various management actions. However, since that time, data have 
indicated a long-term groundwater elevation decline within the subbasin despite average annual 
groundwater extraction of approximately 26,000 AFY. For this reason, an updated safe yield study 
was prepared in May 2017, titled Santa Paula Basin Hydrogeologic Characterization and Safe Yield 
Study, which recommended safe yield of the basin is approximately 25,500 AFY (Fox Canyon GMA 
2020). The Piru, Fillmore, Santa Paula, and Mound Subbasins, as well as the northern part of the 
Oxnard Plain known as the Oxnard Plain Forebay Subbasin, collectively comprise the Santa Clara 
River Valley. In the Santa Paula Subbasin, the Santa Clara River has migrated south of the ancestral 
river that deposited the sediments of the Oxnard aquifer and mostly overlies non-water-bearing 
rocks of Tertiary age; as a result, the Santa Clara River does not overlie the Oxnard aquifer 
throughout most of the Santa Paula Subbasin (USGS 2003).  

Because the Santa Paula Subbasin is adjudicated and managed pursuant to the direction of the 
Judgement discussed above, it is exempt from SGMA, and a GSP for this basin is not required. 
Surrounding groundwater basins, including the Piru, Fillmore, and Mound Subbasins of the Santa 
Clara River Valley, are subject to SGMA, and are managed by a designated GSP responsible for 
implementing basin-specific GSPs. 



Environmental Checklist 

Hydrology and Water Quality 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 109 

Designated beneficial uses of the groundwater basins in the Santa Clara River Valley include MUN, 
IND, PROC, and AGR (Los Angeles RWQCB 2020). 

Impact Analysis 

a. Would the project violate any water quality standards or waste discharge requirements or 
otherwise substantially degrade surface or ground water quality? 

As discussed above, under the Environmental Setting discussion, the project area is subject to the 
management direction of the Basin Plan for the Coastal Watersheds of Los Angeles and Ventura 
Counties, which includes both narrative and numeric WQOs designed to provide protection for all 
designated beneficial uses of surface water and groundwater resources within the Basin Plan area. 
The proposed project would be implemented in compliance with water quality permits designed to 
achieve and maintain the Basin Plan WQOs, such that the proposed project would not violate water 
quality standards or waste discharge requirements. The proposed project would also be 
implemented with a suite of project design features identified as AMMs, to minimize or avoid 
adverse impacts. Specifically, AMM-1 identifies general BMPs including AMM-1B, Erosion Control, 
AMM-1C, Sanitary/Septic Waste Management, and AMM-1D, Waste Management and Materials 
Pollution Control, which directly provide for water quality protection during all project activities. 

It is possible that during implementation of sediment management activities, an accidental spill or 
release of potentially hazardous materials could occur, and potentially lead to degradation of 
surface water or groundwater quality. Such potentially hazardous materials include but are not 
limited to fuels and other fluids associated with the operation of equipment and machinery. 
However, the proposed project would include development and implementation of a SWPPP with 
BMPs to avoid an accidental spill or release of hazardous materials, as well as BMPs to promptly 
respond to such accidental conditions, however unlikely, and prevent released materials from being 
conveyed in stormwater runoff or transmitted to groundwater resources. The SWPPP will also 
designate staging areas where equipment and vehicles would be stored outside the regulatory 
floodway when not in use, and re-fueling areas to ensure that re-fueling is conducted in a controlled 
environment and in accordance with applicable BMPs to reduce or avoid the potential for accidental 
release conditions to occur.  

It is also anticipated that the proposed sediment management activities would result in temporary 
increases to turbidity and suspended sediment concentration (SSC) within the work area, due to the 
nature of the project being to physically move accumulated sediment within the channel. Such 
effects are anticipated to be limited to the immediate sediment management area, as work areas 
would be dewatered as needed to accommodate project activities. The Santa Clara River 
downstream of the Freeman Diversion Facility would not be significantly affected by turbidity and 
SSC associated with project activities, because these effects would be temporary and of short 
duration, limited to the active sediment management work, and because any temporary increases 
to turbidity and SSC due to project activities will be insignificant compared to the increases 
generated during a natural runoff event (for a detailed analysis, see Appendix B, BRA Report). In 
addition, as discussed above for the regulatory environment applicable to hydrology and water 
quality, regarding the federal Clean Water Act, the NPDES Construction General Permit contains 
technology-based numeric action levels for turbidity, among other factors, and requires visual 
monitoring for potential contaminant runoff at all sites, as well as effluent monitoring, follow-up 
actions for exceedances of numeric action levels, and implementation of a Rain Event Action Plan 
for all storm events forecast to have measurable precipitation. The Construction General Permit 
further specifies runoff reduction requirements for all sites not covered by a municipal NPDES 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

110 

permit, to minimize postconstruction stormwater runoff impacts, such as but not limited to 
turbidity.  

Authorization for coverage of the proposed project under the NPDES Construction General Permit 
will be acquired prior to the start of construction, and appropriate BMPs will be implemented to 
ensure compliance with the permit conditions. In addition, as discussed above, the proposed project 
includes design features identified as AMMs that would be implemented as part of the project to 
complement regulatory requirements and provide protection against potentially adverse impacts to 
water quality. Therefore, the potential of the proposed project to result in water quality 
degradation would be less than significant.  

LESS THAN SIGNIFICANT IMPACT 

b. Would the project substantially decrease groundwater supplies or interfere substantially with 
groundwater recharge such that the project may impede sustainable groundwater 
management of the basin? 

Implementation of the proposed sediment management activities would not require a water supply 
and would therefore not decrease groundwater supplies through direct use. The underlying Santa 
Paula Subbasin is adjudicated, and any use of groundwater from the subbasin must occur in 
compliance with the Adjudication Judgment; however, because the project would not require a 
water supply, it also would not require approval of the Watermaster for consistency of project 
activities with the Adjudication Judgment. The proposed activities would not introduce new 
impervious surfaces or otherwise alter existing drainage patterns in such a way that recharge to the 
underlying groundwater basin would be impeded. Rather, by facilitating the intended function and 
conveyance capacity of the existing Freeman Diversion Facility, the proposed project would also 
facilitate continued groundwater recharge associated with infiltration from United’s existing 
spreading grounds immediately downstream of the Facility. Further, the proposed project would 
likely improve groundwater recharge from the spreading basins because, with effective sediment 
management upstream of the Facility, flows through the Facility would have improved reliability of 
diversion and fish passage operations. Conversely, if the proposed activity is left undone, continued 
sediment deposition upstream of the Facility could eliminate United’s ability to divert water and 
operate the fish passage facility, which would interfere substantially with groundwater recharge..  

The sediment removed during Phase 1 and Phase 2 would be deposited in designated sediment 
management areas, where contour grading may be conducted to achieve the planned dimensions of 
the sediment placement area; this would occur within the Santa Clara River, and would not 
constitute the introduction of impermeable surfaces such that recharge to the underlying 
groundwater basin would be substantially affected, and the project activities would not impede 
sustainable management of the groundwater basin. No adverse impact would occur.  

NO IMPACT 

c.(i) Would the project substantially alter the existing drainage pattern of the site or area, 
including through the alteration of the course of a stream or river or through the addition of 
impervious surfaces, in a manner which would result in substantial erosion or siltation on- or 
off-site? 



Environmental Checklist 

Hydrology and Water Quality 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 111 

c.(ii) Would the project substantially alter the existing drainage pattern of the site or area, 
including through the alteration of the course of a stream or river or through the addition of 
impervious surfaces, in a manner which would substantially increase the rate or amount of 
surface runoff in a manner which would result in flooding on- or off-site? 

The proposed project consists of the excavation and redistribution with recontouring of sediment 
within the Santa Clara River channel and would inherently result in localized drainage pattern 
alterations within the sediment management area as well as immediately upstream of the Facility, 
as a result of achieving the desired sediment management results. These activities would be 
conducted as part of the operation and maintenance of the existing Facility, and are designed to 
maintain the planned function of the Facility. The project would redirect the specific location and 
pattern of surface flow but it would not substantially change the course of a stream or river, and 
would not introduce new impervious surfaces that could result in substantial erosion, siltation, or 
flowing on- or off-site. Standard erosion control BMPs would be implemented at the staging and 
access locations in compliance with the project SWPPP required under CCWA Section 402 and the 
Construction General Permit; measures may include but would not be limited to the placement of 
straw wattles and silt fencing to prevent the conveyance of disturbed soils in stormwater flows, and 
the avoidance of sediment management activities during or immediately after large storm events. 
Potential impacts associated with erosion, sedimentation, and flooding on- or off-site resulting from 
drainage pattern alterations associated with the proposed project would be less than significant. 

LESS THAN SIGNIFICANT IMPACT 

c.(iii) Would the project substantially alter the existing drainage pattern of the site or area, 
including through the alteration of the course of a stream or river or through the addition of 
impervious surfaces, in a manner that would create or contribute runoff water which would 
exceed the capacity of existing or planned stormwater drainage systems or provide 
substantial additional sources of polluted runoff? 

As discussed above for impact thresholds c.(i) and c.(ii), the proposed project would not alter the 
course of a stream or river or introduce substantial new areas of impervious surfaces. The proposed 
activities are designed to redirect the specific location and pattern of surface flow within the project 
site by recontouring the sediment management area to provide a more direct flow path into the 
Facility while preserving some of the natural sinuosity of the river channel. By nature of the project 
being for the purpose of sediment management, the project would result in site-specific drainage 
pattern alterations within the Santa Clara River channel. The proposed sediment management 
activities would not create or contribute runoff water which would exceed the capacity of 
stormwater drainage systems, as the proposed activities would occur within the existing channel, 
which would continue to provide stormwater conveyance, and the proposed activities were 
designed to provide for the planned function of the Facility, including as related to flow capacity. In 
addition, the proposed project would occur in compliance with a suite of regulatory agency permits 
applicable to water quality, and would be implemented with project design features that include 
requirements for spill avoidance and response, specifically under AMM-1, Best Management 
Practices. The proposed project would not result in additional sources of polluted runoff, and 
impacts would be less than significant. 

LESS THAN SIGNIFICANT IMPACT 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

112 

c.(iv) Would the project substantially alter the existing drainage pattern of the site or area, 
including through the alteration of the course of a stream or river or through the addition of 
impervious surfaces, in a manner which would impede or redirect flood flows? 

As discussed above for impact thresholds c.(i) through c.(iii), the proposed project redirect the 
specific location and pattern of surface flow but it would not substantially change the course of a 
stream or river or introduce substantial new areas of impervious surfaces, although the project 
would result in site-specific drainage pattern alterations within the Santa Clara River channel by 
redistributing accumulated sediment from upstream of the Facility. This would not impede flood 
flows. The removal and deposition of accumulated in-channel sediments that would occur under the 
project would restore flood conveyance capacity within the channel, and facilitate maintenance of 
the existing operation capacity of the Facility. Accordingly, the project would not impede or redirect 
flood flows, and no impact would occur.  

NO IMPACT 

d. In flood hazard, tsunami, or seiche zones, would the project risk release of pollutants due to 
project inundation? 

As discussed under “Surface Water” in the Environmental Setting discussion above, the project site 
is located within the Santa Clara River channel, which is a regulatory floodway and a flood hazard 
area as defined by FEMA. This project site is not located within a tsunami inundation area, as 
defined by the California DOC, which produces tsunami inundation maps for emergency planning; 
the proposed project site is shown on the Oxnard Quadrangle (California DOC 2021). In addition, the 
project site is not considered subject to inundation by a seiche, which occur as waves generated 
within an enclosed or restricted body of water such as a harbor, lake, or swimming pool. According 
to County of Ventura’s Background Report for the 2040 General Plan Update, there is no record of a 
seiche occurring in Ventura County, and the actual threat posed by seiches in Ventura County is 
small (County of Ventura 2020). Therefore, the project site is not subject to inundation by tsunami 
or seiche, but it is subject to inundation by flood hazard. 

During implementation of the proposed project, sediment accumulated within the Santa Clara River 
channel behind the Facility would be managed to provide natural conveyance downstream and 
ultimately to the ocean. Sediment management activities are part of operation and maintenance of 
the Facility, and therefore must occur in compliance with regulatory permits, including as applicable 
to water quality. Project activities would be scheduled to avoid the rainy season and would occur 
only during dry conditions as discussed in detail in Section 4, Biological Resources, and in accordance 
with AMM-2, Schedule/Timing of Work, which would be implemented as part of the proposed 
project. Equipment, machinery, and vehicles used for sediment management activities would be 
staged or stored in designated areas outside the regulatory floodway and flood hazard area, such 
that fuels and other fluids associated with the use of equipment, machinery, and vehicles would not 
be accidentally released into flood flows. Potential impacts associated with a risk of release of 
pollutants due to project inundation would be less than significant. 

LESS THAN SIGNIFICANT IMPACT 



Environmental Checklist 

Hydrology and Water Quality 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 113 

e. Would the project conflict with or obstruct implementation of a water quality control plan or 
sustainable groundwater management plan? 

As discussed under impact threshold (b) above, the proposed project would not result in adverse 
impacts to groundwater resources, including as related to the implementation of a sustainable 
groundwater management plan. Rather, the proposed project is anticipated to result in beneficial 
impacts to groundwater recharge, by improving the reliability of flows through the Facility and 
therefore the reliability of flows available for recharge at United’s spreading basins downstream of 
the Facility. Also as discussed above, under Environmental Setting, the project area is subject to the 
management direction of the Basin Plan for the Coastal Watersheds of Los Angeles and Ventura 
Counties, which includes both narrative and numeric WQOs designed to provide protection for all 
designated beneficial uses of surface water and groundwater resources within the Basin Plan area. 
The proposed project would be implemented in compliance with water quality permits designed to 
achieve and maintain the Basin Plan WQOs, such that the proposed project would not conflict with 
or obstruct implementation of a water quality control plan. Therefore, no impact would occur. 

NO IMPACT 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

114 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 



Environmental Checklist 

Land Use and Planning 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 115 

11 Land Use and Planning 

 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Incorporated 

Less than 
Significant 

Impact No Impact 

Would the project:     

a. Physically divide an established 
community? □ □ □ ■ 

b. Cause a significant environmental impact 
due to a conflict with any land use plan, 
policy, or regulation adopted for the 
purpose of avoiding or mitigating an 
environmental effect? □ □ □ ■ 

This section addresses the project’s potential impacts related to land use and planning, including 
discussion of the applicable federal, state, and local regulations and policies related to land use and 
planning, and analysis of the potential impacts to land use and planning associated with 
implementation of the proposed project. 

Regulatory Setting 

There are no federal or State plans, policies, laws, or regulations related to land use and planning 
that are relevant to the analysis in this IS-MND. 

Local 

As a special district established in accordance with California Water Code Section 74000 et seq., 
some of United’s activities are exempt from plans, policies, and regulations administered by local 
municipalities. As such, this IS-MND need not, as a matter of law, consider all local plans, policies, 
and regulations that might normally be applicable to similar activities undertaken by a different 
entity. Nevertheless, in the exercise of its discretion, United addresses in this IS-MND those local 
land use plans, policies, and regulations that may be relevant to the proposed project. For land use 
and planning, this include the Ventura County General Plan, and the MSHCP for the Facility, which is 
currently in development. 

The Ventura County General Plan (2040) indicates that the current land use designation for the 
project site is Open Space. The project site is also within the planning area of the Freeman Diversion 
MSHCP; please see Section 4, Biological Resources, for further discussion of the MSHCP.  

Environmental Setting 

The project site is within the Santa Clara River channel, in an area that has been previously 
developed by the existing Facility, and the proposed project would directly facilitate the existing 
operation and capacity of the Facility. The project site is characterized by the river channel itself, 
while the surrounding areas consist of the banks and floodplain of the Santa Clara River, bare 
ground and vegetated hillsides, and private land. 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

116 

Impact Analysis 

a. Would the project physically divide an established community? 

The proposed project does not include any new developments and would not divide an established 
community through the introduction of new infrastructure. In addition, access to and from the 
project site would occur on existing roads and would not require road modifications or new road 
construction that could result in disruption of an established community. No impact would occur. 

NO IMPACT 

b. Would the project cause a significant environmental impact due to a conflict with any land use 
plan, policy, or regulation adopted for the purpose of avoiding or mitigating an environmental 
effect? 

The proposed project has been developed with consideration to the Freeman Diversion MSCHP, 
which is currently being analyzed for CEQA compliance, and includes a series of project design 
features as AMMs to minimize or avoid potential impacts to species addressed in the MSHCP. As 
such, the project would not conflict with the MSHCP. The proposed project is also consistent with 
the Ventura County General Plan, because it would provide for continued operation and 
maintenance of the existing Facility, and would not change land uses the in area or alter existing 
operations of the Facility. By providing sediment management activities necessary to maintain flows 
through the Facility for groundwater management and species protection, the project would not 
result in any conflicts with a land use plan, policy, or regulation. No impact would occur. 

NO IMPACT 



Environmental Checklist 

Mineral Resources 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 117 

12 Mineral Resources 

 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Incorporated 

Less than 
Significant 

Impact No Impact 

Would the project:     

a. Result in the loss of availability of a 
known mineral resource that would be of 
value to the region and the residents of 
the state? □ □ □ ■ 

b. Result in the loss of availability of a 
locally important mineral resource 
recovery site delineated on a local 
general plan, specific plan, or other land 
use plan? □ □ □ ■ 

Regulatory Setting 

No federal mineral resource-related regulations are applicable to the proposed project. 

State 

The Surface Mining and Reclamation Act of 1975 (SMARA) (Public Resources Code [PRC] §§2710-
2796) and its implementing regulations (14 California Code of Regulations §3500 et seq.) establish a 
comprehensive state policy for the conduct of surface mining operations and for the reclamation of 
mined lands to a usable condition that is readily adaptable for alternative land uses. SMARA 
encourages the production, conservation, and protection of the state’s mineral resources and 
recognizes that “the state’s mineral resources are vital, finite, and important natural resources and 
the responsible protection and development of these mineral resources is vital to a sustainable 
California” (PRC §2711). Under SMARA, the term “minerals” includes “any naturally occurring 
chemical element or compound, or groups of elements and compounds, formed from inorganic 
processes and organic substances, including, but not limited to, coal, peat, and bituminous rock, but 
excluding geothermal resources, natural gas, and petroleum” (14 California Code of Regulations 
§3501). 

The California Geological Survey (CGS) maps and regulates the locations of potential mineral 
resources in California consistent with SMARA. In order to protect these potential mineral 
resources, the CGS has classified the regional significance of mineral resources into Mineral 
Resource Zones (MRZs) and mapped them. The project site is located within MRZ-2, as discussed 
below under “Environmental Setting”. 

Local 

As a special district established in accordance with California Water Code Section 74000 et seq., 
some of United’s activities are exempt from plans, policies, and regulations administered by local 
municipalities. As such, this IS-MND need not, as a matter of law, consider all local plans, policies, 
and regulations that might normally be applicable to similar activities undertaken by a different 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

118 

entity. Nevertheless, in the exercise of its discretion, United addresses in this IS-MND those local 
plans, policies, and regulations that may be relevant to the proposed project. For mineral resources, 
this include the Ventura County General Plan. 

Ventura County safeguards access to mineral resources by designating appropriate areas as Mineral 
Resource Areas and then applying zoning requirements known as the Mineral Resource Protection 
Overlay Zone to those areas (County of Ventura 2020). The project site is within an area designated 
as MRZ-2, consistent with the overall designation of the Santa Clara River Valley. The Ventura 
County General Plan Update identifies Policy COS-6.4, Mineral Resource Area Protection, which 
states that discretionary development within MRZs is prohibited if the use will significantly hamper 
or preclude access to or extraction of mineral resources (County of Ventura 2020).  

Environmental Setting 

The project site is located within a SMARA study area for sand, gravel, and crushed rock resource 
areas, known as the Simi production-consumption region. The project site, as with most of the Santa 
Clara River Valley, is designated as MRZ-2, which indicates areas that contain identified mineral 
resources (California DOC 1981). The portion of the Santa Clara River between Santa Paula and EI 
Rio, a distance of seven miles, comprises the Santa Clara River-Ventura production district 
(California DOC 1981). Records of aggregate production show that two companies were producing 
aggregate from three locations in the lower Santa Clara River-Ventura production district prior to 
1925, and in 1979 there were four companies operating from six properties within the Santa Clara 
River-Ventura production district (California DOC 1981).  

Impact Analysis 

a. Would the project result in the loss of availability of a known mineral resource that would be of 
value to the region and the residents of the state? 

The proposed project would not introduce a demand for mineral resources, and would not result in 
a direct loss through consumption of the availability of a known mineral resource. In addition, the 
proposed project would not result in an indirect loss of availability of a mineral resource such as by 
impeding access to an existing or potential extraction site. The proposed project’s sediment 
management activities would be limited to the project’s total 6-acre sediment management area, 
which includes the 1.3-acre area for Phase 1, and the 4.7-acre area for Phase 2, if necessary. No 
impacts associated with the loss of availability of a known mineral resource would occur as a result 
of the project. 

NO IMPACT 

b. Would the project result in the loss of availability of a locally important mineral resource 
recovery site delineated on a local general plan, specific plan, or other land use plan? 

The project site is not located within the vicinity of a locally important mineral resource recovery 
site. As discussed in the environmental setting section above, records of aggregate production in the 
1970s show that mining activities have previously occurred in the project area, which is within the 
Santa Clara River-Ventura production district as defined by the California DOC (1981). However, 
mining activities in the lower Santa Clara River have not occurred since the 1990s. There are no 
locally important mineral resource recovery sites in the project area. No impact would occur. 

NO IMPACT 



Environmental Checklist 

Noise 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 119 

13 Noise 

 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Incorporated 

Less than 
Significant 

Impact No Impact 

Would the project result in:     

a. Generation of a substantial temporary or 
permanent increase in ambient noise 
levels in the vicinity of the project in 
excess of standards established in the 
local general plan or noise ordinance, or 
applicable standards of other agencies? □ □ ■ □ 

b. Generation of excessive groundborne 
vibration or groundborne noise levels? □ □ ■ □ 

c. For a project located within the vicinity of 
a private airstrip or an airport land use 
plan or, where such a plan has not been 
adopted, within two miles of a public 
airport or public use airport, would the 
project expose people residing or 
working in the project area to excessive 
noise levels? □ □ □ ■ 

Sound is a vibratory disturbance created by a moving or vibrating source, which is capable of being 
detected by the hearing organs. Noise is defined as sound that is loud, unpleasant, unexpected, or 
undesired and may therefore be classified as a more specific group of sounds. The effects of noise 
on people can include general annoyance, interference with speech communication, sleep 
disturbance, and, in the extreme, hearing impairment (Caltrans 2013). Noise levels are commonly 
measured in decibels (dB) using the A-weighted sound pressure level (dBA). The A-weighting scale is 
an adjustment to the actual sound pressure levels so that they are consistent with the human 
hearing response. Decibels are measured on a logarithmic scale that quantifies sound intensity in a 
manner similar to the Richter scale used to measure earthquake magnitudes. A doubling of the 
energy of a noise source, such as doubling of traffic volume, would increase the noise level by 3 dB; 
dividing the energy in half would result in a 3 dB decrease (Caltrans 2013).  

Human perception of noise has no simple correlation with sound energy: the perception of sound is 
not linear in terms of dBA or in terms of sound energy. Two sources do not “sound twice as loud” as 
one source. It is widely accepted that the average healthy ear can barely perceive changes of 3 dBA, 
increase or decrease (i.e., twice the sound energy); that a change of 5 dBA is readily perceptible 
(8 times the sound energy); and that an increase (or decrease) of 10 dBA sounds twice (half) as loud 
(10.5 times the sound energy) (Caltrans 2013). Sound changes in both level and frequency spectrum 
as it travels from the source to the receiver. The most obvious change is the decrease in the noise 
level as the distance from the source increases. The manner by which noise reduces with distance 
depends on factors such as the type of sources (e.g., point or line), the path the sound will travel, 
site conditions, and obstructions.  



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

120 

Sound levels are described as either a “sound power level” or a “sound pressure level,” which are 
two distinct characteristics of sound. Both share the same unit of measurement, the dB. However, 
sound power (expressed as Lpw) is the energy converted into sound by the source. As sound energy 
travels through the air, it creates a sound wave that exerts pressure on receivers, such as an 
eardrum or microphone, which is the sound pressure level. Sound measurement instruments only 
measure sound pressure, and noise level limits are typically expressed as sound pressure levels. 

Noise levels from a point source (e.g., construction, industrial machinery, air conditioning units) 
typically attenuate, or drop off, at a rate of 6 dBA per doubling of distance. Noise from a line source 
(e.g., roadway, pipeline, railroad) typically attenuates at about 3 dBA per doubling of distance 
(Caltrans 2013). Noise levels may also be reduced by intervening structures; the amount of 
attenuation provided by this “shielding” depends on the size of the object and the frequencies of 
the noise levels. Natural terrain features, such as hills and dense woods, and man-made features, 
such as buildings and walls, can significantly alter noise levels. Generally, any large structure 
blocking the line of sight will provide at least a 5-dBA reduction in source noise levels at the receiver 
(Federal Highway Administration [FHWA] 2011). Structures can substantially reduce exposure to 
noise as well. The FHWA guidance indicates that modern building construction generally provides an 
exterior-to-interior noise level reduction of 10 dBA with open windows and an exterior-to-interior 
noise level reduction of 20 to 35 dBA with closed windows (FHWA 2011). 

Groundborne vibration of concern in environmental analysis consists of the oscillatory waves that 
move from a source through the ground to adjacent buildings or structures and vibration energy 
may propagate through the buildings or structures. Vibration may be felt, may manifest as an 
audible low-frequency rumbling noise (referred to as groundborne noise), and may cause windows, 
items on shelves, and pictures on walls to rattle. Although groundborne vibration is sometimes 
noticeable in outdoor environments, it is almost never annoying to people who are outdoors. The 
primary concern from vibration is that it can be intrusive and annoying to building occupants at 
vibration-sensitive land uses and may cause structural damage. 

Regulatory Setting 

There are no federal or State plans, policies, laws, or regulations related to noise that are relevant to 
the analysis in this IS-MND. 

Local 

As a special district established in accordance with California Water Code Section 74000 et seq., 
some of United’s activities are exempt from plans, policies, and regulations administered by local 
municipalities. As such, this IS-MND need not, as a matter of law, consider all local plans, policies, 
and regulations that might normally be applicable to similar activities undertaken by a different 
entity. Nevertheless, in the exercise of its discretion, United addresses in this IS-MND those local 
land use plans, policies, and regulations that may be relevant to the proposed project. For the issue 
area of noise, this include the Ventura County General Plan, and Ventura County’s Construction 
Noise Threshold Criteria and Control Plan, as summarized below. 

▪ Ventura County General Plan. The Ventura County General Plan was originally adopted by the 
County Board of Supervisors on May 24, 1988, and since then been amended multiple times. On 
September 15, 2020, the County of Ventura adopted a General Plan Update with a horizon year 
of 2040. Below is a summary of General Plan guidance applicable to noise (County of Ventura 
2020).  



Environmental Checklist 

Noise 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 121 

▪ Policy HAZ-9.1: The County shall prohibit discretionary development which would be impacted 
by noise or generate project-related noise which cannot be reduced to meet the standards 
prescribed in Policy Haz-9.2. This policy does not apply to noise generated during the 
construction phase of a project. 

▪ Policy HAZ-9.2: Noise Compatibility Standards. The County shall review discretionary 
development for noise compatibility with surrounding uses. The County shall determine noise 
based on the following standards: 

1. Noise sensitive uses located near highways, truck routes, heavy industrial activities and 
other relatively continuous noise sources shall incorporate noise control measures so that 
indoor noise levels in habitable rooms do not exceed Community Noise Equivalent Level 
(CNEL) 45 and outdoor noise levels do not exceed CNEL 60 or Leq1H of 65 dB(A) during any 
hour. 

2. Noise generators, proposed to be located near any noise sensitive use, shall incorporate 
noise control measures so that ongoing outdoor noise levels received by the noise sensitive 
receptor, measured at the exterior wall of the building, does not exceed any of the following 
standards: 

i. Leq1H of 55dB(A) or ambient noise level plus 3dB(A), whichever is greater, during any 
hour from 6:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m.; 

ii. Leq1H of 50dB(A) or ambient noise level plus 3dB(A), whichever is greater, during any 
hour from 7:00 p.m. to 10:00 p.m.; and  

iii. Leq1H of 45dB(A) or ambient noise level plus 3dB(A), whichever is greater, during any 
hour from 10:00 p.m. to 6:00 a.m.  

▪  Policy HAZ-9.7: Noise Control Priorities. The priorities for noise control for discretionary 
development shall be as follows: 

1. Reduction of noise emissions at the source. 

2. Attenuation of sound transmission along its path, using barriers, landform modification, 
dense plantings, building orientation and placement, and the like. 

3. Rejection of noise at the reception point using noise control building construction, hearing 
protection or other means. 

▪ Policy HAZ-9.7: Implement Noise Control Measures for Traffic Noise. The County shall require 
noise control measures to be implemented along roadways for new discretionary development 
generating traffic noise if either of the following circumstances would exist: 

 The discretionary development would result in traffic noise levels above a County noise 
compatibility standard stated in Policy HAZ 9.2 in an area where traffic noise levels, under 
existing conditions, do not exceed the County noise compatibility standard; or 

 The discretionary development would result in an increase in traffic noise levels of 3 dBA or 
greater in an area where traffic noise levels under existing conditions exceed a County noise 
compatibility standard stated in Policy HAZ 9.2. 

▪ Ventura County Construction Noise Threshold Criteria and Control Plan. In accordance with 
the County’s Construction Noise Threshold Criteria and Control Plan, construction activities that 
generate noise should be restricted to daytime hours only, from 7:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m. on 
Monday through Friday and from 9:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m. on weekends and holidays. The 
County’s daytime construction noise threshold criteria are shown in Table 14.  



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

122 

Table 14 Daytime Construction Activity Noise Threshold Criteria 

Construction Duration Affecting 
Noise-sensitive Receptors Fixed Leq(h), dBA1 

Hourly Equivalent Noise 

Level (Leq), dBA1, 2, 3 

0 to 3 days 75 Ambient Leq(h), + 3 dB 

4 to 7 days 70 Ambient Leq(h), + 3 dB 

1 to 2 weeks 65 Ambient Leq(h), + 3 dB 

2 to 8 weeks 60 Ambient Leq(h), + 3 dB 

Longer than 8 weeks 55 Ambient Leq(h), + 3 dB 

1 Noise Threshold Criteria shall be the greater of these noise levels at the nearest receptor area or 10 feet from the nearest 

noise-sensitive building 

2 The instantaneous Lmax shall not exceed the NTC by 20 dBA more than 8 times per daytime hour. 
3 Local ambient Leq measurements shall be made on any mid-weekday prior to project work. 

Source: Figure 4 of the County of Ventura Construction Noise Threshold Criteria and Control Plan, November 2005. 

Depending on project duration, the daytime noise threshold criteria shall be the greater of the fixed 
Leq(h) limit (which includes non-construction evening and nighttime noise) or the measured 
ambient Leq(h) plus 3 dBA. 

Environmental Setting 

Noise exposure goals for various types of land uses reflect the varying noise sensitivities associated 
with those uses. The Hazards and Safety Element of the Ventura County General Plan identifies 
noise-sensitive land uses as including: residences; schools; historic sites; cemeteries; parks, 
recreation, and open space areas; hospitals and care facilities; sensitive wildlife habitats, including 
the habitat of rare, threatened, or endangered species; hotels and other short‐term lodging (e.g., 
bed and breakfasts, and motels); places of worship; and libraries (County of Ventura 2020).  

The nearest noise-sensitive receivers to the proposed project sediment management areas are 
single-family homes on agricultural properties located approximately 3,000 feet (approximately 0.6 
mile) northwest of the project site. There is a caretaker’s residence located adjacent to Southern 
Pacific Milling Road (over 8,000 feet [1.5 miles] from the project site), however, the resident is 
employed by United and responsible for overseeing United facilities and therefore is not considered 
noise sensitive.  

The most prevalent sources of noise in the project site vicinity are agricultural activities and 
industrial uses surrounding the project site. A 15-minute noise level measurement was conducted 
on May 28, 2021, to characterize ambient noise levels near existing uses near the project site. An 
Extech Model 407780A ANSI Type 2 integrating sound level meter was used to conduct the 
measurements. Table 15 summarizes the results of the noise measurements. Detailed sound level 
measurement data are included in Appendix D. 

Table 15 Project Site Vicinity Sound Level Monitoring Results – Short-Term 

Measurement Location Sample Times 
Approximate Distance 
to Primary Noise Source 

Leq 
(dBA) 

Lmin 
(dBA) 

Lmax 
(dBA) 

NM1 North of project site 
near existing uses 

12:21 – 12:36 p.m. 75 feet to industrial activities 62 56 80 

Leq = average noise level equivalent; dBA = A-weighted decibel; Lmin = minimum instantaneous noise level; Lmax = maximum 
instantaneous noise level 

Detailed sound level measurement data are included in Appendix D 



Environmental Checklist 

Noise 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 123 

Impact Analysis 

The impact of noise is not a function of loudness alone. The time of day when noise occurs, and the 
duration of the noise are also important factors of project noise impact. Most noise that lasts for 
more than a few seconds is variable in its intensity. Consequently, a variety of noise descriptors 
have been developed. The noise descriptor used for this study is the equivalent noise level (Leq), 
which is one of the most frequently used noise metrics and considers both duration and sound 
power level. The Leq is defined as the single steady-state A-weighted sound level equal to the 
average sound energy over a time period. When no time period is specified, a one-hour period is 
assumed. The Lmax is the highest noise level within the sampling period, and the Lmin is the lowest 
noise level within the measuring period. Normal conversational levels are in the 60 to 65-dBA Leq 
range; ambient noise levels greater than 65 dBA Leq can interrupt conversations (Federal Transit 
Authority [FTA] 2018). 

Community noise is usually measured using Day-Night Average Level (LDN), which is the 24-hour 
average noise level with a +10 dBA penalty for noise occurring during nighttime hours (10:00 p.m. to 
7:00 a.m.). Community noise is also measured using Community Noise Equivalent Level (CNEL or 
LDEN), which is the 24-hour average noise level with a +5 dBA penalty for noise occurring from 7:00 
p.m. to 10:00 p.m. and a +10 dBA penalty for noise occurring from 10:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m. (Caltrans 
2013).5 The dBA penalties account for the tendency of nighttime noise to be more disturbing than 
daytime noise. The relationship between the peak-hour Leq value and the LDN/CNEL depends on the 
distribution of noise during the day, evening, and night; however, noise levels described by LDN and 
CNEL usually differ by 1 dBA or less. Quiet suburban areas typically have CNEL noise levels in the 
range of 40 to 50 CNEL, while areas near arterial streets are in the 50 to 60+ CNEL range (FTA 2018).  

a. Would the project result in generation of a substantial temporary or permanent increase in 
ambient noise levels in the vicinity of the project in excess of standards established in the local 
general plan or noise ordinance, or applicable standards of other agencies? 

Both Phase 1 and Phase 2 of the proposed project would generate temporary noise at the project 
site and in the immediate vicinity. Project-related noise would be characterized by the operation of 
heavy-duty trucks and equipment required to conduct the proposed sediment management 
activities. The same types of equipment would be used during Phase 1 and Phase 2 sediment 
management activities, such that the types of noise associated with the project would be consistent 
across both phases. However, the duration and extent of noise-generating activities associated with 
the project would be greater during implementation of Phase 2 than during Phase 1, due to the 
larger sediment management area, with the project footprint increasing from 1.3 acres under Phase 
1 to up to six acres under Phase 2.  

In order to characterize the project-generated noise for this analysis, noise levels were estimated 
using reference noise levels and equipment use factors from the FHWA Roadway Construction Noise 
Model (RCNM). Noise impacts from Phase 1 and Phase 2 project equipment were assessed from the 
center of the equipment activity area over the time period of one construction workday, and 
accounting for the types of equipment necessary to install the proposed cofferdam (when needed 
for Phase 2 dewatering), conducting sediment management, and demobilizing the sediment 
management event. A conservative approach to noise modeling for the proposed project was used, 
and assumed simultaneous operation of two dozers, an excavator, and a dump truck during both 

 
5 Because DNL and CNEL are typically used to assess human exposure to noise, the use of A-weighted sound pressure level (dBA) is 
implicit. Therefore, when expressing noise levels in terms of DNL or CNEL, the dBA unit is not included. 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

124 

Phase 1 and Phase 2. Maximum hourly noise levels were estimated to be 77 dBA Leq at a distance of 
100 feet (RCNM calculations are included in Appendix D to the IS-MND). 

Per Ventura County’s Construction Noise Threshold Criteria and Control Plan, daytime project 
activities occurring between 7:00 a.m. and 7:00 p.m. on Monday through Friday, and between 9:00 
a.m. and 7:00 p.m. on weekends and holidays, shall not exceed the fixed hourly noise level that is 
based on the duration of project activities or the hourly ambient noise level plus 3 dBA. The closest 
sensitive noise receivers to the proposed project activities consist of a residence located 
approximately 3,000 feet (0.6 mile) northwest of the project site, surrounded by agricultural 
development. Project construction would generate noise levels up to approximately 47 dBA Leq at 
the nearest sensitive receivers. As shown in Table 13, these noise levels do not exceed the daytime 
construction noise threshold of 75 dBA Leq for construction activities occurring zero to three days, 
the 55 dBA Leq for construction activities occurring longer than eight weeks, or 65 dBA Leq (ambient 
plus three dBA). Therefore, Phase 1 and Phase 2 noise impacts from sediment management 
activities would be less than significant. 

LESS THAN SIGNIFICANT IMPACT 

b. Would the project result in generation of excessive groundborne vibration or groundborne noise 
levels? 

Typically, ground-borne vibration generated by manmade activities attenuates rapidly as distance 
from the source of the vibration increases. Vibration amplitudes are usually expressed in peak 
particle velocity (PPV) or root mean squared (RMS) vibration velocity. The PPV and RMS velocity are 
normally described in inches per second (in/sec). PPV is defined as the maximum instantaneous 
positive or negative peak of a vibration signal. PPV is often used as it corresponds to the stresses 
that are experienced by buildings (Caltrans 2020). 

High levels of groundborne vibration may cause damage to nearby building or structures; at lower 
levels, groundborne vibration may cause minor cosmetic (i.e., non-structural damage) such as 
cracks. These vibration levels are nearly exclusively associated with high impact activities such as 
blasting, pile-driving, vibratory compaction, demolition, drilling, or excavation. The American 
Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO) has determined vibration levels 
with potential to damage nearby buildings and structures; these levels are identified in Table 16.  

Table 16 AASHTO Maximum Vibration Levels for Preventing Damage 

Type of Situation Limiting Velocity (in/sec) 

Historic sites or other critical locations  0.1 

Residential buildings, plastered walls  0.2–0.3 

Residential buildings in good repair with gypsum board walls  0.4–0.5 

Engineered structures, without plaster  1.0–1.5 

Source: Caltrans 2020 

Numerous studies have been conducted to characterize the human response to vibration. The 
vibration annoyance potential criteria recommended for use by Caltrans, which are based on the 
general human response to different levels of groundborne vibration velocity levels, are described in 
Table 17.  



Environmental Checklist 

Noise 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 125 

Table 17 Vibration Annoyance Potential Criteria 

Human Response 

Vibration Level (in/sec PPV) 

Transient Sources Continuous/Frequent Intermittent Sources1 

Severe 2.0 0.4 

Strongly perceptible 0.9 0.10 

Distinctly perceptible 0.25 0.04 

Barely perceptible 0.04 0.01 

in/sec = inches per second; PPV = peak particle velocity 

1 Continuous/Frequent intermittent noise sources include impact pile drivers, pogo-stick compactors, crack-and-seat equipment, 
vibratory pile drivers, and vibratory compaction equipment.  

Source: Caltrans 2020 

The County of Ventura has not adopted standards to assess vibration impacts during construction 
and operation. However, Caltrans has developed limits for the assessment of vibration from 
transportation and construction sources, which are reflective of standard practice for analyzing 
vibration impacts on structures from continuous and intermittent sources. The thresholds of 
significance to evaluate vibration impacts are based on the impact criteria shown in Table 16, which 
specifies a limit of 0.20 in/sec PPV before structural damage occurs, and Table 17, which specifies a 
limit of 0.25 in/sec PPV before annoyance occurs. 

Neither Phase 1 nor Phase 2 of the project would involve activities typically associated with 
excessive groundborne vibration such as pile driving or blasting. However, some pieces of 
equipment utilized during project activities would generate vibration; these include loaded trucks 
and bulldozers. The nearest sensitive noise and vibration receptors to the project’s sediment 
management areas consist of a residence located approximately 3,000 feet (approximately 0.6 mile) 
to the northwest. Table 18 provides the estimated maximum vibration levels that could affect this 
receptor during Phase 1 or Phase 2 sediment management activities.  

Table 18 Vibration Levels at Sensitive Receivers 

Equipment Estimated in/sec PPV at Nearest Building (3,000 feet) 

Large Bulldozer 0.0005 

Loaded Truck 0.0004 

Threshold 0.2 

Threshold Exceeded? No 

As shown in Table 18, vibration generated by project equipment would not exceed the threshold at 
which damage can occur to the closest residential structure, 0.20 in/sec PPV, or the threshold at 
which transient vibration sources would be distinctly perceptible of 0.25 in/sec PPV. Therefore, 
vibration impacts would be less than significant. 

LESS THAN SIGNIFICANT IMPACT 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

126 

c. For a project located within the vicinity of a private airstrip or an airport land use plan or, 
where such a plan has not been adopted, within two miles of a public airport or public use 
airport, would the project expose people residing or working in the project area to excessive 
noise levels? 

The airport nearest to the project site is the Santa Paula Airport, located approximately four miles to 
the northeast of the proposed project site. The project site is not located within the noise contours 
of the airport, as shown in Exhibit E6 of the Ventura County Airport Comprehensive Land Use Plan 
(Ventura County ALUC 2000). Therefore, project workers would not be subject to substantial noise 
exposure from airport operations, and no impact would occur.  

NO IMPACT 



Environmental Checklist 

Population and Housing 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 127 

14 Population and Housing 

 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Incorporated 

Less than 
Significant 

Impact No Impact 

Would the project:     

a. Induce substantial unplanned population 
growth in an area, either directly (e.g., by 
proposing new homes and businesses) or 
indirectly (e.g., through extension of 
roads or other infrastructure)? □ □ □ ■ 

b. Displace substantial numbers of existing 
people or housing, necessitating the 
construction of replacement housing 
elsewhere? □ □ □ ■ 

Regulatory Setting 

No federal, State, or local regulations for population and housing are applicable to the proposed 
project. 

Environmental Setting 

The project site is located in the unincorporated area of Ventura County. The population in Ventura 
County decreased from 841,219 in January 2020 to 835,223 in January 2021, representing a 
population decrease of approximately 0.7 percent (DOF 2021). 

Impact Analysis 

a. Would the project induce substantial unplanned population growth in an area, either directly 
(for example, by proposing new homes and businesses) or indirectly (for example, through 
extension of roads or other infrastructure)? 

b. Would the project displace substantial numbers of existing people or housing, necessitating the 
construction of replacement housing elsewhere? 

The proposed project would provide for operation and maintenance of the existing Facility by 
conducting necessary sediment management activities under Phase 1 and, if necessary, Phase 2. 
The project would not introduce new housing or any other infrastructure that may support 
increased population. In addition, the project would not expand or otherwise modify existing 
operation of the Facility, beyond providing sediment management to facilitate operational capacity 
of the Facility. The proposed project would not directly or indirectly induce substantial unplanned 
population growth. Similarly, the proposed project would not displace any people or housing. No 
impact would occur. 

NO IMPACT  



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

128 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

 



Environmental Checklist 

Public Services 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 129 

15 Public Services 

 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Incorporated 

Less than 
Significant 

Impact No Impact 

a. Would the project result in substantial 
adverse physical impacts associated with 
the provision of new or physically altered 
governmental facilities, or the need for 
new or physically altered governmental 
facilities, the construction of which could 
cause significant environmental impacts, 
in order to maintain acceptable service 
ratios, response times or other 
performance objectives for any of the 
public services:     

1 Fire protection? □ □ □ ■ 

2 Police protection? □ □ □ ■ 

3 Schools? □ □ □ ■ 

4 Parks? □ □ □ ■ 

5 Other public facilities? □ □ □ ■ 

Regulatory Setting 

No federal or State regulations for public services are applicable to the proposed project. 

Local 

As a special district established in accordance with California Water Code Section 74000 et seq., 
some of United’s activities are exempt from plans, policies, and regulations administered by local 
municipalities. As such, this IS-MND need not, as a matter of law, consider all local plans, policies, 
and regulations that might normally be applicable to similar activities undertaken by a different 
entity. Nevertheless, in the exercise of its discretion, United addresses in this IS-MND those local 
plans, policies, and regulations that may be relevant to the proposed project. For public services, 
these include the Ventura County General Plan, as summarized below. 

▪ Ventura County General Plan, Section 5, Public Facilities, Services, and Infrastructure Element, 
identifies Policies PFS-11.1 through PFS-11.8, which address Goal PFS-11 to protect the public 
through effective law enforcement, disaster preparedness, and emergency services. 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

130 

Environmental Setting 

The project site is located within the unincorporated area of Ventura County. Law enforcement 
services to this area are provided by the Ventura County Sheriff, and fire protection services are 
provided by the Ventura County Fire Department. Schools, parks, and other public facilities such as 
but not limited to public libraries are managed by the County of Ventura. As discussed in Section 9, 
Hazards and Hazardous Materials, there are no schools located within 0.25 mile of the project site, 
and the nearest school to the project site is Saticoy Elementary School, located approximately 2.5 
miles to the west-southwest of the Facility, in the unincorporated community of Saticoy. The 
nearest park is the Saticoy Community Park located approximately 2.3 miles west of the project site. 

Impact Analysis 

a.1. Would the project result in substantial adverse physical impacts associated with the provision 
of new or physically altered fire protection facilities, or the need for new or physically altered 
fire protection facilities, the construction of which could cause significant environmental 
impacts, in order to maintain acceptable service ratios, response times or other performance 
objectives? 

a.2. Would the project result in substantial adverse physical impacts associated with the provision 
of new or physically altered police protection facilities, or the need for new or physically altered 
police protection facilities, the construction of which could cause significant environmental 
impacts, in order to maintain acceptable service ratios, response times or other performance 
objectives? 

Fire protection services for the project site are provided by the Ventura County Fire Department. As 
discussed in Section 20, Wildfire, the nearest State Responsibility Area (SRA) is located 
approximately 200 feet from the project site. The proposed project would not affect wildfire 
potential associated with the SRA and would not necessitate new or expanded fire protection 
facilities. In addition, the proposed project would provide for continued operation and maintenance 
of the existing Facility and would not introduce new developments requiring fire protection services. 
Furthermore, implementation of the proposed project would not impede access for emergency 
response vehicles or require any temporary traffic closures during project activities. No impacts 
associated with the provision of new or altered fire protection facilities would occur as a result of 
the proposed project.  

Similarly, the proposed project would not necessitate new or expanded police protection facilities, 
because the project would provide for continued operation and maintenance of the existing Facility 
and would not introduce new developments requiring police protection services. No impacts 
associated with the provision of new or altered police protection facilities would occur as a result of 
the proposed project.  

NO IMPACT 



Environmental Checklist 

Public Services 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 131 

a.3. Would the project result in substantial adverse physical impacts associated with the provision 
of new or physically altered schools, or the need for new or physically altered schools, the 
construction of which could cause significant environmental impacts, in order to maintain 
acceptable service ratios or other performance objectives? 

a.4. Would the project result in substantial adverse physical impacts associated with the provision 
of new or physically altered parks, or the need for new or physically altered parks, the 
construction of which could cause significant environmental impacts, in order to maintain 
acceptable service ratios or other performance objectives? 

a.5. Would the project result in substantial adverse physical impacts associated with the provision 
of other new or physically altered public facilities, or the need for other new or physically 
altered public facilities, the construction of which could cause significant environmental 
impacts, in order to maintain acceptable service ratios, response times or other performance 
objectives? 

As discussed in Section 14, Population and Housing, the proposed project would not directly or 
indirectly result in a population increase to the surrounding area. As such, the project would not 
require the provision of new or expanded public facilities, including schools, parks, and other 
facilities such as libraries. In addition, the project would have no impact on existing schools, parks, 
or other public facilities, the nearest of which are at least 2.5 miles away from the project site. 
Therefore, the project would not result in impacts associated with the construction or expansion of 
schools, parks, or other public facilities. No impact would occur. 

NO IMPACT 

 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

132 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 



Environmental Checklist 

Recreation 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 133 

16 Recreation 

 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Incorporated 

Less than 
Significant 

Impact No Impact 

a. Would the project increase the use of 
existing neighborhood and regional parks 
or other recreational facilities such that 
substantial physical deterioration of the 
facility would occur or be accelerated? □ □ □ ■ 

b. Does the project include recreational 
facilities or require the construction or 
expansion of recreational facilities which 
might have an adverse physical effect on 
the environment? □ □ □ ■ 

This section addresses the project’s potential impacts related to recreational uses and facilities. The 
section describes the applicable federal, state, and local regulations and policies related to 
recreation and recreational facilities; discusses the existing parks and other public recreational 
facilities, or lack thereof, in the project site; and analyzes the potential impacts from 
implementation of the project on recreational facilities and opportunities. 

Regulatory Setting 

There are no federal or State plans, policies, laws, or regulations related to recreation that are 
relevant to the analysis in this IS-MND. 

Local 

As a special district established in accordance with California Water Code Section 74000 et seq., 
some of United’s activities are exempt from plans, policies, and regulations administered by local 
municipalities. As such, this IS-MND need not, as a matter of law, consider all local plans, policies, 
and regulations that might normally be applicable to similar activities undertaken by a different 
entity. Nevertheless, in the exercise of its discretion, United addresses in this IS-MND those local 
plans, policies, and regulations that may be relevant to the proposed project. For recreation, these 
include the Ventura County General Plan, as summarized below. 

▪ Ventura County General Plan, Section 5, Public Facilities, Services, and Infrastructure Element, 
identifies Policies PFS-10.1 through PFS-10.9, which address Goal PFS-10 to develop and 
maintain a comprehensive system of parklands and recreational facilities that meet the active 
and passive recreational needs of residents and visitors, as funding is available.  



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

134 

Environmental Setting 

The project site is located within the Santa Clara River channel. The Santa Clara River provides 
various informal recreational opportunities, including inner tubing, kayaking, swimming, wildlife 
viewing, and hiking. However, recreational opportunities downstream of the Facility are limited 
because a large portion of the watershed is privately owned and flows in portions of the mainstem 
of the river are intermittent or nonexistent during the dry summer season. The mainstem of the 
Santa Clara River is closed to recreational fishing for all fish species year-round (i.e., the Santa Clara 
River meets the CDFW definition of an anadromous water that is closed to all fishing all year) (CDFW 
2020). Thus, the lower Santa Clara River watershed does not support a recreational fishery. 

Impact Analysis 

a. Would the project increase the use of existing neighborhood and regional parks or other 
recreational facilities such that substantial physical deterioration of the facility would occur or 
be accelerated? 

b. Does the project include recreational facilities or require the construction or expansion of 
recreational facilities which might have an adverse physical effect on the environment? 

The proposed project would not increase the use of parks or other recreational facilities, because 
the proposed project would facilitate the operation and capacity of the existing Facility, and would 
not increase population such that additional recreational facilities would be required to serve the 
community, and would not remove existing recreational facilities from use. Project activities during 
implementation of the proposed sediment management activities would generate short-term 
impacts that could indirectly affect the recreational enjoyment of undeveloped outdoor spaces 
surrounding the project site, such as from temporary noise and project related traffic. However, 
such effects would be temporary and of short duration, limited to the Phase 1 and Phase 2 
implementation periods. Additionally, there are no formal recreational facilities available for public 
use in the immediate vicinity of the proposed project activities. Although the project site is 
designated as Open Space, due to the presence and operation of the existing Facility, there are no 
recreational opportunities at the project site itself. The proposed project does not include 
expanding existing facilities or constructing new recreation facilities. The proposed project would 
not increase the use of existing recreational facilities and would not result in the degradation of 
recreational facilities. No impact would occur.  

NO IMPACT 



Environmental Checklist 

Transportation 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 135 

17 Transportation 

 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Incorporated 

Less than 
Significant 

Impact No Impact 

Would the project:     

a. Conflict with a program, plan, ordinance 
or policy addressing the circulation 
system, including transit, roadway, 
bicycle and pedestrian facilities? □ □ □ ■ 

b. Conflict or be inconsistent with CEQA 
Guidelines section 15064.3, subdivision 
(b)? □ □ ■ □ 

c. Substantially increase hazards due to a 
geometric design feature (e.g., sharp 
curves or dangerous intersections) or 
incompatible use (e.g., farm equipment)? □ □ □ ■ 

d. Result in inadequate emergency access? □ □ □ ■ 

Regulatory Setting 

No federal or state regulations for transportation are applicable to the proposed project. 

Local 

As a special district established in accordance with California Water Code Section 74000 et seq., 
some of United’s activities are exempt from plans, policies, and regulations administered by local 
municipalities. As such, this IS-MND need not, as a matter of law, consider all local plans, policies, 
and regulations that might normally be applicable to similar activities undertaken by a different 
entity. Nevertheless, in the exercise of its discretion, United addresses in this IS-MND those local 
plans, policies, and regulations that may be relevant to the proposed project. For transportation, 
these include the Ventura County General Plan, as summarized below. 

▪ Ventura County General Plan, Section 4, Circulation Element, identifies Policies CTM-1.1 through 
CTM-1.15, which address Goal CTM-1 to ensure the design, construction, and maintenance of a 
safe and efficient roadway system for the movement of persons and goods.  

Environmental Setting 

Access to the project site would be via Los Angeles Avenue/SR 118 to Southern Pacific Milling Road, 
which is aligned parallel to the south of the Santa Clara River between SR 118 and the project site. 
SR 118 enters Ventura County from Los Angeles County at Rocky Peak Park and terminates at the 
junction with SR 126 in the city of Ventura near Saticoy. SR 118 is considered to be a conventional 
highway throughout its length in Ventura County and has a truck designation of Surface 
Transportation Assistance Act Route/Terminal Access Route (County of Ventura 2020). SR 126, 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

136 

which is located approximately one mile to the northwest of the project site, is an access-controlled 
freeway from U.S. Highway 101 in Ventura through the city of Santa Paula, and a conventional 
highway from that point to the Los Angeles County line (County of Ventura 2020). Primary access to 
the project site will occur via SR 118 to Southern Pacific Milling Road, which is commonly used for 
agricultural operations which are prevalent throughout the county. Project-related vehicles 
traveling to the project site from the north would also travel on SR-126 to reach SR 118.  

Impact Analysis 

a. Would the project conflict with a program, plan, ordinance or policy addressing the circulation 
system, including transit, roadway, bicycle and pedestrian facilities? 

The project would not conflict with any program plan, ordinance, or policies. Existing public and 
private roads would be utilized to deliver equipment, supplies, and workers to and from the project 
site. The project would not require any road closures or result in inadequate emergency access. 
Since no new roads are being developed, the project would not increase hazards due to a geometric 
design feature or incompatible uses. 

NO IMPACT 

b. Would the project conflict or be inconsistent with CEQA Guidelines section 15064.3, subdivision 
(b)? 

CEQA Guidelines Section 15064.3 provides guidance for evaluating a project's transportation 
impacts, and states that VMT is the appropriate measure of transportation impacts. In this context, 
VMT refers to the amount and distance of vehicle travel that is attributable to a project. Subsection 
(b) identifies criteria for analyzing transportation impacts, and item (1) of subsection (b) states that 
in general, projects that are located within one-half mile of either an existing major transit stop or a 
stop along an existing high quality transit corridor should be presumed to cause a less than 
significant transportation impact. The project site is located approximately 2.8 miles upstream of 
Los Angeles Avenue/SR 118, and approximately one mile east of SR 126. While this is greater than 
the 0.5-mile threshold identified in Section 15064(b) for transportation impacts to be presumed less 
than significant, the proposed project is not anticipated to result in VMT that would cause a 
significant transportation impact. 

The number of truck trips associated with project activities will depend upon the project phase 
being implemented; the larger sediment management area under Phase 2 would involve more 
trucks and equipment usage than the smaller sediment management area under Phase 1. However, 
if sediment spoils are hauled via truck for off-site disposal, which is considered in this analysis as a 
potential worst-case scenario for air quality emissions, it is assumed that would occur during Phase 
16. It was further assumed that under Phase 2, excavated sediments would be redistributed within 
the sediment management area, and no excavated sediments would be trucked off-site. Therefore, 
VMT would be higher for Phase 1 than Phase 2. As discussed in the Project Description under “In-
Channel Sediment Management”, United is seeking approvals to conduct these activities on an as-
needed basis, up to once per year. As such, VMT associated with sediment management activities 
under either Phase 1 or Phase 2 of the project would occur up to once per year and would not be 
continuous throughout the year.  

 
6 As discussed in the Project Description and Section 3, Air Quality, the proposed project is designed to balance all cut and fill on-site such 
that off-site disposal of sediment spoils would not occur; however, the air quality emissions calculations account for off-site disposal of 
spoils associated with a portion of the project’s total excavations, to characterize worst-case air quality emissions. 



Environmental Checklist 

Transportation 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 137 

Due to the project site being located near major transportation corridors (SR 118 and SR 126), and 
the temporary nature of sediment management activities being limited to once per year, potential 
impacts to transportation from VMT would be less than significant. In addition, in 2018 the State of 
California OPR issued a Technical Advisory on evaluating transportation impacts in CEQA which 
states that, absent substantial evidence to the contrary, it is reasonable to conclude that the 
addition of 110 or fewer trips could be considered not to lead to a significant impact (OPR 2018). 
The proposed project would not introduce 110 truck trips under either project phase and including 
consideration to off-side sediment spoils disposal under worst-case air quality emissions. Therefore, 
potential impacts of the project would be less than significant. 

LESS THAN SIGNIFICANT IMPACT 

c. Would the project substantially increase hazards due to a geometric design feature (e.g., sharp 
curves or dangerous intersections) or incompatible use (e.g., farm equipment)? 

The proposed project would not modify existing roads and would not cause or result in hazardous 
geometric design features such as sharp curves or dangerous intersections. In addition, the roads 
surrounding the project site are regularly used for agricultural purposes, and trucks such as those 
that would travel to and from the project site during sediment management activities, particularly 
during Phase 1 when excavated sediments would be transported off-site for disposal, would not 
represent an unusual or incompatible use of the area roadways. No impact associated with 
transportation hazards or incompatible uses would occur as a result of the project. 

NO IMPACT 

d. Would the project result in inadequate emergency access? 

The project activities would take place within the Santa Clara River channel at the existing Facility, 
where such activities would not obstruct emergency access or interfere with emergency response 
activities, because no such activities occur in the river channel. In addition, the project would 
include transport of heavy vehicles and equipment to and from the project site, particularly during 
Phase 1 which would involve the off-site transport of sediment spoils under the worst-case scenario 
for air quality emissions; however, this would be limited to the active sediment management 
activities which are anticipated to occur up to once per year, and therefore would be intermittent 
and temporary. Further, the transport of such vehicles and equipment would occur on local 
roadways where such use would not be unusual or incompatible. The proposed project would not 
result in inadequate emergency access. No impact would occur.  

NO IMPACT 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

138 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 



Environmental Checklist 

Tribal Cultural Resources 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 139 

18 Tribal Cultural Resources 

 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Incorporated 

Less than 
Significant 

Impact No Impact 

Would the project cause a substantial adverse 
change in the significance of a tribal cultural 
resource, defined in a Public Resources Code 
Section 21074 as either a site, feature, place, 
or cultural landscape that is geographically 
defined in terms of the size and scope of the 
landscape, sacred place, or object with 
cultural value to a California Native American 
tribe, and that is:     

a. Listed or eligible for listing in the 
California Register of Historical 
Resources, or in a local register of 
historical resources as defined in Public 
Resources Code Section 5020.1(k), or □ □ □ ■ 

b. A resource determined by the lead 
agency, in its discretion and supported by 
substantial evidence, to be significant 
pursuant to criteria set forth in 
subdivision (c) of Public Resources Code 
Section 5024.1. In applying the criteria 
set forth in subdivision (c) of Public 
Resources Code Section 5024.1, the lead 
agency shall consider the significance of 
the resource to a California Native 
American tribe. □ □ □ ■ 

Regulatory Setting 

There are no federal plans, policies, laws, or regulations related to tribal cultural resources that are 
relevant to the analysis in this IS-MND. 

State 

CEQA requires lead agencies to consider whether projects will impact tribal cultural resources. PRC 
Section 21074 states the following: 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

140 

1. “Tribal cultural resources” are either of the following: 

a. Sites, features, places, cultural landscapes, sacred places, and objects with cultural value to 
a California Native American tribe that are either of the following: 

i. Included or determined to be eligible for inclusion in the California Register of Historical 
Resources. 

ii. Included in a local register of historical resources as defined in subdivision (k) of Section 
5020.1. 

b. A resource determined by the lead agency, in its discretion and supported by substantial 
evidence, to be significant pursuant to criteria set forth in subdivision (c) of Section 5024.1. 
In applying the criteria set forth in subdivision (c) of Section 5024.1 for the purposes of this 
paragraph, the lead agency shall consider the significance of the resource to a California 
Native American tribe. 

2. A cultural landscape that meets the criteria of subdivision (a) is a tribal cultural resource to the 
extent that the landscape is geographically defined in terms of the size and scope of the 
landscape.  

3. A historical resource described in Section 21084.1, a unique archaeological resource as defined 
in subdivision (g) of Section 21083.2, or a “nonunique archaeological resource” as defined in 
subdivision (h) of Section 21083.2 may also be a tribal cultural resource if it conforms with the 
criteria of subdivision (a). 

CALIFORNIA NATIVE AMERICAN HISTORICAL, CULTURAL, AND SACRED SITES ACT 

The California Native American Historical, Cultural, and Sacred Sites Act applies to both state and 
private lands. The Act requires that upon discovery of human remains, construction or excavation 
activity cease and the County coroner be notified. If the remains are of a Native American, the 
coroner must notify NAHC, which notifies and has the authority to designate the most likely 
descendant of the deceased. The Act stipulates the procedures the descendants may follow for 
treating or disposing of the remains and associated grave goods. 

HEALTH AND SAFETY CODE, SECTIONS 7050.5 AND 7052 

Section 7050.5 of the Health and Safety Code requires that construction or excavation be stopped in 
the vicinity of discovered human remains until the coroner can determine whether the remains are 
those of a Native American. If determined to be Native American, the coroner must contact the 
NAHC. Section 7052 states that the disturbance of Native American cemeteries is a felony. 

PUBLIC RESOURCES CODE, SECTION 5097 

PRC Section 5097 specifies the procedures to be followed in the event of the unexpected discovery 
of human remains on nonfederal land. The disposition of Native American burial falls within the 
jurisdiction of the NAHC. Section 5097.5 of the Code states the following: 

No person shall knowingly and willfully excavate upon, or remove, destroy, injure, or deface any 
historic or prehistoric ruins, burial grounds, archaeological or vertebrate paleontological site, 
including fossilized footprints, inscriptions made by human agency, or any other archaeological, 
paleontological or historical feature, situated on public lands, except with the express 
permission of the public agency having jurisdiction over such lands. Violation of this section is a 
misdemeanor. 



Environmental Checklist 

Tribal Cultural Resources 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 141 

PUBLIC RESOURCES CODE SECTION 21080.3 

AB 52, signed by the California Governor in September of 2014, established a new class of resources 
under CEQA: “tribal cultural resources,” defined in PRC 21074. Pursuant to PRC Sections 21080.3.1, 
21080.3.2, and 21082.3, lead agencies undertaking CEQA review must, upon written request of a 
California Native American Tribe, begin consultation before the release of an environmental impact 
report, negative declaration, or mitigated negative declaration. AB 52 establishes that “A project 
with an effect that may cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of a tribal cultural 
resource is a project that may have a significant effect on the environment” (PRC Section 21084.2). 
AB 52 further states that the lead agency shall establish measures to avoid impacts that would alter 
the significant characteristics of a tribal cultural resource, when feasible (PRC Section 21084.3).  

PRC Section 21074 (a)(1)(A) and (B) defines tribal cultural resources as “sites, features, places, 
cultural landscapes, sacred places, and objects with cultural value to a California Native American 
tribe” and as those resources which meet one of the following criteria: 

1. Listed or eligible for listing in the California Register of Historical Resources, or in a local 
register of historical resources as defined in PRC Section 5020.1(k) 

2. A resource determined by the lead agency, in its discretion and supported by substantial 
evidence, to be significant pursuant to criteria set forth in subdivision (c) of PRC Section 
5024.1.  

In applying the criteria above for identification of a tribal cultural resource, the lead agency shall 
consider the significance of the resource to a California Native American tribe. AB 52 also 
establishes a formal consultation process for California tribes regarding those resources. The 
consultation process must be completed before a CEQA document can be certified. Under AB 52, 
lead agencies are required to “begin consultation with a California Native American tribe that is 
traditionally and culturally affiliated with the geographic area of the proposed project.” Native 
American tribes to be included in the process are those that have requested notice of projects 
proposed within the jurisdiction of the lead agency.  

Local 

As a special district established in accordance with California Water Code Section 74000 et seq., 
some of United’s activities are exempt from plans, policies, and regulations administered by local 
municipalities. As such, this IS-MND need not, as a matter of law, consider all local plans, policies, 
and regulations that might normally be applicable to similar activities undertaken by a different 
entity. Nevertheless, in the exercise of its discretion, United addresses in this IS-MND those local 
land use plans, policies, and regulations that may be relevant to the proposed project. For tribal 
cultural resources, this include the Ventura County General Plan, which addresses Cultural, Tribal 
Cultural, and Paleontological Resources in Section 4.5 (Ventura County 2020). 

Environmental Setting 

As mentioned in Section 5, Cultural Resources, in January of 2021, United conducted CEQA analysis 
for the Freeman Diversion Fish Passage Facility Geotechnical Exploration Project, which overlaps the 
proposed project (United 2021). Part of the CEQA analysis conducted for the Geotechnical 
Exploration Project included contacting the NAHC to request a Sacred Lands File (SLF) search for the 
project site. Because the proposed project and the Geotechnical Exploration Project are both 
located at the Facility on the Santa Clara River, the NAHC records search results for the Geotechnical 
Exploration Project are considered relevant and applicable to the proposed project. The NAHC 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

142 

returned the SLF request with negative, indicating no known cultural resources were present in the 
Geotechnical Exploration Project site. Although this records search was conducted for a different 
project, the location provided for the records search is the same as the proposed project location; 
therefore, it is reasonably determined that no known cultural resources are present in the proposed 
project site.  

AB 52 requires that consultation is conducted for each applicable proposed project. However, no 
California Native American tribes have requested consultation under AB52, PRC Section 21080.3.1. 
Therefore, there is no trigger for consultation for the proposed project. Impact Analysis 

a. Would the project cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of a tribal cultural 
resource as defined in Public Resources Code Section 21074 that is listed or eligible for listing in 
the California Register of Historical Resources, or in a local register of historical resources as 
defined in Public Resources Code Section 5020.1(k)? 

b. Would the project cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of a tribal cultural 
resource as defined in Public Resources Code 21074 that is a resource determined by the lead 
agency, in its discretion and supported by substantial evidence, to be significant pursuant to 
criteria set forth in subdivision (c) of Public Resources Code Section 5024.1? 

As of the date of this draft, no tribes have requested consultation under AB 52. In addition, based on 
the results of the January 2021 cultural resources study conducted at the project site (United 2021), 
no archaeological resources are known to exist within the project site. Therefore, the project would 
not cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of a tribal cultural resource as defined in 
Public Resources Code Section 21074. No impact would occur.  

NO IMPACT 

 

 



Environmental Checklist 

Utilities and Service Systems 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 143 

19 Utilities and Service Systems 

 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Incorporated 

Less than 
Significant 

Impact No Impact 

Would the project:     

a. Require or result in the relocation or 
construction of new or expanded water, 
wastewater treatment or storm water 
drainage, electric power, natural gas, or 
telecommunications facilities, the 
construction or relocation of which could 
cause significant environmental effects? □ □ □ ■ 

b. Have sufficient water supplies available 
to serve the project and reasonably 
foreseeable future development during 
normal, dry and multiple dry years? □ □ □ ■ 

c. Result in a determination by the 
wastewater treatment provider which 
serves or may serve the project that it 
has adequate capacity to serve the 
project’s projected demand in addition to 
the provider’s existing commitments? □ □ □ ■ 

d. Generate solid waste in excess of State or 
local standards, or in excess of the 
capacity of local infrastructure, or 
otherwise impair the attainment of solid 
waste reduction goals? □ □ □ ■ 

e. Comply with federal, state, and local 
management and reduction statutes and 
regulations related to solid waste? □ □ □ ■ 

This section evaluates the availability of utilities and service systems to support proposed project 
activities, as well as potential impacts of the proposed project on existing utilities and service 
systems. Utilities and service systems include water supply, stormwater conveyance, electrical 
power, natural gas, telecommunication facilities, and solid waste. However, the proposed project 
would not include housing or substantially increase electricity or natural gas demand, and no new 
telecommunication facilities would be needed to serve the project. Therefore, implementation of 
the proposed project would not require or result in the relocation or construction of new or electric 
power, natural gas, or telecommunications facilities, and these topics are not addressed further for 
the purposes of this IS-MND. Accordingly, the analysis provided below is specific to water supply 
and solid waste. Energy use associated with the proposed project is discussed in Section 6, Energy. 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

144 

Regulatory Setting 

Federal 

The federal Safe Drinking Water Act (SDWA) (Public Law 93‐523), passed in 1974, mandates the 
USEPA to regulate contaminants of concern for domestic water supply. Such contaminants are 
defined as those that pose a public health threat or that alter the aesthetic acceptability of a 
domestic water supply. The USEPA set standards known as primary and secondary MCLs to help 
regulate these types of contaminants; MCLs and the process for setting these standards are 
reviewed every three years, and amendments to the federal SDWA enacted in 1986 established an 
accelerated schedule for setting drinking water MCLs. In California, the USEPA has delegated 
responsibility for the drinking water program to the State Water Resources Control Board Division of 
Drinking Water (SWRCB-DDW). The SWRCB-DDW is accountable to the USEPA for program 
implementation and for adoption of standards and regulations that are at least as stringent as those 
developed by the USEPA. 

State 

CALIFORNIA INTEGRATED WASTE MANAGEMENT ACT 

The California Integrated Waste Management Act of 1989 requires all California cities and counties 
to implement programs to reduce, recycle, and compost at least 50 percent of their waste. The 
State determines compliance with this mandate to “divert” 50 percent of generated waste (which 
includes both disposed of and diverted waste) through a formula that compares a “base year” waste 
generation rate against which future diversion is measured. The city or county calculates the 
diversion rate by subtracting the amount of material disposed at landfills annually from the base 
year amount (PRC Section 41780.2). 

CALIFORNIA CODE OF REGULATIONS TITLE 14, NATURAL RESOURCES – DIVISION 7 

CalRecycle, created January 1, 2010, through legislation merging the programs of the former 
California Integrated Waste Management Board and the beverage container recycling program that 
was previously managed by the California DOC, administers and provides oversight for all of 
California’s state-managed waste handling and recycling programs. This section of the California 
Code of Regulations contains current CalRecycle regulations pertaining to all other non-hazardous 
waste management in California. Title 14 Chapter 3 Article 5 describes solid waste storage and 
removal standards that owners and operators must follow, including design requirements for 
proper storage of waste and timing of removal from the site. Chapter 9.1 mandates recycling for any 
commercial or public entity that generates four cubic yards or more of commercial solid waste per 
week. 

Local 

As a special district established in accordance with California Water Code Section 74000 et seq., 
some of United’s activities are exempt from plans, policies, and regulations administered by local 
municipalities. As such, this IS-MND need not, as a matter of law, consider all local plans, policies, 
and regulations that might normally be applicable to similar activities undertaken by a different 
entity. Nevertheless, in the exercise of its discretion, United addresses in this IS-MND those local 
land use plans, policies, and regulations that may be relevant to the proposed project. For utilities 
and service systems, this include Ventura County Ordinance 4421, as summarized below. 



Environmental Checklist 

Utilities and Service Systems 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 145 

Ventura County Ordinance 4421 requires all discretionary permit applicants whose proposed project 
includes construction and/or demolition activities to reuse, salvage, recycle, or compost a minimum 
of 65 percent of the solid waste generated by their project. The County of Ventura Public Works 
Agency (PWA) Integrated Waste Management Division (IWMD) implements a waste diversion 
program that ensures this 65 percent diversion goal is met prior to issuance of a Certificate of 
Occupancy. This provides consistency with the Ventura County General Plan; specifically, Waste 
Treatment and Disposal Facility Goals 4.4.1-1 and 4.4.1-2 and Policies 4.4.2-1, 4.4.2-2, and 4.4.2-6.  

Environmental Setting 

The environmental setting for water supply is discussed in Section 10, Hydrology and Water Quality. 
United provides water supply for agricultural uses across the Oxnard Coastal Plain. However, as 
discussed below, the proposed project would not require a water supply. 

Solid waste in the project area is collected by a private contractor and sent to a local landfill facility. 
The two nearest solid waste disposal facility the Toland Road Landfill, located at 3500 Toland Road 
in unincorporated Ventura County, approximately 13 miles east-northeast from the Facility. Toland 
Road Landfill is managed by the VRSD and accepts solid residential, commercial, non-hazardous 
industrial, and agricultural waste and de-watered sludge. The landfill has a total permitted capacity 
of 30 million cubic yards, and current design capacity of approximately 22.8 million cubic yards; 
accounting for airspace used as of December 2019, the landfill’s remaining capacity is approximately 
8.4 million cubic yards or approximately 7.6 million tons (VRSD 2020). At the current rate of 
landfilling (423,776 tons per year), Toland Road Landfill would reach its design capacity in the year 
2038; however, based on the amount of waste anticipated to be directed to Toland Road Landfill 
(approximately 574,864 tons per year), the landfill would reach its design capacity in the year 2036 
(VRSD 2020). 

Impact Analysis 

a. Would the project require or result in the relocation or construction of new or expanded water, 
wastewater treatment or storm water drainage, electric power, natural gas, or 
telecommunications facilities, the construction or relocation of which could cause significant 
environmental effects? 

The proposed project would not require or result in the relocation or construction of new utilities or 
service systems, including as related to water supply, wastewater, stormwater, electric power, 
natural gas, and telecommunications. Accordingly, the project would not result in impacts 
associated with the relocation or construction of such facilities. No impact would occur.  

NO IMPACT 

b. Would the project have sufficient water supplies available to serve the project and reasonably 
foreseeable future development during normal, dry and multiple dry years? 

The proposed project is part of the operation and maintenance the existing Facility and does not 
constitute new development. Additionally, the proposed project would not introduce a new water 
demand and would therefore not affect the sufficiency of water supplies available to serve 
development within the area. As discussed in Section 10, Hydrology and Water Quality, under 
impact threshold (b), implementation of the proposed sediment management activities would not 
require a water supply and would therefore not decrease groundwater supplies through direct use; 
also as discussed therein, the project would not adversely affect groundwater recharge rates or 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

146 

patterns through the introduction of new impervious surfaces. No impact related to water supply 
availability would occur. 

NO IMPACT 

c. Would the project result in a determination by the wastewater treatment provider which serves 
or may serve the project that it has adequate capacity to serve the project’s projected demand 
in addition to the provider’s existing commitments? 

During implementation of sediment management activities, workers would use on-site portable 
restroom facilities that would be serviced by a designated contractor. The proposed project would 
not generate wastewater, and therefore will not affect the treatment capacity of existing 
wastewater treatment providers. No impact would occur. 

NO IMPACT 

d. Would the project generate solid waste in excess of State or local standards, or in excess of the 
capacity of local infrastructure, or otherwise impair the attainment of solid waste reduction 
goals? 

e. Would the project comply with federal, state, and local management and reduction statutes 
and regulations related to solid waste? 

The proposed project would remove accumulated sediment from within the Santa Clara River 
channel and place removed sediment within designated sediment management areas. As previously 
discussed, the proposed project would redistribute sediment spoils from Phase 1 and Phase 2 
excavations across the total 6-acre sediment management area within the existing river channel. 
However, the worst-case air quality emissions scenario was assumed to include the hauling and off-
site disposal of spoils associated with a portion of the project’s excavations, up to 2,010 cubic yards, 
and that off-site disposal activities would be limited to Phase 1. Should the worst-case air quality 
emissions scenario occur, up to 2,010 cubic yards of spoils would be hauled to Toland Road Landfill, 
approximately 13 miles east-northeast of the Facility, in Santa Paula. As discussed above for “Solid 
Waste”, Toland Road Landfill has sufficient capacity to meet planned solid waste disposal needs 
through the year 2036. In addition, Ventura County’s recent reporting, required under PRC Sections 
41770 and 41822, and Title 14, California Code of Regulations Section 18788, indicates that Ventura 
County has a combined total of over 52 years of disposal capacity available at existing solid waste 
disposal facilities, including the Toland Road Landfill (Ventura County Water and Sanitation 
Department [VCWSD] 2010; Ventura County IWMD 2017).  

Therefore, although the United proposes to balance sediment spoils within the sediment 
management areas for Phase 1 and Phase 2, respectively, under the calculated worst-case scenario 
for air quality emissions, a portion of the project’s sediment spoils would be hauled by truck for off-
site disposal; as discussed above, sufficient disposal capacity is available. Therefore, the project 
would not have an impact associated with solid waste disposal and would comply with applicable 
regulations related to solid waste. No impacts would occur. 

NO IMPACT 



Environmental Checklist 

Wildfire 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 147 

20 Wildfire 

 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Incorporated 

Less than 
Significant 

Impact No Impact 

If located in or near state responsibility areas 
or lands classified as very high fire hazard 
severity zones, would the project:     

a. Substantially impair an adopted 
emergency response plan or emergency 
evacuation plan? □ □ □ ■ 

b. Due to slope, prevailing winds, and other 
factors, exacerbate wildfire risks and 
thereby expose project occupants to 
pollutant concentrations from a wildfire 
or the uncontrolled spread of a wildfire? □ □ □ ■ 

c. Require the installation or maintenance 
of associated infrastructure (such as 
roads, fuel breaks, emergency water 
sources, power lines or other utilities) 
that may exacerbate fire risk or that may 
result in temporary or ongoing impacts 
to the environment? □ □ ■ □ 

d. Expose people or structures to significant 
risks, including downslopes or 
downstream flooding or landslides, as a 
result of runoff, post-fire slope instability, 
or drainage changes? □ □ □ ■ 

This section evaluates the effects of the proposed project’s sediment management activities on 
wildfire and wildfire-related risks. This section provides background and context on wildfire 
concepts, such as wildfire behavior and the wildfire environment for Ventura County. Information 
used in this section was obtained from the Ventura County General Plan, relevant fire and 
emergency-related plans, scientific journal articles, and relevant reports. 

Regulatory Setting 

No federal plans, policies, regulations, or laws related to wildfire are applicable to the proposed 
project. 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

148 

State 

The California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection (CAL FIRE) is dedicated to the fire 
protection and stewardship of over 31 million acres of the state’s privately-owned wildlands. PRC 
Sections 4125-4137 establish that CAL FIRE has the primary financial responsibility of preventing and 
suppressing fires in the State Responsibility Areas (SRA). PRC Section 4290 states that CAL FIRE also 
has responsibility for enforcement of Fire Safe Standards including road standards for fire 
equipment access; standards for signs identifying streets, roads, and buildings; minimum private 
water supply reserves for emergency fire use; fuel breaks and greenbelts. PRC Section 4291 gives 
CAL FIRE the authority to enforce 100 feet of defensible space around all buildings and structures on 
non-federal SRA lands, or non-federal forest-covered lands, brush-covered lands, grass-covered 
lands, or any land that is covered with flammable material.  

Local 

As a special district established in accordance with California Water Code Section 74000 et seq., 
some of United’s activities are exempt from plans, policies, and regulations administered by local 
municipalities. As such, this IS-MND need not, as a matter of law, consider all local plans, policies, 
and regulations that might normally be applicable to similar activities undertaken by a different 
entity. Nevertheless, in the exercise of its discretion, United addresses in this IS-MND those local 
land use plans, policies, and regulations that may be relevant to the proposed project. For the issue 
area of wildfire, this includes Ventura County’s Unit Fire Plan, Multi-Hazard Mitigation Plan, and 
Wildfire Action Plan, as summarized below. 

▪ As part its contract with CAL FIRE, Ventura County has developed a Unit Fire Plan that is part of 
the California Strategic Fire Plan discussed above. The Unit Fire Plan covers all of Ventura 
County, and identifies wildfire risks and clarifies priorities for funding and programs to reduce 
impacts of wildfire on the communities at risk. Building on the Weed Abatement Program 
implemented by VCFD under the authority of the Healthy Forests Restoration Act, the County’s 
Unit Fire Plan documents and prioritizes the projects that stakeholders within communities at 
risk have identified (VCFD 2020). 

▪ The 2015 Ventura County Multi-Hazard Mitigation Plan identifies hazards in the county, 
analyzes risks to people and facilities, and determines mitigation actions and strategies (County 
of Ventura 2015a). Jurisdictions and special districts in the project area participating in the plan 
include United, the City of Ventura, the City of Oxnard, the City of Santa Paula, and the City of 
Fillmore. The County of Ventura also has an EOP for use by all county employees in case of a 
disaster or emergency. The plan outlines the County’s coordinated response by all employees 
and assigns specific responsibilities in the event the plan is activated (County of Ventura 2013). 

▪ The VCFD provides fire protection and emergency response services for the unincorporated 
areas of Ventura County as well as seven cities within the county. Together, these areas 
compose the Ventura County Fire Protection District (VCFPD), which has adopted a local 
ordinance that requires mandatory 100-feet of brush clearance around structures and 10-feet 
for road access located in or adjacent to Hazardous Fire Areas. The Fire Hazard Reduction Unit 
manages this requirement throughout the VCFPD jurisdiction (VCFD 2020). 

The Ventura County Fire Department also maintains guidance documents to help community 
members, especially those that live in or adjacent to the wildland urban interface, to prepare for 
wildfires. The Wildfire Action Plan (Ready, Set, Go! Your Personal Wildfire Action Plan) consists 
of information and checklists for homeowners to prepare themselves and to make their home 
resistant to wildfires and prepare their families to leave early and safely (VCFD 2016). 



Environmental Checklist 

Wildfire 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 149 

Environmental Setting 

Human influence on wildfire is broad and can be substantial. It includes direct influences such as the 
ignition and suppression of fires, and indirect influence through climate change and alterations in 
land use patterns that support modified vegetative regimes and increased development in the 
Wildland-Urban Interface.  

Wildfires are a significant threat in California, particularly in recent years as the landscape responds 
to climate change and decades of fire suppression. As climate change persists, it will produce 
increasing temperatures and drier conditions that will generate abundant dry fuels. All wildfires 
(those initiated by both natural and manmade sources) tend to be larger under drier atmospheric 
conditions and when fed by drier fuel sources (Balch et al. 2017).  

Within an SRA, wildland fire protection is the responsibility of the State, whereas in Local 
Responsibility Areas (LRA), wildland fire protection is the responsibility of city fire departments, fire 
protection district, counties, and CAL FIRE under contract to local government. LRA typically include 
incorporated cities and cultivated agricultural lands. CAL FIRE maintains fire hazard severity zone 
maps for the LRA and SRA. These areas are mapped based on fuels, terrain, weather, and other 
relevant factors. The project site is located within a moderate, high, or very high fire hazard severity 
zone (CAL FIRE 2010, 2021).  

Impact Analysis 

The following analysis considers drivers of wildfire risk, and how project implementation and 
operations and maintenance-related activities could add to such risks or expose people or structures 
to wildfire risk. 

a. If located in or near state responsibility areas or lands classified as very high fire hazard severity 
zones, would the project substantially impair an adopted emergency response plan or 
emergency evacuation plan? 

The nearest SRA to the Facility and the project site is located approximately 200 feet upstream of 
the project site. Implementation of the proposed project would include the transport and use of 
heavy equipment and machinery to the project site to conduct the proposed sediment management 
activities; the presence of such equipment and machinery on local roadways is not unusual due to 
the agricultural uses surrounding the project site which frequently require the transport of similar 
heavy equipment and machinery. Implementation of the project’s sediment management activities 
would not require road closures, including temporary lane closures, and traffic associated with 
project activities would not obstruct access for emergency vehicles. Implementation of the 
proposed sediment management activities would occur within the Santa Clara River channel, where 
project activities would not impede emergency response activities. Therefore, the proposed 
project’s sediment management activities from within the Santa Clara River would not substantially 
impair an adopted emergency response plan or emergency evaluation plan, and there would be no 
impact. 

NO IMPACT 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

150 

b. If located in or near state responsibility areas or lands classified as very high fire hazard severity 
zones, would the project, due to slope, prevailing winds, and other factors, exacerbate wildfire 
risks and thereby expose project occupants to pollutant concentrations from a wildfire or the 
uncontrolled spread of a wildfire? 

As discussed above, the project area is considered subject to moderate, high, or very high fire 
hazard severity risk (CAL FIRE 2010, 2021), and the nearest SRA to the project site is approximately 
200 feet upstream of the sediment management areas. Although there are small variations in 
elevation surrounding the site, the project is located in a relatively level location and is not situated 
on slopes. Sediment management activities would not occur on slopes.  

The project would be implemented in compliance with requirements related to project equipment 
and fire suppressant such that project equipment will be outfitted with standard fire safety features 
such as spark protectors and fire hydrants (PRC Section 4442). Compliance with applicable State 
requirements would provide that project activities would not exacerbate wildfire risk. However, the 
project site and surrounding area would be subject to the same wildfire risk that currently 
characterizes the area. Because the project would follow regulatory compliance measures related to 
project equipment for mitigating wildfire risk and would not expose residents to increased pollutant 
concentrations, the project’s impacts would be less than significant.  

LESS THAN SIGNIFICANT IMPACT 

c. If located in or near state responsibility areas or lands classified as very high fire hazard severity 
zones, would the project require the installation or maintenance of associated infrastructure 
(such as roads, fuel breaks, emergency water sources, power lines or other utilities) that may 
exacerbate fire risk or that may result in temporary or ongoing impacts to the environment? 

The proposed project would not install new infrastructure, as all activities conducted under the 
proposed project would be to implement the proposed sediment management activities. 
Implementation of these activities would not require the installation or maintenance of 
infrastructure such as roads, fuel breaks, emergency water sources, power lines, or other utilities 
that may exacerbate fire risk. Therefore, no impact would occur. 

NO IMPACT 

d. If located in or near state responsibility areas or lands classified as very high fire hazard severity 
zones, would the project expose people or structures to significant risks, including downslopes 
or downstream flooding or landslides, as a result of runoff, post-fire slope instability, or 
drainage changes? 

The proposed project’s sediment management activities would be limited to the Phase 1 and Phase 
2 sediment management areas within the Santa Clara River channel. Project activities would not 
disturb hillsides surrounding the project site and would not involve any activities on slopes that 
could affect slope stability or landslide susceptibility. The project would include implementation of 
erosion control BMPs under the project’s SWPPP, discussed in detail in Section 10, Hydrology and 
Water Quality, as well as under the project design features which include AMM-1, Best 
Management Practices. Additionally, the project would not affect overall drainage patterns of the 
Santa Clara River, other than improving flows through the Facility by providing sediment 
management. The project would not expose people or structures to wildfire risks associated with 
slope stability or drainage patterns, and no impact would occur. 

NO IMPACT 



Environmental Checklist 

Mandatory Findings of Significance 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 151 

21 Mandatory Findings of Significance 

 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Incorporated 

Less than 
Significant 

Impact No Impact 

Does the project:     

a. Have the potential to substantially 
degrade the quality of the environment, 
substantially reduce the habitat of a fish 
or wildlife species, cause a fish or wildlife 
population to drop below self-sustaining 
levels, threaten to eliminate a plant or 
animal community, substantially reduce 
the number or restrict the range of a rare 
or endangered plant or animal or 
eliminate important examples of the 
major periods of California history or 
prehistory? □ □ ■ □ 

b. Have impacts that are individually 
limited, but cumulatively considerable? 
(“Cumulatively considerable” means that 
the incremental effects of a project are 
considerable when viewed in connection 
with the effects of past projects, the 
effects of other current projects, and the 
effects of probable future projects)? □ □ ■ □ 

c. Have environmental effects which will 
cause substantial adverse effects on 
human beings, either directly or 
indirectly? □ □ ■ □ 

a. Does the project have the potential to substantially degrade the quality of the environment, 
substantially reduce the habitat of a fish or wildlife species, cause a fish or wildlife population 
to drop below self-sustaining levels, threaten to eliminate a plant or animal community, 
substantially reduce the number or restrict the range of a rare or endangered plant or animal or 
eliminate important examples of the major periods of California history or prehistory? 

The analysis of the proposed project, as documented in this IS-MND, concludes that implementation 
of the proposed project would not have a significant impact on the environment. As evaluated in 
Section 4, Biological Resources, impacts on biological resources would be less than significant or less 
than significant with mitigation incorporated. The proposed project would not substantially degrade 
the quality of the environment; substantially reduce the habitat of a fish or wildlife species; cause a 
fish or wildlife population to drop below self-sustaining levels; threaten to eliminate a plant or 
animal community; or reduce the number or restrict the range of an endangered, rare, or 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

152 

threatened species. As discussed in Section 5, Cultural Resources, the proposed project would not 
eliminate important examples of the major periods of California history or prehistory. This impact 
would be less than significant. 

LESS THAN SIGNIFICANT IMPACT 

b. Does the project have impacts that are individually limited, but cumulatively considerable? 
(“Cumulatively considerable” means that the incremental effects of a project are considerable 
when viewed in connection with the effects of past projects, the effects of other current 
projects, and the effects of probable future projects)? 

The environmental impact analysis prepared for the proposed project determined that potential 
impacts of project implementation would be less than significant, in some cases with the 
implementation of mitigation measures, and that no potential impacts of the project would be 
significant and unavoidable. A cumulative impact could occur if an impact of the proposed project 
would be similar to impact(s) of other projects within the same geographic and temporal scope of 
the project, also referred to as the “cumulative scenario”, such that impact(s) of the proposed 
project and cumulative project(s) would combine to result in a greater impact, or “cumulative” 
impact. Cumulative impacts may be less than significant, or cumulatively significant.  

The identification of cumulative impacts requires consideration of relevant projects in the 
cumulative scenario. The proposed project site is located in an undeveloped area, within an active 
river channel, co-located with an existing permanent flow diversion facility. As such, the geographic 
extent of the cumulative scenario for the proposed project is limited to the channel of the Santa 
Clara River where the project footprint is located, and other activities within the Santa Clara River 
watershed that are physically coincident with the project and would occur at the same time as the 
project’s sediment management activities, up to once per year. As such, cumulative projects are 
primarily related to other activities of United, including implementation of the MSHCP, and 
conducting maintenance and repairs to other flood control facilities.  

The Freeman Diversion MSHCP, which is currently being analyzed for CEQA purposes, will influence 
how regulatory permits are issued for activities such as those included under the proposed project, 
including for potential impacts to the bed and banks of the Santa Clara River, and the habitat areas 
and species (vegetation and wildlife) that occur within the watershed. The proposed project is not 
anticipated to result in cumulative impacts with the MSHCP, because potential impacts of MSHCP 
implementation to environmental issue areas would largely be beneficial and associated with the 
protection of habitat and species. As discussed above, potential impacts of proposed project 
activities to protected species, including those addressed in the MSHCP, would be less than 
significant or mitigated to a less-than-significant level; as such, the proposed project would not 
result in impacts that would be cumulatively considerable as a result of the MSHCP.  

The Santa Felicia Dam Safety Improvement Project, which is located on Piru Creek, an upstream 
tributary of the Santa Clara River, would include raising the crest of the existing Santa Felicia Dam, 
modifying the spillway, and relocating the outlet-works facility on Piru Creek. These activities would, 
similar to the proposed project, include in-channel construction activities and substantial ground-
disturbing activities, as well as the associated potential to impact local vegetation and wildlife 
species and habitat areas. However, Santa Felicia Dam is located more than 25 miles upstream of 
the project site, and construction of the Santa Felicia Dam Safety Improvement Project would not 
occur until at least several years after the initial sediment management events for the proposed 
project. Additionally, the Santa Felicia Dam Safety Improvement Project is subject to the same 
regulatory permitting requirements as the proposed project, including CWA Section 404 (USACE), 



Environmental Checklist 

Mandatory Findings of Significance 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 153 

CWA Section 401 (Los Angeles RWQCB), and LSAA (CDFW), as well as federal clearances associated 
with licensing of the dam with the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC). It is possible that 
future sediment management events (after the initial implementation of Phase 1) of the proposed 
project could occur coincident to construction of the Santa Felicia Dam Safety Improvement Project; 
however, due to the distance between the project site and Santa Felicia Dam, as well as the 
requirements for compliance with regulatory permits to address potential impacts, this project 
would not result in significant cumulative impacts with the proposed project.  

As discussed in the issue area analyses for the proposed project, neither Phase 1 nor Phase 2 would 
result in significant unavoidable impacts. Of the less than significant project impacts, including those 
that are reduced to a less than significant due to mitigation measures, none are anticipated to 
combine with similar impacts of other projects in the cumulative scenario, due to the limited extent 
of development within the cumulative scenario, and the geographic and temporal separation 
between the proposed project activities and activities of other activities in the cumulative scenario. 
Therefore, potential impacts of the proposed project would not be cumulatively considerable, and 
potential cumulative impacts would be less than significant. 

LESS THAN SIGNIFICANT IMPACT 

c. Does the project have environmental effects which will cause substantial adverse effects on 
human beings, either directly or indirectly?  

The project would result in less than significant impacts and would not cause substantial adverse 
effects on human beings, either directly or indirectly. This impact would be less than significant. 

LESS THAN SIGNIFICANT IMPACT 

 



United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

154 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

 



References 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 155 

References 

Project Description 

FCGMA (Fox Canyon Groundwater Management Agency). 2019. Groundwater Sustainability Plan for 
the Oxnard Subbasin. Available: 
https://fcgma.org/component/phocadownload/category/84-oxnard-subbasin-files. 
Accessed June 2021. 

Ventura County RMA (Resource Management Agency). 2021. Ventura County Non-Coastal Zoning 
Ordinance. Division 8, Chapter 1 of the Ventura County Ordinance Code. Amended 04-13-
21, Effective 05-13-21. Available: 
https://vcrma.org/docs/images/pdf/planning/ordinances/VCNCZO_Current.pdf. Accessed 
July 14, 2021. 

Agricultural Resources 

California DOC (Department of Conservation). 2018. 1984-2018 Land Use Summary. Available: 
https://www.conservation.ca.gov/dlrp/fmmp/Pages/Ventura.aspx. Accessed January 29, 
2021. 

______. 2019. Williamson Act. Available: https://www.conservation.ca.gov/dlrp/wa. Accessed 
January 29, 2021. 

FBVC (Farm Bureau of Ventura County). 2018. Crop & Livestock Report - County of Ventura. 
Available: http://www.farmbureauvc.com/county-crop-data. Accessed January 29, 2021. 

USDA (United States Department of Agriculture). 2017. 2017 Census of Agriculture - County 
Summary Highlights. Available: 
https://www.nass.usda.gov/Publications/AgCensus/2017/index.php. Accessed January 29, 
2021. 

Air Quality 

CARB (California Air Resources Board). 2020. Ambient Air Quality Standards Designation Tool. N.d. 
https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/aaqs-designation-tool (accessed May 2021). 

CDPH (California Department of Public Health). 2020. Epidemiologic Summary of Valley Fever 
(Coccidioidomycosis) in California, 2019. September. 
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/CDPH%20Document%20Library/CocciEpiSu
mmary2019.pdf (accessed June 2021). 

USEPA (United States Environmental Protection Agency). 2018. “Criteria Air Pollutants.” Last 
modified: March 8, 2018. https://www.epa.gov/criteria-air-pollutants (accessed May 2021). 

Ventura County Air Pollution Control District (VCAPCD). 2003. Ventura County Air Quality 
Assessment Guidelines. http://www.vcapcd.org/pubs/Planning/VCAQGuidelines.pdf 
(accessed May 2021).  

______. 2017. 2016 Ventura Country Air Quality Management Plan. February. 
http://www.vcapcd.org/pubs/Planning/AQMP/2016/Final/Final-2016-Ventura-County-
AQMP.pdf (accessed June 2021).  

https://fcgma.org/component/phocadownload/category/84-oxnard-subbasin-files
https://vcrma.org/docs/images/pdf/planning/ordinances/VCNCZO_Current.pdf
https://www.epa.gov/criteria-air-pollutants


United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

156 

______. 2020. Air Quality Trends – Ventura County Air Pollution Control District. Presented at 
County of Ventura Board of Supervisors Meeting on February 11, 2020. 

Biological Resources 

California Native Plant Society (CNPS). 2021. Inventory of Rare and Endangered Plants (online 
edition, V8-03 0.39). http://www.rareplants.cnps.org/. Accessed February 2021. 

Griffith, J.T., and J.C. Griffith. 2000. Cowbird Control and the Endangered Least Bell's Vireo: A 
Management Success Story. Ecology and Management of Cowbirds and their Hosts: Studies 
in the Conservation of North American Passerine Birds. Austin, TX: University of Texas Press. 
342. 

Laymon, S. A. 1998. Yellow-billed Cuckoo (Coccycus americanus). In The Riparian Bird Conservation 
Plan:a strategy for reversing the decline of riparian-associated birds in California. California 
Partners in Flight. http://www.prbo.org/calpif/htmldocs/riparian_v-2.html 

NatureServe. 2016. NatureServe Explorer: An online encyclopedia of life. [web application]. Version 
7.1. NatureServe, Arlington, Virginia. http://www.natureserve.org/explorer. Accessed May 
2016. 

Sawyer, J. O., T. Keeler-Wolf, and J.M. Evens. 2009. A Manual of California Vegetation, Second 
Edition. California Native Plant Society, Sacramento, California. 

Shuford, W. D., and T. Gardali (editors). 2008. California Bird Species of Special Concern: A ranked 
assessment of species, subspecies, and distinct populations of birds of immediate 
conservation concern in California. Studies of Western Birds No. 1. Western Field 
Ornithologists, Camarillo, California and California Department of Fish and Game, 
Sacramento, California. 

Sogge et al. 2010. A natural history summary and survey protocol for the southwestern willow 
flycatcher: U.S. Geological Survey Techniques and Methods 2A-10, 38 p. 

South Coast Wildlands. 2008. South Coast Missing Linkages: A Wildland Network for the South Coast 
Ecoregion. http://www.scwildlands.org/reports/SCMLRegionalReport.pdf. 

United Water Conservation District (United). 2020. Multiple Species Habitat Conservation Plan. 
Pending Approval. 

Cultural Resources 

County of Ventura 2020. Ventura County 2040 General Plan. Available at: 
https://vc2040.org/review/documents. Accessed June 2021.  

NETR Online. 2021. Historic Aerials. Available: https://www.historicaerials.com/viewer. Accessed 
June 2021.  

NPS (National Park Service). 1983. Archaeology and Historic Preservation: Secretary of the Interior’s 
Standards and Guidelines. Electronic document accessed December 6, 2011. Online at 
http://www.nps.gov/history/local-law/Arch_Standards.htm. 

United (United Water Conservation District). 2021. Draft Initial Study/Proposed Mitigated Negative 
Declaration Freeman Diversion Fish Passage Facility Geotechnical Exploration Project, 
prepared by GEI Consultants, Inc. 

http://www.rareplants.cnps.org/
http://www.prbo.org/calpif/htmldocs/riparian_v-2.html
http://www.natureserve.org/explorer.%20Accessed%20May%202016
http://www.natureserve.org/explorer.%20Accessed%20May%202016
http://www.scwildlands.org/reports/SCMLRegionalReport.pdf
https://vc2040.org/review/documents
https://www.historicaerials.com/viewer
https://nam10.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.nps.gov%2Fhistory%2Flocal-law%2FArch_Standards.htm&data=04%7C01%7C%7Cba5905f8bcd445662c2f08d92f6dae34%7C0601450f05594ee5b99257193f29a7f8%7C0%7C0%7C637592970421155048%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=CAvIm2pdcym7wbcFdYdh%2FU2SJikU%2BJC%2FB3tX9i2tvbU%3D&reserved=0


References 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 157 

Energy 

CDF (California Department of Finance). 2021. “E-5 Population and Housing Estimates for Cities, 
Counties, and the State, 2011-2021 with 2010 Census Benchmark.” May 2021. 
https://www.dof.ca.gov/Forecasting/Demographics/Estimates/e-5/ (accessed May 2021). 

CEC (California Energy Commission). 2020. “California Retail Fuel Outlet Annual Reporting (CEC-A15) 
Results.” https://www.energy.ca.gov/data-reports/energy-almanac/transportation-
energy/california-retail-fuel-outlet-annual-reporting (accessed May 2021). 

______. 2021. “California’s Petroleum Market.” https://www.energy.ca.gov/data-reports/energy-
almanac/californias-petroleum-market (accessed May 2021). 

USEIA (United States Energy Information Administration). 2021. California State Profile and Energy 
Estimates. February 18, 2021. https://www.eia.gov/state/?sid=CA (accessed May 2021). 

Geology and Soils 

CCC (California Coastal Conservancy). 2008. Santa Clara River Parkway Floodplain Restoration 
Feasibility Study. Available: 
http://parkway.scrwatershed.org/wkb/scrbiblio/techreportreference.2008-11-
03.4888377697/attachment_download/Feasibility%20report_FINAL_compressed.pdf. 
Accessed February 1, 2021. 

California DOC (Department of Conservation). 2021. Earthquake Zones of Required Investigation. 
Available: https://maps.conservation.ca.gov/cgs/EQZApp/app/. Accessed February 1, 2021. 

______. 2015. Fault Activity Map of California. Available: 
https://maps.conservation.ca.gov/cgs/fam/. Accessed February 1, 2021. 

______. 2007. Special Publication 42. Fault-Rupture Hazard Zones in California. William A Bryant and 
Earl W. Hart. Available: 
https://www.contracosta.ca.gov/DocumentCenter/View/34150/Hart-2007-SP-42-AP-Zones-
PDF?bidId=. Accessed February 1, 2021. 

Rockwell, Thomas K. 1988. Neotectonics of the San Cayetano Fault, Transverse Ranges, California. 
Published in Geological Society of American Bulletin. April. Available: 
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/249526177_Neotectonics_of_the_San_Cayetan
o_Fault_Transverse_Ranges_California. Accessed February 1, 2021. 

Ventura County et. al. (Unincorporated Ventura County, City of Camarillo, City of Fillmore, City of 
Ojai, City of Oxnard, City of Port Hueneme, City of Santa Paula, City of Thousand Oaks, City 
of Ventura, Calleguas Municipal Water District, Casitas Municipal Water District, Channel 
Islands Beach Community Services, Ojai Valley Sanitary District, United Water Conservation 
District, Ventura County Fire Protection District, Ventura County Watershed Protection 
District). 2015. Ventura County Multi-Hazard Mitigation Plan. September. Available: 
http://www.vcfloodinfo.com/pdf/2015%20Ventura%20County%20Multi-
Hazard%20Mitigation%20Plan%20and%20Appendices.pdf. Accessed February 1, 2021. 

Ventura County. 2020. Background Report – All Sections. Available: 
https://docs.vcrma.org/images/pdf/planning/plans/Background_Report_-_All_Sections_-
_September_2020.pdf. Accessed January 29, 2021. 

https://www.eia.gov/state/?sid=CA
https://docs.vcrma.org/images/pdf/planning/plans/Background_Report_-_All_Sections_-_September_2020.pdf
https://docs.vcrma.org/images/pdf/planning/plans/Background_Report_-_All_Sections_-_September_2020.pdf


United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

158 

Greenhouse Gas Emissions 

California OPR et al. (California Office of Planning and Research [OPR], California Energy Commission 
[CEC]; California Natural Resources Agency [CNRA]). 2018. California’s Fourth Climate 
Change Assessment Statewide Summary Report. August 27, 2018. 
https://www.energy.ca.gov/sites/default/files/2019-11/Statewide_Reports-SUM-CCCA4-
2018-013_Statewide_Summary_Report_ADA.pdf. Accessed May 2021.   

California Air Pollution Control Officers Association. 2008. CEQA & Climate Change. January. 
http://www.capcoa.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/03/CAPCOA-White-Paper.pdf (accessed 
May 2021).  

CARB (California Air Resources Board). 2017. California’s 2017 Climate Change Scoping Plan. 
December 14, 2017. https://www.arb.ca.gov/cc/scopingplan/scoping_plan_2017.pdf 
(accessed May 2021).  

IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change). 2007. Summary for Policymakers. In: Climate 
Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth 
Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. 
https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/2018/02/ar4-wg1-spm-1.pdf (accessed May 
2021). 

______. 2014. Climate Change 2014 Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to 
the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Core 
Writing Team, R.K. Pachauri and L.A. Meyer (eds.)]. IPCC, Geneva, Switzerland. 

SCAQMD (South Coast Air Quality Management District). 2008. Attachment E – Draft Guidance 
Document – Interim CEQA Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Significance Threshold. 
http://www.aqmd.gov/docs/default-source/ceqa/handbook/greenhouse-gases-(ghg)-ceqa-
significance-thresholds/ghgattachmente.pdf (accessed May 2021). 

______. 2010. Minutes for the GHG CEQA Significance Threshold Stakeholder Working Group #15. 
http://www.aqmd.gov/docs/default-source/ceqa/handbook/greenhouse-gases-(ghg)-ceqa-
significance-thresholds/year-2008-2009/ghg-meeting-15/ghg-meeting-15-minutes.pdf 
(accessed May 2021).  

USEPA (United States Environmental Protection Agency). 2021. “Climate Change Indicators: 
Atmospheric Concentrations of Greenhouse Gases.” Last modified: April 2021. 
epa.gov/climate-indicators/climate-change-indicators-atmospheric-concentrations-
greenhouse-gases (accessed May 2021).  

Hazards and Hazardous Materials 

DTSC (Department of Toxic Substances Control). 2021. EnviroStor. Available: 
https://www.envirostor.dtsc.ca.gov/public/map/. Accessed February 3, 2021. 

SWRCB (State Water Resources Control Board). 2021. GeoTracker. Available: 
https://geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/map/. Accessed February 3, 2021. 

Ventura County ALUC (Airport Land Use Commission). 2000. Airport Comprehensive Land Use Plan 
for Ventura County. Available: https://w3b5w9f7.rocketcdn.me/wp-
content/uploads/2018/03/2000-airport-land-use-for-ventura-county.pdf. Accessed 
February 3, 2021. 

https://www.energy.ca.gov/sites/default/files/2019-11/Statewide_Reports-SUM-CCCA4-2018-013_Statewide_Summary_Report_ADA.pdf
https://www.energy.ca.gov/sites/default/files/2019-11/Statewide_Reports-SUM-CCCA4-2018-013_Statewide_Summary_Report_ADA.pdf
https://www.arb.ca.gov/cc/scopingplan/scoping_plan_2017.pdf
http://www.aqmd.gov/docs/default-source/ceqa/handbook/greenhouse-gases-(ghg)-ceqa-significance-thresholds/year-2008-2009/ghg-meeting-15/ghg-meeting-15-minutes.pdf
http://www.aqmd.gov/docs/default-source/ceqa/handbook/greenhouse-gases-(ghg)-ceqa-significance-thresholds/year-2008-2009/ghg-meeting-15/ghg-meeting-15-minutes.pdf


References 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 159 

Ventura County OES (Office of Emergency Services). 2021. Ventura County Operational Area – 
Emergency Operations Plan. Available: https://www.readyventuracounty.org/ventura-
county-emergency-operations-plan-update-2021/. Accessed February 3, 2021. 

Hydrology and Water Quality 

California DOC (California Department of Conservation). 2009. Tsunami Inundation Map for 
Emergency Planning - Oxnard Quadrangle. February 15. Available: 
https://www.conservation.ca.gov/cgs/Documents/Publications/Tsunami-
Maps/Tsunami_Inundation_Oxnard_Quad_Ventura.pdf. Accessed February 1, 2021. 

DWR (Department of Water Resources). 2004. California’s Groundwater Bulletin 118. Hydrologic 
Region – South Coast. Santa Clara River Valley Groundwater Basin, Santa Paula Subbasin. 
Available: https://water.ca.gov/-/media/DWR-Website/Web-
Pages/Programs/Groundwater-Management/Bulletin-118/Files/2003-Basin-
Descriptions/4_004_04_SantaPaulaSubbasin.pdf. Accessed January 29, 2021. 

FEMA (Federal Emergency Management Agency). 2021. FEMA Flood Hazard Map. Available: 
https://vcwpd.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=7e65cd9797524a3a974
17a976c3b7a65. Accessed February 1, 2021. 

Fox Canyon GMA (Groundwater Management Agency). 2020. Project Committee Progress Update 
11/17/2020. Summary of Projects & Optimization Measures under Consideration. Available: 
http://fcgmasustainability.org/wp-
content/uploads/2020/11/01_Project_Committee_Overview.pdf. Accessed January 29, 
2021. 

Los Angeles RWQCB (Regional Water Quality Control Board). 2020. Basin Plan for the Coastal 
Watersheds of Los Angeles and Ventura Counties. Chapter 2: Beneficial Uses Tables. 
Available: 
https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/losangeles/water_issues/programs/basin_plan/2020/Cha
pter_2/Chapter_2_Table_2-1/Chapter_2_-_Table_2-1.pdf. Accessed February 2, 2021. 

______. Ventura County MS4 Permit. Last updated 01/30/2019. Available: 
https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/losangeles/water_issues/programs/stormwater/municipa
l/ventura.html. Accessed July 15, 2021. 

______. 2010. Order R4-2010-0108 NPDES Permit No. CAS004002. Waste Discharge Requirements 
for Stormwater and Non-stormwater Discharges from the Municipal Separate Storm Sewer 
Systems within the Ventura County Watershed Protection District, County of Ventura, and 
the Incorporated Cities Therein. July 8. Available: 
https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/losangeles/water_issues/programs/stormwater/municipa
l/ventura_ms4/AdoptedVenturaCountyms4/Order.pdf. Accessed January 29, 2021. 

USEPA (United States Environmental Protection Agency). Tier 2 Antidegradation Reviews and 
Significance Thresholds. Available: https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2014-
08/documents/tier2memo.pdf. Accessed January 29, 2021.  

USGS (U.S. Geological Survey). 2003. Simulation of Ground-Water/Surface-Water Flow in the Santa 
Clara-Calleguas Basin, Ventura County, California. Available: 
https://pubs.usgs.gov/wri/wri024136/wrir024136.pdf. Accessed January 29, 2021. 

https://www.conservation.ca.gov/cgs/Documents/Publications/Tsunami-Maps/Tsunami_Inundation_Oxnard_Quad_Ventura.pdf
https://www.conservation.ca.gov/cgs/Documents/Publications/Tsunami-Maps/Tsunami_Inundation_Oxnard_Quad_Ventura.pdf
https://water.ca.gov/-/media/DWR-Website/Web-Pages/Programs/Groundwater-Management/Bulletin-118/Files/2003-Basin-Descriptions/4_004_04_SantaPaulaSubbasin.pdf
https://water.ca.gov/-/media/DWR-Website/Web-Pages/Programs/Groundwater-Management/Bulletin-118/Files/2003-Basin-Descriptions/4_004_04_SantaPaulaSubbasin.pdf
https://water.ca.gov/-/media/DWR-Website/Web-Pages/Programs/Groundwater-Management/Bulletin-118/Files/2003-Basin-Descriptions/4_004_04_SantaPaulaSubbasin.pdf
https://vcwpd.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=7e65cd9797524a3a97417a976c3b7a65
https://vcwpd.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=7e65cd9797524a3a97417a976c3b7a65
http://fcgmasustainability.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/01_Project_Committee_Overview.pdf
http://fcgmasustainability.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/01_Project_Committee_Overview.pdf
https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/losangeles/water_issues/programs/basin_plan/2020/Chapter_2/Chapter_2_Table_2-1/Chapter_2_-_Table_2-1.pdf
https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/losangeles/water_issues/programs/basin_plan/2020/Chapter_2/Chapter_2_Table_2-1/Chapter_2_-_Table_2-1.pdf
https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/losangeles/water_issues/programs/stormwater/municipal/ventura_ms4/AdoptedVenturaCountyms4/Order.pdf
https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/losangeles/water_issues/programs/stormwater/municipal/ventura_ms4/AdoptedVenturaCountyms4/Order.pdf
https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2014-08/documents/tier2memo.pdf
https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2014-08/documents/tier2memo.pdf
https://pubs.usgs.gov/wri/wri024136/wrir024136.pdf


United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

160 

Ventura County. 2020. Background Report – All Sections. Available: 
https://docs.vcrma.org/images/pdf/planning/plans/Background_Report_-_All_Sections_-
_September_2020.pdf. Accessed January 29, 2021. 

VCSQMP (Ventura Countywide Stormwater Quality Management Program). 2021. Tentative 
Regional MS4 Permit. Available: https://www.vcstormwater.org/. Accessed January 29, 
2021. 

VCWPD (Ventura County Watershed Protection District). 2015. Lower Santa Clara River Salt and 
Nutrient Management Plan. April. Available: 
https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/losangeles/water_issues/programs/salt_and_nutrient_m
anagement/docs/2015/June/Section1LSCRSNMP06-24-15revrl.pdf. Accessed January 29, 
2021. 

______. 2013. Ventura County Hydromodification Control Plan (HCP). September. Available: 
https://vcstormwater.org/images/stories/NPDES_Documents/Ventura%20County%20HCP%
20Final%20Draft%2009-26-2013.pdf. Accessed January 29, 2021. 

Noise 

Caltrans (California Department of Transportation). 2013. Technical Noise Supplement to the Traffic 
Noise Analysis Protocol. (CT-HWANP-RT-13-069.25.2) September. 
http://www.dot.ca.gov/hq/env/noise/pub/TeNS_Sept_2013B.pdf. Accessed June 2021.  

______. 2020. Transportation and Construction Vibration Guidance Manual (CT-HWANP-RT-20-
365.01.01). April. https://dot.ca.gov/-/media/dot-media/programs/environmental-
analysis/documents/env/tcvgm-apr2020-a11y.pdf. Accessed June 2021.  

FHWA (Federal Highway Administration). 2011. Highway Traffic Noise: Analysis and Abatement 
Guidance. December 2011. 
https://www.fhwa.dot.gov/environment/noise/regulations_and_guidance/analysis_and_ab
atement_guidance/revguidance.pdf. Accessed June 2021. 

FTA (Federal Transit Administration). 2018. Transit Noise and Vibration Impact Assessment Manual. 
https://www.transit.dot.gov/sites/fta.dot.gov/files/docs/research-
innovation/118131/transit-noise-and-vibration-impact-assessment-manual-fta-report-no-
0123_0.pdf (accessed June 2021). 

Ventura County. 2020. Ventura County 2040 General Plan, Hazards and Safety Element. Available at: 
https://vc2040.org/review/documents. Accessed June 2021.  

Ventura County ALUC (Airport Land Use Commission). 2000. Airport Comprehensive Land Use Plan 
Update for Ventura County. Available at: https://www.goventura.org/wp-
content/uploads/2018/03/2000-airport-land-use-for-ventura-county.pdf. Accessed June 
2021. 

Recreation 

CDFW (California Department of Fish and Wildlife). 2020. California Freshwater Sport Fishing 
Regulations: Effective March 1, 2020 through February 29, 2021. Available: 
https://nrm.dfg.ca.gov/FileHandler.ashx?DocumentID=177572&inline. Accessed February 
2021. 

https://docs.vcrma.org/images/pdf/planning/plans/Background_Report_-_All_Sections_-_September_2020.pdf
https://docs.vcrma.org/images/pdf/planning/plans/Background_Report_-_All_Sections_-_September_2020.pdf
https://www.vcstormwater.org/
https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/losangeles/water_issues/programs/salt_and_nutrient_management/docs/2015/June/Section1LSCRSNMP06-24-15revrl.pdf
https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/losangeles/water_issues/programs/salt_and_nutrient_management/docs/2015/June/Section1LSCRSNMP06-24-15revrl.pdf
https://vcstormwater.org/images/stories/NPDES_Documents/Ventura%20County%20HCP%20Final%20Draft%2009-26-2013.pdf
https://vcstormwater.org/images/stories/NPDES_Documents/Ventura%20County%20HCP%20Final%20Draft%2009-26-2013.pdf
http://www.dot.ca.gov/hq/env/noise/pub/TeNS_Sept_2013B.pdf
https://dot.ca.gov/-/media/dot-media/programs/environmental-analysis/documents/env/tcvgm-apr2020-a11y.pdf
https://dot.ca.gov/-/media/dot-media/programs/environmental-analysis/documents/env/tcvgm-apr2020-a11y.pdf
https://www.fhwa.dot.gov/environment/noise/regulations_and_guidance/analysis_and_abatement_guidance/revguidance.pdf
https://www.fhwa.dot.gov/environment/noise/regulations_and_guidance/analysis_and_abatement_guidance/revguidance.pdf
https://vc2040.org/review/documents
https://www.goventura.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/2000-airport-land-use-for-ventura-county.pdf
https://www.goventura.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/2000-airport-land-use-for-ventura-county.pdf


References 

 

Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration 161 

United (United Water Conservation District). 2011. Santa Felicia Whitewater Boating Access Plan. 
Available: https://www.unitedwater.org/wp-
content/uploads/2020/09/whitewater_plan_11_2011.pdf. Accessed February 9, 2021. 

______. 2016. Santa Felicia Project Recreation Trail Plan. Available: 
https://www.unitedwater.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/UWCD_RecreationTrailPlan_4-
1-16.pdf. Accessed February 9, 2021. 

______. 2018. Lake Piru Recreation Area Recreation Management Plan. Available: 
https://www.unitedwater.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/Lake-Piru-Final-RMP-FINAL-
2018-09-14.pdf. Accessed February 9, 2021. 

Transportation 

OPR (California Office of Planning and Research). 2018. Technical Advisory on Evaluating 
Transportation Impacts in CEQA. December. Historic Aerials. Available: 
https://opr.ca.gov/docs/20190122-743_Technical_Advisory.pdf. Accessed July 2021.  

Tribal Cultural Resources 

NETR Online. 2021. Historic Aerials. Available: https://www.historicaerials.com/viewer. Accessed 
June 2021.  

United (United Water Conservation District). 2021. Draft Initial Study/Proposed Mitigated Negative 
Declaration Freeman Diversion Fish Passage Facility Geotechnical Exploration Project, 
prepared by GEI Consultants, Inc. 

Utilities and Service Systems 

Ventura County IWMD (Integrated Waste Management District). 2017. Eco-Tip for 7-30-17. Annual 
Recycling and Landfill Reports. Available: 
http://pwaportal.ventura.org/WSD/News%20&%20Events/News%20Publications/docs/Ann
ual%20Report%20on%20Recycling%20and%20Disposal%20for%207-30-17.pdf. Accessed 
June 2021. 

VCWSD (Ventura County Water and Sanitation Department). 2010. Five-Year CIWMP/RAIWMP 
Review Report. Available: https://venturacog.org/documents/Attach05-2010.pdf. Accessed 
June 2021. 

VRSD (Ventura Regional Sanitary District). 2020. Final Environmental Impact Report for the Toland 
Optimization Plan. Available: https://www.vrsd.com/wp-
content/uploads/2020/10/Toland_Optimization_Plan_-
_Final_Supplemental_Environmental_Impact_Report.pdf. Accessed June 2021. 

Wildfire 

Balch, J. K., B. A. Bradley, J. T. Abatzoglou, R. C. Nagy, E. J. Fusco, and A. L. Mahood. 2017 (March 
14). Human-started wildfires expand the fire nice across the United States. Proceedings of 
the National Academy of Sciences 114(11):2946-2951 

https://opr.ca.gov/docs/20190122-743_Technical_Advisory.pdf
https://www.historicaerials.com/viewer
http://pwaportal.ventura.org/WSD/News%20&%20Events/News%20Publications/docs/Annual%20Report%20on%20Recycling%20and%20Disposal%20for%207-30-17.pdf
http://pwaportal.ventura.org/WSD/News%20&%20Events/News%20Publications/docs/Annual%20Report%20on%20Recycling%20and%20Disposal%20for%207-30-17.pdf
https://venturacog.org/documents/Attach05-2010.pdf
https://www.vrsd.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/Toland_Optimization_Plan_-_Final_Supplemental_Environmental_Impact_Report.pdf
https://www.vrsd.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/Toland_Optimization_Plan_-_Final_Supplemental_Environmental_Impact_Report.pdf
https://www.vrsd.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/Toland_Optimization_Plan_-_Final_Supplemental_Environmental_Impact_Report.pdf


United Water Conservation District 

Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 

 

162 

CAL FIRE (California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection). 2010. Ventura County Very High 
Fire Hazard Severity Zones in LRA As Recommended by CALFIRE. Available: 
https://osfm.fire.ca.gov/divisions/wildfire-planning-engineering/wildland-hazards-building-
codes/fire-hazard-severity-zones-maps/. Accessed February 3, 2021. 

______. 2018. 2018 Strategic Fire Plan for California. August 22. Available: 
https://osfm.fire.ca.gov/media/5590/2018-strategic-fire-plan-approved-08_22_18.pdf. 
Accessed May 21, 2021. 

______. 2021. FHSZ Viewer. Available: https://egis.fire.ca.gov/FHSZ/. Accessed January 31, 2021. 

County of Ventura. 2013. Emergency Operations Plan. Available: 
http://bosagenda.countyofventura.org/sirepub/cache/2/wop3bqxdyyyxpgw4uk0weiub/599
26602032021030718494.PDF. Accessed February 3, 2021. 

______. 2015a. 2015 Ventura County Multi-Hazard Mitigation Plan. Available: 
http://www.vcfloodinfo.com/resources/ventura-county-hazards-mitigation-plan. Accessed 
February 3, 2021. 

______. 2020. Ventura County 2040 General Plan. Available: https://vcrma.org/ventura-county-
general-plan. Accessed February 3, 2021. 

VCFPD (Ventura County Fire Protection District). 2020. Unit Strategic Fire Plan. Available: 
https://osfm.fire.ca.gov/divisions/wildfire-planning-engineering/fire-plan/. Accessed 
February 3, 2021. 

VCFD (Ventura County Fire Department). 2016. Ready, Set, Go! Your Personal Wildfire Action Plan. 
Available: https://vcfd.org/public-info/ready-set-go/. Accessed February 3, 2021. 

______. 2020. Fire Hazard Reduction Program (FHRP). Available: https://vcfd.org/fire-
prevention/fire-hazard-reduction-program-fhrp/. Accessed February 3, 2021. 

List of Preparers 

Rincon Consultants, Inc. prepared this IS-MND under contract to the United Water Conservation 
District. Persons involved in data gathering analysis, project management, and quality control are 
listed below. 

RINCON CONSULTANTS, INC. 

Jennifer Haddow, PhD, Principal-in-Charge 
Aubrey Mescher, Senior Environmental Planner, Project Manager 
Steven Hongola, Biological Resources Principal-in-Charge 
Eric Schaad, Senior Biologist/Project Manager 
Hannah Haas, MA, RPA, Cultural Resources Program Manager 
Chris Shields, Senior Environmental Scientist 
Mimi McNamara, Environmental Planner 
Daphne Virlar-Knight, Environmental Planner 
Allysen Valencia, GIS Analyst 



Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

Initial Study and Mitigated Negative Declaration 1 

Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 
Pursuant to Section 21081.6 of the Public Resources Code and the State CEQA Guidelines Section 15097, 
a lead agency is required to adopt a mitigation monitoring and reporting plan (MMRP) for assessing and 
ensuring compliance with the required mitigation measures applied to a project for which an Initial 
Study has been prepared. United Water Conservation District will have the primary responsibility for 
implementing the measures in the MMRP. The mitigation monitoring table below lists mitigation 
measures that are required to reduce significant effects of Phase One of the Freeman Diversion 
Sediment Management Project. These measures correspond to those outlined in the Initial 
Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration for Phase One of the Freeman Diversion Sediment Management 
Project and may also be included as conditions of approval. 

Additional mitigation measures may be required as conditions of project permits that have not been 
issued at this time. Any such measures would be implemented by United Water Conservation District. 

3.3 Resolution 2021-18 - Attachment C



United Water Conservation District 
Freeman Diversion Sediment Management Project (Phase One) 
 

 
2   

Mitigation Measure/ 
Condition of Approval Action Required Monitoring Timing and 

Frequency 
Responsible  

Party / Parties 

Compliance 
Verification 
Comments 

     
     
     
Cultural Resources     
CR-1: Unanticipated Archaeological Resources     
In the unlikely event that archaeological resources are 
unexpectedly encountered during ground-disturbing activities, 
work within 50 feet of the find shall be halted and an archaeologist 
meeting the Secretary of the Interior’s Professional Qualification 
Standards for archaeology (NPS 1983) shall be contacted 
immediately to evaluate the find. If the find is prehistoric, then a 
local Native American representative shall also be contacted to 
participate in the evaluation of the find. Impacts to the find shall be 
avoided to the extent feasible; methods of avoidance may include, 
but shall not be limited to, capping or fencing, or project redesign. 
If necessary, the archaeologist may be required to prepare a 
treatment plan for archaeological testing in consultation with the 
local Native American representative. If the discovery proves to be 
eligible for the CRHR and cannot be avoided by the project, 
additional work, such as data recovery excavation, may be 
warranted to mitigate any significant impacts to historical 
resources. 

 Halt work within 50 feet 
of any unanticipated find 
of archaeological 
resources  

 Evaluate the find to 
identify any necessary 
treatment action(s) 

 

 For the duration of all 
ground-disturbing 
activities 

 

United Water Conservation 
District 

 

Geology and Soils     
GEO-1: Paleontological Worker Awareness Training in Areas with 
Suitable Soils 

    

United shall provide an on-site training to all project personnel and 
operational staff involved regarding the possibility of encountering 
fossils. The appearance and types of fossils likely to be seen during 
project activities shall be described. Project personnel shall be 
trained about the proper notification procedures should fossils be 
encountered, including halting operations within 100 feet of the 
find and notifying United who shall then retain a qualified 
paleontologist for identification and salvage of fossils that would 
qualify as a unique paleontological resource. 

 Conduct an on-site 
training to all project 
personnel and 
operational staff 

 Halt work within 100 feet 
of a find of 
paleontological resources  
 

 For the duration of all 
ground-disturbing 
activities 

 

United Water Conservation 
District 

 

 

 

 



■ 

Notice of Determination Appendix D 
To: From: 
■ Office of Planning and Research Public Agency: United Water Conservation Dist. 

U.S. Mail: Street Address: Address:  1701 N. Lombard Street, Suite 200 
 Oxnard, CA 93030 

P.O. Box 3044 1400 Tenth St., Rm 113 
Contact: Evan Lashly 

Sacramento, CA 95812-3044   Sacramento, CA 95814 
Phone: 805-525-4431 

■ County Clerk 
County of:  Ventura Lead Agency (if different from above): 
Address:   800 South Victoria Avenue 
 Ventura, CA 93009 Address:   

Contact: 
Phone: 

SUBJECT: Filing of Notice of Determination in compliance with Section 21108 or 21152 of the Public 
Resources Code. 

State Clearinghouse Number (if submitted to State Clearinghouse): 2021080524 

Project Title:  Freeman Diversion Sediment Management Project 

Project Applicant:  United Water Conservation District 

Project Location (include county): located on the Santa Clara River in Ventura County, California. 

Project Description: 

The project consists of two phases of sediment management activities, each with independent utility, and 
associated measures intended to minimize and avoid the potential for adverse environmental effects to occur as 
a result of those activities. Specifically, Phase One includes 1.3 acres of earthwork with heavy equipment in the 
active river channel upstream of the Freeman Diversion facility. The earthwork is intended to establish a new 
low-flow channel which will restore conveyance capacity of the bypass channel and ensure operational reliability 
of the Freeman Diversion and fish passage facilities.  Phase One is planned to be completed in Fall 2021 while 
river conditions on site are dry. Phase Two includes a long-term program of recurring sediment management 
activities within a 6-acre area, intended to provide operational reliability under changed future conditions. Only 
Phase One was approved by the United Water Conservation District Board of Directors.  Phase Two approval 
will be considered at a later time. 

This is to advise that the  United Water Conservation District has approved the above 
( Lead Agency or Responsible Agency) 

described project on and has made the following determinations regarding the above 
(date) 

described project. 

1. The project [ will will not] have a significant effect on the environment. 
2. An Environmental Impact Report was prepared for this project pursuant to the provisions of CEQA. 

A Negative Declaration was prepared for this project pursuant to the provisions of CEQA. 
3. Mitigation measures [ were were not] made a condition of the approval of the project. 
4. A mitigation reporting or monitoring plan [ 
5. A statement of Overriding Considerations [ 

was 
was 

was not] adopted for this project. 
was not] adopted for this project. 

6. Findings [ were were not] made pursuant to the provisions of CEQA. 

This is to certify that the final EIR with comments and responses and record of project approval, or the 
negative Declaration, is available to the General Public at: 
 https://www.unitedwater.org/key-documents/#ceqa-documents 

Signature (Public Agency): Title:   

Date:  Date Received for filing at OPR: 

Authority cited: Sections 21083, Public Resources Code. 
Reference Section 21000-21174, Public Resources Code. Revised 2011 

3.3 Resolution 2021-18 - Attachment D

http://www.unitedwater.org/key-documents/#ceqa-documents

	2021-10-07 Engineering and Operations Committee Agenda
	2021-09-02 UWCD ENG AND OPS COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES
	2021-09-02 UWCD ENG AND OPS COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES
	2021-09-02 EngOps Committee Minutes Item 3.1 Environmental Services Resolution
	2021-09-02 EngOps Committee Minutes Item 3.2 Engineering
	2021-09-02 EngOps Committee Minutes Item 3.3 Engineering
	2021-09-02 EngOps Committee Minutes Item 4.1 Operations and Maintenance
	2021-09-02 EngOps Committee Minutes Item 4.2 Environmental Services

	3.1 SFD Outlet Works Improvement Project 60 Percent Design Phase GEI Consultants - Staff Report
	3.1 Attachment A - UWCD GEI Consultants SFD Outlet Works Improvement Project PSA
	3.2 SFD Spillway Improvement Project 30 Percent Design Phase GEI Consultants - Staff Report
	3.2 Attachment A - UWCD GEI Consultants SFD Spillway Improvement Project PSA
	3.3 Resolution 2021-18 Freeman Sediment Management Phase One - Staff Report
	3.3 Attachment A - Resolution 2021-18 Adopting IS-MND for Freeman Sediment Mgmt Phase One
	3.3 Attachment B - Freeman Diversion IS-MND
	3.3 Attachment C - MMRP Freeman Diversion Sediment Mgmt Phase One
	3.3 Attachment D - Freeman Sediment Mgmt Notice of Determination



